

HIGH LEVEL PANEL for A SUSTAINABLE OCEAN ECONOMY

The Ocean as a Solution to Climate Change

Updated Opportunities for Action

coordinating lead authors Ove Hoegh-Guldberg and Eliza Northrop

SECTOR EXPERTS

Oliver S. Ashford, Thierry Chopin, Jessica Cross, Carlos Duarte, Steve Gaines, Tess Geers, Stefan Gössling, Peter Haugan, Mark Hemer, Jennifer Howard, Claire Huang, Andreas Humpe, Gabriella Kitch, David Koweek, Dorte Krause-Jensen, Catherine E. Lovelock, Kathryn Matthews, Patrick Mustain, Finn Gunnar Nielsen, Robert Parker, Joyashree Roy, Tristan Smith, Shreya Some, Ya-Yen Sun, Torsten Thiele and Peter Tyedmers

About the Ocean Panel

Established in 2018, the High Level Panel for a Sustainable Ocean Economy (Ocean Panel) is a unique initiative made up of serving world leaders who are building momentum for a sustainable ocean economy in which effective protection, sustainable production and equitable prosperity go hand in hand. By working collaboratively with a wide array of stakeholders, the Ocean Panel aims to identify bold solutions that bridge ocean health, wealth and equity and accelerate and scale responsive action worldwide.



Suggested Citation: Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Northrop, E. et al. 2023. "The ocean as a solution to climate change: Updated opportunities for action." Special Report. Washington, DC: World Resources Institute. Available online at https://oceanpanel.org/publication/ocean-solutions-to-climate-change

This report was prepared in support of the work of the Ocean Panel to provide a robust science and knowledge base and practical opportunities for action across issues central to the attainment of a sustainable ocean economy. The arguments, findings and opportunities outlined in this report represent the views of the authors alone. Ocean Panel members have not been asked to formally endorse the report and should not be taken as having done so.

Table of Contents

About the Ocean Panel	1
Foreword	1
Executive summary	3
1. Introduction	29
2. Ocean-based solutions	
3. Financing the transition	101
4. Conclusion	
Appendix A. Methodology	112
Appendix B. Updated mitigation potential of five sectors included in the 2019 Report	125
List of abbreviations	127
References	128
Endnotes	151
Acknowledgements	152
About the authors	154

FOREWORD

In this critical decade for action on climate change, the High Level Panel for the Sustainable Ocean Economy (Ocean Panel) has expressed concern over the accelerating consequences of anthropogenic climate change on ocean health, but has understood the opportunities that the ocean and ocean economy can provide for significant climate action. The Ocean Panel has therefore commissioned a reassessment of how the ocean-based solutions originally explored in the 2019 report, *The Ocean as a Solution to Climate Change: Five Opportunities for Action*, have developed as potential tools for significantly reducing greenhouse gas emissions.¹

The 2019 report provided a timely change from the ocean being seen as a 'victim' of climate change, as opposed to being a 'solution'. This report takes stock of the progress made since and provides refreshed estimates of the mitigation potential of those ocean-based opportunities (ocean-based renewable energy, ocean-based transport, marine conservation and restoration, ocean-based food, and marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and storage). In addition, it considers the mitigation potential in decarbonising ocean-based tourism and the role that halting the expansion of and phasing down offshore oil and gas can play if replaced by zero emission energy. Emerging technologies for marine carbon dioxide removal are also described but found too immature to be included in numerical analyses. The wider societal benefits were also explored along with the push for strong policy measures, as well as highlighting key research gaps that need to be filled. The results of this analysis show that ocean-based climate solutions could assist in reducing the 'emissions gap' in 2050 by up to 35 percent on a 1.5°C pathway and up to 47 percent on a 2.0°C pathway. This reiterates the narrative of the first report, emphasising the value of the ocean as a key solution to the climate crisis, rather than a victim of it.

The present report comes at a vital time as policy makers, governments, and civil society reflect on progress made towards the goals outlined in the Paris Agreement on Climate Change. With the United Nations Conference on Climate Change (COP 28) and the release of the first Global Stocktake taking place this year, it is imperative that discussions focus on how to facilitate a better course for climate action. The Ocean Panel recognised this in their shared ocean action agenda, *Transformations for a Sustainable Ocean Economy: A Vision for Protection, Production and Prosperity,* wherein members committed to sustainably manage 100% of the ocean areas under national jurisdiction.

The Ocean Panel recognises that ocean action can realise a wide range of benefits towards a sustainable ocean economy, for both our planet and its people. The findings of this report reiterate this, pointing out that ocean-based climate solutions have wider benefits from ocean health to livelihoods and wider energy system and security benefits, where managed in a just transition. The Ocean Panel has called for a holistic approach to ocean management to unlock the full package of benefits, whereby Sustainable Ocean Plans are a key tool to support countries. We hope this report can contribute to the development of these tools and those discussions, and aid coastal and ocean states globally in their ocean management plans to ensure climate mitigation measures are recognised and included, alongside wider benefits. Implementation and achievement of the measures suggested will require a coherent approach to prioritising ocean-climate finance. It is important that, for those sectors which are still in the beginning stages of development, the use of public and private finance is incentivised.

As Lead Experts within the Ocean Panel Expert Group, we would like to warmly thank the authors, the reviewers, and the Secretariat at World Resources Institute for taking this opportunity to conduct this updated analysis, providing a thorough peer review of the final work, and helping to accelerate the reduction of anthropogenic emissions. The Lead Experts also extend our thanks to Ocean Panel members for their support, and hope that they and other parties act on the opportunities for mitigation presented here. Ocean-based policies that prioritise a sustainable ocean economy whilst also combatting the effect of climate change hold great potential for reducing emissions and need to be implemented without delay.

Peter H Haugen

Professor Peter Haugan, Ph.D. Institute of Marine Research, Norway

udith T. Fildow

Dr Judith Kildow, Ph.D. Director Emeritus of the National Ocean Economics Program, US, Center for the Blue Economy, Monterey, California, USA

Dr Jacqueline Uku, Ph.D. Senior Research Scientist, Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI)



Executive Summary

The ocean covers 70 percent of Earth's surface and acts as a vast storehouse for both carbon dioxide and heat, amongst providing other ecosystem services vital to humanity. Whilst climate change imperils marine life, the ocean is increasingly recognised as providing opportunities for solutions in the fight against climate change. This updated report lays out a series of feasible, ready-toimplement, scalable ocean-based solutions to climate change that can be pursued now. It also examines emerging technologies that may offer opportunity for combatting climate change in the near future.

Highlights

- Ocean-based climate change mitigation options have the potential to significantly reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and contribute to global efforts to reach the goals of the Paris Agreement on climate change.
- In 2019 the Ocean Panel commissioned an analysis that found that ambitious implementation of oceanbased climate solutions in five sectors (ocean-based renewable energy; ocean-based transport; marine conservation and restoration; ocean-based food, and marine carbon capture and storage) had the potential to reduce the 'emissions gap' between current and future emissions by up to 21 percent on a 1.5°C pathway, and up to about 25 percent on a 2.0°C pathway, in 2050.
- This report re-examines and updates the analysis in the report published in 2019, *The Ocean as a Solution to Climate Change: Five Opportunities for Action* (2019 Report), assessing the emissions reduction potential of solutions in two additional ocean sectors: offshore oil and gas, and ocean-based tourism.
- It finds that full implementation of ocean-based climate solutions that are ready for action now across the seven sectors could reduce the emissions gap by up to 35 percent on a 1.5°C pathway, and by up to 47 percent on a 2.0°C pathway, in 2050. This translates to an estimated reduction of between 1–4 Gt of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO₂e) per annum in 2030 and 4–14 Gt CO₂e in 2050, the upper range of which would be approximately equivalent to four times the 2021 emissions of 27 EU member states.²

- The significant increase in the potential of oceanbased sectors to contribute to emissions reductions compared to the estimates in the 2019 Report is a result, in large part, of considering the impact of halting the expansion of and phasing down offshore oil and gas extraction (about 20–30 percent of these reductions), which could contribute up to 5.3 Gt CO₂e in reductions annually in 2050 (equivalent to the annual emissions of 1.18 billion gasoline-powered cars).³ These potential reductions are premised upon replacement by zero emission energy sources onshore or offshore and via a phased, demand-driven approach.
- Total government and industry pledges for offshore wind deployment have approximately doubled since the 2019 Report, although this potential now needs to be followed by their rapid deployment at a rate that is much greater than previous years. Global progress has also been made in maritime transport, with the recent revision of the International Maritime Organisation (IMO) GHG strategy increasing the likelihood of global emissions reductions being consistent with a 1.5°C temperature goal. If energy efficient measures are adopted by the cruise industry, the tourism sector could also make a valuable contribution.
- Stopping ecosystem loss and degradation must remain a top priority to avoid further release of GHG emissions from coastal and marine ecosystems.
- Unfortunately, there has been little progress in utilising low-carbon sustainable protein from the ocean to reduce emissions from food, making the initial projections in the 2019 Report potentially harder to reach without an acceleration of effort and ambition in the next few years. Human populations have risen and so has the demand for protein without an increase in sustainable options from the ocean. More must be done to raise awareness, send clear policy signals and invest in the enabling environment to take advantage of this opportunity.

Highlights (continued)

- Despite an increased awareness of the ocean's potential, there remains an urgent need to fill knowledge gaps in all ocean-based climate sectors to understand how to implement these solutions in a manner that also supports wider social, environmental, and Sustainable Development Goals, particularly the new Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework.
- Achieving the identified mitigation potential will be dependent on the prioritisation of a more coherent approach to ocean-climate finance. An estimated US\$2 trillion will need to flow into ocean-based climate solutions between 2030 and 2050 to achieve the mitigation potential identified. Some sectors, such as offshore wind, already have significant access to sources of finance, which has helped spur progress. Other areas, including marine conservation and restoration, require innovative approaches to reach the potential identified in this report, including the strategic use of public finance to mobilise and shift private finance at large scales.
- This report prioritises the implementation of technology and practices that are currently in use and under development that can support the achievement of the Paris Agreement. While research into new technology should be accelerated, this should not be a reason to delay the implementation of solutions that are ready for implementation.
- Potential impacts of the outlined mitigation opportunities must be carefully managed, particularly for solutions that are not yet mature and/ or ready for implementation, notably the emerging approaches for marine carbon dioxide removal, some of which are explored in the present report but are highly uncertain and not deemed ready for implementation.

- All ocean-based climate solutions will require deepening political engagement, strengthening international and national institutions, greater engagement and coordination across businesses and industry, inclusion of communities and stakeholders, and robust monitoring and evaluation.
- Only an immediate and comprehensive transformation at a systemic level (going beyond incremental changes) can achieve the substantial reductions required to curtail GHG emissions. The overall objective of this transformation is to catalyse change by offering a pathway towards ambition and broadening opportunities for action that countries should consider as 2030 and 2050 rapidly approach.
- A rapid transition will be needed across all economic sectors worldwide. This demands international collaboration that prioritises an inclusive approach and supports countries and communities at risk of being marginalised during this transformative process.
- The solutions presented in this report are not a silver bullet and must be accompanied by deep cuts in emissions across all terrestrial sources of GHGs, including measures to rapidly phase down fossil fuels, create sustainable food systems, and increase carbon sequestration and storage in forests and other terrestrial ecosystems.

Purpose of report

This report presents an updated and expanded range of options for harnessing the potential of ocean-based climate solutions to urgently reduce global GHG emissions. These options can help reach the Paris Agreement goals of limiting global warming to well below 2°C, while pursuing efforts to limit the increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels (UN Paris 2015). Limiting global warming to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels by the end of this century requires human-caused CO₂ emissions to reach net zero by 2050. The original report, The Ocean as a Solution to Climate Change: Five Opportunities for Action (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019, referred to herein as the 2019 Report) explored five ocean-based mitigation options or sectors: ocean-based renewable energy; ocean-based transport; marine conservation and restoration; ocean-based food (wild capture fisheries, aquaculture and shifting diets towards seafood); and marine carbon capture and storage. It found that full implementation of these solutions could contribute up to 21 percent of the annual emissions reductions needed to limit temperature rise to 1.5°C and 25 percent of the reductions needed to restrict it to 2.0°C in 2050 (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019).

A lot has changed since 2019. Despite the significant attention that ocean-based climate solutions have received and the many initiatives and pledges from all ocean-based sectors, progress towards implementation is not on track to achieve the 2030 mitigation potential for many of the solutions explored in the 2019 Report. For many ocean-based climate solutions, this is because of the dramatic shift in economic and policy priorities following the global COVID-19 pandemic.

Unfortunately, the climate crisis has not slowed. As stated by United Nations Secretary-General Antonio Guterres, the world is now in the era of 'global boiling.' The latest assessment of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) (IPCC 2023) makes clear that current policies fall far short of 'what is needed' to stabilise anthropogenic emissions and avoid the worst outcomes of rapid climate change. July 2023, the warmest month in history, was marked by unprecedented heat waves across North America, Europe and Asia, with record high global temperatures impacting ecosystems, communities and nations. The impact has exceeded predictions of the frequency and intensity of extreme events, such as bushfires, droughts, storms, coral mortality, and heatwaves. The 2019 Report identified solutions that had the largest potential to cut emissions by 2030 and 2050, premised on significant investments in technology and implementation, greater collaboration and partnership, in addition to strong political will to implement the necessary policy and regulatory changes. Four years later, a lack of progress across several sectors may have put the 2030 emissions reduction potential out of reach or at great risk of becoming so. Rather than serve as a cause for despair, this updated report aims to provide impetus and guidance for the midcourse correction needed to deliver on the goals of the Paris Agreement and still contribute significant emissions reductions in 2050. It lays out a series of feasible, ready-to-implement, scalable options that the ocean economy can pursue based on technology that is mature and/or ready for commercial adoption now. It also examines emerging technologies for enabling ocean and coastal ecosystems to sequester and store more carbon, including through marine carbon dioxide removal (mCDR) technologies and approaches.

Harnessing the mitigation potential outlined in this report will still require major investment, collaboration and political leadership. The estimates provided are not pathways or trajectories, but rather a glimpse of what is possible if there is collective will, multi-sector collaboration and investment to pursue rapid implementation. Reflecting the need to intensify implementation and accelerate progress towards the goals of the UNFCCC Paris Agreement, this updated report expands its scope by adding two additional ocean sectors: ocean-based tourism and offshore oil and gas. It also considers additional solutions presented by emerging technologies for marine carbon dioxide removal.

The solutions explored in this report include:

- Expanding marine conservation and restoration, including mangroves, tidal marshes, seagrass beds and wild seaweeds.
- 2. Scaling ocean-based renewable energy, primarily offshore wind, and continuing to invest in bringing other energy sources, such as tidal power and floating solar, to commercial scale.
- 3. Decarbonising ocean-based transport, including freight and passenger shipping, in line with the revised IMO GHG strategy.
- Decarbonising ocean-based tourism, focusing on cruise vessels and utilising technological advances in marine transport.

- Utilising low-carbon, ocean-based protein to reduce emissions from global diets, including replenishing sources of low-carbon protein such as from wild fish stocks.
- 6. Stopping the expansion of offshore oil and gas extraction along with a demand-led phase down of current production.
- Investing in further research for marine-based carbon dioxide removal and continuing to develop carbon capture and storage below the seabed.

Along with an update on progress, this report highlights the steps that should be prioritised to accelerate implementation, and addresses the barriers or challenges that may impede progress initially identified in the 2019 Report but which have yet to come to fruition.

Rather than being policy prescriptive, the updated report objectively presents the opportunities and risks associated with each ocean sector, allowing industries and governments to make informed decisions relative to their activities, people and circumstances. Our report acknowledges uncertainties related to reporting emissions, unreliable data, and differing perspectives and maturity levels in different sectors (see Appendix A for methodology by sector). These uncertainties should not hinder implementation, but instead offer a transparent analysis to help governments swiftly reach the required median reduction to achieve net zero emissions and below.

Because the window for effective action is rapidly closing, actions should focus first on mature and commercially available solutions that can be quickly deployed at the lowest cost and where the social and environmental impacts are known and can be managed. Viability must be prioritised, especially where key technology pathways are uncertain. Deploying the strategies and technologies described in this report will require purposeful, coordinated and sustained effort. It will take strong political leadership with sufficient investment to quickly develop and deploy transformational technologies that can rapidly scale up.

The report focuses on ocean sectors, recognising that there is not always a clean separation between oceanbased and land-based action. Notably, for the reduction of offshore oil and gas to have the desired effect onshore or offshore zero emission energy sources need to be scaled up as a replacement. Marine transport is dependent on ports and connected to land transport. We mention such 'fuzzy' boundaries where appropriate, rather than attempting to define sharp boundaries between oceanand land-based sectors.

Key findings

This report provides new estimates of the annual mitigation potential in 2030 and 2050 for the seven oceanbased sectors summarised in Table ES-1.

These new estimates expand on the 2019 Report by offering two different sets of 2030 and 2050 mitigation potential, distinguished by the solutions included in each. A range is provided for each ocean-based sector based on specific assumptions and uncertainties (Appendix A, Table A-1).

Solutions that are already mature or at the early adoption stage and have accepted management processes are deemed ready to implement. Full implementation of these across all seven ocean sectors has the potential to reduce annual emissions by 1.1–4.5 Gt CO₂e per annum in 2030, or by 4.4–13.8 Gt CO₂e in 2050 (Table ES-1, as depicted in Figure ES-1), closing the emissions gap to the 1.5°C pathway by between 11 and 35 percent in 2050 (Table ES-2).

If additional solutions at the protype, demonstration or concept stages are also included in these projections, then there is potential to reduce annual emissions by 1.2-6.0 Gt CO₂e per annum in 2030, or by 4.9–22.7 Gt CO₂e in 2050 (Table ES-1), closing the emissions gap to the 1.5°C pathway by between 12 and 58 percent in 2050 (Table ES-2). It is important to note that the significant increase in additional solutions identified in 2050 comes from marine CDR options (up to 9 Gt CO₂e of the upper limit), much of which have yet to be fully tested, costed, de-risked or otherwise developed for use. Realising the potential of such options depends not only on funding research, technology development and demonstration, but also understanding unknown impacts may emerge, giving rise to unforeseen risks and complexities, including potentially 'game-changing' or 'show-stopping' implications. For example, ocean iron fertilisation may have unintended negative effects on fisheries (Tagliabue et al. 2023). Other options in early stages, such as the sinking of biomass from seaweed farming, may encounter similar challenges.

Table ES-1. Updated global mitigation potential (Gt CO₂e/year) offered by each ocean-based sector

OCEAN-BASED SECTOR	SOLUTIONS INCLUDED	MITIGATION OPTIONS INCLUDED IN 2030 AND 2050 PROJECTIONS	2030 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E)	2050 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E)
Marine conservation and restoration	Ready to implement	 Sequestration from restoration and protection of coastal wetlands (mangroves, tidal marshes and seagrasses) Avoided anthropogenic degradation/impacts on coastal wetlands (mangroves, tidal marshes and seagrasses) 	0.03-0.11	0.05-0.29
	All	 The above in addition to the following: Sequestration and storage from protection and restoration of wild seaweeds (kelps) 	0.03-0.14	0.05-0.31
Ocean-based renewable energy	Ready to implement	Scaling offshore windScaling tidal barrageFloating solar	0.60-0.6	3.20-3.60
	All	 The above in addition to the following: Scaling ocean wave energy Scaling tidal stream energy Scaling energy capture of ocean temperature differences (thermal gradient) Scaling salinity gradient 	0.60–0.70	3.25-4.47
Ocean-based transport	Ready to implement • Reducing emissions from international and domestic shipping and marine transport through efficiency measures • Reducing emissions from international shipping through retrofitting to accommodate alternative lower carbon fuels • Zero emission vessels All		0.25–0.60	0.80-2.00
		AS ADOVE	0.01.0.02	0.05.0.10
Ocean-based tourism	Ready to implement	Reducing emissions associated with cruise tourism	0.01-0.02	0.05-0.10
	All	As above		

Table ES-1. Updated global mitigation potential (Gt CO₂e/year) offered by each ocean-based sector (Continued)

OCEAN-BASED SECTOR				
Ocean-based food	Ready to implement	 Reduction in fuel use intensity from rebuilding depleted wild stocks Improved feed conversion ratios for aquaculture Complete avoidance of deforestation in the supply chains of feed ingredients from soy, palm, and other crops as well as in the feeds of poultry and livestock systems providing by-products Shifting all energy inputs to farms are derived from electricity generated from renewable sources, rather than fossil fuels onsite or in electricity grids Potential emissions avoided by behavioural shifts away from high emissions land-based proteins and towards lower emissions seafood systems 	(GT CO2E) 0.24-0.92	(GT CO ₂ E) 0.30-1.47
	All	As above		
Offshore oil and gas	Ready to implement	Stopping the expansion of offshore oil and gas extraction along with a demand-led phase-down of current production	0.00-1.80	0.00-5.30
	All	As above		
Marine carbon dioxide removal	Ready to implement	CO ₂ storage below the seabed	0.00-0.32	0.00-1.00
and carbon capture All and storage		 The above in addition to the following: Ocean nutrient fertilisation Ocean alkalinity enhancement Direct ocean removal Seaweed cultivation and carbon sequestration (including both active sinking and passive sequestration associated with seaweed farming for harvest)^b 	0.10-1.82	0.40-9.00
TOTAL	Ready to implement		1.13-4.45	4.40-13.78
	All mitigation options		1.23-5.99	4.85-22.65

Notes:

Ready-to-implement solutions are those assessed for the purposes of this report as mature or at the stage of early adoption; see Figure ES-3 and Table 2 for more details.

All mitigation solutions include those ready to implement as well as those that are only at the prototype, demonstration and concept stage; see Figure ES-3 and Table 2 for more details.

Source: Authors.



Figure ES-1. Annual emission reduction potential in 2050 for solutions that are ready to implement now

Note: Ready-to-implement solutions are those assessed for the purposes of this report as mature or at the stage of early adoption (see Figure ES-3).

Table ES-2 and Figure ES-2 outline the potential impact that such emissions reductions would have in closing the emissions gap in 2030 and 2050.

GAP TO PATHWAY. TOTAL GHG % GAP % GAP ANNUAL GLOBAL EMISSIONS **BASED ON UNEP** MITIGATION CLOSED: 1.5°C CLOSED: 2°C (GT CO₂E) **CURRENT POLICY** POTENTIAL PATHWAY PATHWAY SCENARIO (GT CO_E) (=GT CO_E) 1.5°C 2°C 1.5°C 2°C Current Min Max Min Max Min Мах policy pathway pathway pathway pathway 0 0 0 58 58 58 0 0 0 0 0 Today 58 33 41 25 17 1 4 5 18 7 26 2030 49 10 20 39 29 4 14 11 35 15 47 2050

Table ES-2. Contribution to closing the emissions gap in 2030 and 2050 of solutions that are ready to implement (mature or early adoption technologies and approaches according to Figure ES-3 and Table 2)

Notes: Estimates are based on comparing multiple scenarios for annual emissions in 2023, 2030 and 2050. For those years, we compare '1.5°C', '2°C' and the 'current policy' scenarios from UNEP (2022) and calculate the mitigation needed to fill the 'gaps' between the 'current policy' and the '1.5°C' and '2°C', respectively. Min refers to conservative ocean-based mitigation potential, while Max represents higher (more ambitious) theoretical potential projected in this report. The total ocean-based mitigation was compared to the gap at 2030, and that at 2050, generating the percentage of the gap (in each case) mitigated by ocean-based mitigation of GHG emissions. GHG = greenhouse gas; UNEP = United Nations Environment Programme.

Source: Authors.

...solutions relying on technologies that are mature or in early adoption are ready to implement now... The projections included in this report assume high rates of change over the next two decades. These are feasible, but based on the slow progress seen since 2019, will rely on unprecedented levels of cooperation and collaboration. Development and deployment will require rapidly scaling up global supply chains, learning and sharing lessons on best practices to increase the speed of deployment, reduce costs, and minimise technological incompatibilities and other problems.

This readiness framework should guide prioritisation of those approaches that are ready to implement now as opposed to those that will require greater investment, and carry more uncertainty in terms of viability and broader environmental and social impact (e.g. the range of marine carbon dioxide removal technologies included in this report). This framework should also serve as a basis to inform investment in research, piloting and capacity building to support the achievement of the mitigation potentials identified for each sector. **Figure ES-2.** Maximum potential contribution of ready-to-implement ocean-based mitigation options to closing the emissions gap in (a) 2030 and (b) 2050





Note: Ready-to-implement solutions are those assessed for the purposes of this report as mature or at the stage of early adoption.

Figure ES-3. Technology readiness framework



Note: Current deployment of these sectors will be unavailable to bring the global climate back to equilibrium without major emission reductions. Farmed seaweed can also contribute to emissions reduction by substituting products with higher CO₂ footprint or being used as feed supplement to reduce ruminant CH₄ production (see 2.5 Ocean-based food).

Source: Authors, adapted from the technology readiness level scale applied by the IEA (2020).

As identified above, solutions relying on technologies that are mature or in early adoption are ready to implement now and would deliver on the emissions reductions identified in Table ES-1 and Table ES-2. However, if current uncertainties regarding emerging technology for ocean energy, seaweed and marine carbon dioxide removal were resolved, an additional 9 Gt CO₂e could be possible as shown in Table ES-3 below (see Table ES-1 for further details).

Table ES-3. Contribution towards closing the emissions gap in 2030 and 2050 of solutions explored in this report (mature, early adoption, demonstration, prototype, and concept technologies and approaches according to Figure ES-3 and Table 2)

	ANNUAL GLOBAL EMISSIONS (GT CO ₂ E)		GAP TO PATHWAY, BASED ON UNEP CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO (GT CO ₂ E)		TOTAL GHG MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO2E)		% GAP CLOSED: 1.5°C PATHWAY		% GAP CLOSED: 2°C PATHWAY		
	Current policy	1.5°C pathway	2°C pathway	1.5°C pathway	2°C p athway	Min	Max	Min	Мах	Min	Мах
Today	58	58	58	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2030	58	33	41	25	17	1	6	5	24	7	35
2050	49	10	20	39	29	5	23	12	58	17	78

Note: Estimates are based on comparing multiple scenarios for annual emissions in 2023, 2030 and 2050. For those years, we compare '1.5°C', '2°C' and the 'current policy' scenarios from UNEP 2022 and calculate the mitigation needed to fill the 'gaps' between the 'current policy' and the '1.5°C', and '2°C' respectively. 'Min' refers to conservative ocean-based mitigation potential, while 'Max' represents higher (more ambitious) theoretical potential projected in this report. The total ocean-based mitigation was compared to the gap at 2030, and that at 2050, generating the percentage of the gap (in each case) mitigated by ocean-based mitigation of GHG emissions.

Source: Authors.

For estimates based on the five sectors presented in the 2019 Report, including those not yet ready for implementation, please see Appendix B.

Progress since 2019

Despite the challenges faced globally in the four years since the 2019 Report was published, many new initiatives have emerged to accelerate global progress on oceanbased climate solutions (Northrop et al. 2022). Notably, there has been an increase in ocean-based climate solutions included in national climate commitments, known as Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), communicated pursuant to the Paris Agreement. An analysis of the 106 new and updated NDCs communicated in 2022, found that 77 (73 percent) include at least one target, policy or measure aimed at ocean-based climate actions (Khan and Northrop 2022).

Of the sectors initially explored in the 2019 Report, the most significant acceleration in new global initiatives has been in offshore wind. In addition to private sector initiatives, several coastal nations have committed to ambitious domestic targets for offshore wind deployment since 2019, driving innovation in turbine technology, grid integration and environmental impact assessments. Marine transport has garnered growing attention as well, culminating in the IMO's revised strategy committing to the adoption of GHG pricing as well as a fuel standard, and for this policy measure combination to 'commit to the contribution to a level playing field and a just and equitable transition'. With the progressive outcomes in the IMO's revised strategy, there is now an excellent opportunity for a global policy-driven transition of international shipping, and GHG reductions close to those consistent with the 1.5°C temperature Paris goal.

Progress on restoring and protecting marine and coastal ecosystems is expected to be boosted based on the targets agreed to under the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework in December 2022 and associated commitments to mobilise greater public and private sector finance. Unfortunately, there has been little progress in improving fisheries and aquaculture management and shifting diets to foods harvested sustainably from the ocean. At the international level, this sector needs greater political attention and policy action to help it accelerate the achievement of its emissions reduction potential.

Despite the significant hardships faced by the tourism industry over the past four years, and the economies that rely on it—primarily small island developing states the potential for tourism to contribute to global efforts to reduce emissions is gaining traction at the international level through organisations such as the Glasgow Declaration on Climate Action in Tourism.

MARINE CONSERVATION AND RESTORATION

In the past four years, countries have made progress in protecting and conserving mangroves (Spalding et al. 2022), recognising that coastal ecosystems could provide significant climate mitigation benefits alongside climate adaptation, biodiversity and other co-benefits. However, hot spots of degradation remain, and stopping this will take focused action from national governments and partners (Schindler Murray et al. 2023). Protecting and restoring other blue carbon (all biologically driven carbon fluxes and storage in marine systems that are amenable to management) (IPCC 2019) ecosystems, such as seagrass meadows, tidal marshes and seaweed forest, could also contribute to reduced emissions to varying extents, but the policy and financial support needed to accomplish this is lacking (Howard et al. 2023; Pessarrodona et al. 2023; Schindler Murray et al. 2023). Knowledge of the global cover of seagrass and tidal marshes has improved since the 2019 Report (McKenzie et al. 2020; Murray et al. 2022), leading to estimates of emissions from their loss to be lower than reported in the 2019 Report.

Restoring natural coastal ecosystems is vital but can take time (i.e. decades). Healthy coastal ecosystems are carbon sinks and can help reach net zero targets. Restoration also offers extensive co-benefits, including habitats, biodiversity, food and feed, climate change adaptation, fisheries and aquaculture that can contribute to achieving multiple Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (Duarte et al. 2020; Schindler Murray et al. 2023). Yet globally, we find that the total area undergoing restoration has not increased since 2019 to the scale needed to meet emissions reduction and biodiversity targets. Approaches that can help accelerate restoration include engaging local communities, equitably sharing benefits and co-benefits, and resolving uncertainties over land tenure (Conservation International et al. 2022).

In addition, since the 2019 Report, new ideas have emerged for managing marine ecosystems to help mitigate climate change. These include regulating bottom trawling as well as conserving and restoring tidal mudflats. Achieving carbon sequestration by preserving and restoring marine fauna is also increasingly being explored (Malhi et al. 2022), but mitigation estimates still need to be made. More research is needed to understand the full mitigation potential of these activities and their role in enhancing climate change adaptation and resilience.

OCEAN-BASED RENEWABLE ENERGY

Since 2019 many countries raised their ambitions for scaling offshore renewable energy (ORE). In 2019, total pledges for ORE ranged in mitigation potential, from 0.3–2.5 Gt CO₂e per year in 2050. Now total pledges have reached a GHG mitigation potential of between 3.3–4.5 Gt CO₂e per year in 2050, assuming that ORE replaces the current mix of energy (GWEC 2023). Although this is very promising, implementation often lags behind stated political ambitions and the current pace is too slow to reach the target for net zero in 2050 (IRENA 2023). Deployment rates for offshore wind energy in 2020, 2021 and 2022, for example, were about 6, 21 and 9 GW per year respectively, equivalent to a mitigation potential of 0.01–0.03 Gt CO₂e per year, assuming displacement of current energy mix (IEA 2021a; GWEC 2023). 2021 was a record year in offshore installations driven by special conditions in China (termination of attractive financial support scheme at end of year) (GWEC 2023). By the end of 2023, a cumulative total of about 63 GW of offshore wind capacity will have been installed worldwide. To meet net zero in 2050, more than that would need to be installed every year. The deployment rate would need to be 70-80 GW per year between 2030 and 2050 (IEA 2021a). The Global Offshore Wind Alliance, an organisation working to accelerate deployment of offshore wind technologies, (GWEC 2023) aims to add an average of 35 GW per year in the 2020s and a minimum of 70 GW per year from 2030 onwards. This rivals the present pace of onshore and offshore wind energy deployment combined. The goal is to reach cumulative capacity of 380 GW by 2030 and 2,000 GW by 2050. However, supply chain disruptions over the past two years have illustrated what could go wrong. After falling rapidly over the last several decades, costs for materials have risen, and may have slowed implementation. Materials will need to be affordable and available to keep up with demand and meet existing targets and pledges.

Research and development of tidal (use of tidal movements or currents to generate power) and wave (capturing energy from wind-driven oscillations in water level) sources of energy continues, but the technologies have not converged towards solutions suited for large, industrial-scale installation. So, these technologies are not expected to contribute significantly to the global electrical energy production by 2030. A technological breakthrough can make wave or tidal energy viable in certain locations. Floating solar energy systems are an even newer technology that has a promising outlook, although these systems currently require calm ocean areas.

OCEAN-BASED TRANSPORT

Since 2019, new data from the fourth IMO GHG study (Faber et al. 2020) has lower projections for the growth of trade. These estimates reduce a key driver of energy demand and emissions for shipping and could make GHG reduction objectives easier to reach. They also reduce the mitigation potential of transitioning to less polluting fuels. Significant progress has been made in identifying transition pathways for the sector. Multiple studies have identified ammonia and methanol as the most likely successors to hydrocarbon molecules, leading to trials and pilot projects (Gielen et al. 2022; Rouwenhorst et al. 2022) and nations collaborating to de-risk hydrogen-derived fuels (IEA 2022a). Investment and commitments in green hydrogen and ammonia since 2019 adds up to roughly three exajoules (EJ). This equals approximately one-third of international shipping's energy demand. Despite this momentum, the volume of green hydrogen/ammonia projects passing key investment milestones are lagging behind what would be needed to reach the maximum mitigation potential identified in the 2019 Report of nearly 100 percent reduction in operational net GHG emissions.

Changes in finance, policy, demand, and civil society engagement are helping drive commitments to lower emissions from ocean transport, and to identify and systematically evaluate key metrics and near-term targets that are compatible with Paris Agreement goals (Baresic and Palmer 2022). This means there are frameworks now for 'course-correcting' ocean transport's decarbonisation, which can boost confidence in the feasibility of a successful 1.5°C-aligned transition. The IMO's revised and more ambitious GHG Reduction Strategy is now nearing the sector's maximum abatement potential, setting a real expectation that enacting future policies, and ratcheting up existing ones, can maximise cost-effectiveness and foster equity and sustainable development.

Achieving the GHG reductions of the IMO's revised strategy will require a significant investment, primarily on land, into renewable energy and green hydrogen production, some of which could be efficiently deployed in developing countries (Campbell et al. 2023). In terms of implementation, over 200 zero emission pilot and demonstration projects are currently in the pipeline, with an increase of almost 100 percent since 2019. The Green Shipping Challenge has been issued by the United States and Norway in 2022 culminating in 50 new announcements from countries, ports and companies to align themselves with the goal of limiting global temperature rise to 1.5°Celsius above pre-industrial levels.

OCEAN-BASED TOURISM

A detailed discussion of ocean-based tourism was not included in the 2019 Report. Since then, however, greater attention has been given to emissions from ocean-based tourism causes and what can be done to reduce them. The cruise sector is particularly carbon-intensive, relative to other forms of tourism, and is growing fast (Gössling et al. 2023); hence the need to lower its energy use and environmental footprint. The progress made so far has been led by the private sector. Major cruise ship operators have launched plans to reduce their carbon intensity by an annual rate of 2 percent with longer-term pledges envisioning zero emission ships and net zero CO₂ emissions by 2050 (Royal Caribbean Group 2021; Hurtigruten Group 2022). These positive steps, however, fall short of what is required. With a projected annual passenger growth of 6 percent, reducing carbon intensity by just 2 percent means ever higher emissions. The sector's carbon reduction targets are insufficient to align with the Paris Agreement's 1.5°C or 2°C scenarios needed to prevent the most catastrophic impacts of global warming.

Given this situation, progress needs to accelerate. One way to change this trajectory is to facilitate and incentivise adequate decarbonisation via government intervention. This could take the form of stringent legislation and regulation at both the national level and potentially the port level, compelling the industry to significantly improve its environmental performance (IMO 2023c). The task at hand requires a balanced blend of proactive industry actions, regulations, innovative technology and a scaling down of passenger numbers to ensure the cruise sector contributes meaningfully to the global efforts to mitigate climate change (Gössling et al. 2023). Another way to reduce emissions from ocean-based tourism could be to involve cruise lines, making binding commitments to absolute emission reductions.

OCEAN-BASED FOOD

The 2019 Report detailed how changing wild capture fishery and aquaculture practices and substituting lowcarbon sources of food from the ocean for high-emitting land-based proteins, could help limit the worst impacts of climate change. Unfortunately, there has been little progress towards meeting this goal (FAO 2022). Indeed, the intervening years may have pushed it further out of reach. Human populations have risen and so has the demand for protein, and the need for sustainable protein sources with low carbon footprints will only grow more acute.

Food from the ocean could exhibit a lower carbon footprint than land-based animal agriculture when managed sustainably (which many fisheries currently are not; FAO 2022). For example, on average, approximately 200 t CO₂e is emitted from agricultural production per tonne of beef consumed, whilst the equivalent weight of farmed fish is about 30 t CO₂e (Searchinger et al. 2019). Moreover, certain types of oceanic food production, such as seaweed farming, may sequester carbon. Rapidly growing seaweeds absorb large amounts of carbon through photosynthesis, which is converted into biomass. However, most seaweeds are cultivated to be processed, and this represents only a transient type of sequestration with little prospect of long-term storage (Troell et al. 2023). Some of the carbon in farmed seaweed biomass may be transported to ocean sediments and deep water, either intentionally or unintentionally, where it is removed from the carbon cycle for a time (Duarte et al. 2022b; Duarte et al. 2023; Hurd et al. 2022). Moreover, should the harvested seaweed be used as, for example, food, feed or fertiliser, it can further contribute to offsetting emissions from other more carbon-intensive sources and products (Duarte et al. 2022a; Spillias et al. 2023b). More must be done to raise awareness, send clear policy signals and invest in the enabling environment to take advantage of these opportunities.

OFFSHORE OIL AND GAS

Reducing offshore oil and gas production and consumption was not considered in the 2019 Report as an ocean-based climate mitigation option. However, the IPCC AR6 Synthesis Report (IPCC 2023) suggests that cumulative future CO₂ emissions over the lifetime of existing fossil fuel infrastructure globally (if historical operating patterns are maintained) will likely exceed the total cumulative net CO₂ emissions in pathways that limit warming to 1.5°C. Developing new fossil fuel infrastructure in addition to what already exists will result in additional CO₂ emissions compared to if existing infrastructure only is maintained. Thus, in order to remain consistent with a 1.5°C warming pathway, governments and industry should not look to pursue new oil and gas operations, whether offshore or onshore (IPCC 2023). Reducing oil and gas consumption is critical for meeting global climate commitments and the offshore component can be considered as an ocean-based solution to climate change. Currently, nearly 30 percent of all oil and gas

production comes from offshore areas (EIA 2016; IEA 2019) with most of the offshore production and investment being concentrated in just a few regions (Rystad Energy 2023). Halting the expansion of offshore oil and gas extraction, and gradually phasing down current production and consumption through energy demand shifts, could avert 5.30 Gt CO,e a year of emissions in 2050.

Realising the full potential of this solution and ensuring that halted offshore expansion is not simply replaced by expanded onshore operations requires reductions in fossil fuel demand driven by a range of decarbonisation levers such as energy efficiency measures, renewables expansion, greater electrification, and the use of green hydrogen. Many of these technologies are passing key economic tipping points and are already more attractive to investors than their hydrocarbon counterparts. For example, wind and solar are already the cheapest forms of new energy globally, and cost reductions are anticipated to continue (IRENA 2022; Lazard 2022; Systemiq 2023). Importantly, negative emission technologies cannot be used as a substitute for halting offshore oil and gas expansion, nor should they promise future emissions reductions to excuse ongoing search and extraction of oil and gas.

MARINE CARBON DIOXIDE REMOVAL AND CARBON CAPTURE AND STORAGE

Since 2019, interest in mCDR has surged (GESAMP 2019; Moniz et al. 2020; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2021; Lebling et al. 2022; Ocean Visions n.d.). While promising, ocean-based CDR technologies remain at early stages of development. None of them has undergone fit-for-purpose field testing in ocean environments. Such field testing is critical for making evidence-based assessments of efficacy and impacts on marine ecosystems. Because mCDR activities show substantial CDR potential, further research and investment of resources (time, energy, and people) is needed. Advancing the science and engineering aspects of mCDR is important but must be matched by associated investigations of policy, governance, socio-economic and ecological impacts of any potential future deployments. Many of these questions and technologies still need further study and hence are not assessed as ready for implementation for the purposes of the present report.

FINANCE

Since the 2019 Report was issued there has been an increase in public and private finance to deliver ocean-climate mitigation solutions. As an example, in Europe €41 billion was invested into offshore wind in 2021 (Wind Europe 2023), though the level of investment in 2022 was significantly lower. While larger ocean sectors in particular have access to commercial finance and the capital markets to fund the required transition, this report suggests that at least US\$1 trillion of additional finance is needed between now and 2030 to facilitate a rapid transition to achieve the oceanclimate solutions outlined, supporting sectors at various stages of development, including research and technology, as well as delivery of adequate risk management and environmental impact assessment, governance and regulatory structures, with a particular emphasis on creating opportunities in the Global South. Innovative finance mechanisms including blended finance approaches to a sustainable blue economy will be key, with increased engagement of public finance institutions to facilitate flows based on blue finance guidelines (IFC 2022).

It is expected that more of the ocean-climate solutions will be mainstreamed and have access to commercial finance beyond 2030. Needless to say, an overall investment of at least \$2 trillion⁴ from 2030 to 2050 will be required to reach scale across the ocean sectors (GIH 2018; Krishnan et al. 2022; Morgan Stanley 2023).

Wider impacts

This report also includes an updated analysis of the assessment of wider impacts (both positive and negative) of each type of ocean intervention and mitigation option. The steps needed to cut GHG emissions will ripple across multiple dimensions of long-term (mid-century and beyond) sustainable development, well-being and governance. They will yield co-benefits and require tradeoffs (IPCC 2018, 2023. Some will affect countries' ability to achieve targets established within the framework of the UN 2030 SDGs. Taking these wider impacts into account can help provide a more informed and holistic picture of pursuing ocean-based climate solutions.

This report concludes that while many ocean-based mitigation options discussed bring both co-benefits and trade-offs, the benefits of solutions ready to implement generally far outweigh the potential downsides of deployment and/or full implementation. Trade-offs do, however, need to be considered.

Positive environmental consequences include major biodiversity benefits to marine and terrestrial ecosystems, enhanced ecosystem services (improvement in fisheries productivity and coastal tourism), reduced ocean acidification, greater coastal resilience, and less withdrawal/usage of water. Positive economic impacts can include economic growth through new local employment opportunities in the ocean economy, improved incomes and livelihoods in coastal areas, lower fuel costs for more energy efficient vessels and better health and food security resulting from shifting diets.

Several potentially negative repercussions were identified as well. These include the potential environmental, economic and social impacts of unplanned growth in aquaculture and renewable energy installations. If deployed at scale, without scientific consensus or the appropriate governance, many marine carbon dioxide removal approaches explored in this report could alter chemical, physical and ecological processes in ways that contribute to ocean acidification and deoxygenation, and damage ocean ecosystems. Some of these risks can be adequately addressed through stakeholder engagement, inclusive management policies, careful monitoring, and effective marine planning. But others will require further research, and/or be evaluated unsuitable. Risks also include ethical issues. In some instances, governments may need to take action to reduce, resolve and erect safeguards against negative impacts. Concerted action is needed to understand global, regional and local risks to enhance net positive outcomes and minimise negative ones.

Policy design and implementation, such as through holistic planning tools like Sustainable Ocean Plans (SOPs) (Ocean Panel 2021) help determine how mitigation options affect social outcomes. Without stake- and rights-holder consultation and co-development of solutions, mitigation options aimed at rebuilding fish stocks and other ocean biomass could hamper efforts to create employment, alleviate poverty, and improve access to food. But with co-management, capacity support/development and community buy-in, stocks can be rebuilt for the long-term benefit of coastal communities and ecosystems. Lack of effective stakeholder engagement on 'blue carbon' restoration projects (including exclusion of local community representatives from key international decision-making events) can limit access to ocean spaces or resources (Schindler Murray et al. 2023). This can harm small-scale fishers who heavily rely on local ecosystems for jobs, nutritional needs and economic sustainability. Wellplanned mitigation measures that engage communities, nongovernmental organisations (NGOs) and governments, and follow best governance practices, are essential to avoid worsening inequalities and creating new social injustices.

The results of the analysis are shown in Figure ES-4.



Figure ES-4. The wider impact of ocean-based interventions on sustainable development dimensions

Note: The figure is an updated version of Figure ES.5 in Hoegh-Guldberg et al. (2019). New literature has been analysed to update this figure. Wider-impact dimensions cover various sustainable development dimension indicators as well as 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). The figure shows the relative strength of the relationship between the ocean-based areas of interventions and the SDGs. The relationship between each ocean-based mitigation option and SDG is given a linkage score, positive scores shown by green boxes and negative scores shown by yellow/red boxes. Scores range from +3 (indivisible) to -3 (cancelling) (Nilsson et al. 2016). A zero score (no bar and no colour) means no impact was found in this review of the literature. For intervention areas where there is more than one mitigation option, an average of the linkage score is taken among the mit*igation options in that area.*

Source: Authors.

Opportunities for action

Achieving the potential outlined in this report will require both concerted national action and appropriate financing mechanisms. Table ES-5 summarises short-term priorities (by 2025) for each ocean-based solution that are required to accelerate implementation and put all sectors on a pathway to realise the potential identified. For some sectors, this will mean catching up on opportunities missed over the past four years. Additional priorities for the medium term (by 2030) and long term (2050 to endcentury) are explored in more detail in each chapter.

Utilising Sustainable Ocean Plans or equivalent holistic ocean governance mechanisms can support the acceleration of many of these ocean-based climate solutions in a manner that is equitable, inclusive and nature-positive (Ocean Panel 2021). Table ES-5. Short-term priorities and opportunities to deliver on mitigation potential of ocean-based climate action areas

MARINE CONSE	ERVATION AND RESTORATION
Government	 Assess national blue carbon opportunities (Schindler Murray et al. 2023).
	 Analyse national and international legal and policy frameworks to include blue carbon in sustainable development, climate change, forestry, biodiversity and marine resource management regulations, including national GHG inventories and NDCs by implementing the IPCC Wetlands Supplement from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).^a
	 Enact regulation and policies to halt ecosystem losses and promote restoration. Set appropriate conditions based on global standards (clarity on land tenures, policy predictability, when possible public funding to de-risk investments) to attract private capital.
	 Designate marine protected areas (MPAs) as an integral part of marine spatial planning (MSP) to enhance conservation, maximise climate and biodiversity benefits.
	 Use non-market-based approaches, including community-based natural resource management and civil society cooperation aimed at the conservation of biodiversity (Target 19, CBD 2022).
	 Recognise the wider ecosystem services and benefits for water quality, biodiversity, fisheries, aquaculture, coastal protection and climate change adaptation to develop appropriate financial and regulatory incentive tools.
	 Increase investments in R&D and citizen science programs to fill priority knowledge gaps.
	 Explore robust global or regional carbon pricing structures.
Private sector	 Set targets and/or pledges for ecosystem protection and restoration (as relevant to land ownership, operations or supply chains) (CBD 2022).
	 Increase investments in coastal nature-based solution (NbS) projects (e.g. in project development, regulatory approvals, financial management, project implementation, research and development), including through impact funds and other instruments (Target 19, CBD 2022).
	 Increase investment in conservation and restoration of blue carbon ecosystems through innovative finance (insurance, debt swaps, taxes, and carbon credits), carbon pricing mechanisms, and public-private partnerships (Target 19, CBD 2022).
	 Partner with local communities to deliver all aspects of projects (including verification) (Target 19, CBD 2022).
	 Implement the International Union for Conservation of Nature's NbS standard guidelines and the High Quality Blue Carbon Principles (Conservation International et al. 2022) for investments (e.g. equitable benefit sharing).
	 Examine supply chains and eliminate components that lead to degradation of coastal and marine ecosystems and work towards positive impact on ecosystems.

 Table ES-5. Short-term priorities and opportunities to deliver on mitigation potential of ocean-based climate action areas (Continued)

MARINE CONSE	RVATION AND RESTORATION (CONTINUED)
Research community	 Develop robust, low-cost monitoring technologies (e.g. using remote sensing) for monitoring success of blue carbon projects.
	 Improve seagrass and seaweed restoration techniques for large-scale implementation. Link management of offsite factors, e.g. improvement of catchment water quality, to restoration outcomes.
	 Improve documentation and understanding of seaweed carbon fluxes and sequestration in relation to management action.
	 Increase accuracy and knowledge of spatial and temporal variability of estimates of mitigation by blue carbon ecosystems, including impacts of climate change.
	 Identify new opportunities for blue carbon projects (develop frameworks to aid identification of sites for blue carbon projects and co-benefits for communities).
	 Characterise co-benefits of NbS projects, including social outcomes. Develop robust, standardised guidelines for projects.
	 Develop knowledge on wider impact both at project scale and economy-wide as well as at global scale to better inform policy and action.
	 Collaborate with the government, the private sector and communities to support projects and policy development.
OCEAN-BASED	RENEWABLE ENERGY
OCEAN-BASED Government	 RENEWABLE ENERGY Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict amongst ocean users.
	 Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean
	 Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict amongst ocean users. Provide a stable economic and regulatory framework to stimulate investment in required infrastructure for
	 Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict amongst ocean users. Provide a stable economic and regulatory framework to stimulate investment in required infrastructure for an accelerated deployment of ocean-based energy systems.
	 Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict amongst ocean users. Provide a stable economic and regulatory framework to stimulate investment in required infrastructure for an accelerated deployment of ocean-based energy systems. Improve the transparency of siting and permitting processes.
	 Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict amongst ocean users. Provide a stable economic and regulatory framework to stimulate investment in required infrastructure for an accelerated deployment of ocean-based energy systems. Improve the transparency of siting and permitting processes. Introduce attractive financial support and guarantee schemes.
	 Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict amongst ocean users. Provide a stable economic and regulatory framework to stimulate investment in required infrastructure for an accelerated deployment of ocean-based energy systems. Improve the transparency of siting and permitting processes. Introduce attractive financial support and guarantee schemes. Establish processes to resolve cross-border regulatory issues. Offer education and capacity building to create a skilled workforce and capacities for manufacturing repair,
Government	 Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict amongst ocean users. Provide a stable economic and regulatory framework to stimulate investment in required infrastructure for an accelerated deployment of ocean-based energy systems. Improve the transparency of siting and permitting processes. Introduce attractive financial support and guarantee schemes. Establish processes to resolve cross-border regulatory issues. Offer education and capacity building to create a skilled workforce and capacities for manufacturing repair, and installation.
Government	 Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict amongst ocean users. Provide a stable economic and regulatory framework to stimulate investment in required infrastructure for an accelerated deployment of ocean-based energy systems. Improve the transparency of siting and permitting processes. Introduce attractive financial support and guarantee schemes. Establish processes to resolve cross-border regulatory issues. Offer education and capacity building to create a skilled workforce and capacities for manufacturing repair, and installation. Strengthen and expand supply chains, including where to site suppliers.
Government	 Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict amongst ocean users. Provide a stable economic and regulatory framework to stimulate investment in required infrastructure for an accelerated deployment of ocean-based energy systems. Improve the transparency of siting and permitting processes. Introduce attractive financial support and guarantee schemes. Establish processes to resolve cross-border regulatory issues. Offer education and capacity building to create a skilled workforce and capacities for manufacturing repair, and installation. Strengthen and expand supply chains, including where to site suppliers. Develop efficiency of technology deployment and supply chain to reduce costs.

 Table ES-5. Short-term priorities and opportunities to deliver on mitigation potential of ocean-based climate action areas

 (Continued)

OCEAN-BASED F	RENEWABLE ENERGY (CONTINUED)
Research community	 Increase research on environmental and social impacts of large-scale offshore wind (OSW) energy and multi- use of ocean space.
	 Develop technology components that reduce cost and dependency on critical materials.
	 Further investigate the potential for installing large-scale floating solar installations at sea.
	• Understand the potential benefits of co-location with other ocean-based industries (e.g. desalination plants and aquaculture).
OCEAN-BASED 1	FRANSPORT
Government	 Develop and communicate national targets and pledges for the decarbonisation of domestic vessel fleets and associated national infrastructure.
	 Develop national and/or regional plans on the role and carbon intensity of trade.
	• Commit to decarbonisation of national energy systems faster or as fast as the low-carbon transition in the international vessel fleet.
	 Support the revision of the IMO's short-term measure policies—improving stringency, enforcement and effectiveness of the existing regulations such as Carbon Intensity Indicators (CIIs) and the Energy Efficiency eXisting ship Index (EEXI) and the development and adoption of new IMO mid-term measures.
	 Refine the IMO Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) guidelines and use in policy.
	 Adopt basket of goal-based IMO mid-term measures, enabling equitable transition.
	 Provide support and incentives for early adopters of zero emission technologies.
	 Revise the IMO Data Collection System (DCS) to include cargo carried.
Private sector	• Sign up for voluntary initiatives that robustly and transparently measure alignment to limit global warming to 1.5°C.
	 Form value-chain clubs around early adoption zero emission opportunities.
	 Include decarbonisation opportunity and risk efficiently into contracting
Research community	• Evaluate options to reduce cost, address safety, and increase efficiency of renewable-based fuels both in the form of electricity in combination with batteries, low-carbon fuel made from renewables and carbon capture and storage (CCS) on board.
	 Assess performance of complementary efficiency technologies, including wind.
	 Identify and rectify market and nonmarket barriers and failures to enable larger uptake of more energy- efficient technologies and cooperation patterns.

Table ES-5. Short-term priorities and opportunities to deliver on mitigation potential of ocean-based climate action areas(Continued)

OCEAN-BASED	TOURISM
Government	 Monitor and track GHG emissions (scope 1–3) from global cruise tourism to devise and revise climate policies for the sector.
	 Implement voluntary disclosure of per passenger emission levels following the example of aviation industry to empower users in their decision making.
	 Blend-in obligations for sustainable biofuels in jurisdictions such as the European Union.
	 Set standard CIIs to track progress; the CII must reflect actual operations.
	 Adopt stringent and effective IMO mid-term policy measures (GHG levy and GHG fuel standard).
Private sector	• Sign up for voluntary initiatives that robustly and transparently measure alignment to limit global warming to 1.5°C.
	 Implement structured fees at port for cruise ships that imply a significantly higher cost for ship owners.
	 Invest in research, development, and design of energy-efficient and low-carbon cruise ship technology.
	 Design, order and build cruise vessels with low energy consumption and zero GHG emission fuels.
Research	 Research options for utilising a standard connection for shore power to increase utilisation.
community	 Further research design of energy-efficient components and activities (such as hull cleaning).
OCEAN-BASED	FOOD
Government	 Enhance sustainable management and enforcement of ocean fisheries globally, with a focus on the use of MPAs and implementing rebuilding plans for depleted stocks.
	 Promote electrification and decarbonisation of all aquaculture site energy inputs.
	 Promote efficient licensing processes and strategic marine spatial planning for ocean aquaculture to avoid unplanned growth and maximise synergies with other ocean users and technologies (including ocean-based renewable energy).
	 Utilise area-based management frameworks, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict between ocean users.
	• Review national regulatory and incentive structure to align with efforts to decarbonise ocean based food.
Private sector	 Scale best practices for fisheries management and marine aquaculture, including adaptative fisheries management to promote adaptation to climate change.
	 Investment in species-targeted aquaculture strategies (e.g. improved genetics, husbandry practices) to reduce feed conversion ratio in fed aquaculture.
Research community	• Enhance development of monitoring, evaluation and enforcement tools that enhance sustainable fisheries and aquaculture management.
	 Improve assessment and monitoring of data-poor fish stocks to facilitate management and rebuilding.
	• Expand analyses on diet influences on human health to seek more options that are good for people and the
	planet.

Table ES-5. Short-term priorities and opportunities to deliver on mitigation potential of ocean-based climate action areas(Continued)

OFFSHORE OIL	AND GAS
Government	 Initiate processes to withdraw fossil fuel subsidies in countries which currently provide them.
	 Establish governance to stop the granting of new licenses for offshore oil and gas extraction.
	• Review offshore oil and gas leases that are not yet operational with a view to withdraw such leases.
	 Invest public finance in energy security and access for economically vulnerable communities.
	 Plan retraining, skill diversification and social protection.
	 Enact legislation and/or regulation to ban routine flaring.
Private sector	 Invest in technology and practices to reduce methane leaks and end routine flaring in countries where it is still allowed.
	 Increase energy efficiency in offshore oil and gas operations.
	 Operators work with governments to develop and enact decommissioning plans.
	• Operators reduce average reservoir depletion rates from ~8 percent per year to ~4 percent per year.
	 Investors and financial institutions signal that new oil and gas exploration and new infrastructure is not worthwhile and reprioritise investment in renewable energy infrastructure.
Research community	 Investigate impacts of decommissioning of structures and materials on the health of surrounding coastal communities and marine environments.
	 Identify gaps and opportunities for investment in training and skills development to ensure opportunities for transitioning the work force.

 Table ES-5. Short-term priorities and opportunities to deliver on mitigation potential of ocean-based climate action areas (Continued)

MARINE CARBO	N DIOXIDE REMOVAL AND CARBON CAPTURE AND STORAGE
Government	 Develop a model international governance framework to establish suitable guardrails for future research, field testing and potential deployment.
	 Develop domestic legal frameworks specific to mCDR which set regulatory standards.
	 Harness mCDR projects as an opportunity to increase equity and justice initiatives.
	 Sponsor research including supporting incremental testing and monitoring programs.
	 Support research on the environmental and societal implications of mCDR.
Private sector	 Coordinate with government and research sectors to sustain a transparent research infrastructure.
	 Co-design research objectives with indigenous and coastal communities.
	 Construct robust monitoring, reporting, and verification plans, which include life cycle emissions accounting for net removal estimates.
	 Develop and follow a mCDR code of conduct.
	 Provide early investments to catalyse innovation in the mCDR landscape.
Research	 Conduct cross-sectoral research on the social and environmental impacts of mCDR strategies.
community	• Conduct field and pilot studies to understand the efficacy and impacts of mCDR. Incorporate mCDR methods into integrated assessment models and consider interactions with Sustainable Development Goals.
	 Push forward innovative sensor and model designs to allow for more robust monitoring, reporting and verification.
	 Improve the resolution of ocean chemistry baseline measurements.

Source: a. IPCC 2013b.

Financing the transition

Financing the solutions identified in this report is an urgent, time-sensitive challenge that world leaders must grapple with now. The nature of this challenge differs by sector and region. For instance, funding available from public and private sources for mature sectors in stable jurisdictions may exceed their absorptive capacity. In contrast, less mature sectors in regions with institutional bottlenecks and higher perceived risks to investment may be starved for finance. Where finance is available it needs to be fully aligned with the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework and goals of the Paris Agreement, and providing funding where it is now scant may require de-risking, guarantees and blended finance.

Since the 2019 Report was issued there has been an increase in public and private finance to deliver oceanclimate mitigation solutions. As an example, in Europe €41 billion was invested into offshore wind in 2021 (Wind Europe 2023), though the level of investment in 2022 was significantly lower.

While larger ocean sectors in particular have access to commercial finance and the capital markets to fund the required transition, this report suggests that at least \$1 trillion of additional finance is needed between now and 2030 to facilitate a rapid transition to achieve the ocean-climate solutions outlined, supporting sectors at various stages of development, including research and technology, as well as delivery of adequate risk management and environmental impact assessment, governance and regulatory structures, with a particular emphasis on creating opportunities in the Global South. Innovative finance mechanisms including blended finance approaches to a sustainable blue economy will be key, with increased engagement of public finance institutions to facilitate flows based on blue finance guidelines (IFC 2022). It is expected that more oceanclimate solutions will be mainstreamed and have access to commercial finance beyond 2030.

This report suggests that an estimated \$2 trillion⁵ needs to flow into ocean solutions between 2030 and 2050 to support the achievement of the mitigation potential suggested in this report (GIH 2018; Krishnan et al. 2022; Morgan Stanley 2023).

Below are some of the priorities for reaching this trajectory:

By 2025

- Governments and the private sector to re-align frameworks and approaches to achieve nature positive net zero.
- Governments to provide additional finance to support early-stage companies develop zero carbon solutions.
- Governments, NGOs and the private sector to launch collaborative finance partnerships and solid standards for a rapid transition.
- Governments to agree on and outline targets and associated pathways for ocean sectors that are Paris-aligned to ensure consistent policy signals for investing.

By 2030

- All actors scale up working solutions, overcoming bottlenecks to finance a wider range of ocean technology solutions.
- All actors focus on delivering ocean climate benefits everywhere, including in those parts of the Global South that lack some of the preconditions for sufficient finance flow.
- Deliver NbS finance with emphasis on co-benefits, adaptation, resilience and biodiversity.
- Show significant progress across all sectors.

...an estimated \$2 trillion needs to flow into ocean solutions between 2030 and 2050 to support the achievement of the mitigation potential suggested in this report. \$1 trillion of additional finance by 2030 to facilitate a rapid transition to the ocean-climate solutions outlined in this report.

Under this approach, by 2050

- \$2 trillion needs to flow into ocean solutions between 2030 and 2050. Depending on the success of mainstreaming and aligning investments in ocean solutions with commercial finance flows, not all of this is an additional financing need.
- Transformation of the sectors is complete so that there is no more need for transition finance and all funding goes to fully net zero climate approaches.
- All finance is ocean- and nature-positive, with a robust monitoring and management framework based on near-real time data at the site and asset level, both in national waters and in the high seas.

This report analyses each sector individually. It finds that global flows into nature-based solutions need to quadruple per year by 2050 (UNEP 2021). The State of Finance for Nature 2021 report (UNEP 2021) puts the cost of mangrove restoration finance at a total of \$15 billion for the period from 2021 to 2050, of which \$4 billion invested by 2030 is the target of the mangrove Breakthrough (Climate Champions 2022). Other systems such as seagrasses, salt marshes and potentially kelp are likely to require investments at a similar or smaller scale. Most traditional finance has limited traction, but bundled approaches and larger capital market transactions can steer international capital markets towards blue carbon. Options include structured finance, blue bonds and integrating nature-based solutions into broader blue infrastructure approaches. Carbon markets are increasingly being considered as financing mechanisms for nature-based solutions such as blue carbon, but the amount of carbon sequestered through those transactions and corresponding finance will remain small in the 2030 time frame (Sumaila et al. 2021; Schindler Murray et al. 2023).

Growing investment is expected to make offshore wind energy the leading ocean-climate mitigation solution by 2030 (IRENA 2023). Providing sufficiently accessible finance for this sector, however, will require action by finance sources, such as capital markets and public (government) finance, to reform lending practices, strengthen instruments such as blue bonds, and change procurement processes to channel finance to needed infrastructure such as transmission lines. Developing countries will also need assistance putting robust strategies and regulatory frameworks in place for offshore wind deployment. For other ocean renewable technologies that are not at the same level of maturity as offshore wind, funding should focus on research and development before large-scale commercial finance becomes available.

Estimates based on IMO Initial Strategy ambitions put the total additional capital needed for reducing carbon emissions from shipping by at least 50 percent by 2050 at \$1-1.4 trillion, noting that over 80 percent of this total relates to infrastructure investment on land (Global Maritime Forum 2020). If shipping was to fully decarbonise by 2050, this would require extra investments of approximately \$400 billion over 20 years (Global Maritime Forum 2020). Reaching this target will require around \$40 billion annually in finance by 2030 (Baresic and Palmer 2022). The sector has access to a wide range of traditional finance mechanisms offering multiple pathways to deliver appropriate funding structures. However, there is limited financing appetite for zero carbon ocean transport solutions, such as wind-only cargo ships, or for investments into earlystage technology businesses that can help transform the sector. These opportunities to decarbonise shipping require targeted, knowledgeable impact and venture capital finance to scale.

Similarly, the cruise tourism sector has good access to traditional marine finance. Achieving zero carbon cruising, however, requires new technologies and approaches and appropriate finance mechanisms. These could include commercially funded investments in land-based renewables and port logistics to shrink the sector's carbon footprint.

Finance for ocean-based food should be re-aligned to fully integrate both climate and nature considerations into funding decisions. Remaining subsidies for fishing and food crops should be redirected away from nonsustainable activities. Investment needs for the sector reach \$55 billion by 2050 (Elwin et al. 2023).



Introduction

Securing the long-term health of the ocean and achieving the potential benefits of a sustainable ocean economy will only be possible if atmospheric concentrations of greenhouse gases urgently begin to decline. The ocean offers a series of opportunities for reducing greenhouse gas emissions. It is a vital component of the global carbon cycle, and can be a significant part of the solution set in the fight against climate change.

1.1 Context

Covering over 70 percent of the Earth's surface, the ocean acts as a vast storehouse for both carbon dioxide (CO₂) and heat, playing a crucial part in shaping global climate patterns. Regrettably, human endeavours, such as burning fossil fuels, overfishing, disturbing the seafloor, and releasing various chemicals like fertilisers, sediments and pesticides are altering our planet. These activities have led to unprecedented acidification and warming of ocean waters, causing rapid and deep-seated changes throughout many aspects of the marine ecosystem.

...the ocean is increasingly seen as a potential solution to climate change. The traditional narrative is that the ocean is a victim of climate change instead of being part of the solution. In many ways, however, the ocean is increasingly seen as a potential solution to climate change. Recognising this, the High Level Panel for a Sustainable Ocean Economy, comprising 17 world leaders, commissioned *The Ocean as a Solution to Climate Change: Five Opportunities for Action*

in 2019 (the 2019 Report). This report presented a compelling case for the crucial role the ocean can play in mitigating climate change and provides a comprehensive roadmap for leveraging ocean-based solutions to combat the global climate crisis (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). It underscored the urgent need to prioritise the ocean in climate action and adopt transformative solutions that harness its mitigation potential. This report updates the previous report with a revised analysis of the initial five opportunities for ocean-based action, and covers additional sectors not included in the 2019 Report: offshore oil and gas and ocean-based tourism (Table 1).

Much has happened in the past years, not least of which includes the global pandemic, the war in Europe, and the intensifying and more frequent occurrences of extreme weather events. The pandemic created supply chain problems and pushed up prices through inflation so that things cost more now; e.g. offshore wind is now more expensive. The war has created market dislocations for fossil fuels and food products so that nations are leasing more offshore areas to access oil and gas in the future assuming we will still need these fuels, adding to a range of geopolitical challenges. And the environmental crises - heat waves, droughts, wild fires, floods, and rising sea levels - have increased energy usage, to say nothing of their devastating impact on lives and communities. Also, ocean warming, deoxygenation and acidification have negatively affected marine life, impacting fisheries and aquaculture as well as ocean flora that could act as part of the transition to more environmentallyfriendly diets incorporating proportions of food from the ocean. In terms of positive developments, we have seen an almost doubling of national targets and pledges to increase offshore wind production, and most recently a more ambitious GHG strategy from the IMO to reduce emissions from international shipping.

The purpose of this updated report is to consider how this progress and associated challenges have changed the mitigation potential of ocean-based climate solutions. For each sector and ocean-based mitigation option, this update reflects progress to date, provides new data, and identifies both priorities and ongoing implementation challenges. It evaluates sectors as a key sink or source of CO₂ and explores both the mitigation potential and associated impacts (co-benefits and trade-offs). It recognises that the sectors are not completely independent of each other or of action on land. For example, marine transport is dependent on ports and connected to land transport.
 Table 1. Seven ocean-based sectors and associated mitigation opportunities

OCEAN-BASED -SECTOR	MITIGATION OPTIONS	DESCRIPTION
	Restoration of coastal wetlands	Restoration of degraded coastal ecosystems towards natural state.
Marine conservation and restoration	Increased protection of coastal wetlands	Protection of coastal wetland systems, including mangroves, tidal marshes, seagrasses and seaweeds, aiming to avoid further degradation (and release of sequestered carbon) from these systems.
	Scaling up wild macroalgal protection and restoration	Protection of wild macroalgal habitats and related carbon sinks, and restoration of degraded macroalgal forests.
Ocean-based	Scaling up offshore wind	Installing new fixed and floating offshore wind and solar farms.
renewable energy	Scaling up other ocean energy	Installing new equipment to convert and harvest energy carried by ocean waves, tides, salinity and temperature differences.
	Reducing emissions from domestic shipping and marine transport	Reducing emissions from shipping between ports of the same country.
Ocean-based transport	Reducing emissions from international shipping	Reducing emissions from shipping between ports of different countries, including emissions associated with product tankers, chemical tankers, crude oil tankers, liquid natural gas carriers, liquid petroleum gas carriers, dry bulk, general cargo and open hatch, car carriers, roll-on/roll-off and roll- on/roll-off passenger. International shipping excludes military, fishing vessels, and cruise ships.
Ocean-based tourism	Reducing emissions associated with cruise tourism	Reducing emissions from a form of tourism where tourists are accommodated on and transported by ships.
	Emissions reductions through rebuilding depleted wild stocks	Reduction in fuel use intensity to harvest fish and shellfish that results from rebuilding depleted stocks.
		Avoided emissions if the increased harvest achieved via rebuilding stocks is consumed in place of higher-emission land-based animal products.
		Improved feed conversion ratios (10% reduction in economic feed conversion ratios across all fed species).
Ocean-based food	Reducing emissions from aquaculture	Complete avoidance of deforestation in the supply chains of feed ingredients from soy, palm, and other crops as well as in the feeds of poultry and livestock systems providing by-products.
		Shifting all energy inputs to farms are derived from electricity generated from renewable sources, rather than fossil fuels onsite or in electricity grids.
	Increasing share of ocean-based proteins in diets	Potential emissions avoided by behavioural shifts away from high-emission land-based proteins and towards lower-emission seafood systems.
Offshore oil and gas	Stopping the expansion of offshore oil and gas extraction along with a demand-led phase- down of current production	Potential emissions avoided via reduction in the production and consump- tion of offshore oil and gas.
	CO ₂ storage below the seabed	Storage of CO ₂ below the seabed in geological formations.
Marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and storage		Ocean alkalinity enhancement.
	CO ₂ removal approaches	Direct ocean removal.
	co ₂ removal approaches	Ocean nutrient fertilisation.
		Seaweed cultivation and carbon sequestration (including both active sinking and passive sequestration associated with seaweed farming for harvest).

1.2 Global progress on oceanbased climate action

Since 2019, new initiatives have helped accelerate progress (Northrop et al. 2022). Updated Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) have set more ambitious targets. An analysis of 106 new and updated NDCs finds that 77 (73 percent) include at least one target, policy or measure aimed at ocean-based climate actions (Khan and Northrop 2022).

Governments and industry stakeholders have recognised the enormous potential of offshore wind farms to meet a significant share of the world's electricity needs while reducing reliance on fossil fuels. Notable pledges and initiatives have been launched since 2019 to bolster offshore wind capacity, including the North Sea Wind Power Hub, announced in 2021, which is a collaboration between European countries to develop a vast interconnected offshore wind farm. Moreover, several coastal nations have committed to ambitious domestic targets for offshore wind deployment since 2019, driving innovation in turbine technology, grid integration, and environmental impact assessments. These efforts reflect a strong commitment to harnessing the power of wind energy to achieve decarbonisation goals.



Marine and coastal conservation and restoration are expected to accelerate because of the targets agreed to under the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework in December 2022.

Shipping has also garnered growing attention. The IMO's revised and more ambitious GHG Reduction Strategy is now nearing the sector's maximum abatement potential (IMO 2023c). The Getting to Zero Coalition, launched in 2019, brings together over 160 stakeholders from across the maritime sector to facilitate the development and deployment of zero emission vessels. Over 200 zero emission pilot and demonstration projects are currently in the pipeline, an increase of almost 100 percent since 2019. The Pacific Blue Shipping Partnership aims to transition domestic maritime transport in the Pacific towards sustainable and low-carbon practices as well. Co-chaired by the Governments of Fiji and the Republic of the Marshall Islands and joined by five other Pacific Island nations, it seeks to reduce domestic emissions by 40 percent by 2030 and reach zero emissions by 2050. In October 2021 the UN Climate Change High Level Champions, UMAS, Getting to Zero Coalition and the Lloyd's Register published an action plan to reach zero emission fuels for 5 percent of international shipping and 15 percent of domestic shipping by 2030. This target would put the sector on track to decarbonise by 2050 and sets out the specific near-term actions and milestones around which businesses and governments can unite (Baresic and Palmer 2022).

The EU has developed a package of policy measures, national governments have stepped up support for research and development (R&D) in new technology, and frameworks (such as the Poseidon Principles) have been developed to monitor what the companies financing, insuring, and chartering ocean transport are doing to support decarbonisation. In November 2022, the Science-Based Target initiative's (SBTi) published guidance titled Science-Based Target Setting for the Maritime Transport Sector, designed for shipping companies that own and operate ocean-going vessels and for those setting targets for supply chain emissions from maritime trade. There has been less progress addressing climate change by shifting to foods harvested sustainably from the ocean. Initiatives are emerging at the company level to promote sustainable fishing and aquaculture practices. For example, the Norwegian
fishing organisation, Fiskebåt, has pledged to reduce emissions from its fishing fleet by 40 percent by 2030, and Austral Fisheries, one of Australia's largest commercial fishing companies, promises to ultimately reach carbon neutrality across all operations. However, at the international level, this sector needs greater political attention and policy action to help it accelerate the achievement of its emissions reduction potential.

The role of global tourism and its potential to decarbonise has been brought into the spotlight by the Glasgow Declaration on Climate Action in Tourism. Signatories to the Declaration commit to act now and accelerate climate action to cut global tourism emissions by at least a half over the next decade and reach net zero emissions as soon as possible. Cruise companies have started coming forward with pledges to reduce emissions intensity, achieving net zero by 2050 (e.g., MSC Cruises) and advancing plans for zero emission ships (e.g. Royal Caribbean Group has promised to launch its first zero emission ship by 2040) (Northrop et al. 2022).

1.3 Ongoing challenges

Despite the significant attention that ocean-based climate solutions have received since the 2019 Report, and initiatives and pledges across all ocean-based sectors, the global climate crisis and the need for action are only growing more urgent and more unresolved.

The most recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Assessment Report (AR6) suggests that NDCs announced by October 2021 are unlikely to limit warming to 1.5°C during the 21st century and that even keeping warming below 2°C will be difficult. There is a significant gap between the emissions pathways of implemented policies and those from NDCs. Current financing falls far short of what is needed to meet climate goals across all sectors and regions.

The AR6 report indicates that the updated national pledges made after the 2021 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change Conference of Parties (COP 26, in Glasgow, UK), have not had a consequential impact on the projected emissions for 2030. Globally, governments are significantly deviating from the objective outlined in the Paris Agreement, which aims to restrict global warming to a level well below 2°C, preferably below 1.5°C. Current policies suggest a temperature increase of 2.8°C by the century's conclusion (UNEP 2022). However, if the existing pledges are implemented, this escalation would be reduced to a range of 2.4-2.6°C, depending on whether the pledges are conditional or unconditional. To follow a trajectory leading to a 1.5°C increase, emissions need to be cut 45 percent below what they are

The ocean-based economy can provide significant opportunities for mitigating GHG emissions and contribute to landbased efforts to fight climate change.

projected to be under existing policies. Even to reach a 2°C target, a 30 percent reduction is required.

This information shows that we are running out of time. Comparing the emissions reduction options laid out in the 2019 Report, with the ones available to us in 2023, brings this into stark relief. Some key actions that the 2019 Report identified as having the potential to cut emissions by 2030 have now dropped off that list. The lack of implementation, as well as investment in the necessary infrastructure, research and enabling environment means some of those opportunities have been lost, and emissions reduction potential today is much less than it was in 2019. The global pandemic has stalled domestic efforts to decarbonise maritime transport, scale offshore renewable energy and limit emissions from fisheries and aquaculture.

The present report emphasises that only an immediate and comprehensive transformation at a systemic level can achieve the substantial reductions required to curtail GHG emissions in line with the Paris Agreement by 2030. Its objective is to catalyse change by offering a pathway towards ambition and broadening opportunities for action that countries should consider as we rapidly move towards 2030 and 2050.

1.4 Methodology

This report follows the same methodology as the 2019 Report and is a bottom-up approach that does not holistically consider the global energy system. Each ocean-based climate solution is assessed in the context of its 2030 and 2050 annual 'mitigation potential' in line with the mitigation goals of average 1.5°C and 2.0°C pathways. This assessment is based on publicly available scientific and research literature, considering geophysical, technical, economic, and socio-political considerations that may affect feasibility. Based on this assessment, a conservative lower (minimum) and theoretical higher (maximum) range was estimated.

As in the 2019 Report, this report collates multiple analyses for each ocean-based sector. Underlying assumptions of these analyses may differ, and interactions amongst sectors are not explicitly considered. Important examples include the size of future baseline emissions and assumptions about the costs of key technologies and inputs. These are discussed and outlined in greater detail in the relevant sections of the report. The following approach was applied to each ocean intervention area to ensure consistency and comparability:

- 1. Identify the baseline emission projections for 2030 and 2050, based on literature review.
- 2. Outline the mitigation options for each intervention area that can be implemented by 2030 and 2050 (including explicitly identified assumptions).
- 3. Identify the range (minimum and maximum values) of abatement potential for each mitigation option in 2030 and 2050, either directly from the literature, through calculations based on available data in the literature, or from expert opinion.



The UNEP Current Policy scenario (reflecting all adopted and implemented policies) (UNEP 2022) was used as the baseline to estimate the contribution made by the solutions identified to closing the emissions gap in 2030 and 2050 between Current Policy (UNEP 2022) emissions pathway and pathways consistent with achieving the 1.5°C and 2.0°C goals of the Paris Agreement (United Nations 2015; IPCC 2023).

A more detailed methodology for each sector is contained in Appendix A. Methodology, including assumptions, risks and limitations. These methodologies are important to consider in conjunction with the findings of each section. This report also explores the technology readiness of solutions (IMO 2022, 2023b; Odenweller et al. 2022). Our assessment suggests that the high rates of transition needed over the next decades are feasible. However, they are not likely without unprecedented levels of action, cooperation and collaboration. Development and deployment of the identified solutions will require rapidly scaling up of global supply chains, learning and sharing lessons on best practices to increase the speed of deployment, reduce costs and minimise technology incompatibilities and other problems.

Figure 1 is applied to the relevant technologies needed to implement the mitigation solutions quantified for each sector to present a consistent and uniform assessment of readiness, with the results summarised in Table 2.

This readiness framework should help guide prioritisation for implementing those approaches, which are ready to implement now as opposed to those that will require greater investment or carry more uncertainty in terms of viability (e.g. marine carbon dioxide removal). It can also serve as a basis to inform investment in research, piloting and capacity building to support the achievement of the mitigation potentials identified for each sector.

Figure 1. Technology readiness framework

CONCEPT	 Basic principles defined Application formulated Concept needs validation 	
PROTOTYPE	 Proven in small tests/pilots Proven at scale in field tests 	Requires Further Research and Maturity
DEMONSTRATION	 Pre-commercial demonstration or Firsts of its kind commercial demonstration at scale in final form 	
EARLY ADOPTION	 Solution is commercially available but not yet competitive or integrated 	Poody to Implement
MATURE	 Stable technology and implementation Growth is predicable and commercial competitive 	Ready to Implement

Source: Authors, adapted from the technology readiness level scale applied by the IEA (2020).

Table 2. Readiness assessment of ocean-based solutions

OCEAN-BASED -SECTOR	TECHNOLOGY REQUIREMENTS TO IMPLEMENT OCEAN-BASED SOLUTIONS	READINESS ASSESSMENT
	Sequestration from restoration and protection of coastal wetlands (mangroves, tidal marshes, and seagrasses)	Mature
Marine conservation and restoration	Avoided anthropogenic degradation/impacts on coastal wetlands (mangroves, tidal marshes, and seagrasses)	Mature
	Sequestration and storage from protection and restoration of wild macroalgae (kelp forests and other seaweeds)	Prototype
	Scaling offshore wind	Mature
	Scaling tidal barrage	Mature
	Floating solar	Early adoption
Ocean-based renewable energy	Scaling ocean wave energy	Demonstration
	Scaling tidal stream energy	Demonstration
	Scaling energy capture of ocean temperature differences (thermal gradient)	Demonstration
	Scaling salinity gradient	Concept
	Reducing emissions from domestic shipping and marine transport through efficiency measures	Mature
Ocean-based transport	Reducing emissions from international shipping through energy efficiency measures	Mature
	Reducing emissions from international shipping through retrofitting to accommodate alternative lower-carbon fuels	Mature
	Zero emission vessels	Early adoption
Ocean-based tourism	Reducing emissions associated with cruise tourism	Early adoption

Table 2. Readiness assessment of ocean-based solutions (Continued)

OCEAN-BASED -SECTOR	TECHNOLOGY REQUIREMENTS TO IMPLEMENT OCEAN-BASED SOLUTIONS	READINESS ASSESSMENT
	Reduction in fuel use intensity to harvest fish and shellfish that results from rebuilding depleted stocks	Early adoption/mature
	Avoided emissions if increased harvest achieved via rebuilding stocks is consumed in place of higher emissions land-based animal products	Early adoption/mature
Ocean-based food	Improved feed conversion ratios	Early adoption/mature
	Avoidance of deforestation in the supply chains of feed ingredients from soy, palm and other crops as well as in the feeds of poultry and livestock systems providing by-products	Early adoption/mature
	Ensuring all energy inputs to farms are derived from electricity generated from renewable sources, rather than onsite fossil fuels or in electricity grids	Early adoption/mature
	Increasing share of ocean-based proteins in diets	Early adoption/mature
Offshore oil and gas	Stopping the expansion of offshore oil and gas extraction along with a demand-led phase down of current production	Mature
	CO ₂ storage below the seabed	Early adoption/mature
	Ocean nutrient fertilisation	Concept/prototype
Marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and storage	Ocean alkalinity enhancement	Concept/prototype
	Direct ocean removal	Concept/prototype
	Seaweed cultivation and carbon sequestration (including both active sinking and passive sequestration associated with seaweed farming for harvest)	Concept/prototype

Note: Current deployment of these sectors will be unavailable to bring the global climate back to equilibrium without major emission reductions. Farmed seaweed can also contribute to emissions reduction by substituting products with higher CO₂ footprint or being used as feed supplement to reduce ruminant CH₄ production (see 2.5 Ocean-based food).

Source: Authors, adapted from the technology readiness level scale applied by the IEA (2020).



Ocean-based solutions

Whilst ocean ecosystems are imperilled by climate change, ocean-based sectors offer opportunities for reducing greenhouse gas emissions. This report outlines a diverse suite of options for how ocean-based sectors can be a part of the solution set in the fight against climate change. The technological readiness of different solutions is investigated to differentiate those that are ready to implement from emerging solutions that require further research and impact assessment.

2.1 Marine conservation and restoration

Nature-based solutions to climate change have gained significant attention from academic, private and public sectors over the past decade. In the last three years, blue carbon, which refers to the carbon sequestered, stored or released from coastal and marine ecosystems, has become a focus of international policy. Countries are increasing integrating blue carbon actions into NDCs to the Paris Agreement for both mitigation and adaptation. Private sector organisations like the Blue Carbon Buyers Alliance are implementing global standards, financing blue carbon conservation and restoration, and developing ways to use carbon markets and advance high-quality blue carbon crediting projects to do this (Conservation International et al. 2022; Schindler Murray et al. 2023). This report updates projections related to the protection, conservation and restoration of naturebased solutions from the ocean and coastal ecosystems and informs agenda setting for conservation, climate policy, carbon finance mechanisms and action planning to limit global warming to 1.5°C above preindustrial levels.

The main focus is on blue carbon ecosystems that qualify as actionable mitigation pathways. These must demonstrate evidence of long-term carbon storage. Actions to conserve them must also have the potential to influence atmospheric greenhouse gases (GHG) as well as deliver co-benefits and meet international standards (IUCN 2020: Conservation International et al. 2022). Mounting interest in blue carbon stems in part from the important role that restoring and conserving blue carbon ecosystems can play in reaching multiple SDGs such as supporting adaptation to climate change, increasing protection from storms and coastal erosion, providing food from the ocean, enhancing livelihoods and providing decent work, protecting biodiversity and improving water quality (Sasmito et al. 2023; Schindler Murray et al. 2023).

Currently, the IPCC only recognises the management of mangroves, tidal marshes, and seagrass as actionable blue carbon pathways (IPCC 2013b). But evidence is coalescing to demonstrate that managing other coastal ecosystems such as kelp forests and other wild macroalgae (seaweeds) may also have significant mitigation potential and could be integrated within blue carbon strategies where appropriate. Documentation of their storage potential and permanence is limited, so further research is needed before these solutions are considered mature and therefore ready to implement (Ross et al. 2023; Pessarrodona et al. 2023).

Mitigation potential

The present report estimates the potential mitigation provided by combined protection and restoration of mangroves, seagrass, and tidal marshes to be between 0.05 and 0.29 Gt CO₂e year¹ in 2050. This computation, detailed in Table 3, is higher in magnitude to recent estimates by Jankowska et al. (2022) (0.04–0.12 Gt CO_2e year¹) because of methodological differences (differences in conservation and restoration scenarios, use IPCC tier one emission factors), but similar to global estimates of carbon sequestration (0.11–0.26 Gt CO₂ yr¹ (Lovelock and Reef 2020)) and estimates of the GHG sink for coastal vegetation and estuaries (0.39 Gt CO₂e yr¹, Rosentreter et al. 2023). For the present report update, assessment of the mitigation potential for these ecosystems is bound by:

- scientific consensus that carbon accounting methods for an ecosystem are robust enough to allow global estimates to be made;
- the potential for anthropogenic activities to increase or decrease carbon stocks or rates of sequestration that deviate from a baseline scenario; and
- data gaps concerning the current and future management of ecosystems.

Where data gaps mean that ecosystems may not currently meet the first two criteria but there is confidence that these gaps will be filled within a short enough time frame to allow these ecosystems to play a role in meeting 2030 or 2050 mitigation targets, the relevant ecosystems have been included in mitigation estimates. Since 2019, knowledge of the global cover of seagrass and tidal marshes has improved (Unsworth et al. 2019; McKenzie et al. 2020; Murray et al. 2022), leading to lower estimates of emissions reduction here than estimated in 2019. Additionally, estimates for seaweed farming are now included in sections 2.5 Ocean-based food and 2.7 Marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and storage. Mitigation from conservation and restoration of marine ecosystems could be between 0.028 and 0.135 Gt CO_2e year¹ in 2030 and up to 0.313 Gt CO_2e year¹ in 2050. The largest component of this mitigation potential comes from mangrove conservation and restoration (0.037 and 0.172 Gt CO_2e year¹ in 2050 respectively for conservation and restoration). Mitigation associated with restoration will increase towards 2050 as carbon stored in woody biomass increases. Tidal marshes offer smaller maximum mitigation potential than other ecosystems, reflecting their lower global cover and current low rates of loss (Murray et al. 2022), but restoration potential could increase with further knowledge of historical losses and restoration opportunities. Restoration and conservation of seagrass and seaweeds could offer up to 0.043 and 0.044 Gt CO₂e year¹ respectively in 2050, although the range of potential mitigation is high, given high levels of uncertainty in global cover and potential area available for restoration of these ecosystems.

Table 3. Potential for different marine conservation and restoration opportunities to mitigate carbonemission, 2030 and 2050

OCEAN-BASED SECTOR	MITIGATION OPTIONS	DESCRIPTION	ECOSYSTEM	2030 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/YEAR)	2050 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/YEAR)
	Restoration of coastal ecosystems	Restoration of degraded coastal ecosystems towards natural state.	Mangroves Tidal marshes Seagrass Seaweeds (kelp)	0.004-0.026 0.001-0.002 0.001-0.004 0-0.022	0.028-0.172 0.004-0.015 0.007-0.025 0-0.018
Marine conservation and restoration	Increased pro- tection of coastal ecosystems	Protection of coastal ecosystems systems to avoid further degradation (and release of sequestered carbon) from these systems.	Mangroves Tidal marshes Seagrass Seaweeds (kelp)	0.018-0.040 0.001-0.003 0.003-0.034 0-0.0044	0.009-0.037 0-0.002 0.003-0.034 0-0.0103
Total				0.028-0.135	0.05-0.313

Note: There are no available mitigation estimates for conservation and restoration of marine fauna. Mitigation for reducing disturbance to the seabed is estimated to vary between 0.04 and 0.124 Gt CO₂e year¹ (Sala et al. 2021; Jankowska et al. 2022; Atwood et al. 2023) and for conservation and restoration of tidal mudflats estimates range between 0.003 and 0.008 Gt CO₂e year¹. These activities are not included in the total potential mitigation because they are emerging activities with a high degree of associated uncertainty. Further development of these emerging mitigation pathways may be regionally significant to mitigation.

Source: See Appendix A for sources of data used to estimate mitigation opportunities.

COASTAL WETLANDS (MANGROVES, TIDAL MARSHES, SEAGRASS MEADOWS)

Conservation and restoration of coastal wetlands remains the most readily actionable nature-based solution in marine and coastal environments. Although losses have slowed in recent years, losses in coastal wetlands continue (Goldberg et al. 2020; Murray et al. 2022), and restoration practices are becoming more effective and practical on a larger scale (Duarte et al. 2020). Since 2019, more is known about the complexity of carbon movement within these systems (Rosentreter et al. 2023). Recent research on mangroves indicates that sequestration and emissions vary widely across mangrove ecosystems, driven by local biological and environmental factors (e.g., energy of coastline, topography, and soil types), land use, and disturbance histories (Sasmito et al. 2020). Conservative estimates can account for this variability in mitigation potential, however local project-level data can improve estimates and models.

Additional advances in mapping the extent of coastal wetlands and rates of change are enhancing the ability to track emission mitigation benefits at a global and regional scale (e.g., Arifanti et al. 2022) and to draw connections between national and global trends related



to policy initiatives (Hagger et al. 2022). Specifically, the present report uses updated coastal wetland extent, loss and gain estimates (e.g. Murray et al. 2022) and advanced models based on remote sensing of mangrove tidal marsh and tidal mudflat distribution), which have not previously been available (Table 4). In the period 1999–2019, 5,561 km² of mangroves and 1,064 km² of tidal marshes were lost, giving rise to estimated CO_{γ} emissions and forgone sequestration of approximately 0.7 Gt. Changes in mangrove and tidal marsh (and tidal mudflat) extent are caused by direct anthropogenic activities (e.g. conversion to alternative land uses) but also by coastal processes associated with variation in climatic and oceanographic conditions, including sea level rise and extreme events, that interact with anthropogenic activities (Goldberg et al. 2020; Murray et al. 2022). Further research may distinguish between ecosystem changes attributed to various factors driving it. Seagrass extent and loss rates (Table 4), which previously relied on conservative estimates from a limited number of sites, have been updated based on estimates of ecosystem cover (Unsworth et al. 2019; McKenzie et al. 2020) and change (Buelow et al. 2022), which provides a range of plausible estimates of change to determine conservative and optimistic mitigation benefits for seagrass management.

Previous estimates of mitigation potential were calculated by percent net change, multiplied by standard emission factors. However, net loss combines losses and gains. For example, loss of coastal vegetation causes high levels of emissions, while levels of carbon sequestered when ecosystems recover are comparably lower (Adame et al. 2021). This present report revises the global estimates of emissions and removals from mangrove and tidal marshes, with adjustments to account for both losses and gains. Although mapping of seagrass and carbon stocks and sequestration in seagrass meadows has improved (resulting in lower emissions reduction estimates) further research is needed to create global maps of change (like that available for mangroves), increase knowledge of regional variation in GHG emissions and removals, and IPCC guidance on changes in carbon stocks with seagrass management, including restoration activities.

ECOSYSTEM	EXTENT (2019) IN 1000S KM²	ANNUAL % LOSS (HIGH AND LOW ESTIMATE)	ANNUAL % GAIN (HIGH AND LOW ESTIMATE)	ANNUAL % NET CHANGE (HIGH AND LOW)
Mangrove	135.6	-0.122 to -0.251	0.109 to 0.034	-0.137 to -0.217
Tidal marshes	90.8	-0.035 to -0.072	0.103 to 0.032	0.069 to -0.039
Seagrass	160.4-325.2	NA	NA	-0.5 to -0.1
Tidal mudflats	127.9	-0.164 to -0.337	0.424 to 0.133	0.26 to -0.204

Table 4. Ecosystem extent and percentage change of mangroves, tidal marshes and tidal mudflats

Note: NA = data not available.

Sources: Ecosystem extent and percentage change of mangroves, tidal marshes and tidal mudflats are from Murray et al. (2022); seagrass extent is from McKenzie et al. (2020) and Unsworth et al. 2019; rates of change are from Buelow et al. (2022).

Restoration scenarios used for mangroves, tidal marshes, and seagrass range from a recovery of 1.5 to 9 percent of current ecosystem cover by 2030. By 2050, recovery may reach a maximum of 30 percent of the current ecosystem cover for mangroves, 20 percent for tidal marshes, and 35 percent for seagrass (40,700, 18,200 and 56,000 -114,000 km² of mangrove, tidal marsh and seagrass, respectively) to achieve maximum mitigation potential of 0.212 Gt CO₂e. These restoration scenarios reflect different conversion types of these ecosystems, where some losses are considered reversible (restorable), but others are difficult to reverse. Restoration estimates reflect conversion of mangroves to urban or industrial land uses (Worthington and Spalding 2018) as well as from significant social barriers linked to land tenure and livelihoods, from biophysical impediments such as poor water quality, which limits seagrass restoration, from the challenges of implementing successful restoration, and from the length of time it takes for ecosystems to recover or develop (Lee et al. 2019; Lovelock et al. 2022). For mangroves, a restoration target of 40,700 km² represents approximately 30 percent of the estimated global extent of mangroves that have been removed, consistent with the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework targets. Improvements in knowledge of the extent and location of degraded ecosystems, restoration techniques, policies, incentives for investment, and transparent monitoring and reporting, as well as showing how local communities can benefit, could accelerate restoration and raise ambition (Duarte et

al. 2020; Schindler Murray et al. 2023). Climate change poses risks to restoration projects that will consequently need further research. Reducing local human stressors (such as pollution) and planning for coastal wetlands that allows migrate landward will help (Duarte et al. 2020).

Additional research is needed to assess methane and nitrous oxide emission from baseline land uses and coastal wetlands in blue carbon accounting (Rosentreter et al. 2023). For example, tidal marshes can vary greatly in the amount of methane they emit, partly because of differences in inundation and salinity, which inhibits methanogenesis. Emissions from intact coastal wetlands, however, are lower than those from converted coastal wetlands (Iram et al. 2022; Rosentreter et al. 2023). Also, carbon dioxide sequestration, or drawdown processes, are highly site- and location-specific, depending on factors like tidal inundation, sediment characteristics (e.g. grain size, nutrients) and plant community type (Sasmito et al. 2020), and methane and nitrous oxide gas emissions counteract some of the carbon dioxide uptake (Rosentreter et al. 2023). A suite of spatiotemporal, biogeochemical, biotic, hydrological, climatic, and anthropogenic drivers of methane emissions need further investigation but will likely modify estimates of emissions and emissions reductions from coastal wetland restorations. The complexities of accounting for methane emissions adds uncertainty to calculating trade-offs and identifying climate mitigation opportunities.

Additional mitigation options requiring further researching and piloting.

MACROALGAE

Since the 2019 Report, progress has been made on quantifying the mitigation potential of macroalgae (seaweeds), their extent and how much carbon they can assimilate and bury, reducing uncertainties in their role in the global carbon budget. No ready-to-implement mitigation solutions are yet available for macroalgae. Nevertheless, this report provides a coarse theoretical estimate of the potential climate change mitigation benefit of restoring and reducing kelp forest losses (the most studied type of seaweed bed) based on updated estimates of the global area and productivity of kelp (Duarte et al. 2022b), trends in kelp extent over the past 50 years (Krumhansl et al. 2016) and C-sequestration estimates (Krause-Jensen and Duarte 2016). The potential mitigation of CO₂ emissions from seaweed aquaculture is presented in section 2.5 Ocean-based food, and other aspects are included in section 2.7 Marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and storage.

Naturally occurring macroalgal habitats are the largest and most productive of the coastal vegetated habitats, comparable in area and productivity to the Amazon forests (Duarte et al. 2022b). Globally, they cover

Naturally occurring macroalgal habitats are the largest and most productive of the coastal vegetated habitats, comparable in area and productivity to the Amazon forests...

between 6.07 and 7.22 million square kilometres and have a net primary production of 1.32 Gt C per year (Duarte et al. 2022b). Trends in the net change of macroalgae are unclear on a global scale (Duarte et al. 2022b), but for kelp forests, average loss rates have been estimated at 1.8 percent per year (compared to 0.13 percent loss of mangroves) with major regional variability in direction and magnitude of trends (Krumhansl et al. 2016). Over the past 50 years, this translates to lost CO₂ sequestration of 0.513 Gt CO₂ corresponding to an average loss of 0.0103 Gt CO, year¹.

The Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework is an outcome of COP 15 (2022). Under it, countries agreed to a number of targets to help protect biodiversity, including 30 percent of land and ocean by 2030. A restoration scenario following the targets of the Framework aiming to recover 30 percent of the lost kelp area by 2030, would yield a restored sequestration capacity of 0.154 Gt CO₂e plus avoided emissions of 0.031 Gt CO₂e from gradually decreasing losses. This adds up to a total contribution of 0.185 Gt CO₂e over this seven-year period (annual contribution from restoration: 0.022 Gt CO₂e year¹, annual contribution from protection: 0.0044 Gt CO₂e year¹). Continued recovery of kelps to their full extent over the 2030-50 period would contribute a sequestration of 0.359 Gt CO₂e, and avoided emissions over the same period would yield an additional 0.205 Gt CO₂e, for a total contribution of 0.565 Gt CO₂e over those 20 years (annual contribution from restoration: 0.018 Gt CO₂e year¹, annual contribution from protection: 0.0103 Gt CO₂e year¹). For comparison, the 2018–60 scenarios for combined gained mitigation and emissions reduction by macroalgal protection and restoration by Jankowska et al. (2022) range from 1.20 to 4.9 to 6.8 Gt CO₂e in low, plausible and ambitious management scenarios, respectively. The estimates by Jankowska et al. exceed those in this report, probably because they address macroalgae in general (rather than solely kelp forests) and cover a longer period, but also because they are based on different assumptions regarding the area targeted by management. Moreover, both sets of estimates address the protection of macroalgae in general and therefore overestimate the mitigation potential, as only avoided losses from anthropogenic causes are relevant for mitigation.

Since our 2019 Report, restoration techniques for kelp forests have improved (Eger et al. 2022) brightening prospects for kelp restoration's potential in the future. However, most examples are small scale. Kelp forest areas can vary greatly from decade to decade, driven for instance by herbivore outbreaks. This makes it difficult to document long-term restoration success and implies that restoration efforts must be sustained over time. Moreover, to protect and restore macroalgal mitigation potential, management activities must consider both the macroalgal habitats themselves, and the habitats where macroalgal-fixed carbon is ultimately sequestered (e.g. marine sediments) (Jacquemont et al. 2022; Jankowska et al. 2022), see also section 'avoiding the disturbance of marine sediments'. There is only one example (from Japan) where a framework has been used to certify carbon accumulated by macroalgal restoration (Kuwae et al. 2022; Pessarrodona et al. 2023). Further development of certification frameworks is required in other regions to support the scaling up of restoration activities.

Multiple barriers must be overcome to include macroalgae within climate change mitigation schemes. These include uncertainty regarding the long-term fate of seaweed transported away from where it grew, the difficulty of tracing and documenting how management affects carbon sequestration by these highly dynamic and naturally variable ecosystems, and a need to develop new carbon verification schemes (Krause-Jensen et al. 2018; Hurd et al. 2022; Ross et al. 2023). These challenges apply to C-sequestration related to protecting and restoring macroalgal habitats and their sink sites as discussed above, and to the passive export of macroalgae from sustainable seaweed farming before harvesting the seaweed for multiple uses (Duarte et al. 2023). On top of this, initiatives to actively grow and then sink macroalgal carbon into the deep ocean as a climate mitigation approach are being developed; see section '2.7 Marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and storage'. These activities face societal, ethical, ecological, and technological hurdles and lack appropriate policy and legal frameworks (Webb et al. 2021; Hurd et al. 2022; Ricart et al. 2022; Troell et al. 2023).

CONSERVATION AND RESTORATION OF MARINE FAUNA

The role of marine fauna, and particularly for the ocean's largest 'mega-fauna' in mitigation has been the focus of recent research. For example, the motions of whales and large fish may help stir up and mix nutrients into the shallow, photic zones of the ocean, thereby stimulating production of phytoplankton and enhancing their ability to act as carbon sinks, absorbing carbon from the atmosphere, incorporating it into their bodies, and carrying it down to the depths of the ocean when they die (Mariani et al. 2020; Pearson et al. 2023). Additionally, large marine grazers of seagrass (e.g. dugongs and turtles) influence carbon stocks and accumulation in seagrass meadows by grazing biomass and disturbing sediments and taking part in complex food web interactions that affect kelp production and biomass. Although fauna and their activities are fundamental to the processes that are supporting a healthy ocean, management of fauna and characterisation of mitigation benefits remain uncertain (Malhi et al. 2022; Meynecke et al. 2023).

AVOIDING THE DISTURBANCE OF MARINE SEDIMENTS

Marine sediments were not discussed in the 2019 Report. Recent years have seen growing interest in offshore carbon pools and regulating bottom trawling to better manage sediment carbon. Marine sediment is estimated to contain over 2 million Gt of carbon in the top metre alone (Atwood et al. 2020). Emerging mitigation opportunities centre around the sediment carbon pool's vulnerability to disturbances caused by trawling of shallow continental shelves, which can cause it to reenter the atmosphere. Globally, trawling takes place over 1.3 percent of the ocean floor (Sala et al. 2021). Organic carbon in the sediment that is churned up as fishing gear runs over the seabed may be respired by organisms, releasing CO₂ into the environment. Estimates of global emissions from seabed trawling range between 0.04-1.5 Gt CO₂e year¹ (range dependent on the model used) (Sala et al. 2021; Atwood et al. 2023) and estimates provided by Jankowska et al. (2022) for this activity are lower (0.025–0.124 Gt CO₂e year¹ for protection). Indeed, assumptions on emissions from seabed sediment carbon have been challenged (Hiddink et al. 2023) and trawling intensity varies globally (Pitcher et al. 2022), which contributes to the uncertainty. Better management of marine sediments may be a viable blue carbon pathway. But uncertainty persists because of inadequate knowledge of the effects of sediment characteristics, seasonal changes, differences between trawling gear and frequency, and seabed species, as well as other local and regional factors that collectively influence mitigation potential (Atwood et al. 2020). Nevertheless, repeated damage to the ocean floor is likely to alter the distribution of carbon (Legge et al. 2020) and investigations of risks posed by seabed trawling and potential mitigation are underway in the United Kingdom and elsewhere (Epstein and Roberts 2022).

Current data are insufficient to include the management of trawling as a nature-based solution (Epstein et al. 2022). There is also no IPCC guidance for this carbon pool, or activities which may cross national jurisdictional boundaries. The impacts of reducing seabed trawling on fisheries production and food from the ocean should also be evaluated, however, as should be strategies for investing in building knowledge and improving management practices in areas of high sediment disturbance and high carbon stocks.

MANAGEMENT OF TIDAL MUDFLATS

The global extent of tidal flats is estimated to be 127,921 km², with the largest proportion (44 percent) found in Asia (Murray et al. 2019). Unlike vegetated coastal habitats, shallow unvegetated tidal flats largely trap carbon deposited from adjacent ecosystems. Sediment and organic material are delivered to them by rivers driven by wave and wind forces. Tidal flats were not discussed in the 2019 Report, but recent studies show that despite the large variation in sequestration estimates (1.35-5.4 MgCO₂e ha⁻¹yr⁻¹), their wide distribution means they may in fact be significant carbon sinks (Chen and Lee 2022). Tidal flats are also rapidly disappearing as a result of coastal development and sea level rise (Murray et al. 2019). There are, however, management strategies to protect or enhance their carbon storage benefits through restoration. Emerging mitigation opportunities being explored are often associated with other conservation efforts. For example, Korea is exploring the role of protection and restoration of tidal mudflats in mitigation, as well as for their role as migratory bird habitat (Lee et al. 2021). Uncertainty hovers around the question of whether tidal flat conservation and restoration is additional. as sediment carbon may be stored elsewhere in the marine environments (e.g. deep ocean). Strategically protecting and restoring tidal flats can meet multiple conservation targets, prevent further degradation, enhance coastal protection, and avoid greenhouse gas emissions, resulting in a suite of benefits which may include climate mitigation (Hill et al. 2021).

Wider impact analysis

Various marine conservation and restoration mitigation options can not only reduce GHG emissions but generate many economic, social, environmental and governance co-benefits (Schindler Murray et al. 2023). Overall, cobenefits outweigh trade-offs and risks, but the latter cannot be ignored. With concerted action, it is possible to manage negative societal impacts such as short-term reductions in fish catches which can affect employment, nutrition, food security, and well-being. Social protection mechanisms and systems for sharing benefits need to be put in place. Data-driven governance and incentive designs can accelerate positive actions and social acceptance.

Delivering on the potential: priorities for action

The proliferation of blue carbon projects over the last five years has yielded a wealth of information about a wide range of factors that can help and hinder the implementation (Table 5) (Schindler Murray et al. 2023). There have been large and small-scale projects, projects with and without private investment, undertaken in different countries with different ecosystems, and external market-based mechanisms (Schindler Murray et al. 2023). Large-scale projects have mainly been implemented in mangrove ecosystems, often with government support (e.g. Kenya, Indonesia, Pakistan), but also with support from the private sector (e.g. Apple Corporation and the Cispata project in Colombia) (Schindler Murray et al. 2023). The recognition of the importance of safeguards for communities embarking on conservation and restoration for climate change mitigation have led to the development of high-quality blue carbon principles and guidance (Conservation International et al. 2022). Some of the main lessons learned since 2019 include the need to:

 Prioritise leadership and partnership with local communities and recognise formal and informal land tenure arrangements (e.g. Madagascar, Indonesia) (Conservation International et al. 2022; Schindler Murray et al. 2023).

POTENTIAL BENEFITS	 Marine conservation and restoration provide multiple co-benefits—habitat gain, biodiversity, carbon sequestration, higher fishery productivity, improved water quality and income from tourism, provision of food, medicine, fuel, wood and cultural benefits (IPCC 2019). Improved protection, conservation, and restoration of terrestrial, freshwater, coastal and ocean ecosystems not only increase carbon uptake and storage but also help stimulate biodiversity and ecosystem services, reduce coastal erosion and flooding, and storm protection (IPCC 2019, 2023).
	 Blue carbon market projects in mangroves have delivered positive economic and social benefits for communities, although concerns around equitable benefit sharing from carbon projects with local communities have emerged (Conservation International et al. 2022; Dencer-Brown et al. 2022; Schindler Murray et al. 2023).
	 Tourism in natural ecosystems contributes to local economies (Spalding et al. 2023).
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR RISKS TO MITIGATE	 Land requirements can be high for wetland restoration, so unless barriers (e.g. seawalls, levees, bunds) are removed or modified, landward expansion of ecosystems will be challenging (IPCC 2019). Marine protection can have short-term negative implications for ending poverty and reducing inequalities. For example, ending overfishing and harmful fishing subsidies can conflict with targets related to youth employment if fleet capacity is reduced (Singh et al. 2018) and mangrove and tidal marsh restoration may reduce aquaculture and agricultural production. These trade-offs may be avoided through stakeholder
	consultation and implementation in areas with low productivity.
	 Data gaps create difficulty in understanding the likely impact of protecting and restoring coastal ecosystems along gender dimensions. Attainment of SDG 14 is inextricably related to SDG 5 on gender equality (Le Blanc et al. 2017; Prakash et al. 2022).
	 Inequitable benefit sharing from carbon projects with local communities (Dencer-Brown et al. 2022).
	 In mangrove restoration projects, women's participation is often limited by a lack of access to information about adaptation projects (Omukuti 2020). Marine protected areas (MPAs) tend to reinforce existing gender disparities because of gender differences in leadership and power (Roy et al. 2022).
	 Pushing forward blue carbon projects without social safeguards to consider demands from local small-scale fishers and other stakeholders who are heavily dependent on coastal resources for economic sustainability can have unintended negative consequences on societal well-being (Barbesgaard 2018; Bennett 2018; Friess et al. 2019).
	fishers and other stakeholders who are heavily dependent on coastal resources for economic sustainabilit can have unintended negative consequences on societal well-being (Barbesgaard 2018; Bennett 2018; Frie

- Understand that governments in most nations have limited capacity to implement policies that support NbS mitigation and adaptation projects. Networks of nations (e.g. International Partnership for Blue Carbon) can aid in building capacity (Schindler Murray et al. 2023).
- Realise that IPCC's lack of guidance on emissions inventories for climate mitigation resulting from protecting or restoring seagrass, seaweed, tidal mudflats, and other ecosystems limits policy development and implementation by governments,

industry, and communities, which also limits private sector investment. New IPCC inventory guidance is needed, and guidance for seagrass could be expanded to cover restoration and other activities (Luisetti et al. 2020).

 Sort out questions of land ownership. Marine and intertidal ecosystems are often 'owned' (managed) by governments, limiting participation by private landholders (Sasmito et al. 2023), including indigenous peoples, in ecosystem management. This may exacerbate degradation and impede restoration. Private landholders need assurances to participate in restoration, including rights to carbon, access for fishing, and equitable taxation arrangements.

- Recognise that regulations for coastal developments could impede coastal wetland restoration (Shumway et al. 2021) and limit the ability to launch larger restoration projects. Improvements in regulatory and policy settings could incentivise restoration (Schindler Murray et al. 2023).
- Engage the private sector (and civil society) as key actors that can stimulate conservation and restoration of coastal wetlands for mitigation, adaptation, and other ecosystem services.

Activities could include partnerships, investments, research, capacity building, innovative financing, adoption of best practice standards, certifications, and management of supply chains to support conservation and restoration of coastal ecosystems (Schindler Murray et al. 2023).

 Develop appropriate technologies that are accessible and low cost (e.g. software, satellites, drones, cameras) to support monitoring and evaluation of blue carbon ecosystems and their ecosystem service benefits (Macreadie et al. 2022).

GOVERNMENT				
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)		
Assess national blue carbon opportunities including area extent, ecosystem health, threats, carbon stores, ecological importance, and socioeconomic dependence of local communities. ^a	Support creation of new IPCC guidance for estimating mitigation and associated benefits from management of sea- weeds/kelps and other emerging blue carbon ecosystems and management activities.	Implement economy-wide greenhouse gas accounting for ocean ecosys- tems.		
Analyse legal and policy frameworks to include blue carbon in sustainable development, climate change, forestry, biodiversity and marine resource management regulations; also consider providing for an explicit mandate for government agencies to engage in blue carbon (project) development on state land. ^a	Include coastal ecosystems in national Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Nationally Determined Contributions and other national commitments to adaptation and biodiversity conservation.			
Create supportive communities of practice, including awareness campaigns to build the social license for protecting and restoring blue carbon ecosystems and increase the number of stakeholders actively engaged in efforts and projects.	Include nature-based solutions (NbS) in national carbon finance mechanisms.			
Enact regulation and policies to halt ecosystem losses and support active or passive restoration, particularly for ecosystems that often have low levels of protection, e.g. seagrass and macroalgae (regu- lation, incentives, land tenure, carbon rights, biodiversity enhance- ments). Align actions across different agencies.	Develop mechanisms to align reporting on mitigation with reporting for Sustain- able Development Goals, Convection on Biological Diversity commitments and others.			
Designate marine protected areas (MPAs) to enhance conservation and maximise climate benefits as well as biodiversity benefits and be an integral part of marine spatial planning (MSP).	Global development and implementa- tion of policies to support restoration of coastal and marine ecosystems (e.g. community mangrove forestry, family forestry, fishers' seaweed repair).			

Table 5. Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to advance blue carbon

Table 5. Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to advance blue carbon (Continued)

GOVERNME	INT		
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)	
Improve IPCC guidance for seagrass to include management of offsite factors that influence water quality, such that projects that improve water quality are recognised for mitigation.			
Explore robust global or regional carbon pricing structures (through carbon taxes, social costs of carbon, fuel taxes, or removal of fossil fuel subsidies or at a minimum develop a robust value of blue carbon sequestration services).			
Recognise the wider ecosystem services and benefits for water quality, biodiversity, fisheries, coastal protection, and adaptation to develop appropriate financial and regulatory incentive tools. There- by ensure holistic management of blue carbon ecosystems.			
Increase investments in R&D and citizen science programs to fill priority knowledge gaps.			
Use non-market-based approaches including community-based natural resource management and civil society cooperation aimed at the conservation of biodiversity (Target 19, CBD 2022).			
Enact and/or clarify policies that both blue carbon market or non-market projects must go hand-in-hand with emission reductions at source (Schindler Murray et al. 2023).ª			
PRIVATE SEC	CTOR		
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)	
Set targets and/or pledges for ecosystem protection and restoration (as relevant to land ownership, operations or supply chains) (CBD 2022).	Increase capacity of community partners to implement NbS projects.	Develop a portfolio of Nk projects/inves	
Increase investments in coastal and marine conservation projects, including capacity building (e.g. in project development, regulatory approvals, financial management, project implementation, R&D), including through impact funds and other instruments (Target 19, CBD 2022).	Support development of new methods for NbS projects within voluntary carbon markets.	ments that de- liver mitigation adaptation and other co-bene- fits contributin	
Partner with local communities to deliver all aspects of projects (including verification) (Target 19, CBD 2022).	Develop NbS certification for products and services based on mitigation and co-benefits.	to mitigation and environ- mental, social and governan targets.	
Implement International Union for Conservation of Nature NbS standard guidelines and the High Quality Blue Carbon Principles (Conservation International et al. 2022) for investments (e.g. equita- ble benefit sharing).	Education programs on benefits of blue carbon mitigation and products and services with certification.		

Table 5. Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to advance blue carbon (Continued)

PRIVATE SEC	PRIVATE SECTOR					
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)				
Increase commitment to sustainable business models to avoid trade- offs with social dimensions.	Develop and implement verification and reporting processes that are transpar- ent and verifiable that contribute to communities.					
Examine supply chains and eliminate components that lead to degra- dation of coastal and marine ecosystems.						
RESEARCH COMMUNITY (INCLUDIN	NG TECH AND INNOVATION)					
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)				
Develop robust, low-cost monitoring technologies (e.g. remote sens- ing) for monitoring success of blue carbon actions. Improve seagrass and seaweed restoration techniques for large-scale implementation.	Develop fine scale temporal and spatial models of mitigation for protection and restoration of coastal and marine ecosystems.	Real time sens- ing of coastal ecosystem extent and condition that				
Improve seagrass and seaweed restoration techniques for large scale implementation. Link management of offsite factors, e.g. improve- ment of catchment water quality, to restoration outcomes.	r large scale Increase knowledge on effects of bottom underpin improve- trawling on marine sediment carbon dictive mo s. dynamics. of impacts					
Improve documentation of seaweed carbon fluxes and sequestration in relation to management action.	Enhanced knowledge of lateral carbon fluxes among ecosystems.	management actions and climate on miti- gation in coasta ecosystems.				
Link management of offsite factors, e.g. improvement of water quali- ty, to restoration outcomes.	Enhanced models of impacts of climate change on coastal and marine ecosys- tems and their mitigation potential over time.					
Increase accuracy and knowledge on spatial and temporal variabil- ity of estimates of mitigation by blue carbon ecosystems, including those associated with climate change. ^b	Map all blue carbon ecosystems glob- ally.					
Identify new opportunities for blue carbon projects (develop frameworks to aid identification of sites for blue carbon projects and co-benefits for communities).	Enhanced knowledge of social impacts of NbS projects.					
Characterise co-benefits of NbS projects. Develop robust, stan- dardised methods.	Clarify drivers of community attitudes to NbS projects by developing clearer communication about the risks and opportunities.					
Develop knowledge on wider impact both at project scale and econo- my-wide as well as at global scale to better inform policy and action.						
Collaborate with the government, private sector and communities to support projects and policy development.						

Sources:

A. Schindler Murray et al. 2023

B. Williamson and Gattuso 2022; Leiva-Dueñas et al. 2023

2.2 Ocean-based renewable energy

Ocean-based renewable energy includes a range of technologies that include offshore wind (OSW) energy, wave and tidal energy, floating solar photovoltaics, and thermal gradient (ocean thermal Energy Conversionec, OTEC), which generate energy from differences between cooler deep and warmer shallow or surface seawaters. Nascent salinity gradient, high-altitude wind, and biofuel renewable technologies are at very early stages and/or have more limited potential. Offshore wind is the most mature of the ocean-based renewables. Estimates of the technical potential of OSW energy range from 193,000 to 630,000 TWh/yr, at least twice the electricity needed to meet expected global demand of about 50,000 TWh (Bosch et al. 2018) to 90,000 TWh (IRENA 2023) by 2050.

Offshore wind reduces GHG emissions by replacing electricity generated by burning fossil fuel. Its mitigation potential depends on what the alternatives are. If ORE replaces conventional coal power plants, the mitigation is about 1.0 kg CO₂e/kWh, while if a current energy mix is replaced, the mitigation is about 0.46 kg CO₂e/kWh (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). The latter is assumed in this report.

Electric power from ocean-based renewable energy is mostly expected to go to the grid, but it can also be used off-grid, as can green hydrogen and ammonia production, to decarbonise hard to abate sectors such as heavy industry and long-distance transport. Ocean-based renewable power can also be converted to hydrogen to store energy when the weather makes it hard to generate wind or solar power. In some cases, ORE may also provide energy services directly, such as heating, cooling and desalinating seawater in combination with ocean thermal energy conversion.

Since 2019 many countries have increased their ambitions for OSW. According to Bosch et al. (2018), about 70 percent of the global offshore wind resources are located at water depths greater than 60 metres. That is too deep for standard fixed-bottom turbines that must be deployed in shallow shelf waters. Tapping this resource requires floating wind turbines. Floating wind technologies are maturing rapidly into pre-commercial projects, removing constraints, and providing ample opportunity for growth in ambition.

The deployment rates for offshore wind energy in 2020, 2021 and 2022 were about 6, 21 and 9 GW/year, respectively (IEA 2021a; GWEC 2023). 2021 was a record year with a large number of offshore installations driven by special conditions in China (China ended an attractive support scheme that year).

By the end of 2022 a total of about 64 GW of offshore wind capacity was installed worldwide. To meet net zero goals in 2050, more than that needs to be installed every year. Between 2030 and 2050, the deployment rate needs to be 70–80 GW/year (IEA 2021a). This deployment rate would rival wind energy deployment onshore and offshore combined.

The Global Offshore Wind Alliance (GOWA) has set its sights on rapidly ramping up using offshore wind. Its 13 member countries want global offshore wind capacity to reach at least 380 GW by 2030 and aim to add a minimum of 70 GW each year from 2030 on. The largest contributions are expected to come from Asia, Europe and North America (Figure 2). These pledges for 2030 exceed what was projected in the 2019 Report (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). But implementation does not always follow stated political ambitions, and the current pace of OSW installations is too slow to reach the target of 2,000 GW of offshore wind that the IEA and IRENA set to reach carbon neutrality by 2050 (IRENA 2023).

Figure 2. Global Offshore Wind Alliance targets for 2030 and 2050



Source: Authors.

Costs for offshore wind have plummeted in recent decades. The global weighted average levelised cost of electricity (LCOE) of offshore wind declined by 60 percent between 2010 and 2021, from \$0.188/kWh to \$0.075/kWh. It dropped 13 percent in 2021 alone (IRENA 2022). However, during the last two years costs have increased by 38 percent (Ferris 2023). Russia's war in Ukraine has disrupted supply chains, stoked political divisions between trading partners, and thereby driven up the costs for materials for OSW (Vestas 2022). Both Europe and the US are facing the risk of supply chain shortfalls, and these could be worsened by policies aimed at reshoring manufacturing away from China and protecting local industry and jobs (GWEC 2023). Slow permitting, rising costs for raw materials and logistics, dependence on imports of raw materials, growing demand for larger turbines, and competition from China are causing shortages and bottlenecks. Energy markets have been rewarding fossil fuel companies with record profits, while renewable energy companies struggle (Janipour 2023). China has been insulated from some of these problems because of its over-supply of steel, domestic supply of rare earth minerals, and the fact that its supply chains are less vulnerable to the turmoil that has caused shortages and driven up prices of OSW elsewhere (Waite 2022).

For the other offshore renewable power generation technologies, relatively little has changed since the 2019 Report (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). Installed capacity has not surged (IEA and OES 2023). For wave energy and tidal stream, some research and development activities are ongoing, but the technologies have not converged on solutions suited for installation at industrial scale. Thus, we cannot expect these technologies to make significant contributions to global electrical energy production by 2030. If a technological breakthrough is made, some contribution may come by 2050. A newer technology that has shown promise is floating solar energy systems. Such systems are presently installed in lakes and in calm ocean areas with the development of these systems to more turbulent open ocean areas still to come. Our expectations for offshore generating technologies other than offshore wind are conservative, because of the nascent stage and multiple uncertainties surrounding these technologies.

Mitigation potential

The world's electrical energy production is expected to more than double from 2020 to 2050. The mitigation estimates associated with ORE are higher than stated in the 2019 Report (Table 6) (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). The estimates are uncertain and depend on what replaces traditional fossil fuels in, for example, the transport sector. The switch to renewable energy in the transport sector depends upon available and affordable electricity (Lindstad et al. 2023). Most of the oceanbased electrical energy production is expected to come from wind and solar energy. By 2031, offshore wind is anticipated to account for approximately 30 percent of global wind installations (up from 21 percent in 2021) (GWEC 2023).

The mitigation potential for ORE calculated in this report is between 3.25-4.47 Gt CO₂e/year in 2050. These numbers assume that what ORE is replacing or 'displacing' is the current global power generation mix, with emissions of 0.46 kg CO₂e/kWh (see Appendix A. Methodology for the full methodology). To complement



Table 6. Potential to mitigate carbon emission, by 2030 and 2050

OCEAN- BASED SECTOR	MITIGATION OPTIONS	DESCRIPTION	2030 INSTALLED CAPACITY (GW)	2030 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO2E/ YEAR)	2030 INSTALLED CAPACITY (GW)	2050 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/YEAR)
Ocean-based	Scaling up offshore wind and solar	Installing new fixed and floating offshore wind and solar farms.	380	0.60-0.69	2000	3.20-3.60
renewable energy	Scaling up ocean energy**	Installing new equipment to convert and harvest energy carried by ocean waves, tides, salinity, and temperature differences.	-	0.003-0.007	-	0.05–0.87
Total				0.603-0.697		3.25-4.47

Notes:

Assumptions:

Capacity factor for offshore wind (OSW) ~50%

OSW life cycle assessment (LCA) emissions 0.026-0.079 kg CO₂e/kW

Global current energy mix emissions 0.46 kg CO₂e/kWh (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019)

Regional energy mix emissions taken from https://app.electricitymaps.com/map

Global and Regional OSW targets taken from 2021 UN OSW compact, https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/2021/09/irena_and_gwec_offshore_wind_energy_compact_-_final_1.pdf

Mitigation potential for ocean energy remains the same as in the 2019 Report.

Source: Authors.

this global analysis, Table 7 presents the regional distribution of mitigation potential based on regional energy mixes and distributions of CO₂ intensity and regional ambitions for ORE deployment. The mitigation potential calculated from global averages is close to the sum of regional mitigation potentials, supporting the global analysis.

Over the last four years, in most countries, ambitions and plans for deploying OSW have gained momentum (Bouckaert et al. 2021). The IEA indicates that 2,000 GW offshore wind power should be installed by 2050. Achieving this capacity, the total mitigation from OSW alone in 2050 will amount to 3.2-3.6 Gt CO₂e/year if replacing the current mix of energy generation. This is equivalent to removing approximately 8,000 gas-fired power plants from the energy grid (EPA 2023), and about 8.2 percent of the global mitigation needed to close the gap to a 1.5°C scenario by 2050 (UNEP 2022).

Uncertainties surround other types of ORE because technologies have not converged, making it difficult to gauge their mitigation potential. Also, geophysical potential variations widely by location. The status of the ORE technologies are summarised as follows:

Wave energy: Installed capacity by 2020 was about 0.0023 GW (IRENA 2021). At optimal sites, the yearly average power potential in waves is in the range of 30–70 kW per metre of average wave height (Atan et al. 2018). The most favourable sites for deploying wave energy devices are generally along western coasts at latitudes between 40–60 degrees north and south, where waves are most powerful (Rusu and Rusu 2021). A site with potential for 50 kW generation per metre wave height, and a conversion efficiency of 30 percent, will thus require a coastal length of 7.6 km to produce 1 TWh per year (enough to fully power about 70,000 homes).

Tidal stream: Installed capacity by 2020 was about 0.01 GW (IRENA 2021). Tidal stream energy can be utilised where the stream velocity is high, typically in narrow straits in areas with a large tidal range. This implies that tidal stream energy has a limited potential as a share of global energy supply. A big advantage of tidal energy, however, is predictability.

SCENARIO FOR EMISSIONS MITIGATION POTENTIAL OF OFFSHORE WIND	2050 INSTALLED CAPACITY (GW)	MITIGATION POTENTIAL AT 2050 (GT CO ₂ E YEAR ⁻¹)
Asia	760	1.5–1.7
Europe	640	0.55–0.70
North America	360	0.49–0.57
Latin America	120	0.12-0.14
Pacific/Oceania	80	0.16-0.18
Africa/Middle East	40	0.10-0.11
Regional total	2,000	2.92–3.9

Tidal barrages are like dams built across tidal rivers, bays and estuaries to create tidal basins. Turbines inside these barrages turn when tides flow in and when they flow out, generating electricity in both directions. Installed capacity by 2020 was about 0.522 GW (IRENA 2021). Tidal barrages can be constructed where the tidal range is large, ideally with at least a 10 metres vertical difference between high and low tide levels. These are feasible only in limited locations and are often installed together with other coastal infrastructure such as roads or breakwaters. Like tidal streams, barrages offer the benefit of predictability.

Thermal gradient: This technology utilises the difference in temperature between the ocean surface and deep waters to generate electricity. OTEC systems use a temperature difference of at least 20°C to power a turbine and produce electricity. Warm surface waters are pumped through an evaporator containing a working fluid. The vapourised fluid is used to drive a turbine/ generator and is turned back to a liquid in a condenser that is cooled with cold water pumped from deeper in the ocean (EIA 2022). The technology is feasible in tropical areas where the ocean surface temperature is high. The efficiency of these systems in converting thermal energy to electricity is low. Only experimental systems are in operation (IRENA 2021). The theoretical potential of ocean thermal systems is large though, and in principle could deliver a steady power supply.

Salinity gradient: This technology utilises a difference in salinity levels, for instance, between the ocean and in less saline rivers that flow into it, generating electricity. Two main technology types, reverse electrodialysis (RED) and pressure-retarded osmosis (PRO) make use of semi-permeable membranes which generate an osmotic potential between seawater and freshwater that can be used to generate electricity using turbines (Tethys n.d.). Salinity gradient technologies are at an experimental stage and must solve the requirement for large amounts of freshwater among other challenges.

Floating solar: Floating solar power plants are now being deployed in sheltered waters, that is, lakes and reservoirs. The difficulty with floating solar panels on the ocean is the roughness of the waves, which can damage solar panels. New research is being conducted to develop methods for keeping solar panels operative in the high seas. Plans for deploying such systems in the ocean exist but have not yet been implemented. Floating solar power has considerable technical potential in areas of high solar flux coupled with calm conditions. The technology readiness level (TRL) for the ORE technologies is summarised in Table 8.

Table 8. Technology readiness level for offshore renewable energy technologies

TECHNOLOGY	APPROXIMATELY GLOBALLY INSTALLED POWER (MW)	READINESS LEVEL	COMMENT
Offshore wind	64,000	Mature	Bottom fixed systems are mature and in a commercial phase. Floating systems are presently under installation at commercial scale.
Wave energy	2.3	Demonstration	Full scale prototypes. Several technologies. Precommercial.
Tidal stream	10	Demonstration	Pilot projects, demonstration phase.
Tidal barrage	522	Mature	A few systems in commercial operation (note that a num- ber of these have been in operation for over 50 years).
Thermal gradient	0.23	Demonstration	Small systems tested at sea (Japan and Hawaii).
Salinity gradient	0.05	Concept	Tested at laboratory scale.
Floating solar	2,600	Early adoption	Commercial scale in sheltered lakes, experimental sys- tems in the ocean. Plans for commercial deployments.

Source: Authors, adapted from Soukissian et al. (2023).

The readiness level of the various technologies suggests that only offshore wind and floating solar systems are poised to make significant contributions to global power generation by 2030, possibly joined by wave energy by 2050. Tidal energy may be important at certain locations.

The geophysical resources for ORE far exceed the estimated need for electrical energy by 2050. The limitations are related to technology, availability and costs. IRENA (2021) has summarised estimates on the resource potential for various ocean energies. The resource estimate for offshore wind has risen sharply as floating offshore wind turbines now are considered feasible at commercial scales.

Wider impact analysis

The possible negative environmental impacts of largescale deployment of offshore energy generation facilities need to be understood. Large ocean areas are required. A 1 GW offshore wind farm requires an ocean area in the range 100 to 500 km². The distance between the turbines may span 1.5 to 3 km (European Maritime Spatial Planning Platform 2023). For bottom-fixed wind turbines, the foundations take up just a tenth of a percent of the wind farm area. Concerns have been raised over whether and how vibrational noise from the turbines could affect sea life, by interfering with sonic communication used by several species. Electromagnetic fields from the power cables have raised concern as well. Threats to birds makes understanding bird migration routes essential in siting wind farms. But these farms could possibly benefit sea life as well, by expanding areas free of bottom trawling and creating artificial reefs. The large ocean areas needed for ORE by 2050 also call for combining them with other uses. These areas could possibly be used for seaweed or fish farming or installing technology to harness wave power.

The need for OSW and other ocean-based renewable energy development is increasing the importance of marine spatial planning in reducing growing risks to marine life, benthic habitats, sea and migratory birds and other environmental impacts. Generating advanced national-level data can lay the groundwork and create the necessary enabling conditions. Data will be needed to examine this technology's potential wider impact and design incentives, manage regulations, build capacity and foster international collaboration.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS	 Expansion of ocean energy for job creation, economic growth and additional investment benefits the energy sector whilst enhancing energy security source diversity. Increasing the capacity using fossil fuels can be avoided and existing production phased out, with several positive impacts, such as on saving freshwater use in the fossil fuel sector.
	 Co-development of offshore renewables with algae growing farms, offshore aquaculture farms and coastal municipal water supply through desalinisation provide cross-sector adaptation benefits (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019); combinations of ocean-based renewables technologies can provide affordable solutions (Wang et al. 2022).
	 Opportunities for innovation are expanding through pilot projects in developing country contexts also. For example, implementation of Searaser-based mini hydroelectric power plant (MHPP) technology on St. Martin's Island, Bangladesh proved to be profitable and eco-friendly through replacement of the existing stand-alone diesel generators (Shahriar et al. 2019).
	• Expansion of ocean-based renewable energy that replaces fossil fuels reduces local pollution, improves health outcomes, reduces emissions and enhances tourism potential (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019; Shahriar et al. 2019; Lathwal et al. 2021; <i>The Economist</i> 2023).
	 Emerging ocean sectors have an opportunity to advance social equity and environmental sustainability if equity guidelines are prioritised and mandated so that business-as-usual practices do not become entrenched (Cisneros-Montemayor et al. 2022).
	 The business case for Australia's first offshore wind farm, Star of the South, is heavily based on the closure of coal-generated power in the same region. Offshore wind provides a source of generation that can utilise the existing grid network that radiates from the previous power station.
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR RISKS TO MITIGATE	 The rapidly expanding ocean energy sector is to date highly concentrated in a few regions, serving grids in urbanised areas, and economic benefit-sharing mechanisms with local residents are uncommon. There are examples of how local communities can be better included in planning and implementation, including negotiating subsequent economic benefits (Cisneros-Montemayor et al. 2022).
	 Transitioning to ORE will incur high capital costs at the initial stage, which may hamper deployment rate. Eventually, it will lead to a cost-effective generation, transmission, environmental improvement, and stable energy supply to match demand when compared with the conventional mode of generation in West Africa (Adesanya et al. 2021).
	 Noise from operating marine energy devices is most likely to affect marine animals near the spreading source. There is also some evidence that planktonic larvae of crustaceans may be affected by underwater noise. Pelagic animals, including marine mammals, fish, diving seabirds, and sea turtles who may swim close to or even aggregate around devices, are most likely to be affected (Hemery et al. 2021; IEA and OES 2023).

Delivering on the potential: Priorities for action

Achieving pledges for the deployment of ocean-based renewable energy will require timely and collaborative actions from government, private and research sectors. Near-term priorities for government include utilising marine spatial planning to minimise conflict with other ocean sectors; providing a stable economic and regulatory framework to promote investment; accelerating and improving site and permitting processes, with a focus on transparency; working to remove cross-border regulatory issues, for example, grid connections and public and private ownership; and capacity building to upskill the workforce. Priorities for the private sector include examining and refining supply chains and identifying alternative materials to avoid constraints; and establishing targets for biodiversity protection and restoration to limit the impacts of oceanbased renewable energy deployment and operation. Priorities for research include developing technology to reduce cost and dependency on critical materials, exploring the potential to co-locate offshore renewable energy generation with other ocean sectors; and developing large-scale floating solar installations (see Table 9 for additional details).

Table 9. Short -, medium-, and long-term priorities to advance research and development of ocean-based renewable energy

SECTOR: GOVERNMENT			
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)	
Utilise area-based management frameworks and marine spatial planning, including Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide development and minimise conflict between ocean users.	Make ocean areas available/minimise conflicts.	A transformed energy/power	
Provide a stable economic and regulatory framework to stimulate investments in required infrastructure for an accelerated deployment of ocean-based energy systems.	Identify opportunities through inclusive policy development of combined use of ocean areas.	system that is decarbonised, reliable, and affordable and exploits techni-	
Accelerate and improve site and permitting processes, including transparency and clarity.	Develop strategic national roadmaps and implementation action plans for zero carbon economy in 2050.	cal and societal implications.	
Introduce efficient and foreseeable (stable) support schemes.			
Resolve cross-border regulatory issues for grid connections, public and private ownership.			
Offer education and capacity building to create a skilled workforce and capacities for manufacturing repair, and installation.			

Table 9. Short -, medium-, and long-term priorities to advance research and development of ocean-based renewable energy (Continued)

SECTOR: PRIVATE SECTOR			
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)	
Identify where to build supply chains.	Incorporate alternative materials to avoid constraints, reduce costs and ex- pand access to technology and deploy- ment across all regions.	Implement solu- tions for multi- use of ocean areas such as combined energy and food production.	
Construct major supply chain facilities.	Advance technology that can move tech- nologies into deeper water sites (e.g., development of floating offshore wind technologies) to open access to larger areas of energy resources.		
Identify alternative materials and material resources to avoid con- straints and reduce costs.			
Develop concepts for technologies, deployment and supply chain efficiencies to reduce costs.			
Establish targets and/or pledges related to biodiversity protection and restoration associated with ocean-based renewable energy deployment and operation.			
SECTOR: RESEARCH COMMUNITY (INCL	UDING TECH AND INNOVATION)		
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)	
Increase research on impacts of large-scale offshore wind.	Follow up installation of OSW to identify impacts and take action if needed.	Design the future decar-	
Develop technology components that reduce cost and dependency on critical materials.	Develop alternatives to critical materials.	bonised energy/ power system which can	
Understand the potential benefits of co-location with other ocean- based industries (e.g., desalination plants and aquaculture).	Scale research on impacts of large- scale ocean energy (prioritise based on readiness assessment).	provide energy reliability with reasonable	
Explore the potential for installing large-scale floating solar installa- tions at sea (under wave conditions).	Develop alternatives to critical materials.	energy costs (spanning eco-	
	Advance technology that can move technologies into deeper water sites (e.g., development of floating offshore wind technologies) to open access to larger areas of energy resources.	nomic, social and environ- mental factors), accommodate large fraction of intermittent power and be	
	Quantify the potential of Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion (OTEC).	resilient in the face of a 2050 climate.	

2.3 Ocean-based transport

Significant progress has been made towards oceanbased transport's GHG mitigation since 2019, greatly enhancing the likelihood that this sector achieves the upper bound 2050 mitigation potential. In 2023, the IMO agreed to ratchet up the targets adopted in 2018 (40 percent carbon intensity in 2030) to 20 percent, striving for 30 percent absolute reduction by 2030, equivalent to approximately 55–60 percent GHG intensity reduction. The IMO has also moved from framing mitigation on CO₂ to the more comprehensive 'well-to-wake framing' which will increase the investment case for renewable energy. The IMO has also committed both to revising and improving its short-term measures and developing two new GHG policy measures (a GHG price and a GHG fuel standard applied to international shipping) by 2025. In regional regulatory developments, the EU has now included both international and domestic shipping into its Emission Trading Scheme. It has also implemented a fuel standard for shipping, including minimum volume requirements of fuels produced from renewable electricity. At the same time, the US has made a subsidy regime (through the Inflation Reduction Act) which has the potential to subsidise and support shipping's use of renewable fuels.

The timescales to 2030 and 2050 remain very short in practice, so whilst regulatory developments are now appearing, their conversion into final investment decisions aligned with the energy transition lag behind these policy developments. The poor energy efficiency in the global fleet remains an untapped opportunity for mitigation, primarily because the IMO's GHG mitigation policy, designed to the earlier and lower 2018 mitigation ambitions, is weak.

Ships carry about 80 percent of the volume and about 60 percent of the value of goods traded worldwide between nations.⁶ Seaborne trade has grown at about 3 percent year-on-year for the last decades, roughly proportional to growth of global GDP, and this is expected to continue.⁷ Container shipping has replaced some general cargo ships and, to an even larger degree, containers have replaced specialised refrigerated hold ('reefer') vessels. Fossil fuel products such as crude oil, refined oil products and coal currently make up nearly 40 percent of global sea-borne trade, so decarbonisation of the world economy will have profound implications for shipping. Some types of cargo will disappear, while others such as hydrogen, ammonia, methanol, biomass and biofuels are likely to grow. Carbon capture and storage may make CO₂ a commodity in need of transportation from industrial hubs to geological reservoirs.

The main source of ships' GHG emissions is exhaust gas from their internal combustion engines (ICE), estimated to be around 1 billion tonnes of CO₂e annually (Buhaug et al. 2009; Smith et al. 2015; Faber et al. 2020). Such estimates cover what happens on the ship only (Schuller et al. 2019); i.e. the tank-to-wake (TTW) emissions. When including the well-to-tank (WTT) emissions from producing the fuels (Lindstad et al. 2021), the total well-to-wake (WTW) emissions add up to 1.25–1.5 billion tonnes of CO₂e; equal to around 3 percent of the 50 billion tons of anthropogenic GHG emitted annually (BP 2021).





Source: The 1990–2007 figures are based on the second IMO GHG study (Buhaug et al. 2009), the 2007–12 figures are based on the third IMO GHG study (Smith et al. 2015), and the 2012–18 figures are based on the fourth IMO GHG study (Faber et al. 2020).

Figure 3 shows how total TTW CO₂ emissions from oceanbased transport have increased from 1990 to 2018.

Historically, global shipping emissions peaked in 2008, dipped in the following years because of the 2007–08 financial crisis, and have been growing slowly from 2013–14 onwards. For a range of plausible long-term economic and energy scenarios (based on IPCC's Shared Socioeconomic Pathways, SSPs), which assume no further policy action to reduce GHG emissions, the projections for 2050 emissions are between 90 percent to 130 percent of 2008 emission levels (Faber et al. 2020).

Since 2019, new data in the fourth IMO GHG study (Faber et al. 2020) has lowered projections for the growth of trade. These revise down a key driver of energy demand and emissions for shipping and could make GHG reduction objectives easier to reach. Major progress has been made in identifying transition pathways for the sector. Multiple studies have identified ammonia and methanol as the most likely successors to hydrocarbon molecules, leading to trials and pilot projects (Gielen et al. 2022; Rouwenhorst et al. 2022) and nations collaborating to de-risk options such as hydrogenderived fuels (IEA 2022a). Investment and commitments in green hydrogen and ammonia since 2019 add up to roughly three exajoules (EJ). This equals approximately one-third of international shipping's energy demand. Despite this momentum, the volume of green hydrogen/ ammonia projects passing key investment milestones has lagged behind what would be needed to reach the maximum mitigation potential identified in the 2019 Report of a nearly 100 percent reduction in operational net GHG emissions.

In July 2023, the IMO adopted its revised Strategy on the Reduction of GHG emissions from ships (Resolution MEPC.377(80) (IMO 2023a). This commits the IMO to achieve much stronger levels of absolute WTW GHG reduction than the initial GHG Reduction Strategy, requiring a minimum of 20 percent (striving for 30 percent) reduction in 2030 and a minimum of 70 percent (striving for 80 percent) reduction in 2040 (on a 2008 baseline). GHG emissions are required to reach net zero by or around 2050. Currently these targets are not legally binding, but the IMO also committed to adopting legally binding policy measures (a fuel standard and GHG pricing) designed to achieve the reductions by the end of 2025. This has made significant progress since 2019. However, shortcomings and details in the IMO's key mid-term measures policy (e.g. uptake of alternative low-carbon and zero carbon fuels, direct carbon capture on board, wind-assisted propulsion and operational efficiencies) need to be worked out—there is still much to be done and little time in which to do it.

The following key options for mitigation remain:

- Reduce demand for ocean transport
- Increase efficiency
- Substitute energy generated from fossil fuels to renewable energy sources
- Capture emissions by using mobile (onboard) carbon capture and subsequent sequestration

Mitigation potential

Ocean transport has managed to reduce its carbon intensity by over 30 percent relative to 2008 (Faber et al. 2021). Practically all of this has been achieved by taking several technical and operational measures to boost efficiency, rather than by switching to alternative fuels. The estimation of further mitigation potential is presented in Table 10. The near-term opportunities (to 2030) of a 20–39 percent mitigation of emissions are constrained by the fuel compatibility of the existing fleet and the supply chain of renewable energy and fuel, which limits the potential to further energy efficiency improvements (Bouman et al. 2017; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). By 2050 however, there is the potential for a fundamental change in fleet and energy supply chain. At the upper bound, there is potential for a full (100 percent) substitution of the sector's use of fossil fuels with renewable fuels. The lower bound reduction potential at 2050 is set at 50 percent as in the previous report, taken as the minimum interpretation of the IMO's objectives in the initial GHG reduction strategy (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019).

The main change to the mitigation quantifications for international shipping since 2019 comes from the development of new trajectories of the businessas-usual (BAU) emissions, detailed and explained in Faber et al. (2021). The lower demand growth rates in these scenarios are particularly important to the BAU emissions in 2050, and therefore the mitigation potential if the sector reaches zero GHG emissions in that year. The changes to the 2030 mitigation potential are similar as the options for mitigation remain the same and are centred on existing technologies and operational improvements that there is still time to implement. Both the 2030 and 2050 mitigation potentials have an improved likelihood of achieving their upper bound values relative to the 2019 assessments, because of the development of more ambitious policy measures (shortterm measures), and levels of ambition (2023 revised strategy), as discussed in this chapter.

The domestic fleet's potential for mitigating GHG emissions is in proportion to mitigation in international shipping, but as the total emission is estimated to be smaller, so is the mitigation potential. They remain similar to the 2019 potential because there is no further comprehensive analysis of their potential growth and therefore quantification of their mitigation potential.

For further reductions, optimising the logistics of the transport chain remains the natural place to start; the aim is to carry more cargo while moving less total tonnage. Maximising utilisation, reducing ballast, repositioning legs of trips to shorten distances, and minimising dead time anchored outside ports can all help to maximise efficiency and the transport work that can be done by the current fleet. Such measures lower carbon intensity and avoid expanding the fleet, reducing the use of energy and resources, emissions from shipbuilding, and environmental harm from ship recycling.

Reducing speed can have the opposite effect if stable or growing demand for transportation leads to increased shipbuilding activity. However, many ships now travel at reduced speeds relative to 2008, sail at optimum trim angles, carry less water ballast and find routes with favourable weather conditions to reduce fuel consumption. Periods of high fuel prices have popularised effective anti-fouling coatings (coating on the hull of a ship that reduces the growth of fouling organisms such as barnacles), along with robots and divers that remove fouling from hull and propellers to minimise frictional resistance, the main resistance component for almost all vessels.

Table 10. Potential of different opportunities to mitigate carbon emissions, 2030 and 2050

OCEAN- BASED SECTOR	MITIGATION OPTIONS	DESCRIPTION	2030 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/YEAR)	2050 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/ YEAR)
Ocean- based transport	Reducing emissions from domestic shipping and marine transport ^a	Reducing emissions from shipping between ports of the same country.	0.04-0.07	0.15-0.3
	Reducing emissions from international shipping	Reducing emissions from shipping between ports of different countries, including emissions associated with product tankers, chemical tankers, crude oil tankers, liquid natural gas carriers, liquid petroleum gas carriers, dry bulk, general cargo and open hatch, car carriers, roll-on/roll-off and roll-on/ roll-off passenger. International shipping excludes military, fishing vessels, and cruise ships.	0.21-0.53	0.65-1.70

Note: a. The mitigation potential for domestic shipping remains the same as in the 2019 Report. *Source:* Authors.

Most of the energy consumed by cargo ships goes to propulsion (Faber et al. 2020) (Figures 4 and 5). The shape and dimensions of vessels (especially the hull) should be optimised for minimum resistance and maximum propulsive efficiency, while still observing requirements for safety, noise and vibrations. Enhanced computer power and physical model testing remain essential optimisation tools. The focus of tests should be on realistic sea conditions in the intended route; this challenges the practice of standard designs and will make vessels more specialised to the trading area in which they were designed to operate. For vessel engines, the thermal efficiency and emissions of the machinery depend on the engine fuel type, operation speed, dimensions of internal components and their condition. As engine emissions vary significantly with the load placed on the engine (i.e. the force it needs to generate to propel the vessel), it is important to run engines at optimal load.

After reducing energy demand to a minimum, further emissions reductions require a transition away from fossil fuels to renewable energy/fuels, or carbon capture and storage (CCS). Carbon capture and storage can take place during the production of synthetic fuels, or onboard (mobile CCS).



Figure 4. Main resistance components and drivers of energy consumption when sailing

Source: Adapted from Gamlem (2023).





Source: Adapted from Gamlem (2023).

A return to wind power (a source of renewable energy available to shipping) after a century of coal and oil may be underway as different types of sails are being piloted on cargo vessels and passenger ferries. Sails are most suitable for slow vessels with a somewhat flexible schedule, good stability and course keeping and available deck space. Model tests indicate that sails can reduce the propulsion power by up to 30 percent even on mid-sized ocean-going transport, when combined with designing the hull form to be more slender to reduce resistance through water (Lindstad et al. 2022, 2023). Therefore, wind may not obviate the need for a source of stored energy (e.g., fuel) and associated propulsion system, but it can significantly reduce the demand for stored energy.

For some ships, there is also the potential to store the ship's demanded energy in batteries with an energy system like those used in road vehicles, and there are increasing numbers of small ships being designed and used in this way. Although this is a more efficient use of renewable electricity than the production and use of renewable fuels, the cost of batteries means that this is likely to remain a competitive and attractive technology pathway for ships on short voyages, and therefore primarily suited to domestic and not international shipping. Bioenergy presents another alternative option for shipping's GHG reduction, but its scalability and availability, along with sustainability risks of the significant production increase (depending on its source), make it likely to remain a small share of total energy use in the sector (Englert et al. 2021).

...the GHG reduction potentials of these fuels are dependent on the expansion of renewable energy supply... This leaves a key role for renewable fuels to play in achieving shipping's mitigation potentials. Renewable fuels include hydrogen, ammonia, synthetic hydrocarbon fuels (e.g. synthetic methane) and synthetic alcohols (e.g. synthetic methanol). They can have high emissions in the production phase unless they are produced with renewable electricity and electrolysis. These fuels can also be made from hydrogen that has been reformed from fossil fuels, e.g. natural gas, but

with effective carbon capture and storage integrated in the reformation process, also known as blue hydrogen. While not a renewable fuel if produced in this way, fuels derived from blue hydrogen can achieve significantly lower GHG emissions relative to crude oil-derived fuels currently used in international shipping.

These are all candidate fuels because they are relatively energy dense (e.g., they have similar or slightly lower



energy density than the crude oil derived fuels currently used in shipping, so would take up similar amounts of space on board), and because they have the potential to be synthesised using renewable energy and industrial processes. The synthesis of all these fuels requires a source of hydrogen (which must have low or zero GHG hydrogen if they are to achieve any GHG mitigation), with other elements and industrial processes:

- Ammonia is made by an industrial process known as the Haber-Bosch process.
- Synthetic hydrocarbon fuels combine hydrogen with a source of carbon (e.g., methane can be made through the Sabatier process). The source of carbon needs to be biogenic or extracted from the atmosphere (e.g., through direct air capture) for there to be significant GHG mitigation potential.
- Synthetic alcohols require a source of oxygen and carbon to be combined with hydrogen.

Both hydrogen production and industrial processes require significant amounts of energy. Noting that recently only 14 percent of the global primary energy is renewable (IEA 2021a), the GHG reduction potentials of these fuels are dependent on the expansion of renewable energy supply to meet the renewable energy demands of both shipping fuel production and of wider energy system decarbonisation.

Overall, the appropriateness of different mitigation options, including their GHG reduction potential, can depend both on the type and size of ships and on whether ships trade locally, regionally or worldwide, or sail in fixed or nearly fixed routes and schedules (liner service), or criss-cross the ocean unpredictably (tramp service).

Wider impact analysis

Maritime transport and its governance require global collaboration. R&D and uptake of new technology depends on cooperation between researchers and investors. Accelerating emissions reductions and achieving wider benefits is possible. But nations will need to work with one another and the IMO to accomplish this.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS	 Shipping has an important role in maritime transport and globalisation with current strong dependency on fossil fuels. Consequently, any reduction in emissions by changing fuels, along with increasing the energy efficiency, optimising operations, and ship design can have very wide range of benefits (Jaramillo et al. 2022). Shipping efficiency, logistics optimisation, increase in the share of renewable energy, new innovations through the 'internet of things', new fuels can generate GHG emission benefits, coastal air quality improvements and health benefits especially from reduction of sulphur emission and emissions of fine particulate matter (PM2.5), reduce premature death, create jobs associated with the supply chain of new fuels, reduce life cycle emissions to build and operate the associated infrastructure (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019; Viana et al. 2020; Al-Douri et al. 2022; Denton et al. 2022).
	 Reducing emissions from shipping vessels will help mitigate hotspots of ocean acidification on ocean species and ecosystems (Hassellöv et al. 2013) and can generate a variety of adaptation benefits.
	 Most countries are examining opportunities for combined mitigation adaptation efforts, using the need to mitigate climate change through transport related GHG emissions reductions and reduction of pollutants as the basis for adaptation action (Jaramillo et al. 2022).
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR RISKS TO MITIGATE	 Achieving the International Maritime Organisation (IMO) revised targets (striving for 30% and 80% GHG reductions in 2030 and 2040) needs further international cooperation to convert these into legally binding policy measures that incentivise and enforce their achievement. Geopolitical debate regarding national and international level regulations and policies, maritime infrastructure to support Arctic shipping development are on the rise (Jaramillo et al. 2022).
	 Impact of decarbonisation targets and actions on international trade needs better understanding, to ensure that the efforts to reduce GHG emissions do not have avoidable negative impacts on developing economies, and to ensure broad consensus in the development of further IMO policy measure adoption (UNCTAD 2023).
	 There remains a risk that the production of renewable energy and renewable liquid fuels does not increase at the rates needed to achieve the GHG emissions reductions of international shipping (Campbell et al. 2023). This can be best mitigated by further policy action to stimulate supply of new fuels, both at national, regional and multilateral levels.

Delivering on the potential: Priorities for action

Although major progress has been made in recent years, and the IMO has committed (in the revised GHG strategy adopted in 2023) to take strong further policy action, urgent priorities remain. More specific policies need to be developed to maximise the mitigation potential identified in this chapter, especially those that align with the IMO's revised ambitions and targets. Specifically, this now includes (by the end of 2025):

- The revision of the IMO's short-term measure policies (improving stringency, enforcement, and effectiveness of the existing regulations CII and EEXI)
- The development and adoption of new IMO mid-term measures (a goal-based fuel standard and a GHG price and fund policy)

Further narrowing and ultimately closing the gap between the IMO's targets and a clearly 1.5°C-aligned pathway of emissions reduction will take vigorous action from national and regional government and industry. Immediate objectives between now and 2030 must include maximising efficiency in this decade. The pathway of GHG reductions between 2030 and 2050 must include maximising the rate of energy transition and ensuring that shipping's demands from a decarbonised energy system are met, while avoiding unintended consequence risks and impacts.

LOGISTICS EFFICIENCY PRIORITIES

Longstanding market barriers and failures preventing greater energy efficiency in the shipping sector include that the ship owner is often not responsible for paying for fuel costs, and the use of rigid contracts (charterparties) which do not allow logistics efficiency optimisation. These barriers and failures create a recognised split-incentive (Rehmatulla and Smith 2020). Changes to these aspects should be top priorities for action. IMO regulation could help address this by revising the way efficiency is regulated and incentivised (e.g., revise the carbon intensity indicators-CIIs-to include the mass of cargo carried so that policy can minimise the emissions per unit of transport work (cargo mass x distance), which then ensures greater incentivisation of cross-value-chain collaboration to find efficiencies. In parallel, national and regional governments can produce regulations to increase the transparency of data being used at port-operator interfaces (to enable both the ship operator and port to find mutually beneficial optimisations for time slots at berth and voyage speed), Governments and private sector actors (shipowners, charterers, ship financiers, port owners, insurers, fuel producers etc.) can form stakeholder communities for sharing best practices and developing data standards that can make it easier to share information that can help optimise logistics efficiency.

Another priority is for governments and companies to consider the contribution of supply chain emissions as part of overall consumption/product emissions. Increasing use of policies such as the EU's Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM), as well as scope 3 (i.e. supply chain) reporting requirements, will shine a light on the portion of emissions associated with the distances and transport involved in producing goods. This will encourage more holistic decision-making that trades off the costs and benefits of long and complicated supply chains. For some goods, this may increase the value of near-shoring (outsourcing of operations or services to an area that is geographically close by), even if for many goods there remains value in long-distance trade. Both governments and private sector actors will benefit from evaluating the potential changes in trade operations that could result in a reduced demand for transport, as well as increased logistics efficiency.

OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY PRIORITIES

Take-up of technology and operational improvements for efficiency remains far lower than its potential even though it is the key no-regrets solution for maximising shipping's mitigation potential. Changes can be made now and are not dependent on a broader energy transition, and in many cases they can be cost-neutral since increasing efficiency reduces fuel use and saves money. Making efficiency improvements will also increase the viability of a transition to low-carbon fuels by reducing the demand for them.

However, there remains a large legacy fleet of highly inefficient ships built before 2013 (the year that IMO's EEDI regulation that specifies minimum design efficiency entered into force), that continue to be viable to operate given periods of high freight rate and revenues that offset their high running costs. There remains a widespread lack of uptake of wind power, air lubrication and other technologies, and continued general use of 'sail fast then wait' practices that waste energy through unnecessary high speeds to no benefit in logistics efficiency.

The adoption by the IMO of short-term measure policy, entering into force in January 2023, was a missed opportunity to create a strong and clear incentive to maximise efficiency within this decade. The adopted policy exhibits multiple key shortcomings (Smith et al. 2023):

- The policy uses the Annual Efficiency Ratio (AER), which assumes that vessels are always operating at maximal capacity, overestimating their energy efficiency.
- The policy lacks a meaningful enforcement mechanism; the only sanction is to submit an action plan if the policy is underperforming.
- The policy is misaligned to the 1.5°C target and provides negligible incentive for efficiency improvement beyond what could occur through market forces (BAU). There is no clarity of stringency beyond 2027.

 The policy considers only TTW CO₂ emissions (i.e. those from vessels themselves), as opposed to WTW emissions (which consider emissions from the broader supply chain), and so perversely incentivises certain fuels—certainly liquefied natural gas (LNG), possibly biofuels—depending on LCA guidelines.

A key priority is therefore the urgent and effective revision and improvement of IMO's short-term measures to address these key shortcomings. However, the slow pace of IMO's revision of CII (by 2026) and the complexity of multilateral agreement means that there is a role for national governments and companies to respond in the interim. National and regional governments can leverage the IMO's CII architecture and apply minimum requirements for port-calls in their countries (e.g. accepting port calls only by the most efficient ships) (Smith et al. 2023).

There is increasing pressure on companies to be transparent to customers and shareholders about their alignment with the 1.5°C target. There is therefore a priority for enabling widespread adoption of standards for the measurement and reporting of carbon emissions. This would incentivise cross-value chain efforts to maximise efficiency by use efficiency improvements to secure market advantage (e.g. Science-Based Targets initiative, Poseidon Principles, Sea Cargo Charter) (Table 11).

ENERGY TRANSITION PRIORITIES

Shipping's energy transition is highly dependent on the land-side infrastructure and transition in energy systems. The sector will not be able to operate on new low-carbon fuels if they are not widely available and appropriately incentivised (Campbell et al. 2023).

A priority during this phase of the transition is to maximise rigour in policy relevant to carbon neutral technology and WTW emissions, converting the IMO's revised strategy targets (specified for reductions of all GHG and on a WTW basis), into effective policy measures. A policy focus on carbon-neutral technology and WTW emissions might help stimulate innovation by rewarding all potential solutions. This would also manage a significant risk to shipping's decarbonisation, which is that high GHG emissions from a ship's exhausts are not reduced, but merely displaced to land-side energy production, or that infrastructure and vessels are built to minimise TTW emissions as opposed to WTW emissions. These risks would divert investment away from long-term solutions and ultimately result in stranded assets, adding unnecessary costs to the transition. The most important way to address this lies in finalising IMO's LCA guidelines, and the design of IMO mid-term measures (Table 11).

Although there is now a commitment for an IMO mid-term measure 'basket' to have been adopted before the end of 2025, because the timescales for entry into force would not be until at least 2027, the initiation of shipping's energy transition remains a key priority to address in the near-term (Smith et al. 2021). Until this has been adopted there are no specific criteria against which companies can formulate an investment strategy to manage their risks and opportunities. More developed countries need to address calls for an equitable transition, recognising the disproportionate negative impacts of climate change on developing countries. Addressing this will help ensure that a multilateral solution can be reached as soon as possible and avoid a protracted and polarised debate that may hinder the transition.

National and regional governments need to compensate for the timescales of IMO policy development. They can use national strategies to align shipping's decarbonisation as specified by the targets and objects of the IMO's revised strategy, with their energy transitions across both renewable energy and CO₂ sequestration ambitions to stimulate early adopter and first mover opportunities. This can be done either through clear regulatory measures or economic stimulus, but evidence to date (including IPCC's AR6 report and <u>climate action tracker</u>) shows that most governments are not yet incentivising a 1.5°C transition and instead are placing too much faith in the ability of private sector actors to overcome the large cost differentials by themselves, in turn delaying and adding risk to shipping's energy transition.

Private companies can form stakeholder communities around initiatives such as green corridors, to develop early mover opportunities, as well as work on transparency of measurement and standards related to energy transition. Mechanisms like 'book and claim' (a system often based on blockchain technology that decouples a consumer from the physical flow of goods while still allowing them to claim any CO₂ reduction benefit associated with the goods) can help spread cost and risk, and thereby develop aggregate demand as a means to ensure there is a business case that enables investment in shipping's decarbonisation as early as possible. Table 11. Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to advance research and development of zero emissionsfuels and vessels for maritime transport

SECTOR: GOVERNMENT				
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)		
Develop and communicate national targets and pledges for the decarbonisation of domestic fleets and associated national infrastructure.	Adopt revision of short-term measures significantly increasing stringency.	Monitor impacts and tracking of greenhouse gas reductions to revise and improve policy cost-effective- ness.		
Develop national and/or regional plans on the role and carbon inten- sity of trade.	Adopt national action plans for imple- menting shipping's energy transition			
Develop national and/or regional plans to support action on energy efficiency.	Adopt national incentives for decar- bonising domestic transportation.			
Support the revision of the IMO's short-term measure policies (im- proving stringency, enforcement and effectiveness of the existing regulations CII and EEXI and the development and adoption of new IMO mid-term measures (a goal-based fuel standard and a GHG price and fund policy).				
Commit to decarbonisation of national energy systems faster or as fast as the transition in the international fleet.				
Refine IMO life cycle assessment guidelines and use in policy.				
Adopt basket of goal-based IMO mid-term measures, enabling equitable transition.				
Provide support and incentives for early adopters of zero emissions.				
Develop national/regional plans on the role and carbon intensity of trade.				
Develop national/regional action on energy efficiency.				
Revise the IMO Data Collection System to include cargo carried.				
SECTOR: PRIVATE SECTOR				
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)		
Sign up for voluntary initiatives that robustly and transparently measure alignment to 1.5°C.	Develop company-level strategies ad- opted for managing risk and opportuni- ty through a 1.5°C-aligned transition	Continue scaling up of 1.5°C-aligned investment.		
Form value-chain clubs around early adoption zero emission opportunities.	Scaling private sector investment in energy transition.	Monitor and revise strategy.		
Include decarbonisation opportunity and risk efficiently into contracting.				
Table 11. Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to advance research and development of zeroemissions fuels and vessels for maritime transport (Continued)

SECTOR: RESEARCH COMMUNITY (INCLUDING TECH AND INNOVATION)			
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)	
Evaluate options to reduce cost, address safety, increase efficiency of hydrogen-derived fuel supply and use technology.	Advance research on cost reduction, safety and efficiency work on hydro- gen-derived energy technology, and other zero emission technologies.	Research into optimisation of retrofit, and greater	
Assess performance of complementary efficiency technologies including wind		multi-sector integration and efficiency in the	
Identify and rectify market and non-market barriers and failures to enable larger uptake of more energy-efficient technologies and cooperation patterns.		energy transi- tion.	

Source: Authors.

2.4 Ocean-based tourism

Cruise tourism is a particularly carbon-intensive form of tourism that often also involves air travel to and from the port of departure (Scott et al. 2008). Yet there are no comprehensive assessments of the sector's contribution to climate change. As the cruise sector has an oligopolistic structure with three major players, Carnival, Royal Caribbean, and Norwegian (Chang et al. 2017), data from annual reports from these three cruise lines can be used to determine the sector's carbon intensity (Humpe et al. 2023). In 2019, the three largest cruise lines carried 22 million people, or 80 percent of the global passenger volume and emitted direct emissions of 18 Mt CO₂e (scope 1 and 2).⁸ Available data thus suggests that between 2012 and 2018, direct GHG emissions from global cruises increased from 25–30 Mt CO₂e/year, even though the sector improved its carbon efficiency by about 20 percent (Faber et al. 2021). The estimate does not include scope 3 emissions, which annual reports from cruise lines suggest are as high as scope 1 and 2 combined (Royal Caribbean Group 2021; Hurtigruten Group 2022). Overall, the global cruise sector may thus have emitted 60 Mt CO₂e in 2018; comparable to the annual emissions of countries such as Austria, Greece, Morocco or Peru.

Data for the three most extensive cruise lines also suggests that in 2019, the average trip length was 7.2 days, with average emissions of 115 kg CO_2e per passenger per day (scope 1 and 2; Humpe et al. 2023). Including scope 3 emissions brings the total to 230 kg CO_2e per passenger per day. For the average cruise at 7.2 days, this amounts to 1.7 t CO_2e per passenger, or onethird of the average global carbon footprint of 5 t CO_2 per year (Ritchie et al. 2020).

Only 0.4 percent of the world's population participated in cruises in 2019. Should the sector continue its historical growth of more than 6 percent per year (1990–2019), there will be 40 million passengers in 2030, causing emissions of 40 Mt CO_2e (scope 1 and 2 in the BAU scenario with recovery in 2024, considering 2 percent annual improvement in carbon intensity (Hurtigruten Group 2022). Including scope 3 emissions there will be 80 Mt CO_2e emitted in 2030 by cruises. This is in stark contrast to global ambitions to halve emissions by 2030. Under the same assumptions, the sector will carry 155 million passengers in 2050, causing scope 1 and 2 emissions of 100 Mt CO_2e , or more than 195Mt CO_2e including scope 3 emissions. The sector also emits other pollutants. Emissions of sulphur oxides (SO_x) , nitrous oxides (NO_x) and particulate matter (PM) are a concern as cruise ships operate in pristine waters as well as in populated areas near ports (e.g. Dragović et al. 2018). Extrapolation of data in sustainability reports by Carnival and Royal Caribbean suggest that the cruise sector accounted for emissions of 544,600t SO_x, 383,500t NO_x and 32,200t PM in 2019 (Royal Caribbean Group 2021; Carnival Corporation & PLC 2022).

The cruise industry will need to confront these and other environmental challenges. These include the production of potable water, handling of grey and black water, food and other wastes, single use plastic, and the degradation of habitats that store carbon (Carić and Mackelworth 2014; MacNeill and Wozniak 2018). Noise and vibrations disturb marine organisms, and tourists are not always considered welcome in the coastal destinations they visit.

Rising traffic in the Arctic as sea ice diminishes poses risks to Arctic marine ecosystems and coastal communities. These include local pollution and the arrival of invasive species (Jaramillo et al. 2022). Black carbon or soot from burning fossil fuel contains fine particulates that absorb light, hasten the melting of snow and ice, and are particularly effective at warming polar waters (Lindstad et al. 2016).

In addition to cruise ships, ferries that carry cars and passengers also support ocean-based tourism. Jet skis, recreational boats, yachts and super yachts all contribute to fuel use at a scale that potentially exceeds emissions from cruise lines. For example, ferries for passengers and cars alone generated emissions exceeding 48 Mt CO₂ in 2018 (scope 1; Faber et al. 2021). Super yachts owned by affluent individuals can be the size of cruise ships and emit tens of thousands of tons of CO₂ per year (Barros and Wilk 2021). To date, there is no comprehensive assessment of the fuel use by these different leisure boat sectors.

To decarbonise the cruise sector, it is important to consider its structure, management, technology, and ship design. Above all, energy consumption is influenced by design choices such as the average floor space of cabins or the space given to provide other amenities, including restaurants and activities. All of these determine passenger capacity in relation to ship size. Management decisions affect fuel use as they set the destinations and distances sailed, sailing speeds and port of departure choices that require air transport for passengers and staff. Menu designs determine the carbon-intensity of foods as well as food waste. This suggests that energy consumption can be reduced significantly throughout scopes 1–3, even though it remains unclear which individual contributions these measures might make, and under which policy scenarios the sector will adopt them.

In general, efforts to reduce emissions should start with cutting energy consumption. This is necessary because low-carbon energy is and will likely continue to be scarce and expensive (IEA 2021a). Also, a shift to other fuels will increase the complexity of construction as well as operations, and hinge on technology and infrastructure developments.

Cruise vessels demand so much energy, both at sea and in port, that drawing power from the onshore grid makes more sense for them than for other large vessels such as cargo ships. Turning off shipboard generators means these ships pollute less, though the climate effect is only as good as the footprint of the electricity grid. For example, while Norway's hydropower gives electricity at only 10 g CO₂e/kWh, the European average is 265 g CO₂e/ kWh and American electricity emits closer to 400 g CO₂e/ kWh (Ember n.d.). Renewable electricity is still a scarce resource; globally, only about 14 percent of the primary energy and 25 percent of the electricity is renewable (IEA 2021a). Also, the high power requirements need infrastructure, and regions with seasonal activity, may find it hard to justify the large shoreside investments needed. New EU regulation (FuelEU Maritime) makes shore power mandatory for cruise vessels operating in Europe from 2030.

Cruise ships have transport and hotel functions, and hence require substantial energy for propulsion and passenger facilities. There are numerous systems to work with, from heat, ventilation, and air conditioning of passenger facilities to hydrodynamic and aerodynamic resistance. These are discussed in detail in the previous ocean transport sector.

Propulsion power, constituting about 60 percent of total power demand of cruise ships (Faber et al. 2020; NCLH

2022) can be reduced by optimising the hull shape below and above the waterline for minimum hydrodynamic and aerodynamic resistance. Friction between hull and water is the dominating resistance component for most vessels and can be reduced by non-toxic anti-fouling paint and hull cleaning. Air lubrication of the flat bottom portions of ships appears to be promising for cruise vessels. Cruise ships have multiple transverse thrusters to help them manoeuvre in port, and efficient designs can minimise the drag around these. Above the waterline wind resistance is a concern, and larger cruise ships require more energy for propulsion.

The engine rooms of cruise vessels contain dieselelectric machinery, dominated by several generators. This allows flexibility to run the propulsion engines on optimal load to minimise fuel consumption and specific emission levels while also having power reserves for safety. The use of batteries to store electrical energy can avoid low-load running of diesel generators. Azimuthing thrusters (propellers that can be rotated left or right to turn the ship) are used to improve vessel manoeuvrability, but their efficiency can be improved, for example by using contra rotating propellers.

In operation, route choices that consider prevailing weather conditions, use of optimum vessel tilt angles and speed and frequent cleaning of the hull can help to ensure fuel efficiency is as high as possible. In calculating the energy costs and benefits of slow steaming, it is important to factor in the effect of auxiliary power demand at sea and energy demand in port.

The only way to know the effectiveness of these mitigation measures is to collect, analyse, and present data on operational performance. New carbon intensity indicator (CII) regulations from IMO are a good step forward, but these should be amended further to reflect actual vessel utilisation rather than vessel capacity (see Ocean-based transport).

Hydrogen (H_2), ammonia (NH_3) and methanol are under consideration as future fuels to substitute the sector's use of fossil fuels. The technical challenges and regulatory incentivisation for much of cruise shipping are similar to the ocean transport sector more generally; for a discussion on these options, see section '2.3 Oceanbased transport.' Batteries can power the smallest vessels, but only if the sailing time between ports with charging facilities is very short. Batteries can also serve as energy-saving devices for large vessels with complex diesel electric machinery. The manufacturing of batteries, including sourcing of metals such as cobalt and lithium, raise new sustainability and logistical challenges.

Mitigation potential

It is hard to quantify the total potential mitigation effect, as it all depends on a vessel's starting point and operating profile. Two of the major cruise liners report 2 percent annual improvements in Considering growth and the importance of scope 3 emissions in particular, it is likely that total emissions from cruises will continue to rise.

carbon intensity in recent years and aim to continue this going forward (Royal Caribbean Group 2021; Hurtigruten Group 2022). These figures refer to scope 1 and 2 emissions only. Unfortunately, 2 percent improvement in carbon intensity is cancelled out many times over by the expected 6-7 percent passenger growth, so the cruise liners must at least triple their ambitions to successfully reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Cruise vessels have numerous systems onboard, and thus reducing energy consumption requires implementing an array of technologies. Efficiency gains of between 20 and 39 percent by 2030, and between 50 and 100 percent by 2050 (in line with estimates developed in this report for oceanbased transport) may mitigate emissions by between 8-15.6 Mt CO₂e/year by 2030 and by between 50-100 Mt CO₂e/year by 2050. However, whether absolute emissions reductions from current levels (scope 1) are a realistic assumption remains to be seen, as the IEA (2021a) in its Net Zero Emissions (NZE) scenario expects only 15 percent of total energy demand in shipping to be constituted by low-carbon fuels. Considering growth and the importance of scope 3 emissions in particular, it is likely that total emissions from cruises will continue to rise.

Regulations in some environmentally sensitive and busy coastal areas are tightening. There are already

requirements for zero GHG emissions in some areas, such as the Norwegian requirements for zero emissions in UNESCO World Heritage fjords. At best, such regulations can motivate zero emissions technology, such as use of battery power and electric motors. At worst, such regulations will displace the most polluting vessels to other waters and ports. Also, charging batteries with fossil energy enroute to such zero emission areas will simply shift GHG emissions from one place to another, and possibly contribute to greater global inequalities, since some developing nations that need the revenue may encourage such ships.

The cruise ship fleet can be divided into nearly two equal halves; smaller vessels up to 10,000 gross tonnes (GT) make up about 45 percent of vessels and emit only 10 percent of the total GHG emissions. The other 55 percent of the ships (greater than 10,000 GT in size) emit 90 percent of GHG emissions (Faber et al. 2021). Finding solutions for the larger half of the cruise ship fleet is thus essential for the sector to decarbonise. Nevertheless, developing solutions for the smaller half will still be meaningful, because switching to new technologies and alternative fuels will be easier on a smaller scale; work here can pave the way for the larger emitters.

Cruise vessels have features that make them ideal candidates for spearheading the transition to alternative fuels. First, cruise vessels tend to have a predictable itinerary and operate in one or a few regions, so a few supply agreements can be enough. The cost of fuel is also very minor in comparison to their overall costs, so an increase in fuel costs would mean less to the overall cruise prices. Studies nevertheless show that switching from fossil fuels to biofuels would increase fuel costs from 7 to 18 percent of total costs, under current biofuel cost structures, reducing profitability from 15 to 4 percent (Humpe et al. 2023) unless the operators are able to increase ticket prices.

Operational measures, such as accounting for prevailing weather conditions, using optimal vessel tilt angles and speed and frequently cleaning the hull, can lower emissions from existing ships. But deploying new technology is generally easier when building new vessels. The lead time for new cruise vessels is long because of their complicated design and construction, and thus fundamental changes in future cruise vessels must be researched, developed and decided upon now. New policies are necessary at the global, regional, and national level to change the course of the cruise sector and can be expected by 2025 given the recent outcome of the IMO's revised GHG reduction strategy (see discussion of Ocean-based transport). A global study of marine policies on air pollution concluded that ports currently have the greatest influence on the sector's development, as vessels need to reduce pollution levels to enter specific jurisdictions (Gössling et al. 2021). Related policies may include banning excessively polluting ships from entering ports, imposing higher port fees on inefficient ships, or reducing fees for the cleanest ships.

The EU's new FuelEU Maritime regulation aims to cut down on pollution and GHG emissions by making shore power mandatory for passenger vessels in Europe from 2030 on. It also promotes uptake of alternative fuels to power vessels. More policies need to be developed at the national level as well, to force the sector to align its development with global climate goals.

As noted, a 6 percent annual rise in passenger numbers will dwarf the impact of the industry's promised 2 percent cuts in carbon intensity. This particularly carbon-intense type of vacation, enjoyed mainly by a very small minority of people, often in pristine waters, brings an opportunity to act more decisively and make sharper cuts in the sector's energy use and its environmental footprint than the industry's sustainability reports promise.

The necessary pathway to limit temperature increase to between 1.5°C and 2°C severely restricts carbon budgets and suggests that these should be allocated to essential ocean activities such as providing food, sustainable energy, medicines, transport of essential goods and other necessary services. Leisure activities like cruises must quickly become carbon neutral to justify their continued existence. Pressure to reduce the industry's carbon footprint and other environmental impacts is likely to mount.

Wider impact analysis

Ocean-based tourism has a broad impact because its rapid growth has driven a rising demand for access to environmentally sensitive areas, air and water pollution from vessels, and pollution and user-generated waste. Current technology and regulatory mechanisms are inadequate to manage these pressures. Regulating the sector requires participation from various stakeholders, including users. As in aviation, growing awareness of perpassenger emissions might accelerate action and lead to better governance.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS	 Decarbonising and increasing the efficiency of cruise ships and port-side activities can result in the creation of jobs associated with the supply chain of new fuels and associated infrastructure, coastal air and water quality improvements, and health benefits, especially those associated with a reduction of sulphur and PM2.5 emissions (Viana et al. 2020; Zou et al. 2020; Al-Douri et al. 2022; Denton et al. 2022). Decarbonising ships will help mitigate hotspots of ocean acidification on ocean species and ecosystems (Hassellöv et al. 2013) and improved waste management can reduce negative impacts on marine life and coastal environments.
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR RISKS TO MITIGATE	 Cruise ships, in defiance of tourism sector regulations, intentionally travel off regular shipping corridors. There is a need for region-specific governance regimes, specialised infrastructure, and focused policy attention (IPCC 2019). Summertime Arctic ship-based transportation (including tourism) increases with sea ice reductions and poses risks to Arctic marine ecosystems and coastal communities, such as from invasive species and local
	 pollution (Jaramillo et al. 2022). Besides water pollution, use of fossil fuel cruise ships in Ísafjörður, Iceland, often pollute ocean water with wastewater, garbage and food waste, and ballast water. Many cruise vessels carry out illegal activities, including violation cases (Wang and Chambers 2023).

Delivering on the potential: Priorities for action

Decarbonising ocean-based tourism, and in particular cruise tourism, will require broadscale changes in government, private and research sectors. Near-term priorities for government include gaining a more detailed picture of scope 1-3 emissions for the sector to help devise and revise climate policies; promoting voluntary disclosure of per passenger emissions from cruise vessels; and supporting revisions to the IMO's short-term measure policies and promoting the development of more stringent IMO mid-term measures. Priorities for the private sector include transparently communicating alignment with measures to limit warming to 1.5°C; and investing in research and development of energy-efficient and low-carbon cruise ship technology and construction. Priorities for research include developing a standard connection for shore power for cruise vessels; and researching the design of energy-efficient components and activities (such as hull cleaning). Please see Table 12 for additional detail.



 Table 12. Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to advance research and development of low and zero

 emissions ocean-based tourism

SECTOR: 0	GOVERNMENT	
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)
Monitor and track GHG emissions (scope 1–3) from global cruise tourism to devise and revise climate policies for the sector.		Implement quota for net zero fuels that fully replace fossil fuels.
Implement voluntary disclosure of per passenger emission levels following the example of aviation industry to empower users in their decision making.		
Blend-in obligations for sustainable biofuels.		
Set standard carbon intensity indicators to track progress; the carbon intensity indicators must reflect actual operations.		
Support the revision of the IMO's short-term measure poli- cies—improving stringency, enforcement, and effectiveness of the existing regulations CII and EEXI and the development and adoption of new stringent IMO mid-term measures (a goal- based fuel standard and a GHG price and fund policy).		
SECTOR: PI	RIVATE SECTOR	
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)
Sign up for voluntary initiatives that robustly and transparent- ly measure alignment to limit warming to 1.5°C.	Provide shore power in key cruise ports with renewable electricity.	Accept and support policies that bring the entire sector on track to net zero.
Implement structured fees at port for cruise ships that imply a significantly higher cost for ship owners.	Retrofit, convert and build new cruise vessels with low energy consumption and zero GHG emis- sion fuels.	
Invest in research, develop and design energy efficient and low carbon cruise ship technology.		
Design, order and build cruise vessels with low energy con- sumption and zero GHG emission fuels.		
SECTOR: RESEARCH COMMUNITY	(INCLUDING TECH AND INNOVAT	ΓΙΟΝ)
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)
Explore options for utilising a standard connection for shore power to increase utilisation.	Advance research on net zero fuels and efficiency technologies for the sector.	Continue research as outlined for 2030, under consideration of technology developments
Assess the effect of air lubrication on ship resistance.	Investigate transition barriers to net zero technology introductions.	and mitigation achievements.
Research effect of hull cleaning on ship resistance and avoid- ance of introducing invasive species in hull fouling.	Study implications of demand management with lower growth rates or sectoral de-growth.	

Source: Authors.

2.5 Ocean-based food

Global food systems account for up to a third of anthropogenic GHG emissions from production through processing, distribution and point of sale, driven particularly by animal protein production (Poore and Nemecek 2018; Crippa et al. 2022). Estimates of global food-related GHG emissions early in this century range from 4.6 to 13.7 billion tonnes of CO_2e (Tubiello et al. 2013; Smith et al. 2014; Poore and Nemecek 2018). Changing the composition of global diets and the potential to shift away from the most GHG-intensive food production, while feeding more people adequately, has been modelled to be the most impactful way to cut GHG emissions from food provisioning (Poore and Nemecek 2018; Springmann et al. 2018; Searchinger et al. 2019).

Total emissions from marine fisheries and marine and freshwater aquaculture currently make a small contribution to the overall emissions from the global food system (each previously estimated at about 4 percent). However, they play a larger role in the overall food-related emissions of those countries that are more dependent on seafood for nutrition, livelihoods and trade, and may be particularly relevant to emissions reduction efforts for some coastal and island nations (Parker et al. 2018). The more minor contribution to emissions reflects both the smaller scale of these sectors relative to cropping and livestock farming, along with their lower emissions intensity-total emissions per tonne of fish or shellfish produced-compared to many other protein sources (Bianchi et al. 2022). However, the intensity of emissions varies substantially according to species, production method, fishing gear and locale. Both fished and farmed seafood products range from very climate-friendly to very climate and GHG intensive (Parker et al. 2018; Bianchi et al. 2022). Emissions associated with the production of seaweeds and aquatic plants, meanwhile, have been critically understudied, despite representing over half of global mariculture and producing 35 million tonnes of wet weight product in 2020 (FAO 2022). Importantly, to date little effort has been expended on any meaningful scale to systematically reduce GHG emissions from seafood systems, and efforts to measure and characterise emissions have overwhelmingly focused on systems either located in or serving markets to rich nations.

There are two principal ways that ocean-based foods can contribute significantly to climate change mitigation.

The first pathway is by directly reducing emissions from seafood production, for example, lowering the emissions intensity of fisheries. For fisheries, this could be done by rebuilding fish stocks, switching to fishing gear that uses less fuel, and decarbonising fuel that powers fishing fleets. Aquaculture farms could, for example, use more renewable electricity, or feed ingredients from fisheries, crops, and other upstream systems that generate lower emissions. Four key interventions could contribute most meaningfully towards climate change mitigation in the sector are:

- Rebuilding fisheries through large-scale and coordinated improvements to fisheries management to optimise production volumes and minimise effort—and fuel—requirements to fish;
- Reducing emissions associated with feed for farmed fed species (e.g. fish and shrimps) and increasing aquaculture of extractive species (e.g. seaweeds and invertebrates);
- Avoiding deforestation in the production of crop inputs (e.g. soy, palm oil) to aquaculture feeds;
- Sourcing all on-farm energy inputs to aquaculture from renewable or other non-fossil fuel sources, effectively decarbonising on-farm energy use.

The second pathway is to increase production more rapidly, as well as the consumption of low-emissions seafood products and concurrently, encouraging a wide-scale shift in global diets away from more GHGintensive animal proteins like beef and lamb towards more climate-friendly seafood options (in addition to vegetarian and other lower-emissions dietary choices). This latter pathway, which we refer to here as dietary shifting, assumes the ability to adequately scale production of low-emissions seafood sources while not exceeding the ecological capacity to do so. For fisheries, even including the potential increased production that could arise from vastly improved management systems, such expansion is likely to be minimal because of caps on maximum sustainable harvesting. Rather, aquaculture of both seaweeds/plants and animals will continue to account for most of any major increase in seafood availability, as it has for the past two decades (FAO 2022). Ideally, a combined approach which seeks to maximise production of low-emissions seafood systems, while avoiding those systems and practices that drive seafood emissions upwards, would ensure that the industry contributes meaningfully to climate mitigation.

Emissions associated with the production of seaweeds and aquatic plants have been critically understudied, despite representing over 50 percent of global mariculture, producing 35 million tonnes of wet weight product in 2020 (FAO 2022). Gephart et al. (2021) found the GHG intensity of aquatic plant production to be very low in comparison to other seafood sectors, but they had a limited dataset of aquatic plant assessments to draw from. Throughout this chapter, we refer qualitatively to potential opportunities related to expanding seaweed and aquatic plant production, but we have not included such expansion directly into the modelling estimates, which are instead primarily concerned with the production of fishes, crustaceans, and molluscs.

Although both pathways for ocean-related food systems provide considerable scope for emissions reductions, achieving them will require substantial, sustained and collaborative public and private sector effort to transform energy systems, fisheries management, feeding practices, siting decision-making, etc., coupled with broad-scale public behaviour change. The lack of a meaningful and coordinated public and private sector action to reduce GHG emissions from fisheries and aquaculture operations since the 2019 Report was published has meant that our emissions reduction estimates to 2030 have been reduced, highlighting the challenges ahead if those emissions reduction potentials are to be achieved. Current practices in fisheries and aquaculture are deeply entrenched and rely on many tens of thousands of individual decisionmakers globally who own and operate the vessels and farm sites (FAO 2022). Many of these individuals have a poor understanding of the significant sources of GHG emissions from their operations or lack control over those high emission activities (e.g. many fed aquaculture operators are unaware that inputs to aguafeeds purchased from separate companies are typically the largest source of emissions that arise from their products), or are effectively locked into higher emissions practices through substantial sunk costs in vessels and gear or management restrictions (e.g. many fishing operations are restricted in the fishing gear that they can use through their licenses).

At the same time, the primacy of protein derived from high emission sources of animal protein in many wealthy diets suggests that these meat products will be difficult to displace with lower emission sources of seafood (Graça et al. 2019). Together with the potential that fisheries and aquaculture operations may continue to resist or face barriers to change or be excluded from policies and programmes to reduce their emissions, we have set the low estimate of mitigation potential in both 2030 and 2050 at zero.

Sustaining any projected increase in production of food from the ocean will necessarily demand substantial improvements to coastal management, governance effectiveness, and understanding of environmental capacity to support operations within the constraints of local ecosystems, along with investments to coastal infrastructure and cold chains for storage and distribution (Costello et al. 2016; Worm 2016). These developments will be difficult to achieve at scale and in a meaningful time frame, particularly given the large producing role of remote and less developed regions.

Mitigation potential

Though we set the low estimate for emissions reductions from fisheries and aquaculture to 2030 to zero, we estimate that seafood industries could contribute up to 0.035 Gt CO₂e in potential emissions reductions by 2030 through improvements in efficiencies, inputs and practices (Table 13). These direct emissions reductions would arise, in part, from reductions in the volume of fuel combusted to land fish and shellfish as a result of stock rebuilding efforts in fisheries; in aquaculture operations through the electrification and decarbonisation of direct energy inputs to farm sites; through a 10 percent across the board improvement in the feed conversion efficiency; and the complete avoidance of feed inputs derived from deforested landscapes (Table 13). Another 0.2–0.8 Gt CO₂e reduction could be achieved through the more rapid transition of diets to shift away from more GHG-intensive land-based animal production (Table 13). Extending to 2050, these potential contributions from the seafood sector increase to 0.14 and 1.0 Gt CO₂e, respectively, providing a total potential mitigation value in 2050 of 1.5 Gt CO.e, relative to a BAU scenario. The basis for these estimates is explained more fully in Appendix A: Methodology. This mitigation potential reflects just those interventions identified here as globally meaningful actions with sufficient data to support modelling. Further interventions ranging from the rebuilding of mangroves and other coastal habitats to the contributions of seaweed aquaculture and novel sectors of the industry are either considered in other chapters of this report or do not have sufficient data and literature available to quantify potential contributions.

Table 13. Potential GHG emissions reductions from ocean-related food systems, by 2030 and 2050

OCEAN- BASED SECTOR	MITIGATION OPTIONS	DESCRIPTION	2030 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/YEAR)	2050 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/YEAR)
	Rebuilding wild fish stocks	Reduction in fuel use intensity to harvest fish and shellfish that results from rebuilding depleted stocks	0-0.021	0-0.081
		Avoided emissions if the increased harvest achieved via rebuilding stocks is consumed in place of higher emissions land-based animal products ^a	0–0.015	0–0.056
Reducing emissions from aquaculture ^b based food	emissions from	Improved feed conversion ratios (10 percent reduction in economic feed conversion ratios across all fed species)	0-0.004	0–0.025
	Complete avoidance of deforestation in the supply chains of feed ingredients from soy, palm, and other crops as well as in the feeds of poultry and livestock systems providing by-products	0-0.028	0-0.161	
		Shifting all energy inputs to farms are derived from electricity generated from renewable sources, rather than fossil fuels onsite or in electricity grids	0-0.015	0-0.088
	Increasing share of ocean-based proteins in diets	Potential emissions avoided by behavioural shifts away from high emissions land-based proteins and towards lower emissions seafood systems	0.24-0.84	0.30-1.06
Total			0.24-0.92	0.30-1.47

Notes:

a. We indicate this value separately from the dietary shifting values as the increase in production is directly linked to rebuilding of fishing stocks, rather than any societal shift in demand for products.

b. The cumulative emissions reduction potentials from aquaculture interventions are lower than the sum of each individually because of the shared reduction potentials between feed conversion ratio improvements and avoiding deforestation in feeds.

Source: Authors.

REDUCING EMISSIONS FROM WILD CAPTURE FISHERIES

The best available data suggest that global emissions from marine fisheries are roughly 180 Mt CO₂e annually, or 2.2 kg CO₂e per live weight kg of landed fish and shellfish (Parker et al. 2018, as modelled for 2011). Global fishing thus accounted for roughly 4 percent of the global food system production emissions in 2011. This includes both direct and upstream supply chain emissions from combustion of fuel on fishing vessels as well as assumptions related to non-fuel emissions, such as those that arise from gear manufacture and refrigerant use but excludes post-landing emissions from processing and distribution. Following the oil price shocks of the 1970s, efforts to limit fuel use in wild capture fisheries focused mainly on technological advances in engine efficiency or hull design, or changes in skipper behaviour, such willingness to reduce speed or fish in poor conditions when fish may be more available. However, the effects of energy-saving technological and behavioural changes at the fleet level are unclear and can be overshadowed by variation in stock abundance or structural changes to the fishery (Pascoe et al. 2012; Farmery et al. 2014; Ziegler and Hornborg 2014).

A more consistently reliable driver of emissions within a fishery is catch per unit effort, reflecting both effort

(e.g., days fished) and available biomass (Ziegler et al. 2016; Parker et al. 2017). Therefore, while acknowledging technological and behavioural factors, our estimate of mitigation potential focuses on the flexibility for future changes in effort and landings. The World Bank (2017) developed a future scenario to optimise the economic performance of global fisheries. Compared to wild capture landings in 2012, they estimated that, in theory, wild fish catch could increase by 13 percent by 2030, with significantly less fishing effort expended. Applying their effort and landings projections to Parker et al.'s emissions model based on landings in 2011 (Parker et al. 2018), this increase in efficiency could reduce GHG emissions by a total of 81 Mt CO₂e, equivalent to roughly half of current fishing emissions (Table 13). Achieving these efficiency gains only requires improved fisheries management rather than technological advances in fleet efficiency or the widespread adoption of fuel-saving behaviours by skippers. However, climate change could seriously constrain potential gains (Gaines et al. 2018; Free et al. 2020, 2022).

REDUCING EMISSIONS FROM AQUACULTURE

Since the first version of this report was released in 2019, several global analyses have been published that improve understanding of GHG emissions from aquaculture on a global scale. These include the global emissions estimates by MacLeod et al. (2020), a comprehensive methodological review of aquaculture life cycle assessments by Bohnes et al. (2019), the environmental performance of Blue Foods analysis by Gephart et al. (2021), and analyses of emissions from globally relevant seafood products along with their nutritional value by Bianchi et al. (2022). These broad syntheses and aggregation studies confirmed patterns of GHG emissions between and within aquaculture production systems previously identified by species- and system-specific life cycle assessments, and data from numerous individual studies were scaled up to globally relevant levels. These results provide a more robust basis for identifying the most widely applicable and effective emissions reduction opportunities within different forms of seafood aquaculture based on the primary drivers of those emissions.

MacLeod and colleagues (2020) estimated global GHG emissions from aquaculture production in 2017 at roughly 260 MT, or approximately 4 percent of emissions from global food production systems. Included in this estimate were emissions from the production and processing of aquafeeds (sourced from crops, fisheries and other feed inputs), energy inputs to farm systems, use of fertilisers, and an estimate of nitrous oxide emissions. While constrained in scope and limited by data availability, the analysis by MacLeod and colleagues provides a starting baseline against which we can calculate the potential emissions reduction potential of interventions in the aquaculture sector.

Gephart and colleagues (2021) assessed the GHG emissions intensity of a wide range of cultivated aquatic species (alongside wild-caught fisheries products) and undertook sensitivity and scenario analyses that provide a clear indication of the relative efficacy of strategies to reduce GHG emission intensities per tonne of production across a wide range of fed and unfed aquaculture systems, such as shrimp and bivalves. This provides a robust basis for identifying the most meaningful emissions reduction opportunities for aquaculture systems that can be applied to the total emissions of the sector. Of these, the interventions identified as most impactful across fed aquaculture systems were any strategies that durably reduce feed conversion ratios (FCRs-ration of calories in feed to calories in product, e.g. improved genetics, husbandry practices, feed formulations, etc.), and avoid deforestation in production of soy and other crop inputs to feeds. This reflects the common conclusion in assessments of fed aquaculture systems that targeting feed-related emissions provides the most significant opportunities for emissions reductions. To address non-feed related emissions and include mitigation strategies that also apply to unfed aquaculture systems, we can include the decarbonisation of all farm-site energy use. This means that all aquaculture systems would derive all energy inputs from electricity, as opposed to diesel and other fuels, and that that electricity would be sourced from either renewable or nuclear generation resulting in negligible emissions.

A significant source of emissions in marine aquaculture production, which is not included in our analysis here, is the GHG impact of mangrove deforestation and other land use change, driven by production of shrimp and other tropical species. Mangrove destruction causes not only lost carbon sequestration potential from coastal habitats, but often, biogenic emissions of methane and carbon dioxide from decomposing organic matter in converted ponds. Limited early research suggests that mangrove deforestation can dramatically increase emissions from shrimp production. Substantial uncertainty surrounds current estimates and the assumptions they rely on (Jonell and Henriksson 2015; Järviö et al. 2018). However, historically, this can be identified as an important source of emissions for marine aquaculture, and can be prevented by avoiding siting farms in mangrove ecosystems. We cannot confidently quantify the emissions that could potentially be avoided.

We expect production of marine and freshwater aquaculture to increase in coming decades, regardless of whether additional production is also needed to support a shift in diet away from protein grown on land and towards food from the sea (FAO 2022). As a result, we can expect increased production of aquafeeds to support much of this growth. The composition of aquafeeds varies greatly across herbivorous, omnivorous and carnivorous species, and within species as feed formulators strive to achieve lowest cost formulations from hundreds of globally available potential feed inputs. Two of the key components of many feeds for omnivorous and carnivorous species have historically been fish meal and fish oil, which are products derived primarily from industrial fisheries and increasingly from processing co-products from species landed for direct human consumption. These components are typically highly digestible and improve the palatability of feeds, which improves fish growth compared to all plant diets. Incorporation of fish oils into feed provides some key nutrients (e.g. Omega-3 fatty acids) and resulting aquaculture products have been shown to have significant benefits for human health (Kris-Etherton et al. 2002). There are active debates concerning the logic behind feeding wild fish to farmed fish rather than using the wild fish for direct human consumption (Naylor et al. 2000, 2009; Tacon and Metian 2008). In addition, surging demand for fishmeal has driven the global supply to an all-time high and possibly near biological limits (Costello et al. 2012), leading to steep price increases and incentivising reductions in the fishmeal and fish oil content of many aquaculture feeds (Rana et al. 2009; McGrath et al. 2015).

Increased demand for aquafeeds, and limited availability of traditional sources for fishmeal and oil, point to the

need to identify alternative sources for protein, amino acids and fats in the diets for fish and invertebrates. Soy has quickly risen as a choice ingredient to satisfy these demands. As much of the world's soy is produced in regions of South America that have been or are being actively deforested, this reliance links fed aguaculture with the high rates of GHG emissions from deforestation. But inputs other than soy pose their own problems. Some aquaculture species have historically been fed a range of livestock-derived inputs (e.g., blood, meat, and feather meal) as a substitute for fishmeal. Using some types of livestock to derive these co-product meals can cause more GHG emissions than relying on many fish meals (Pelletier et al. 2009; Parker 2018). Yet many substitute ingredients, particularly those derived from some crops, present palatability and digestibility challenges that can reduce fish and crustacean growth and health, especially for farmed predators. Consequently, efforts are now underway to identify new, highly digestible, nutritious, and ideally low climate impact feed inputs. Some of the most promising options are a variety of protein concentrates derived from a range of single cell organisms including yeast, bacteria or microalgae (Sarker et al. 2018). Substitutions with macroalgae (Chopin 2019) have shown no negative effects on growth parameters such as growth rate, weight gain, feeding efficiency, or muscle protein at a substitution rate of up to 5 percent seaweeds, and in some cases at rates as high as 10–15 percent. Other effects included improved lipid metabolism, increased red blood cell numbers, and increased disease resistance without impairing overall growth. Although the motivation for this innovation was to provide better quality feeds, one potential co-benefit is that some alternative feed inputs could have significantly lower GHG emission intensities than soy-based protein (Couture et al. 2018). However, other emerging feed alternatives can have substantially higher emissions with few benefits relative to soy protein (Couture et al. 2018).

REDUCING EMISSIONS BY SHIFTING DIETS

As other major sectors (transportation, space heating, etc.) decarbonise, food will account for a larger portion of global anthropogenic GHG emissions and play an increasingly large role in future climate change mitigation efforts (Tilman et al. 2001, 2011; Poore and Nemecek 2018; Springmann et al. 2018; Searchinger et al. 2019). GHG emissions from food systems are high, particularly with respect to methane emissions associated with ruminant livestock production, and demand for animal-based food is projected to increase dramatically by 2050 (Searchinger et al. 2019). Since different foods vary widely in their life cycle GHG emissions per unit of protein (Poore and Nemecek 2018), changes in the composition of future diets could greatly affect the emissions consequences of global growth in demand (González et al. 2011).

Considering only food system emissions of methane and nitrous oxides, which will not be affected by advances in low-emission energy sources, the BAU scenario projects that GHG emissions from food production will grow from 5.2 Gt CO₂e in 2010 to 9.7 Gt CO₂e in 2050 (Springmann et al. 2018). Of that, over 75 percent will come from projected growth in animal products. In a global analysis of strategies to bring food system impacts in line with planetary boundaries by 2050, Springmann and colleagues (2018) found that shifting diets away from livestock consumption and towards protein sources with lower climate impacts had a major impact on climate change mitigation, one far greater than either substantially reducing food loss and waste or making across the board improvements in technological efficiency (e.g. feed conversion ratios, and growth periods for livestock, etc.).

Changing behaviour to shift diets enough to materially affect projected GHG emissions is an immense challenge. One promising strategy is to incentivise lower consumption of foods with particularly large carbon footprints (i.e. most animal-based products) (Poore and

Changing behaviour to shift diets enough to materially affect projected GHG emissions is an immense challenge. Nemecek 2018; Springmann et al. 2018) through education, but also through market mechanisms that increase the relative price of GHG-intensive foods. Another strategy targets people's self-interest and stresses the benefits of reduced animal food consumption for human health. There is fortunately a strong alignment between dietary changes that would improve human health and those that would benefit the environment (Tilman and Clark 2014). Sustainable growth in seafood production and consumption, particularly from aquaculture, lies at the core of these potential benefits. Such growth would necessitate improvements in ocean and coastal management to ensure that harvests cannot only be increased but also sustained. Increased aquaculture production of non-fed/extractive seaweeds and invertebrates, which are less carbon-intensive than terrestrial sources of food, are likely to provide the largest emissions benefits (Gephart et al. 2021). Their cultivation within Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture (IMTA—integrated production of aquaculture species of different trophic levels) systems would also provide other ecosystem services (Chopin and Tacon 2021).

Springmann et al. (2018) suggests that an aggressive dietary shift at a global scale could reduce annual emissions by 4.7 Gt CO₂e—more than offsetting projected growth of emissions from food production under a BAU scenario. Pathways to achieve this scale of behaviour change are not clear. More conservatively, we estimate that two practical scenarios could achieve significant emissions reductions: a carbon tax and aggressive health campaigns focusing on diets. These could lead to emissions reductions of 0.24–0.84 Gt CO₂e per year in 2030 and 0.30–1.06 Gt CO₂e per year in 2050 (Table 13). Both scenarios would see the ocean playing a significantly larger and beneficial role within global food systems.

ADDITIONAL MITIGATION OPTIONS REQUIRING FURTHER RESEARCH/PILOTING.

Reducing emissions of wild capture fisheries through technological improvements Our projection of future production and emissions from the fishing sector following an optimistic stock rebuilding scenario suggests a potential reduction of emissions from marine fisheries of roughly 50 percent to 2050. Additional potential reductions could come from technological and behavioural change. Technological improvements to vessels, engines and gears have often been promoted as opportunities to reduce fuel inputs, costs and emissions in fisheries. However, there is a lack of evidence that these changes have, to date, achieved any fleetwide reductions in emissions. In fact, in some cases, technological advances may even increase fuel consumption if they facilitate vessels traveling farther to fishing grounds or fishing in less ideal conditions

(Bastardie et al. 2022; Ziegler and Hornborg 2023). Estimated global emissions from marine fisheries increased during the 1990s and early 2000s despite implementation of technological improvements to vessels (Parker et al. 2018).

A recent study by Ziegler and Hornborg reviewed potential pathways to fleet decarbonisation up through 2050, including lowering fuel intensities and shifting to alternative non-fossil fuels for vessel propulsion and operation. They projected a potential pathway to decarbonise fishing fleets by switching to alternative fuels including hydrogen, liquid ammonia and methanol, but caution that such a transition would require making substantial investments in infrastructure, updating fleets, and gaining more understanding of fishery-specific needs to determine which fuels may be suitable for different fisheries (Ziegler and Hornborg 2023). In theory, alternative fuels and new technologies could allow fisheries to avoid most emissions that remain in the stock rebuilding scenario. However, the lack of implementation to date on a global scale, and inconsistent evidence on the effects of individual technological changes, make it difficult to predict that such reductions would be achieved by 2030 or 2050. Further, given the pattern of lower emissions from wild fisheries compared to land-based animal protein sources, policies aimed at transitioning away from the use of fossil fuels in fisheries, such as the removal of fuel subsidies or adoption of taxes or fees, may be costly to the fishing sector and could actually be counterproductive if they lead to the decreased production of lower emissions fishery products and noncompetitive market price increases as a result.

Decarbonising global fishing fleets on any meaningful scale will require substantial investment into technologies suitable to individual fisheries as well as infrastructure and supply chains to provide alternative energy sources. Substantial research will be needed to determine how such a transition could feasibly be implemented across a wide variety of global fishing fleets, jurisdictions and management systems. These pathways to decarbonisation are receiving increased attention and recent studies have helped identify some of the barriers and challenges expected. Whether those can be overcome for a substantial portion of the global fleet will determine if adoption of alternative fuels and the transition away from fossil fuels in marine fisheries is feasible in any time frame.

SEAWEED AS A FEED SUPPLEMENT TO REDUCE EMISSIONS FROM CATTLE

The tropical red seaweed Asparagopsis Montagne, 1840 has exceptional capacity to reduce emissions from beef cattle. At 0.1 and 0.2 percent of feed dry weight, it reduced methane emissions from cattle by 40 and 98 percent, respectively, without reducing feed efficiency (Kinley et al. 2020). For dairy cows, more Asparagopsis was needed and was less effective. It reduced methane emissions by just 26 percent when added as 0.5 percent of organic matter in the feed. A higher share caused the cows to eat less (Roque et al. 2019). Some other seaweed species also contain methane-reducing bioactives, but they are much less efficient than those in Asparagopsis (Nørskov et al. 2021). There are several important barriers to the large-scale application of seaweed in ruminant feed as a GHG mitigation tactic (Nielsen et al. 2022; De Bhowmick and Hayes 2023). The bioactive components of Asparagopsis are halomethanes such as bromoforms, some of which are ozone degrading and carcinogenic. In addition, high concentrations of heavy metals and iodine in seaweeds may also restrict their use as feed additives. There is no large-scale production of Asparagopsis yet, and costs of production are very high. Perhaps most importantly, however, most cattle in the world are not held in confinement where diets can include a daily dose of Asparagopsis. Bringing all cattle, including those in cow-calf operations, into production settings where GHG emission-reducing diets can be controlled is a formidable challenge.

Wider impact analysis

Unless well managed and planned, shifting dietary choices from land based protein to ocean-based proteins could negatively impact all dimensions of sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. Aquaculture can present numerous societal and ecological challenges. Unplanned aquaculture expansion in some regions has degraded or destroyed other coastal and terrestrial ecosystems. Care should also be taken when sourcing sustainable ocean-based protein. Because of the emissions and environmental harm, they can cause unsustainable aquaculture feeds and should be disincentivised through national regulations and international cooperation.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS	•	Even moderate dietary shifts from high meat consumption to ocean-based protein has well-documented human health benefits (Tilman and Clark 2014).
	•	Moving to diets that are less dependent on terrestrial animal products would slow the growth in demand for land and freshwater to support livestock agriculture.
	•	Growth of marine aquaculture will create jobs. Total direct employment in the industry is estimated to be 3.2 million in 2030 under business-as-usual projections (an increase of 1.1 million above 2010 levels) (OECD 2016).
	•	Replacing fishmeal of future feeds with crops (including crops of the sea) instead of animal by-products requires less water; reducing feed conversion ratio in aquaculture production reduces upstream water usage (Parker 2018).
	•	Structural changes to fisheries that reduce fuel consumption will be economically beneficial (World Bank 2017).
	•	Increased inclusion of seaweed- and aquatic plant-based ingredients in fish feed for a growing aquaculture industry could address the issues of land competition, crop irrigation, fertilisers and agrochemicals, and social and environmental conflicts.
	•	Reducing land-based meat production for consumption through substitution by sustainable balanced diet and ocean-based protein has mitigation and multiple positive wider benefits including positive human health benefits. The overall impact depends on whether ocean-based protein is sourced from sustainable production sources or from indiscriminate expansion of aquaculture that could negatively impact coastal ecosystems (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019; Creutzig et al. 2022).
	•	Seaweeds provide source of nutritious human food with low lipid content, high minerals, fibres, polyunsaturated fatty acids, polysaccharides, vitamins, and bioactive compounds, offer unique properties to develop various functional foods for the food processing industries, raw materials for biofuel and bioplastics production and livestock feed (Sultana et al. 2023).
	•	Seaweed farming systems also help in climate change adaptation by absorbing wave energy, safeguarding shorelines, raising the pH of the surrounding water, and oxygenating the waters to minimise the impacts of ocean acidification and hypoxia on a localised scale. Moreover, it contributes substantially to the sustainable development of the economic condition of coastal women by providing livelihood opportunities and ensuring financial solvency (Sultana et al. 2023).
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR RISKS TO	•	Marine aquaculture is associated with multiple environmental challenges (such as eutrophication, disease, and risk of invasive species). These risks are also associated with land-based farming.
MITIGATE	•	The poorly planned expansion of aquaculture in some regions has negatively impacted other coastal and terrestrial ecosystems and has multiple negative impacts especially shrimp aquaculture which remove mangroves and other important habitat species (Ahmed and Thompson 2019).
	•	Unless adequately managed through spatial planning and monitoring, seaweed farming at large scale can generate risks of spreading disease, changing population genetics, altering the wider local physiochemical environment, seagrass beds, and thereby disturb important flows of ecological goods and services (Hoegh- Guldberg et al. 2019; Spillias et al. 2023a).
	•	Gender inequity is exacerbated because most commercial-scale aquaculture projects are gender-blind especially in countries with sustainable aquaculture practices involving women (Galappaththi et al. 2020; Prakash et al. 2022).
	•	Globally, most seafood products are more nutritious and emit less greenhouse gases in production than terrestrial animal-source foods. However, seafood consumption is influenced by price and consumer preference, so it is unclear whether low-emissions nutritious seafood will dominate or not. Farmed salmon, for example, were produced in large volumes because of high demand and relatively higher prices than other seafood, whereas highly nutritious, low-emissions farmed mussels had limited production volumes. (Robinson et al. 2022).

Delivering on the potential: Priorities for action

Achieving a level of efficiency gains in wild fisheries that would drive emissions reductions requires more effective management of fisheries around the world (Table 14). Several global analyses highlight where fisheries are working well and where there are needs for significant reforms (e.g. World Bank and FAO 2009; Sumaila et al. 2012; Costello et al. 2016) and help identify which management practices are linked to success or failure in fisheries management (World Bank and FAO 2009; Evans et al. 2011; Allison et al. 2012; Barner et al. 2015; Costello et al. 2016; Lubchenco et al. 2016; Lester et al. 2017). The lessons of this rich literature are that there are robust solutions for a wide range of fisheries issues. Yet, the problems persist and grow. The challenge is to scale the successes more quickly than the problems grow (e.g. climate change driven reductions in fisheries potential yields [Gaines et al. 2018; Free et al. 2020]). Achieving this goal requires national recognition of the nature of each country's fisheries challenges and the benefits of improved management, and a concerted effort to draw on the lessons of others to drive more rapid change.

Significantly altering the behaviour of a broad section of society, even for actions that are both in the interest of the planet and its individual people, is surprisingly challenging. The two broad approaches of sending clear market signals via carbon or other food-related taxes that embed broader environmental and social costs of different food choices in prices, and motivating lifestyle changes need to be coupled. The two policy approaches, if synergistic, can help to realise greater GHG emissions mitigation.

Unlike other categories in this assessment, the largest gains from changes in the global food system do not depend heavily on developing new technologies. Rather, the benefits depend on scaling solutions globally that have been already demonstrated in specific places and a shift towards long-term profitability through circular approaches (e.g. the development of Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture systems). Although this requires new innovative approaches, new market solutions, and new campaigns, it is not exclusively dependent on new technological advances.

Achieving a level of efficiency gains in wild fisheries that would drive emissions reductions requires more effective management of fisheries around the world.



Table 14: Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to advance research and development of low carbon ocean-based food

	SECTOR: GOVERNMENT	
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)
Enhance sustainable management and enforce- ment of ocean fisheries globally, with a focus on implementing rebuilding plans for depleted stocks.	Financially incentivise sustainable food production and consumption with far lower GHG emissions.	Monitor transition of all fisheries to maximise biological output.
Promote efficient licensing processes for sustain- able ocean aquaculture.	Promote aquaculture licensing prac- tices that minimise costs, or produce benefits, to wild fisheries.	Support equitable investments in aquaculture for countries projected to experience large fisheries losses as a result of climate change.
Promote electrification and decarbonisation of all aquafarm site energy inputs.		Implement regulatory and financial incentives towards the development of sustainable food production sys- tems (e.g. Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture, or IMTA).
Utilise area-based management frameworks, in- cluding Sustainable Ocean Plans, to guide develop- ment and minimise conflict between ocean users.		
Review national regulatory and incentive structure to align with efforts to decarbonise ocean based food.		
SECTOR: PRIVATE	SECTOR (INDUSTRY AND NON-PROP	TTS)
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)
Scale best practices for fisheries management and marine aquaculture.	Aggressively promote diet choices that result in demonstrably lower green- house gas emissions.	
Invest in species-targeted strategies (e.g. improved genetics, husbandry practices, etc) to reduce feed conversion ratio in fed aquaculture systems.		
SECTOR: RESEARCH CO	MMUNITY (INCLUDING TECH AND IN	NOVATION)
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)
Enhance development of monitoring and eval- uation tools that enhance sustainable fisheries management.	Seek continued innovations on fish feed with lower GHG emissions.	
Improve assessment and monitoring of data-poor stocks to facilitate. management and rebuilding.	Research climate resilient aquaculture products to offset climate change driven losses in wild fisheries.	
Expand analyses on diet influences on human health to seek more options that are good for peo- ple and the planet.	Explore potential benefits of co-locat- ing aquaculture with other emerging ocean uses (e.g. renewable energy).	
Make assessment of limits to sustainable ocean- based dietary protein sourcing.	Develop robust valuing tools for the ecosystem services provided by low-trophic aquaculture species (seaweeds and invertebrates) and sustainable food production systems (e.g. IMTA).	

2.6 Offshore oil and gas

Reducing oil and gas consumption is critical for meeting global climate commitments. Currently, nearly 30 percent of all oil and gas production comes from offshore areas (EIA 2016; IEA 2019), with most of the offshore production and investment concentrated in just a few regions (Rystad Energy 2023). Both onshore and offshore drilling generates GHG emissions throughout the entire process, starting with exploration and extraction of oil and gas from below the seafloor; through onshore emissions during energy-intensive processing and transportation; and finally, and most significantly, when the fuels are burned (Wolvovsky and Anderson 2016; Ayasse et al. 2022). The intentional burning of excess gas during oil extraction, known as flaring, is also a significant source of CO₂ emissions globally (estimated at 500 million tonnes CO₂e in 2022 [IEA n.d.]), and natural gas venting and leakage from infrastructure releases large amounts of methane, an especially powerful GHG (Elvidge et al. 2009; Nara et al. 2014; Foulds et al. 2022; Negron et al. 2023). The latest IPCC report suggests that in order to remain consistent with a 1.5°C warming pathway, governments and industry should not pursue additional oil and gas operations, whether offshore or onshore (IPCC 2023). The UN Secretary General called for an 'Acceleration Agenda' that includes 'ceasing all licensing or funding of new oil and gas' and 'stopping any expansion of existing oil and gas reserves' (United Nations 2023).

The latest World Energy Outlook (IEA 2022b) from the International Energy Agency (IEA) projects a peak in global energy-related CO_2 emissions in 2025. It makes this projection in its Stated Policies Scenario (STEPS), where governments around the world advance their existing energy policy measures without the development of additional energy targets in subsequent years (IEA 2022b). However, in this scenario, the energy sector emissions subside far too slowly to avert most catastrophic impacts of climate change. Between 2021 and 2050, annual CO_2 emissions from the energy sector decline by only 13 percent, projecting a rise of about 2.5°C in global average temperatures above pre-industrial levels by 2100. Conversely, stopping the expansion of oil and gas exploration and production, and accompanying this with policies to support deep and rapid reductions in hydrocarbon demand, will dramatically reduce emissions. The IEA maps out a way to achieve 1.5°C stabilisation by 2050 in its NZE scenario (IEA 2021a, 2022b). In this demand-led framework, future fossil fuel demand, from both onshore and offshore sources, could be met 'without approving the development of any new long lead-time upstream conventional oil and gas projects' (IEA 2021a, 2022b).

This analysis quantifies, based on scenarios from the IEA, how emissions would be reduced by stopping the expansion of offshore oil and gas drilling, as well as through the measured phasing down of production from existing offshore wells resulting from policies and changes in consumer behaviour that decrease fossil fuel demand. The analysis addresses only offshore oil and gas since it is a sector of the ocean economy. Neither the challenges with reducing global demand for oil and gas nor the specifics of which operations should phase down first, are addressed here.

Mitigation potential

The oil and gas industry, from production, transport, and refinement to combustion of those fuels, accounts for 35 percent of GHG emissions worldwide (UNEP 2022; IEA 2023c), and about 30 percent of that production is offshore. The World Energy Outlook (IEA 2022b) presents multiple scenarios for future oil and gas production and demand, including STEPS and NZE (Figure 6). In STEPS, oil demand would continue increasing slightly up until the mid-2030s (from 94.5 mb/d—million barrels per day—in 2021 to 103.2 mb/d in 2035), making it impossible to meet emissions reductions targets set out in the Paris Agreement.

When does oil demand peak...



Note: APS = 'Announced Pledges Scenario'; STEPS = 'Stated Policies Scenario'; 'NZE = Net Zero Emissions'.". *Source:* IEA 2022b.

> The NZE scenario shows what is necessary for the global energy sector to achieve net zero CO₂ emissions by 2050: no new oil and gas development and a contraction in production from existing wells driven by a sharp decline in fossil fuel demand (IEA 2021a).⁹ For the offshore oil and gas sector, this will reduce production from 47 million barrels of oil equivalent per day (mboe/day) in 2021 to 12 mboe/d by 2050 (values derived from IEA 2022, Tables 7.1 and 8.1)—in line with a 1.5°C emissions reduction pathway. In this scenario, reduced demand is driven by a range of decarbonisation levers, such as energy efficiency measures, renewables expansion, greater electrification, and the use of green hydrogen. Many of these low-carbon technologies are passing key economic tipping points and are already more attractive than their hydrocarbon counterparts. For example, wind and solar are already the cheapest forms of new energy

globally, and cost reductions are anticipated to continue (IRENA 2022; Lazard 2022; Systemiq 2023). However, as illustrated in section 2.2 Ocean-based renewable energy, scaling up requires many technical and non-technical factors including regulations to be developed to realise the technical and economic potential.

For this analysis, which focuses on ocean-based solutions to climate change, we assume that the gap in energy demand generated by the reduction in offshore oil and gas production is met by onshore sources of low-carbon energy to avoid double-counting with other ocean-based energy solutions highlighted in this report. The assumption of compensating growth in onshore low-carbon energy shows that phasing down offshore oil and gas depends on land-based action, not only action in the ocean. Conversely, we can assume the offshore renewable energy mitigation scenario for 2050 would displace electricity generation capacity that has the same emissions profile as currently exists, which carries a small offshore oil and gas component. However, the potential overlap between the two components is expected to be less than 5 percent of the offshore renewable energy associated estimates and within the bounds of uncertainty of the assumptions taken in each section. Compared to the current policies scenario STEPS, IEA's updated NZE scenario from 2022 would result in a reduction of 5.3 Gt CO₂e in 2050 (values derived from IEA 2022b, Tables 7.1 and 8.1) (Figure 7). In 2030, the mitigation potential versus STEPS is 1.8 Gt CO₂e per year (Table 15). In summary, this represents the net life-cycle emissions reductions possible if exploration for and development of new offshore oil and gas fields is halted, and production from existing fields is ramped down.

Table 15. Potential for different opportunities to mitigate carbon emissions, 2030 and 2050

OCEAN-BASED SECTOR	MITIGATION OPTIONS	DESCRIPTION	2030 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/YEAR)	2050 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/YEAR)
Offshore oil and gas	Stopping the expansion of offshore oil and gas extraction along with a demand-led phase- down of current production	Potential emissions avoided via reduction in the production and consumption of offshore oil and gas.	0-1.8	0–5.3

Source: Authors.



Figure 7. Emissions reduction that could be delivered by stopping the expansion of offshore drilling and phasing down production from existing wells in 2030 and 2050, compared with a BAU scenario of 7 Gt Co₂e/year

Wider impact analysis

Beyond the direct climate impact of extracted hydrocarbons, the offshore oil and gas sector also poses significant risks to the environment and marine biodiversity, which is a challenge for sustainable blue growth. Offshore operations pose the danger of accidental oil spills into the marine environment. Globally, the number of spills from offshore and coastal pipelines has multiplied from an average of 47 per year during 1968-77 to 350 per year by the 1990s (GESAMP 2007; Jernelöv 2010). On the U.S. outer continental shelf alone, between 1971 and 2010, there were 23 large offshore spills of more than 1,000 barrels of oil, or an average of one every 21 months (Anderson et al. 2012). Spills were so common in the Gulf of Guinea, that between 2002 and 2012 an ocean area averaging 574 square km was covered with oil slicks originating from offshore rig operations (Najoui et al. 2022). Operating conditions can be more complex for deepwater and

ultra-deepwater offshore assets, and accidents, though less frequent, can have severe consequences as in the case of the Deepwater Horizon disaster (Beyer et al. 2016). Moreover, climate change impacts such as sealevel rise and more severe coastal storms may increase the risk of damage to offshore oil infrastructure and thus the risk of oil spills (Dong et al. 2022).

Phasing down fossil fuel usage to meet mid-century net zero goals will have a broad impact because it requires a planned retirement of existing facilities, and efforts to avoid the creation of new stranded assets. To overcome economic repercussions such as job losses, there is need for planned action including retraining and social protection for displaced workers. While this mitigation option extends many more comprehensive benefits, there is a need for consensus among various stakeholders for the planned phasing down and substituting alternative low-carbon energy installations to avoid disruption in access to affordable energy, minimise trade-offs and enhance social acceptance.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS	• Wider benefits of moving away from fossil fuel production and replacement by low-carbon energy is well established in the literature and in global assessments along most of the dimensions of sustainable development if diversification and social protection and retraining facilities are appropriately managed to take care of revenue loss, job loss and distributional impacts (IPCC 2018).
	• Social benefit can come from lower fatality rates. Some country-specific case studies during 2003–10 showed that oil and gas extraction (onshore and offshore, combined) had a fatality rate seven times higher than all national workers (27.1 versus 3.8 deaths per 100,000 workers) (Gunter et al. 2013).
	 Halting new offshore oil and gas extraction and burning will in turn avoid and reduce environmental contamination risks associated with operational by-products, discharges and leaks. For instance, produced water is the most significant by-product of offshore oil and gas extraction, and when unmonitored or unregulated is one of the largest operational sources of oil pollution to the sea that can potentially harm marine life and ecosystems (Neff et al. 2011; Beyer et al. 2020).
	• Social tension between groups advocating for environmental protection and those pushing for expansion of offshore oil and gas can be avoided (Kapoor et al. 2021).
	• Reduced risk of oil spills and related ecological, social and economic impacts to coastal environments and communities (Jernelöv 2010; Pascoe and Innes 2018; Najoui et al. 2022).
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OR	Economic impact on coastal communities reliant on offshore industry for jobs.
RISKS TO MITIGATE	 Environmental impacts in decommissioning sites.

Delivering on the potential: Priorities for action

The low-carbon energy transition, including stopping new offshore oil and gas and phasing down existing operations, relies on many changes across sectors, not just oil and gas (Table 16). To achieve the mitigation potential demonstrated by this analysis of the NZE scenario, any additional low-carbon demand beyond current extraction will have to be met by clean energy sources. The Section 2.2 on ocean-based renewable energy shows some of the complexities and challenges associated with scaling up capacity of offshore wind even if it is now a mature and cost-effective technology. The build-up of low-carbon energy onshore and offshore is key if phasing down offshore oil and gas is to contribute to solving the climate challenge. The authors acknowledge that if offshore production is phased down too quickly, new sources of conventional onshore oil and gas would need to come online in the near term to replace that fuel, diverting investment away from renewables and other low-carbon technologies and potentially increasing overall emissions. The emphasis therefore needs to be on reducing demand for fossil-fuel based energy sources through a variety of levers, in part by making it a less attractive option for consumers. In addition to halting the expansion of oil and gas production, the ramping down of existing fields should prioritise decommissioning the dirtiest extractive operations first, coupled with continued efforts to improve emissions efficiency and the environmental footprint of remaining operations. While this transition must be swift, it must not be done recklessly to avoid repeating the environmental, social and human harms unleashed by fossil fuel exploitation.

GOVERNMENT

To achieve the mitigation potential identified in this sector, governments can prioritise halting the expansion of offshore drilling, while at the same time promoting low-carbon energy policies and incentives (see 'Oceanbased renewable energy' for priorities for scaling ocean-based renewable energy), and drive a controlled phasedown of oil and gas demand and production worldwide (Table 16). Between 2021 and 2025, 355 major offshore crude oil and gas projects are expected to start operations in 48 countries (GlobalData 2021). A more recent analysis by Oil Change International found that new oil and gas production approved and likely to be approved between 2022 and 2025 could consume 17 percent of the world's remaining 1.5°C carbon budget (Tong et al. 2022). Under IEA's NZE scenario, none of these projects where the final investment decision was taken after 2021 are needed for energy security, even if exploration and development leases have already been awarded.

The first step that governments can take is to stop granting new licenses for oil and gas exploration in parallel with phasing in new carbon neutral energy sources. When a license for exploration is granted, it takes 20 years, on average, for an offshore asset to start producing (IEA 2022b). For already discovered reserves, the average time to start-up offshore operations is about 13 years (IEA 2022b). Under scenarios focused on reducing GHG emissions enough to prevent the worst impacts of climate change, pursuing new offshore oil and gas reserves is not viable. Indeed, a number of countries have either proposed or taken steps to halt or limit future offshore oil and gas exploration (Ambrose 2020; Danish Energy Agency 2020; Agencia Estatal de España 2021; Government of Ireland 2021).

Second, leases that have been granted but are not yet operational could be withdrawn. Some countries have leased areas of the seabed to drilling or suggested opening areas to exploration while also making net zero commitments¹⁰—these positions appear incompatible. Indeed, policies may be vulnerable to changes in government leadership and to global shocks such as the COVID-19 pandemic (Norouzi 2021), leading some governments that previously committed to halting offshore exploration to grant new licenses in recent years (New Zealand Parliament 2018; BOEM n.d.).

Third, stop subsidising offshore oil and gas development, which only encourages more production and disincentivises industry from investing in renewable energy or improving energy efficiency. From 2020–21, production subsidies almost doubled, reaching nearly \$700 billion (OECD 2022). Consumption subsidies reached \$1 trillion in 2022 (IEA 2023c). Under the NZE scenario, reduced demand for fossil fuels results from improving energy efficiency to lower overall energy demand, and from growing demand for renewable energy. Continued government subsidies for fossil fuel consumption distort the market and impede the private ...governments should invest in energy security and access for economically vulnerable communities. sector and consumers from responding appropriately to signals, such as the increasing cost competitiveness of renewables. Providing incentives towards offshore wind may be particularly relevant since it relies on related technologies and operations and is sometimes co-located with present offshore oil and gas. Subsidies are not the only way governments are fuelling

artificial demand for oil and gas. International public financing underwrites fossil fuel expansion, and this should be shifted towards incentivising and supporting the rapid scaling of renewable energy.

Fourth, countries that have significant offshore and coastal oil and gas infrastructure should—if they do not already—ban routine flaring and require decommissioning plans to ensure that remaining structures and materials do not jeopardise the health of surrounding coastal communities and marine environments. Additionally, economies that are heavily reliant on offshore oil and gas exports for foreign currency and income must proactively diversify their economies.



Finally, governments should invest in energy security and access for economically vulnerable communities. The energy transition can cause short-term fluctuations in energy prices as the global market adjusts to demand shifts, creating challenges for some consumers trying to meet their basic energy needs for heating, cooling, refrigeration and cooking. However, with foresight and planning, these are mitigatable challenges. In general, the fastest way to build local energy security is to rapidly deploy low-carbon energy technologies such as wind and solar (ETC 2022).

PRIVATE SECTOR

In the NZE scenario, whilst the extraction of oil and gas continues, global demand for oil and gas, including offshore, declines and no new fields are developed (IEA 2022b). To meet the demand levels modelled in the NZE with existing fields, operators must reduce average reservoir depletion rates from about 8 percent per year to about 4 percent per year, and therefore continue to invest in existing operations (Geers et al. 2022, appendix). As mentioned in section 2.2 Oceanbased renewable energy, the offshore wind industry, and the pace of scaling up offshore wind is affected by the level of activity in offshore oil and gas. In periods of low oil and gas prices, the offshore industry has turned to offshore wind and can be expected to do so the if demand for oil and gas is reduced.

Investors and financial institutions can play an important role in this shift. The Net Zero Asset Owners Alliance (NZAOA), a coalition of investors worth \$11 trillion, recently published its position paper on oil and gas, in which it states an expectation that members adopt policies excluding investment in new upstream oil and gas projects (Peura et al. 2023). In 2022, HSBC, a global bank, also published an updated energy policy saying it will no longer directly finance new upstream oil and gas projects (HSBC 2022).

For operations remaining by 2030 and 2050 under the NZE scenario, well-to-tank emissions reductions and efficiency improvements are a priority. Most urgently, oil and gas operators should end routine flaring and invest in technology and practices to reduce methane leaks. These steps offer the dual benefit of helping to meet short-term demand shortfalls while reducing emissions. Indeed, in its latest World Energy Outlook,

the IEA estimates that reduced flaring, venting and leakage could economically bring nearly 210 billion cubic metres of otherwise wasted gas to market, roughly 5 percent of current global demand (IEA 2022b). Additional opportunities to increase energy efficiency in operations (e.g., site transportation and power) also remain. Along with governments, operators need to start making technical and financial plans for rig decommissioning. The private sector bears responsibility for ensuring that hazardous materials and infrastructure are properly dealt with while minimising environmental and safety risks and conflicts with other marine resource users.

Table 16. Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to stop new offshore oil and gas development and phasedown current production

SECTOR: GOVERNMENT			
MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)		
Shift government subsidies from offshore oil and gas development to renewable energy sources.	Treasuries reliant on offshore oil and gas for revenue should diversify economies.		
End public financing for offshore oil and gas development.	Develop and enact decommis- sioning plans for offshore oil		
Invest in energy security for economically vulnerable commu- nities.	and gas infrastructure that en- sure that remaining structures and materials do not jeop-		
Avoid encouraging investment in stranded assets.	ardise the health of surround- ing coastal communities and marine environments.		
Plan retraining, skill diversification and social protection.			
SECTOR: PRIVATE SECTOR			
MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)		
Increase energy efficiency in off- shore oil and gas operations.	Operators work with govern- ments to develop and enact decommissioning plans.		
EARCH COMMUNITY			
MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)		
N/A	N/A		
	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030) Shift government subsidies from offshore oil and gas development to renewable energy sources. End public financing for offshore oil and gas development. Invest in energy security for economically vulnerable communities. Avoid encouraging investment in stranded assets. Plan retraining, skill diversification and social protection. VATE SECTOR MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030) Increase energy efficiency in offshore oil and gas operations. EARCH COMMUNITY MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)		

Source: Authors.

2.7 Marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and storage

Carbon dioxide removal—or 'anthropogenic activities that remove CO_2 from the atmosphere and durably store it in geological, terrestrial, or ocean reservoirs, or products' will be needed to help constrain global temperature increases to 1.5°C (IPCC 2018). Estimates of required total CDR (not marine pathways alone) in the 21st century vary from 100 to 1,000 gigatons of CO_2 . The wide range of estimates results from differing assumptions about rates of emissions reduction. Marine carbon dioxide removal is a subset of activities within carbon dioxide removal that

Table 17. mCDR approaches

use the ocean to draw down and/or store CO_2 from the atmosphere (Table 17).

At present, research into mCDR is largely nascent. Scaling the industry in an equitable and responsible manner first requires large investment and coordination at the R&D level between governing bodies, researchers and industry. While this chapter focuses on the promise of mCDR techniques it also outlines the next steps to enable responsible mCDR research and implementation such as stringent monitoring of mCDR techniques and environmental impacts, as well as products that critically evaluate the efficacy of various approaches.

TECHNIQUE	DESCRIPTION	WHERE DOES CO2 DRAWDOWN OCCUR?	WHERE IS THE CARBON DURABLY SEQUESTERED?
Ocean alkalinity enhancement	Addition of alkaline materials into the ocean to increase ocean carbon uptake. Materials can be synthesised from rocks or produced electrochemically with seawater.	Surface ocean	In the surface and deep ocean as bicarbonate and carbonate ions
Direct ocean removal	Removal of dissolved CO ₂ from seawater using physical and chemical approaches coupled with the return of CO ₂ -depleted seawater to the ocean for uptake of additional CO ₂ .	In enclosed facilities, likely in the nearshore, to leverage existing infrastructure required to move seawater	 End products include: CO₂ gas, which can be durably sequestered in geologic reservoirs Carbonate minerals, which can be used as building materials
Ocean nutrient fertilisation	Application of macronutrients (e.g. nitrogen, phosphorus) and/or micronutrients (e.g. iron) to stimulate phytoplankton blooms or fertilise large-scale seaweed farms. Nutrients may come from surface addition or artificial upwelling.	Surface ocean	Deep ocean, as either biomass or dissolved CO ₂
Seaweed cultivation and carbon sequestration ^a	Large-scale cultivation of seaweeds ^c , often in new habitats and in deeper water. May require new nutrients, including via artificial upwelling or fertilisation.	Surface ocean	Active sequestration: Deep ocean if sink- ing seaweed or harvest and bring onshore for transformation, substitution and se- questration (e.g. biochar from seaweeds) ^b
			Passive sequestration: Regardless of where active sequestration occurs, all seaweed cultivation operations will passively export to the underlying sediments (whether in the shallow or deep ocean) ^c

Notes:

a. Protection and restoration of coastal habitats (marshes, mangroves, seagrasses, and natural seaweed beds), as well as restoration of marine animal populations, is covered in section 2.1 Marine conservation and restoration.

b. Farmed seaweed can also contribute to emissions reduction by substituting products with higher CO_2 footprints or being used as feed supplements to reduce ruminant CH_4 reduction (see '2.5 Ocean-based food'). Note that CO_2 drawdown and durable storage are also relevant for management of nuisance algal blooms, such as sargassum in the Atlantic Ocean.

c. Most seaweed cultivation relies on excess nutrients from land. Some projects suggest increasing nutrient supply via, e.g., artificial upwelling.

Source: Authors

There are three principal reasons why mCDR may be able to contribute between 100 and 1,000 gigatons of CDR by 2100. First, the ocean occupies over 70 percent of the surface area of the planet, which offers enormous pathways for scalability. Its vastness may also permit a wider array of mCDR activities, some with lower rates of CDR per unit area than would be feasible for land-based techniques when considering the competition for space with existing uses. Second, mCDR activities have the potential for fewer conflicts over space than do landbased activities, which must compete with a myriad of other land, energy and water uses. Relatedly, the more overall approaches of CDR that are applied in the earth system, the lighter the resource demands from any one method may be (Fuhrman et al. 2023). However, it should be noted that marine spatial planning also poses unique challenges (e.g. Spijkerboer et al. 2020). Third, the ocean is already the largest reservoir of carbon on the planet. With 38,000 gigatons of carbon, the ocean contains 50 times more carbon than the atmosphere (Canadell et al. 2018). The ocean carbon reservoir is so large that all anthropogenic carbon in the atmosphere constitutes less than 1 percent of the oceanic carbon reservoir.

In the years since the release of the 2019 Report, interest in and attention paid to mCDR activities has surged (GESAMP 2019; Moniz et al. 2020; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2021; Lebling et al. 2022; Ocean Visions n.d.). Yet mCDR measures remain at early stages of technological readiness, and none have been put through fit-for-purpose field testing repeatedly in ocean environments. A number of the mCDR approaches outlined in Table 18 have potential ecological and/or ethical impacts that need to be thoroughly considered and evaluated.

Carefully controlled and managed field testing is therefore critical for making evidence-based assessments of carbon removal efficacy and impacts to marine ecosystems. Marine CDR's substantial potential for achieving needed CDR and the technology's early stage of development highlights the need for further research and investment of resources (time, energy and people) to advance the science, engineering, policy, and governance strategies for addressing the socio-ecological and justice issues involved. Making informed decisions about any potential future deployments demands it.

Mitigation potential

Implementation of mCDR approaches may have the potential to help remove multiple gigatons of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere per year by 2050. This potential remains uncertain given the lack of research, pilots and field testing to date and the associated environmental and ethical risks raised by these approaches.

The mitigation potential estimates provided in Table 18 therefore represent plausible upper bounds of each technology's mitigation potential. Realising this potential is highly dependent on the research and development steps that should be taken right now to improve the knowledge base and de-risk these technologies. These mitigation potentials must be explored and considered in light of the possible risks and impacts associated with each option.

Box 1. Differentiating CCS from mCDR

Carbon capture and storage (CCS) is distinct from marine carbon dioxide removal (mCDR) approaches. CCS refers to the capture of carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions from large point sources, such as power plants or industrial facilities, and then storing it in geological formations or other storage sites, including within the seafloor, to prevent it from entering the atmosphere.^a In contrast, CDR involves removing CO₂ that is already in the atmosphere and upper ocean. Both CCS and CDR have the potential to contribute to mitigating climate change, but only CDR can address the warming from legacy emissions. CCS was covered extensively in the 2019 Report. Updates on mitigation potential of CCS are provided here, but the primary focus of this chapter is mCDR approaches which were not covered in the 2019 Report. Note that if CCS is used as part of a strategy for enhanced oil recovery (i.e. to push more oil and gas out of depleted reservoirs), it results in additional emissions of CO, to the atmosphere and exacerbates the climate crisis.

Source: a. IPCC 2005.

Table 18. Potential of different opportunities to mitigate carbon emission, 2030 and 2050

OCEAN- BASED SECTOR	MITIGATION OPTIONS	DESCRIPTION	DURABILITY OF CARBON REMOVAL (YEARS)	2030 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/ YEAR)	2050 MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E/ YEAR)
Marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and	CO ₂ storage below the seabed	Storage of CO ₂ below the seabed in geological formations (total operational, under construction, and planned carbon capture and storage projects)	-	0-0.32	0-1
	Carbon dioxide	Ocean alkalinity enhancement	>1,000	<0.1->1	0.1-3
	removal approaches	Direct ocean removal	>100	<0.1-<0.5	0.1-1
		Ocean nutrient fertilisation	Unknown	<0.1->1	0.1-3
		Seaweed cultivation and carbon sequestration (including both active sinking and passive sequestrationa)	Potential > 100 (deeper waters generally provide greater durability)	<0.1-<0.5	0.1-1
Total				0.10-1.82	0.40-9.00

Notes: See Appendix A. Estimates provided in this table represent gross mitigation potential and need accompanying life cycle analyses to develop net mitigation potential estimates.

For passive seaweed sequestration, 2030 ranges are 0.43x10⁻³ Gt CO₂e year-1 to 0.82x10⁻³ Gt CO₂e year⁻¹, and 2050 ranges are 1.44x10⁻³ Gt CO₂e year⁻¹ to 7.90x10⁻³ Gt CO₂e year⁻¹.

In addition, carbon capture and storage projects (Box 1) may avoid an additional gigaton of emissions annually in 2050 if the pace of current and planned projects continues to grow. These 2050 projections are based on a linear extrapolation of available data from the IEA (2023a).

ADDITIONAL OPTIONS REQUIRING MORE RESEARCH TO DETERMINE MITIGATION POTENTIAL

Terrestrial biomass sequestration

An additional mCDR option includes aggregating and sinking terrestrial biomass in the ocean. This would take place in either the deep ocean or shallow anoxic basins. Either biomass or dissolved CO₂ could affect deep ocean ecosystems and potentially expand anoxic zones. Further research is needed to gauge the mitigation potential and possible impacts of deploying this approach.

These mitigation potentials must be explored and considered in light of the possible risks and impacts associated with each option.

Wider impact analysis

The impacts on ecosystems from marine CDR are under-researched (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2021; Collins et al. 2022; Ocean Visions .n.d.) (Table 19).

Potential benefits, if demonstrated at scale, could offer critical services for climate mitigation that hold their market value. However, negative impacts could have substantial consequences on marine ecosystems, including economically important species. All ecosystem impacts should be evaluated in a comparative risk assessment framework that balances the risks of mCDR approaches against the risks to marine ecosystems from climate change along the present trajectory.

While sustainable seaweed farming and related products may support several sustainable development goals (Duarte et al. 2022a), there are social/ethical issues (e.g. conflicts in use of seaweeds for food as opposed to climate mitigation) in addition to ecological issues related with sinking such valuable products (Chopin 2021; Ricart et al. 2022).

Table 19. Environmental impacts of mCDR approaches

TECHNIQUE	POTENTIAL POSITIVE ECOSYSTEM IMPACT	POTENTIAL NEGATIVE ECOSYSTEM IMPACT
Ocean alkalinity enhancementª	Localised mitigation of ocean acidification	 Environmental impacts of mining (for mineral sources) (e.g. PM2.5) Heavy metal toxicity Secondary precipitation of carbonate minerals Changing phytoplankton functional groups and succession ('white ocean' effects)^b
Direct ocean removal	Localised mitigation of ocean acidification	Bycatch of marine life during intake pumpingSecondary precipitation of carbonate minerals
Ocean nutrient fertilisation	Localised mitigation of ocean acidification	 Midwater column and deep-sea acidification and deoxygenation Changes in supply of food and energy to benthic ecosystems Use of nutrients that would otherwise support local and downstream marine ecosystems (nutrient robbing) Changes in plankton community structure, including risk of harmful algal blooms^c (if using upwelling), introduction of substantial material into open ocean ecosystems
Seaweed cultivation and carbon sequestration	Localised mitigation of ocean acidification Increased refugia for marine organisms	 Alterations to the deep-sea environment if cultivated seaweed is sunk in deep waters (>200 metres): acidification; oxygen depletion as seaweeds decompose and mineralisation of C (and other nutrients) becoming available again; changes in supply of food and energy Alterations to the local physiochemical environment: Use of nutrients that would otherwise support marine ecosystems ('nutrient robbing') in case nutrient requirements exceed excess nutrient supply from land; changes in supply of food and energy to benthic ecosystems Biotic issues: Alteration of population genetics, facilitation of disease

Notes: This table includes commonly considered environmental impacts but is not comprehensive.

a. Bach et al. 2019.

b. Bach et al. 2019.

c. Trick et al. 2010.

Source: Authors.

The positive and negative social impacts of mCDR approaches are understudied and need to be investigated. Resources will need to be invested to better understand the social challenges and opportunities of mCDR (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2021; Collins et al. 2022; Cooley et al. 2023).

Marine CDR approaches require input products such as fertiliser, crushed rock, and electricity. At research and development stages, these materials can be procured without substantial disruption to existing supply chains and social systems. Should these technologies be ready for deployment after scaled research and development, their impacts on human livelihoods, well-being and sustainable development goals will need to be analysed, and risks mitigated.

Research is needed to understand the opportunities and challenges associated with any scaling from researchstage activities to deployment-stage activities. For example, while small-scale seaweed cultivation is considered low risk, a large-scale expansion of the industry requires greater understanding of impacts and the balance of environmental risks and benefits that seaweed cultivation projects can offer (Campbell et al. 2019).

Community input is a critical part of responsible mCDR research projects (Nawaz et al. 2023). In future scenarios where they are sufficiently de-risked and scaled, mCDR approaches would likely impact coastal communities and labour markets. Individuals in technical and nontechnical fields will need training to succeed in any potential new industry. Governance will be needed to ensure that the risks and benefits of the mCDR industry are equitably distributed.

Delivering on the potential: Priorities for action

Harnessing the potential of mCDR as a climate solution will require scaling quickly, equitably and sustainably. Yet the current research landscape is inadequately resourced to resolve the scientific, technological and ecological uncertainties at hand. There is insufficient funding for the research necessary to resolve uncertainties (Lebling et al. 2022). Existing international and national governance frameworks for activities in the ocean are not sufficient to comprehensively and proactively regulate mCDR approaches as they are being developed and deployed (Lebling at al. 2022). Existing international law frameworks, although designed to minimise and regulate environmental harm, predate the development of novel mCDR approaches. There are thus limited and often conflicting assessments of how these frameworks would apply to mCDR approaches, creating a great deal of uncertainty. Inadequate regulation could potentially allow unsuitable or excessively risky projects to proceed without necessary safeguards or monitoring. It could also potentially delay research or test projects unnecessarily (Brent et al. 2019; Webb et al. 2021). Governance of mCDR must not only involve regulation but should include public policy participation, equitable benefit sharing and transparent access to information (Lebling et al. 2022).

Government, industry and researchers must work together in order to successfully execute mCDR research strategies and set up robust governance structures to support responsibly scaled operation. Table 20 synthesises mCDR approach-neutral priorities outlined in various reports and other published mCDR studies (Mace et al. 2021; Gagern et al. 2022; Lebling at al. 2022; Loomis et al. 2022; Boyd et al. 2023; Fuhrman et al. 2023; Webb and Silverman-Roati 2023).

Short-term priorities are centred on generating knowledge and enabling governance frameworks to allow for pilot projects and robust monitoring of carbon removal. With adequate mobilisation of resources, many short-term milestones can be accomplished by 2025. Medium-term priorities focus on creating market standards, cultivating diversity in an expanding industry, and managing large pilot projects. Lastly, long-term priorities focus on transition of mCDR to a fully operational scale. Table 20. Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to advance research and developmentof mCDR approaches

SECTOR: GOVERNMENT			
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)	
Develop model governance frameworks and/or codes of conduct (internationally and domestically).	Develop products that document the efficacy and trade-offs of mCDR for deployment decisions.	Support responsible deployment of promis- ing mCDR methods.	
Establish domestic and international legal frameworks specific to mCDR which set regulatory standards.	Create standards for ocean-based carbon accounting including stan- dards for monitoring, reporting, and verification (MRV).	Continue to advocate for a just transition to a growing mCDR sector.	
Harness mCDR projects as an opportunity to increase equity and justice initiatives.	Sustain an accurate and substantial in situ observing program that re- flects MRV and transparent environ- mental monitoring needs.	Robust international governance of deploy- ments.	
Sponsor research, including supporting in- cremental testing and monitoring programs.	Support a publicly accessible system for monitoring mCDR impacts.		
Support research on the environmental and societal implications of mCDR.			
SECTOR: PRIVATE SECTOR (INDUSTRY AND NON-PROFITS)			
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030–50)	
Coordinate with government and research sectors to sustain a transparent research infrastructure.	Deploy various pilots with robust monitoring, reporting and verifica- tion to verify the efficacy of mCDR approaches.	Execute field deployments.	
Co-design research objectives with indige- nous and coastal communities.	Streamline processes for monitoring, reporting and verification through automation and modelling.	Scale from pilot projects to commercial operation.	
Construct and share robust monitoring, reporting and verification plans, which include life cycle emissions accounting for net removal estimates.		Hire and retain a diverse and highly trained workforce.	
Co-develop with other stakeholders, and follow a mCDR code of conduct.			
Provide early investments to catalyse inno-			

Table 20. Short-, medium-, and long-term priorities/milestones to advance research and developmentof mCDR approaches (Continued)

SECTOR: PRIVATE SECTOR (INDUSTRY AND NON-PROFITS)			
SHORT TERM (BY 2025)	MEDIUM TERM (BY 2030)	LONG TERM (2030-50)	
Conduct cross-sectoral research on the social and environmental impacts of mCDR strategies and develop best practice guides for mCDR research.	Understand how users view and use monitoring data and certification.	Support a transition to autonomous and interpolated monitoring, reporting and verifi- cation through continuous ocean observing, innovation and modelling efforts.	
Conduct field and pilot studies to under- stand the efficacy and impacts of mCDR.	Integrate regional field data into integrated assessment models.	Continue to train and mentor a diverse and highly trained mCDR workforce.	
Incorporate mCDR methods into integrated assessment models and consider interac- tions with Sustainable Development Goals.	Deploy next generation of ocean sensors.		
Push forward innovative sensor and model designs to allow for more robust monitor-ing, reporting and verification.	Increase baseline ocean chemistry measurements in regionally un- der-monitored areas.		
Improve the resolution of ocean chemistry baseline measurements.	Translate mCDR literature into other languages and incorporate indige- nous knowledge into mCDR learning.		
	Mentor and support early career ocean professionals and researchers, including from the Global South, that will fuel the mCDR workforce.		
	Grow ocean science programs to provide adequate training for the growing mCDR sector.		

Source: Authors.



Research and large-scale field testing of mCDR approaches could accelerate through integration with existing coastal and offshore industries. Direct ocean removal and electrochemical ocean alkalinity enhancement both require large quantities of pumped and filtered seawater, as well as stable sources of electricity. Existing coastal industries, such as desalination and power plants, may be well positioned to meet these requirements. In addition, existing and planned offshore infrastructure, such as offshore wind farms and decommissioned oil platforms, may provide unique opportunities to co-locate mCDR approaches, such as seaweed cultivation and direct ocean removal. As an example, a recently announced pilot 10-hectare seaweed farm within an offshore wind park in the North Sea may serve as a model for these multi-use integrations.

Should mCDR approaches prove effective and safe during research and development phases, as determined through an internationally coordinated, inclusive and transparent sharing of findings and results, these approaches will need large quantities of stable, renewable energy for large-scale demonstration and potential deployment. All CDR approaches must account for emissions within their value chain as part of a life cycle assessment, so minimising carbon emissions as part of mCDR operations is a key part of maximising these approaches' climate mitigation potential. Meeting the energy needs of any future large-scale operations in the open ocean is a challenge because of the current high cost and difficulty of transporting conventional sources of energy. New marine renewable energy technologies, such as wave energy, ocean thermal energy and floating solar may meet the energy needs, especially for mCDR projects far from shore. As mCDR and marine renewable energy continue to develop, there is an opportunity to align development needs of these two nascent fields to ensure that future mCDR testing, and any future deployments, are powered by local renewable energy.

Investment of time, energy and resources to conduct controlled field trials of mCDR approaches is most critical to advancing knowledge. Governments, civil society, academia and the private sector will need to collaborate to conduct the multiple field trials that are needed for each mCDR approach. These field trials must be designed in a manner that allows for transparent assessments of additionality, durability, environmental impacts and social impacts. They will need to occur in the near-to-medium term (between now and 2030). Field trials can start at smaller scales and grow. It is likely that large-scale (greater than one square kilometre) field trials in the open ocean will each cost 10s to 100s of millions of US dollars (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2021; Ocean Visions and MBARI 2022). Sub-national, national and international policies that facilitate responsible research, transparency, outside review of field trial results, codesign and knowledge sharing are all key to creating an enabling environment for conducting controlled field trials.

Investment of time, energy and resources to conduct controlled field trials of mCDR approaches is most critical to advancing knowledge.



Financing the transition

The potential climate benefits of the opportunities detailed in this report can only be realised with sufficient financial investment to support needed technology and infrastructure development, alongside capacity building. Each ocean-based sector investigated has distinct possible financial sources, needs, and challenges. Where finance is currently available it needs to be fully aligned with zero carbon pathways; where funding is currently scarce, derisking, guarantees and blended finance can help.

Financing the sustainable ocean economy is daunting (Sumaila et al. 2021) with each ocean-based climate solution facing its own array of challenges. One way to facilitate finance flows is to remove subsidies from competing activities, thereby making investments into alternatives more attractive. Funding available from public and private sources for mature technologies in stable jurisdictions probably already exceeds their absorptive capacity. Yet less mature approaches in regions with institutional bottlenecks and higher perceived risks have limited access to finance at any significant scale. Where finance is available it needs to be fully aligned with zero carbon pathways; where funding is scarce, de-risking, guarantees and blended finance can help. In practice, institutions need to address three distinct topics:

- The development of new and robust funding pathways based on the diverse benefits oceanbased climate solutions support. In particular, the finance of NbS and sustainable blue foods —sectors which have been difficult historically to adequately address by traditional finance. In practice this means, for instance, that public development finance institutions need to proactively engage in supporting sustainable ocean economy investments and integrate NbS and biodiversity finance into infrastructure finance; for example, offering derisking tools to facilitate access to international capital markets and to longer-term large private capital asset owners.
- 2. Allowing rapid disbursement and adequate refinancing to large-scale ocean-based climate opportunities that are mature, such as offshore wind, where finance bottlenecks no longer apply to the projects themselves but may still result from a lack of regulatory frameworks and supply-chain aspects in certain countries.
- 3. Implementing a robust transition finance disbursement criteria for those sectors that have sufficient access to traditional finance but need to rapidly reduce their climate and biodiversity impacts, such as shipping, fishing and cruise tourism. These sectors will also need access to new technologies and processes which themselves face finance constraints because of their lack of maturity.

All three topics can benefit from increased scale and common standards, based on the development of a robust ocean finance architecture. Common standards can lead to lower transaction costs and increased secondary market activity. As the overall scale of the sector increases, performance metrics should become more robust and attract additional investment, and thereby support wider market and finance development. This will support the delivery of an overall additional investment of at least \$2 trillion¹¹ during the 2030–50 period to reach scale across the sectors (GIH 2018; Krishnan et al. 2022; Morgan Stanley 2023). Whilst the finance available for ocean-based climate solutions probably already exceeds the identified SDG14 financing gap of \$175 billion per annum (Johansen and Vestvik 2020), it is not efficiently targeted at this goal. In any case, this amount is dwarfed by what governments and international financial institutions are currently spending on funding for activities that can cause damage to the natural environment, which ranges from \$500 billion to \$1,100 billion per year. That sum is three to seven times larger than current investments in NbS overall (UNEP 2021). Philanthropies, foundations, NGOs and civil society will also need to play an active role in helping to promote and de-risk ocean-climate solutions.

An important recent development in providing additional sources of finance is the IMO's commitment to implement GHG pricing. Various studies have estimated the magnitude of the annual revenues this could raise as \$40-\$80 billion per annum, and cumulatively reaching \$1-\$2 trillion, which could be committed into an IMO 'fund' (Baresic et al. 2022). Several states have made proposals within the IMO's process for finalising the design of this policy. The Summit for a new Global Financing Pact, led by President Macron and held in June 2023, saw 23 countries, both high and low income, supported the concept of an IMO levy/price on GHG emissions. The countries agreed that any levy should contribute to a 'just and equitable transition.' language which is also deployed in the IMO's Revised Strategy (IMO 2023a; Présidence de la République 2023). One specific proposal is for the spend to be on ocean transport decarbonisation to accelerate this ocean mitigation opportunity. Other proposals suggested that the majority of monies be spent on wider GHG mitigation and adaptation opportunities, with prioritisation towards the most climate-vulnerable countries (IMO

2021). The range of options for the use of IMO GHG pricing revenues has been explored by the World Bank (World Bank 2023), classifying a range of uses. These debates are a key opportunity for shaping a new source of finance. The IMO has committed to completing the specification of how much revenue will be raised and where and how it will be deployed by the end of 2025. Leading up to this, key debates are scheduled throughout 2024 (IMO MEPC 81 and 82).

3.1 Overarching goal to finance 2030 and 2050 mitigation potential

Global investment in the low-carbon energy transition amounted to \$1.1 trillion in 2022 (BNEF 2023). The Global Gateway programme alone aims to mobilise €300 billion in investments into climate action, low-carbon energy and connectivity between 2021 and 2027 with a mix of grants, concessional loans and guarantees to de-risk private sector investments. EIB Global, the development arm of the European Investment Bank, will mobilise at least €100 billion of this target to partner countries in the Global South in support of their resilience and sustainable development. Other relevant pathways include Just Energy Transition Partnerships with deals so far in South Africa (\$8.5 billion), Indonesia (\$20 billion) and Vietnam (\$15.5 billion). These approaches offer opportunities to revamp national development prospectives, using large-scale renewables production both for export-led green hydrogen and to develop incountry manufacturing and services, integrating oceanclimate mitigation solutions cost-effectively at scale, from offshore wind to port logistics and zero carbon shipping to a domestic services industry around coastal tourism and blue well-being.

Some countries will be able to rapidly access significant funding sources whilst others may struggle given the need for appropriate investment formats (such as public-private partnership structures), regulatory frameworks and capacities. Furthermore, unless these mitigation opportunities are fully embedded into wider development plans that take into account ocean health overall and address the concurrent challenges of adaptation, biodiversity loss and pollution, such as Sustainable Ocean Plans developed under appropriate guidance (Ocean Panel 2021), these finance approaches may on their own not be sufficient to deliver a naturepositive and just transition. A broader-based funding narrative is thus required.

Nature-based solutions, fully integrated into coastal development plans and embedded into blue infrastructure concepts, can play a critical role in delivering wider environmental and economic benefits. This requires appropriate accounting approaches to support the development of natural capital asset classes, which facilitate access to large-scale institutional finance. Likewise, large, efficient finance sources such as capital markets need to fully engage through the issuance of specific instruments such as blue bonds but also by developing appropriate regulatory bodies, disclosure and reporting requirements and other needs to provide investment opportunities for large-scale long-term investors such as pension funds and other such asset owners (Schindler Murray et al. 2023). The World Bank's Global Program on Sustainability, for example, supports the development of cutting-edge data and analytical products on natural capital, supporting decision makers in over 20 countries to apply and implement natural capital accounting across the public and private sector.

The full range of financial approaches needs to be brought to bear to ocean solutions to help deliver not only immediate financial returns to investors but also long-term social returns to society if conscious decisions are made to avoid unintended trade-offs. \$1 trillion of additional finance is required by 2030 to facilitate a rapid transition to the ocean-climate solutions outlined in this report.

3.2 Sector-by-sector analysis

Marine conservation and restoration

Global flows into NbS overall need to quadruple per year by 2050 (UNEP 2021), but there are key barriers to accessing finance for and investing in nature-based solutions. Most traditional finance has limited traction in the NbS space. Project companies have had limited use of basic commercial finance tools such as loans, factoring or asset finance. Whilst there has been some activity from a limited number of impact investors, the lack of track record and exit opportunities means that the equity segment is also at an early stage. Ecosystem protection rarely offers direct payment streams, whilst ecosystem restoration, where deliverable in the marine space, can have significant challenges and costs. As a result of the lack of direct financing options, bundled approaches through larger capital market transactions, including structured finance and blue bonds, are required to bring international capital markets into blue ecosystem restoration. The recent Galapagos debt for nature transaction is one such example. Similarly, the work of multilateral development finance institutions in integrating NbS into broader blue infrastructure approaches will be critical to develop this area.

This sector analysis covers the financing of the blue carbon ecosystems discussed in the relevant chapter. The State of Finance for Nature 2021 report (UNEP 2021) puts the cost of mangrove restoration finance at a total of \$15 billion for the 2021–2050 period, of which \$4 billion invested by 2030 is the target of the mangrove Breakthrough (Climate Champions 2022). Other systems such as seagrasses, salt marshes and potentially kelp are likely to require investments at a similar or smaller scale.

Whilst markets are increasingly proposed as financing mechanisms for nature, both in the form of specific credits (e.g. carbon, biodiversity) or in the form of broader nature asset markets, so far only blue carbon for mangrove restoration has found methodologies to provide some investment flows (Schindler Murray et al. 2023). The amount of carbon sequestered through those transactions and corresponding finance is likely to remain small by 2030, unless jurisdictional approaches

Renewable energy both from the ocean and from land is therefore well positioned to play an increasing role in sustainable development. under Art. 6 of the Paris Agreement can be put in place (Schindler Murray et al. 2023).

A wider range of nature-based ocean-climate efforts gaining access to significant finance will require solid assessment/ accounting methodologies with granular and robust data for analysing sustainability risks, opportunities and impacts at the local level, as well as adequate asset disclosure and reporting frameworks, including via NDCs under the Paris Agreement (Schindler Murray et al. 2023).

Ocean-based renewable energy

The global offshore wind market grew by 8.8 GW in 2022, attracting \$31 billion of investment, and is expected to add 35.5 GW in 2027 (GWEC 2023). Cumulative investments will make the sector the most important ocean-climate mitigation solution by 2030 (IRENA 2023). Offshore wind will install more than 25 GW in a single year for the first time in 2025, requiring investment into new industrial capacity, training and skills. For finance to be sufficiently accessible, it will require:

- Reform of the lending practices of development finance institutions, including being able to deploy concessional funding for projects in countries that may be in debt distress (IEG 2023).
- Strengthening instruments and procurement processes to channel public finance to key infrastructure such as transmission lines, including through equity and direct ownership of assets.
- Assisting developing countries to put in place a robust strategy and regulatory framework for offshore wind deployment (such as put in place by Brazil, Egypt, India and Morocco), including in terms of marine spatial planning and marine biodiversity protection.

Other marine energy sectors have not reached the maturity required for attracting traditional finance and are likely to continue to deliver energy that is more expensive, except for very specific applications, given limited economies of scale and technical challenges (IRENA and CPI 2023).

Ocean-based transport

The shipping sector has identified several pathways for the transition to net zero, including the Clydebank Declaration for Green Shipping Corridors, the IMO Initial Strategy of 2018 and other low-carbon shipping initiatives. Estimates based on IMO Initial Strategy ambitions put the total additional capital needed for reducing carbon emissions from shipping by at least 50 percent by 2050 at \$1–\$1.4 trillion, with over 80 percent going to infrastructure investment on land (Global Maritime Forum 2020). Based on these estimates, if shipping was to fully decarbonise by 2050, this would require extra investments of approximately \$400 billion
over 20 years, making the total investments needed between \$1.4-1.9 trillion overall (Global Maritime Forum 2020). This includes the capital required to construct land-based bunkering infrastructure of zero carbon emission fuels, and related investment into research, which will require around \$40 billion annually by 2030 (Baresic and Palmer 2022). The primary challenge is to align shipping fully with the Paris Agreement. For example, the global fleet running on LNG risks financial losses in stranded assets of \$850 billion by 2030 (Fricaudet et al. 2022). The full value of this risk would not be realised if the LNG-fuelled vessels were retrofitted to run on zero emissions fuels, such as ammonia. In this scenario, the financial loss is estimated at around 15-25 percent of the vessel's value, between \$129-\$210 billion (Gerretsen 2022).

The key mechanism for unlocking Paris-aligned mitigation finance for ocean transport (and cruise tourism) is the development of clear and effective policy. The outcome of the IMO's Revised Strategy (IMO 2023c), committing the IMO to stringent GHG reduction targets, the revision of existing GHG policy measures, and the development of new GHG policy measures can create a business case for investment and significant alignment for new and existing private finance, with 'public' finance for ocean transport GHG mitigation generated through IMO GHG pricing, as well as in national and regional policy. This will need to rapidly develop as there is still limited evidence of final commitment to zero emissions technology investment for the sector, as well as limited evidence for investments into earlystage technology businesses that can help transform the sector. These areas require targeted, knowledgeable impact and venture finance to initiate investment, but ultimately, to achieve the scaling needed for this sector's transition, there is likely a need for the lower cost capital from institutional investors. The sector has access to a wide range of traditional finance mechanisms offering multiple pathways to deliver appropriate funding structures.

Ocean-based tourism

The cruise tourism sector faces similar challenges to ocean-based transport. It has good access to traditional marine finance, but transitioning rapidly to zero carbon cruising requires new technologies, approaches and appropriate finance mechanisms. Incentivising therefore requires strict regulation, such as the requirement some through ports have introduced requiring cruise ships to use (renewables-based) shore power. Investments into land-based renewables as well as into port logistics can be commercially funded and would help improve the carbon impact of cruise ships.

Ocean-based food

To deliver the drastic emissions cuts required from food systems, finance for the sector must be re-aligned to fully integrate both climate and nature considerations into funding decisions. This means targeted funding for regenerative aquaculture, including seaweeds and invertebrates, and mariculture that can contribute to ecosystem restoration and climate mitigation. Investment on the order of \$55 billion total will likely be needed between now and 2050 (Elwin et al. 2023). At the same time all aquatic food production needs to be strictly managed to improve compatibility with biodiversity considerations, and any remaining subsidies need to be redirected away from non-sustainable activities.

Offshore oil and gas

Offshore oil and gas was not included in the sector by sector analysis because no public financing is required to halt the expansion of new offshore oil and gas extraction. However, redirecting subsidies that currently go towards fossil fuel exploration and production could provide valuable financing for the other ocean-based climate solutions outlined in this report (OECD 2022).

Marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and storage

Given the complexities surrounding marine carbon dioxide removal and carbon capture and storage

outlined in this report, it is critical that funding in this area be directed towards science, research and governance to provide a solid knowledge base before any future finance approach. Predictable carbon sequestration technologies are of significant interest to hard-to-abate industries and are likely to attract commercial finance over time.

3.3 Priorities for financing oceanbased climate solutions

Direct finance for mature ocean climate solutions such as offshore wind is available at scale and on commercial terms. Here the finance emphasis needs to be on supporting value chains, training and on delivery to the widest possible range of countries (Figure 8). For other renewables technologies (such as floating solar, wave and tidal) that have not reached the same level of maturity and may only be cost-competitive in selective locations, funding must focus on R&D before large-scale commercial finance will become available.

A different finance challenge is faced by those sectors where the climate mitigation benefits are primarily additional, even if significant, to the other benefits provided. For instance, blue foods serve direct human needs and coastal ecosystems provide protection and resilience to local communities. Both need to be managed to protect biodiversity and investments need to critically address adaptation and transition challenges, so emphasising purely carbon benefits is inadequate. The finance sector should prioritise reflecting this reality. On 16 April 2023, the G7 in Sapporo reiterated their 'commitment made in the G7 2030 Nature Compact, to increase our finance contributions for NbS through to 2025. We also commit to promoting better measurement and monitoring, management and restoration of the marine and coastal ecosystems which store carbon, enable resilience and provide habitat for marine species'. Multilateral Development Banks (MDBs), development finance institutions (DFIs), and private financial institutions will need to better integrate adaptation and resilience impact into their investment portfolios and scale up their ambition for future investments (HM Government 2023). Countries particularly affected by climate change need fast access to funding, such as through the Global Shield Financing Facility and increasing the volume of private finance for adaptation and resilience.

As an example, the European Commission through its Blue.invest initiative (van Aalst et al. 2018) supports an emerging group of blue impact funds. Under NextGenerationEU, the 27 national recovery and resilience plans funded by the Recovery and Resilience Facility (RRF) already make available €250 billion for green measures, including investments supporting the decarbonisation of industry. Horizon Europe dedicates €40 billion to Green Deal research and innovation (European Commission 2023). Cohesion policies make around €100 billion available for green transition, including the Just Transition Fund (European Commission 2023). All of these measures can help support ocean-climate solutions.

Supporting countries to capitalise on nature's ability to tackle climate change through its ecosystem services, whilst also making ecosystems more resilient, will be key, including through the UNDP Climate Promise, which supports countries to integrate nature into their NDCs.

Countries particularly affected by climate change need fast access to funding, such as through the Global Shield Financing Facility and increasing the volume of private finance for adaptation and resilience.

Figure 8. Priorities for finance by 2025 and 2030, to achieve objectives in 2050



Source: Authors.



Conclusion

Our ocean has an essential role in mitigating and adapting to climate change. Ready-to-implement ocean-based solutions can close up to 35 percent of the emissions gap in 2050 between a pathway based on "Current Policy" and a pathway that would hold global warming to 1.5°C above preindustrial levels. However, time is running out to explore, test and invest in these options to realise their full potential. Decisive action is required on multiple fronts and must be accompanied by deep cuts in emissions across all terrestrial sources of greenhouse gasses. The ocean and its economy are essential players in mitigating and adapting to climate change, but progress in adopting ocean-based climate solutions has not matched their potential. This report emphasises the significant role the ocean can play in offering sustainable and effective solutions to the global climate and biodiversity crises. However, time is running out to explore, test and invest in these options to realise their full potential. The solutions presented in this report are also not a silver bullet and must be accompanied by deep cuts in emissions across all terrestrial sources of GHGs.

The updated findings from this report (as compared to the 2019 Report) reveal that ocean-based solutions that are ready to implement could contribute 11–35 percent of the annual emissions reductions needed in 2050 to limit global warming to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels. Promising advances in offshore renewables and the possibility of shifting away from offshore oil and gas in the global energy mix have expanded emissions reduction potential. Nature-based solutions, such as protecting coastal ecosystems, are no-regrets approaches, aligning with the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework.

To achieve meaningful results, we must also address coastal ecosystem degradation at its source and engage in proactive meaningful protection and conservation of coastal ecosystems. Once ecosystems are lost and soil carbon is emitted into the atmosphere, it can take decades to centuries for restored ecosystems to recover the soil carbon (Lee et al. 2019; Lovelock et al. 2022).

Additionally, comprehensive analysis of ocean-based interventions can minimise risks and trade-offs while enhancing climate benefits. To fund these solutions, world leaders must engage with time-critical challenges and harness opportunities for the private sector to align finance flows towards at least \$2 trillion of investment flowing into ocean solutions over the 2030–50 period.

Ultimately, action can only be achieved through ambitious, inclusive and collaborative partnerships to address ocean challenges, including reducing pollution, improving governance and enhancing international cooperation. Recognising the ocean as a valuable ally in the fight against climate change, we invite urgent action from governments, businesses, civil society and individuals to protect and restore the ocean's health while embracing sustainable ocean-based solutions. Together, we can secure a greener, more resilient and equitable future for our planet and all its inhabitants. Considering the comprehensive analysis provided in this report, it is evident that the ocean and ocean-based solutions hold immense potential for addressing climate change and its far-reaching consequences. As with the 2019 Report, we are seeing that the ocean does not need always to be the victim. Despite this, the current pace of progress does not align with the urgency of the climate change challenges that confront us. To fully harness the ocean's potential and secure a sustainable and resilient future, we must take decisive action on multiple fronts.

Here are 10 key actions we should take without delay:

- 1. Translate pledges into action. Prioritise the implementation of existing pledges and targets across all ocean-based sectors, to translate their potential into verifiable and measurable action.
- 2. Foster collaboration and research into emerging solutions. Engage in ambitious, inclusive and collaborative partnerships to address ocean-related challenges and fill the knowledge gaps in emerging ocean-based climate solutions that are not yet ready for implementation. Prioritise research and knowledge-sharing across all ocean-based climate sectors to implement solutions in a synergistic and nature-positive manner, ensuring a contribution to achieving the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework.

- 3. Prioritise nature-based solutions. Protect and restore coastal ecosystems, such as mangroves, seagrasses and tidal marshes, recognising their no-regrets approach in climate mitigation and alignment with the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework.
- 4. Initiate steps to replace offshore oil and gas in global energy supply with renewable energy. Initiate conversations and establish governance to halt new oil and gas exploration and phase down current production through demand-led mechanisms. At the same time, align efforts with respect to the scaling of renewable energy, ensuring a just and equitable transition to maximise social and environmental benefits.
- 5. Make the necessary capital investments to decarbonise maritime transport. Take urgent measures to reduce emissions from shipping and cruise tourism, capitalising on the potential and urgency of these vital sectors and assisting in their rapid transition to zero carbon.
- 6. Strengthen ocean-based climate finance. Prioritise a more coherent approach to oceanclimate finance, aligning finance towards nature positive and net zero pathways, so that \$2 trillion is directed towards ocean-based climate solutions between 2030 and 2050. Explore innovative financing models, including blended finance, to support nature-based solutions and other oceanbased initiatives.

- 7. Monitor, evaluate and correct. Implement robust monitoring, evaluation and adaptive management mechanisms across all ocean-based mitigation options to measure progress and correct any unintended consequences, ensuring that solutions remain on track.
- 8. Encourage and provide incentives for international cooperation. Enhance international cooperation, improve governance, and establish effective policies to address ocean challenges effectively.
- 9. Align ocean-based and terrestrial solutions. Recognise that ocean-based climate solutions are not standalone measures and hence must be accompanied by deep cuts in emissions from terrestrial sources of GHGs; this includes rapidly phasing down fossil fuels, expanding sustainable food systems, and increasing carbon sequestration in forests and terrestrial ecosystems.
- **10.** Embrace urgency, inclusivity and fairness. Emphasise the need for immediate and coordinated action from governments, businesses, civil society and individuals to protect and restore the ocean's health while adopting sustainable ocean-based solutions.



Appendix A.

Methodology

Background data and assumptions for the report

Collecting data and understanding the key drivers and their variability has been a been central component of this study. The study has also benefited from the expert capacity of 28 specialists who have worked together to develop consensus on an array of issues of how the ocean may be able to increase its role in mitigating climate change. These efforts included discussions within each sector that focused on political will, technological advancements, economic considerations, public awareness and international collaboration, shaping the potential success of the scenarios.

MARINE CONSERVAT	ION AND RESTORATION
SUMMARY OF RELEVANT UN ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (UNEP) CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO	Most countries do not yet include marine conservation and restoration within their Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs). Some countries include mangroves conservation and restoration within their forestry sector. These emissions/ removals may be included in the UNEP (2022) baseline.
DESCRIPTION OF REPORT BASELINE FROM BOTTOM-UP METHODOLOGY	 Current estimates of rates of change of ecosystem extent continue through the century. Trends in change taken from: Mangrove and tidal marshes—Murray et al. (2022) Seagrass— Buelow et al. (2022). Kelp—Krumhansl et al. (2016). Mudflats— Murray et al. (2022). Seabed trawling—Sala et al. (2021), Jankowska et al. (2022) and Atwood et al. (2023).
KEY DRIVERS FOR LEVEL OF AMBITION	Expectation of halting further losses and degradation of ecosystems. For mangroves a plausible restoration target of 10,000 km2 by 2030 is based on the extent of recent conversions that are considered readily reversible (Worthington and Spalding 2018). Improvement of restoration techniques. Method development to certify carbon accumulated by macroalgal restoration. For tidal mudflats ambition was low (2–4% by 2030) because of high uncertainty in the potential to reverse reclaimed areas to tidal mudflats.
KEY ASSUMPTIONS	Revised estimates of mangrove, tidal marsh and tidal flat emissions globally were adjusted to account for both losses and gains (Murray et al. 2022), since loss of coastal vegetation results in high levels of emissions, while the level of carbon sequestered during ecosystem recovery is comparably lower. Emission factors were derived from Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change publications (IPCC 2013b, 2019) or from published studies. Restoration scenarios for coastal wetlands are conservative based on known limitations of restoration (Buelow et al. 2022).
	Potential mitigation benefit of restoration and reducing losses of kelp forests were based on updated estimates of the global area and productivity of kelps (Duarte et al. 2022), trends in kelp extent over the past 50 years (Krumhansl et al. 2016) and C-sequestration estimates (Krause-Jensen and Duarte 2016).
DESCRIPTION OF WHAT LOW AND HIGH SCENARIOS REPRESENT	Range (low and high estimate) is based on published uncertainty in baseline values of business as usual changes in the extent of these ecosystems over time. High and low restoration scenarios are based on published targets (Worthington and Spalding 2018) and literature values (Duarte et al. 2020, Buelow et al. 2022).

KEY UNCERTAINTIES	High levels of spatial variation in emissions from ecosystem losses and removals with ecosystem restoration that are not incorporated within estimates. Impacts of different management actions on emissions and removals. Uncertainty in the plausibility of restoration scenarios and the impacts of accelerating climate change. Role of methane emission from baseline land uses and coastal wetlands in blue carbon accounting.
	Large decadal variability characteristic of kelp forests. Uncertainty in long-term fate of submerged seaweed biomass and debris. Uncertainty in seaweed manageability, existing policy, legal frameworks, economic frameworks, lack of robustly calculated incentives, and societal and ethical issues.
	Trawling intensity and context varies globally, and assumptions on the lability of seabed sediment carbon have been challenged.
	Uncertainty as to whether tidal flat conservation and restoration is additional, as sediment carbon may be stored else- where in the marine environments.
BACKGROUND NOTES AND CAVEATS	Estimated climate mitigation benefits under the scenarios are conservative for tidal marshes because they are less than the 30% goal (the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework), and avoided CH ₄ emissions from alternative land uses for mangroves and tidal marshes, such as agriculture (e.g. rice production, grazing, drained landscapes for cropping) and aquaculture are not included, but would increase the avoided emissions associated with restoration. Climate change is likely to have variable impacts on coastal marine ecosystems and their CO ₂ mitigation potential but this is not included in this analysis.
	Seagrasses, tidal marshes and mangroves Carbon emissions and removals were calculated using recent global data of the extent of these ecosystems, and rates of change of this extent (i.e. loss or restoration). We assessed avoided emissions and lost potential for sequestration from halting further losses and degradation of ecosystems. We assessed potential carbon removal (sequestration) from the restoration of these ecosystems based on plausible values in the literature (Buelow et al. 2022). We provided a minimum and maximum estimate based on published uncertainty in anticipated values of changes in the extent of these ecosys- tems.
	Estimated climate mitigation benefits under our scenarios reflect uncertainty in area of degraded ecosystems that can be restored and spatial variation in emission factors. For example, 30 percent of mangrove ecosystems in Southeast Asia have been converted to aquaculture and 22 percent to rice cultivation (Richards and Friess 2016). Both land uses can produce high N2O and CH4 emissions (IPCC 2006, 2013b, 2019).
	Marine heatwaves may adversely affect the mitigation contribution from seagrass beds and seaweeds (Arias-Ortiz et al. 2018; Wernberg et al. 2019). Warming may result in ecosystem losses at their equatorial distributional range limit (Love-joy and Hannah 2019), which may cause challenges for restoration in those regions. Warming and loss of sea ice may support increases in the distribution of coastal ecosystems at the polar edge of the distribution range (Krause-Jensen et al. 2020; Assis et al. 2022).
	Sea level rise will affect habitat areas for all coastal vegetated ecosystems and thus their mitigation potential (Saunders et al. 2013; Lovelock et al. 2015; Rogers et al. 2019; Schuerch et al. 2019). The impact of sea level rise on these ecosystems will be strongly influenced by human activities (e.g. sediment supply, land use changes, population and seawall defences) and the effects of climate change on adjacent ecosystems such as coral reefs (Saunders et al. 2013), mudflats or barrier islands; and emissions from freshwater wetlands (Luo et al. 2019). Extreme weather events could also reduce the effectiveness of habitat restoration.
	Kelps We used global estimates of kelp area and net primary production (NPP) (1.86 million km ² , 3,362 Gt CO ₂ e yr ⁻¹) (Duarte et al. 2022a) combined with C-sequestration estimates (11% of NPP for macroalgae in general) (Krause-Jensen and Duarte 2016) and knowledge of past trends in kelp area (average global loss rate of 1.8% per year over the past 50 years with major variability between locations) (Krumhansl et al. 2016) to estimate the climate change mitigation effect associated with the restoration and protection of kelps. Restoration targets were aligned with the goals of the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework, and this restoration trend was continued for the 2030–50 period until full recovery of the historic kelp area (Krumhansl et al. 2016). Losses of annual carbon sequestration capacity related to kelp loss over the past 50 years was estimated at 0.513 Gt CO ₂ , corresponding to an average annual loss of 0.0103 Gt CO ₂ e yr ⁻¹ over the 50-year period. Recovering 30% of the lost annual sequestration capacity by 2030 corresponds to 0.154 Gt CO ₂ and the remaining restoration to full extent over the 2030–50 period corresponds to 0.359 (0.513–0.154) Gt CO ₂ . Total avoided emissions from gradually decreasing losses were estimated to be 0.0308 Gt CO ₂ by 2030 and continued avoided emissions in 2030–50 was estimated to be 0.205 (20 x 0.0103) Gt CO ₂ . In total, the restoration and protection efforts would contribute 0.1848 Gt CO ₂ by 2030 and 0.565 Gt CO ₂ from 2030 to 2050. Annual rates by 2030 were computed by dividing the 2023–30 totals by seven and annual rates by 2050 were computed by dividing the 2030–50 totals by 20.

OCEAN-BASED RENEWABLE ENERGY Ocean based renewables are not discussed in detail. Relevant policy includes removing barriers to expansion of renew-SUMMARY OF ables and adapting market rules of electricity system for high shares of renewables. **RELEVANT UN ENVIRONMENT** PROGRAMME (UNEP) CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO Current energy generation mix with emissions of about 0.46 kg CO,e/kWh (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). DESCRIPTION OF **REPORT BASELINE** FROM BOTTOM-UP METHODOLOGY Rapid maturation of floating wind technologies. Global Offshore Wind Alliance aims to contribute to achieving total **KEY DRIVERS FOR** LEVEL OF AMBITION global offshore wind capacity of minimum 380 GW by 2030, and minimum 70 GW each year from 2030. Target of 2,000 GW of offshore wind that the IEA and IRENA has set for carbon neutrality by 2050. We take a conservative approach assuming that no significant contributions to the global electrical energy production are expected from wave and tidal technologies in a 2030 perspective. If a technology breakthrough is made, some contribution may come by 2050. 0.012 CO_e/kWh for offshore wind. The limiting factors for the mitigation potential in 2030 and 2050 is mainly factors **KEY ASSUMPTIONS** determining deployment rate. Emissions for these offshore renewable technologies are at least one order of magnitude less than the emissions from coal power plants. Capacity densities in the range 2–10 MW/km2 may be expected. Range reflects uncertainty in deployment rate of technologies investigated. **DESCRIPTION OF** WHAT LOW AND HIGH SCENARIOS REPRESENT Relationship between implementation and stated political ambitions. Estimates of electrical energy production needed KEY UNCERTAINTIES to achieve net zero emissions in 2050 are uncertain, and depend on e.g. how use of traditional fossil fuels is phased out, and degree of use of 'green' hydrogen and ammonia. Geophysical potential has large geographical variations, for example tidal stream resources are constrained to particular locations and ocean thermal conversion systems (OTEC) are feasible in tropical areas only. The main assumptions and hence methodology related to mitigation potential as used in the 2019 Report have not BACKGROUND changed (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). The emission in CO.e/kWh for OSW has not changed (about 0.012 CO.e/kWh). The NOTES AND CAVEATS limiting factors for the mitigation potential in 2030 and 2050 is mainly factors determining deployment rate. For ORE the emissions in CO₂e/kWh cannot be realistically estimated as the technological solutions have not converged. However, it may be assumed that the emissions for these technologies are at least one order of magnitude less the emissions from coal power plants. The potential for OSW is clearly dependent on the assumed maximum water depth for installation as well as distance to shore. The deployment rate is critical, relying upon, licensing, manufacturing capacity, financing, and availability of critical materials. Conflict may arise in the use of vast ocean areas for offshore wind farms, both with respect to ecological and societal implications. Capacity densities in the range 2–10 MW/km² may be expected. Installation of 2,000 GW offshore wind will thus require an area in the range 200,000 to 1 million km² (the area of the Mediterranean Sea is about 2.5 million km²). Combined use of wind farm areas should thus be considered. This may involve e.g. other energy sources as wave power, fish farming, growing seaweed. Among the ORE technologies, floating solar and wave power are supposed to have the greatest potential on a global scale. The two technologies are complementary with respect to localisation. To realise the mitigation potential from these technologies will need a considerably increased effort in developing them to industrial options.

OCEAN-BASED TRAN	ISPORT
SUMMARY OF RELEVANT UN ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (UNEP) CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO	Develop regulations and supporting scalable policies to transition to 100 per cent low-carbon fuels for aviation and marine sectors by 2050, including advanced biofuels, green hydrogen, renewable electricity, and e-fuels generated with addition to renewable electricity' (UNEP 2022).
DESCRIPTION OF REPORT BASELINE FROM BOTTOM-UP METHODOLOGY	BAU emissions trajectory to 2050 based on fourth IMO GHG study.
KEY DRIVERS FOR LEVEL OF AMBITION	IMO ambitions were recently revealed in policy announcements (July 5, 2023): that the 'Member States of the Interna- tional Maritime Organization (IMO), meeting at the Marine Environment Protection Committee (MEPC 80), have adopted the 2023 IMO Strategy on Reduction of GHG Emissions from Ships, with enhanced targets to tackle harmful emissions'.
KEY ASSUMPTIONS	Clear policies incentivising shipping's decarbonisation are in place by 2025.
	The wider energy system has fully decarbonised by 2050 and that renewable hydrogen (zero carbon in production) is available in sufficient volumes.
DESCRIPTION OF WHAT LOW AND HIGH SCENARIOS REPRESENT	The near-term opportunities (to 2030) of a 20–39% mitigation of emissions are constrained by the fuel compatibility of the existing fleet and the supply chain of renewable energy and fuel, which limits the potential primarily to further energy efficiency improvements (Bouman et al. 2017; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). By 2050 there is the potential for a fundamental change in fleet and energy supply chain. At the upper bound, there is potential for a full (100%) substitution of the sector's use of fossil fuels to renewable fuels. The lower bound reduction potential at 2050 is set at 50% as in the 2019 Report, taken as the minimum interpretation of the IMO's Objectives in the Initial GHG Reduction Strategy (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019).
KEY UNCERTAINTIES	Rate of adopting policies to incentivise decarbonisation of shipping. The extent to which the wider energy system is de- carbonised with sufficient supply of zero carbon electricity to enable shipping fuels to be produced with zero emissions. Demand growth could be significantly higher or lower than current IMO projections.
BACKGROUND NOTES AND CAVEATS	We use a business-as-usual (BAU) emissions trajectory out to 2050, based on an estimate of growth in demand for ship- ping. The BAU scenario is taken from the fourth IMO GHG study, which is an update from the third IMO GHG study used in the 2019 Report. This BAU scenario applies existing IMO policy and estimates total GHG emissions from international shipping in 2030 and 2050. The group of technologies that can mitigate domestic and international shipping emissions are similar to that in 2019. The estimate of mitigation potential is thus based on a number of assumptions:
	A. The speed of policy implementation to enable or require the shipping industry to invest in the necessary changes to fleet and infrastructure (particularly with respect to low- and zero carbon sources). We assume that clear policies incentivising shipping's decarbonisation are in place by 2025. Later adoption of policy could jeopardise the achievement of these mitigation potentials in 2030 and 2050.
	B. The 2030 GHG reduction potential is estimated by aggregating savings across a large number of technological and op- erational efficiency interventions. If savings are individually or collectively lower (or higher) because of currently unfore- seen performance characteristics or interactions between the different interventions, then there could be a significant impact on the abatement potential achieved in 2030. The extent to which the wider energy system is decarbonised with sufficient supply of zero carbon electricity to enable shipping fuels to be produced with zero emissions is a key uncertain- ty. We assume that the wider energy system has fully decarbonised by 2050 and that renewable hydrogen (zero carbon in production) is available in sufficient volumes. If that is not the case, then significant upstream emissions may still occur and offset some of the mitigation potential achieved through operational emissions reductions.
	C. Demand growth could be significantly higher or lower than current IMO projections, with direct consequences for the BAU emissions and therefore (in proportion) the GHG mitigation potential of a fully decarbonised ocean transport industry.

OCEAN-BASED TOUR	RISM					
SUMMARY OF RELEVANT UN ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (UNEP) CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO	Develop regulations and supporting scalable policies to transition to 100 per cent low-carbon fuels for aviation and marine sectors by 2050, including advanced biofuels, green hydrogen, renewable electricity, and e-fuels generated with addition to renewable electricity (UNEP 2022).					
DESCRIPTION OF REPORT BASELINE FROM BOTTOM-UP METHODOLOGY	Business as usual—6 percent growth in passenger numbers and emissions per year, 2 percent annual improvement in carbon intensity.					
KEY DRIVERS FOR LEVEL OF AMBITION	EU's FuelEU Maritime regulation will make shore power mandatory from 2030 for passenger vessels in Europe and advocate uptake of alternative fuels. FuelEU is a likely initiative of the European Union, considering its ongoing efforts to reduce carbon emissions and enhance sustainability.					
KEY ASSUMPTIONS	6 percent growth in passenger numbers and emissions per year.					
DESCRIPTION OF WHAT LOW AND HIGH SCENARIOS REPRESENT	As for ocean-based transport.					
KEY UNCERTAINTIES	Availability and accessibility of low-emission fuels and technologies at ports around the world can be limited. While energy use and emissions can be reduced significantly through operational measures, it is generally easier to im- plement new technology when building new vessels. The lead time for new cruise vessels is long because of complicated design and construction and thus fundamental changes in future cruise vessels must be researched, developed and decided upon now if they shall have effect from 2030. The costs associated with these technological changes for cruise tourism decarbonisation can be a significant barrier for cruise operators, particularly for smaller companies. Balancing the need for emissions reduction with the economic viability and customer expectations of the cruise experi- ence presents a substantial hurdle in the transition to low-emission cruise-based tourism.					
BACKGROUND NOTES AND CAVEATS	The costs associated with technological changes for cruise tourism decarbonisation can be a significant barrier for cruise operators, particularly for smaller companies. The availability and accessibility of low-emission fuels and technologies at ports around the world can be limited, making it challenging for cruise ships to consistently operate with lower emissions in various regions. Finding innovative solutions to enhance energy efficiency in these vessels while maintaining their functionality and luxurious amenities is a complex task. Additionally, the construction of new low-emission cruise ships or the retrofitting of existing ones requires careful planning and investment, further adding to the financial and logistical challenges faced by the industry. Balancing the need for emissions reduction with the economic viability and customer expectations of the cruise experience presents a substantial hurdle in the transition to low-emission cruise-based tourism. Addressing these challenges requires collaboration among cruise operators, government bodies, and technology providers. It involves not only developing and implementing low-emission technologies but also establishing supportive policies and regulations that incentives and facilitate the transition. Encouraging research and development, providing financial support or tax incentives, and fostering international cooperation are crucial for overcoming the barriers to low-emission cruise-based tourism. By addressing these challenges head-on, the cruise industry can make significant strides towards reducing its carbon footprint and contributing to a more sustainable and environmentally friendly tour-					

OCEAN-BASED FOOD	,						
SUMMARY OF RELEVANT UN ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (UNEP) CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO	Highlights the importance of transforming the food system: 'A range of transformation domains with several mitigation measures have been identified where food systems can contribute to bridging the emissions gap (UNEP 2022). They include 1) demand-side changes, including dietary changes towards sustainable and nutritionally balanced diets, and reductions in food loss and waste, protection of natural ecosystems, including reductions in deforestation for agriculture and degradation of agricultural land, 2) improvements in food production at the farm level, including changes in the composition of animal feeds, better rice management, better manure management, and improvements in crop nutrient management, and 3) decarbonising the food supply chain, including in retail, transport, fuel use, industrial processes, waste management and packaging. Notably, the emphasis is on land-based food systems; ocean-based strategies will be an important addition to emissions reductions.						
DESCRIPTION OF REPORT BASELINE	Broken down into three sections: 1) Fisheries — Parker et al. (2018) global fishing emissions baseline for year 2011 and projections from <i>Sunken Billions</i> report						
FROM BOTTOM-UP METHODOLOGY	2) Aquaculture—FAO projections of aquaculture growth + MacLeod et al. (2020) global emissions estimates						
	3) Dietary Shifts —BAU scenario from Springman et al. (2018), GHG emissions reduction grow from 5.2 Gt CO ₂ e in 2010 to 9.7 Gt CO ₂ e in 2050.						
KEY DRIVERS FOR LEVEL OF AMBITION	Scenarios for fisheries and aquaculture determined based on demonstrated means to reduce emissions in each sector, considering the feasibility and practicality for each.						
	Lower emissions intensity compared to other protein sources.						
	Shifting global diets has been modelled as the most impactful way of reducing future GHG emissions from food provi- sioning.						
KEY ASSUMPTIONS	Fisheries —Assume that fuel use correlated with effort and equal reductions in fuel use and effort to estimate the fuel use (and associated emissions) required to catch that future optimal harvest. Also assumed optimal effort to catch ratios (World Bank 2017), and 100% substitution of available fish protein for average animal-based protein sources. Excluded possible emissions from bottom trawling because of uncertainty and overlap with other sections (possible double-counting).						
	Aquaculture —assumes that no progress towards the listed interventions was achieved between MacLeod's estimated in 2017 and today, and that the intervention can be achieved in its entirety.						
	Dietary shifts —looks at only methane and nitrous oxide emissions and assumes the ability to adequately scale produc- tion of low-emissions seafood sources while not exceeding ecological capacity to do so.						
DESCRIPTION OF WHAT LOW AND HIGH SCENARIOS REPRESENT	Fisheries Low - 0, assuming fisheries management and vessel performance follow the current trend; the authors were not confi- dent in a method to allow projecting ranges of improvement and developed a 'possible scenario' instead High - This is the projected reduction in emissions that the marine fishing industry could optimistically achieve if global fisheries management improved in accordance with the stock rebuilding and fisheries yields projected by the Sunken Billions report by the World Bank (2017).						
	Aquaculture Low - 0, similar to fisheries the authors focused on potential scenarios as data and methods are insufficient for projecting ranges or suggested confidence levels. High - cumulative impact of three intervention scenarios: a reduction in average feed conversion ratios of 10 percent, com- plete avoidance of deforestation in the crop production supply chains for feeds, and complete decarbonisation of farm-level energy inputs; data on current emissions by sector and source from Gephart et al. (2021) and MacLeod et al. (2020).						
	Dietary Shifts Low - Carbon Tax: methane emissions tax on livestock of \$15/t CO ₂ e reducing methane emissions to 2.8% + forecast production of animal proteins. Media Campaigns: Apply the median (11%) of past campaigns to the projected benefits a less-GHG intensive diet (4.7 Gt CO ₂ e estimated by Springmann et al. 2018) High - Carbon Tax: methane emissions tax on livestock of \$100/t CO ₂ e reducing methane emissions to 9.9% + forecast production of animal proteins. Media Campaigns: upper bound (15 percent) of past campaigns to the projected benefits a less-GHG intensive diet (4.7 Gt CO ₂ e estimated by Springmann et al. 2018).						

KEY UNCERTAINTIES	Our method fails to address technological and behavioural changes that may accompany changes in effort and landings whether positive or negative.					
	The World Bank scenario for global fisheries (World Bank 2017) would not only achieve emissions reductions through reductions in effort required to catch fish and shellfish but would also increase the availability of harvested fish and shellfish for consumers, allowing for potential replacement in markets of alternative more GHG-intensive animal protein products. We estimated the additional protein provided in this optimal scenario by assuming an average flesh yield from live weight of 50% and protein content of 20%. This results in an additional 863 million kg of protein produced annually once stocks are rebuilt. The degree to which that additional protein would be available to offset alternative animal protein sources would rely on numerous factors, and we calculated here the total potential assuming that all additional protein from fisheries replaces (does not add to) more emissions-intensive land-based protein sources.					
BACKGROUND NOTES AND CAVEATS	Precautionary note: the models we built for fisheries and aquaculture are optimistic scenarios to demonstrate the total potential of the industry to reduce emissions from production. There is no indication that current trajectory will reach those potential reductions, and substantial transition in management and technology will be required to possibly achieve them.					
	We used the economic scenario for global fisheries outlined in the <i>Sunken Billions</i> report (World Bank 2017). In this scenario, stocks are rebuilt to levels allowing for optimised production, resulting in (relative to 2012) 13 percent more catch using 56 percent as much effort (targeting maximum economic yield). While fuel use would not be perfectly correlated with effort in such a scenario, we assumed equal reductions in fuel use and effort to estimate the fuel use (and associated emissions) required to catch that future optimal harvest using the Parker et al. (2018) model. We assumed a uniform change in landings and fuel use across all species groups and gear types, re-modelled from Parker et al. (2018). This is likely an overly optimistic scenario, given the challenges to fisheries management globally, and the uneven and insufficient implementation of effective management techniques.					
	The result of higher catches for less effort is roughly a halving of emissions intensity from 2.2 kg CO ₂ e per kg landed to 1. kg CO ₂ e. Total emissions from the global fishing industry would decline from 179 Mt CO ₂ e to 98 Mt CO ₂ e, a reduction of 8 Mt CO ₂ e.					
	We used pork to represent an average land-based protein (Poore and Nemecek 2018), as it has a middle-range emission profile. Assuming the emissions from producing 100g of protein from pork are 7.6 kg CO_2e (Poore and Nemecek, 2018), compared to 1.1 kg CO_2e for average fish and invertebrates, we derived potential emissions offset of 6.5 kg CO_2e for ever 100 g of additional fishery-sourced protein, or a total annual emissions reduction potential of 56.1 Mt CO_2e by 2050.					
	The combined emissions reduction potential of global fisheries, assuming optimal effort to catch ratios (World Bank 2017), and 100 percent substitution of available fish protein for average animal-based protein sources, is 137.1 Mt CO ₂ e.					
	FAO projects that global aquaculture production will grow at an annual rate of 2 percent from 2020 to 2030 (FAO 2022), with annual production reaching almost 110 Mt by 2030. FAO does not currently project to 2050, but if we assume a similar annual growth rate from 2031 to 2050, total aquaculture production (excluding seaweeds and aquatic plants) would reach approximately 163 Mt live weight in 2050—equal to approximately double the 2017 production at an additional 80 Mt live weight.					
	Using the global emissions estimates from MacLeod and colleagues (2020) as a starting point and projecting to 2030 and 2050 based on the FAO growth rates above, the business-as-usual scenario would see emissions from aquaculture double as production doubles, meaning that the emissions intensity (per tonne of aquaculture production) would be un changed. We applied three scenarios to these future emissions estimates reflecting potentially meaningful intervention a reduction in average feed conversion ratios of 10 percent, complete avoidance of deforestation in the crop production supply chains for feeds, and complete decarbonisation of farm-level energy inputs (i.e., deriving all farm energy inputs from renewable or non-fossil electricity generation). For each of these scenarios, we assumed gradual phasing in over the course of 27 years beginning today and expanding linearly until the full intervention is achieved in 2050. This assumes that no progress towards the listed interventions was achieved between MacLeod's estimated in 2017 and today, and that the intervention can be achieved in its entirety, which may be overly optimistic. The combined effects of the three interventions were assessed taking a cumulative approach, recognising that the effect of avoiding deforestation in crop production would be diminished somewhat with a more efficient feed conversion ratio. When all three interventions are fully achieved, the total annual emissions are reduced to the extent that they are roughly equal to today's emissions despite the doubling of global production, avoiding annual emissions of 267 million tonnes of CO ₂ e GHG.					

OCEAN-BASED FOOD	
BACKGROUND NOTES AND CAVEATS	To estimate the mitigation potential of shifting diets, we examined the potential effects of two policy approaches—a carbon tax that applies to food systems, and media campaigns focused on improving human health through diet. Modelling suggests that a global price on methane emissions from livestock ranging from \$15/t CO ₂ e to \$100/t CO ₂ e would significantly reduce methane emissions by 2.8 percent and 9.9 percent, respectively (Tallard 2011). After applying emissions intensities (Gerber et al. 2013) to forecasted production of terrestrial animal proteins in 2030 (Alexandratos and Bruinsma 2012), these reductions in livestock emissions would amount to 237–840 Mt CO ₂ e/year. Extending this estimate out to 2050, these same percentage reductions in livestock emissions would lead to avoided emissions of 0.30 to 1.06 Gt CO ₂ e/year.
	The projected health benefits of reducing meat consumption are so large (Willett et al. 2019) that GHG emissions mitiga- tion could potentially be achieved as a co-benefit of behaviour change motivated by people's interest in their personal health. Numerous campaigns on other health-related issues provide insights on the magnitude of expected behaviour changes. In multiple meta-analyses (Snyder, et al. 2004; Elder, et al. 2004; Abroms and Maibach 2008) on campaigns on seat belt use, smoking, cancer screening, alcohol use, and many other topics, observed effects were only moderate— typically 15 percent or fewer people changed targeted behaviours even when there were significant health benefits. Applying the median (11 percent) and upper bound (15 percent) of these past experiences to the projected benefits of global adoption of a less-GHG intensive diet (4.7 Gt CO ₂ e estimated by Springmann et al. 2018), suggests that effective campaigns focusing on health benefits of dietary change could potentially yield reductions up to 0.52–0.71 Gt CO ₂ e by 2050.

OFF-SHORE OIL AND GAS Relevant policy includes international cooperation on a fossil fuel phase-down; supporting initiatives on emissions-free SUMMARY OF **RELEVANT UN** electricity, power system flexibility and interconnection solutions (UNEP 2022) ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (UNEP) CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO BAU Stated Policies Scenario (STEPS) from the latest World Energy Outlook (IEA 2022b)-governments around the world **DESCRIPTION OF** advance policy measures as of September 2022 without additional energy targets, Accounts for unconditional NDC's **REPORT BASELINE FROM BOTTOM-UP** under Paris Agreement. METHODOLOGY IPCC report (2023) which states no new oil and gas operations be pursued if we are to stay in line with 1.5°C warming. **KEY DRIVERS FOR** LEVEL OF AMBITION IEA Net Zero Emissions Scenario (NZE)-shows how to achieve 1.5°C stabilisation and meet fossil fuel demands without approval of new long-term projects. Marine environmental and biodiversity risks-potential for accidental oil spills. World Energy Outlook calculates oil and gas both on and offshore—assumed 30% comes from offshore. The NZE scenario **KEY ASSUMPTIONS** assumes that average oil demand falls by more than 4 percent per year between 2020 and 2050. Emissions factors were calculated as the weighted average of field-level data from the RMI Oil Climate Index plus gas (OCI+) model (Geers et al. 2022). Data covers 50 percent of world's oil and gas fields. Low-business as usual. DESCRIPTION OF High—NZE scenario. WHAT LOW AND HIGH SCENARIOS REPRESENT NZE scenario assumes that any additional energy demand beyond current extraction will be met by low-carbon energy KEY UNCERTAINTIES sources. Relationship between implementation and political ambitions of states. Economies that are heavily reliant on oil and gas will be willing to proactively diversify. All offshore oil and gas production scenarios are based on analysis from the IEA World Energy Model (IEA 2022b). We treat BACKGROUND IEA's Stated Policies Scenario (STEPS), which shows the trajectory implied by today's policy settings, as our BAU scenario NOTES AND CAVEATS and compare the STEPS production curve and associated emissions with that of the NZE by 2050 Scenario. The NZE maps out a way to achieve a 1.5°C stabilisation in the rise in global average temperatures, alongside universal access to energy by 2030. Further details on these scenarios can be found in the World Energy Outlook 2022 (IEA 2022b). The World Energy Outlook (WEO) 2022 estimates production for all oil and gas, not just offshore. To estimate offshore volumes only, we assume that 30% of oil and gas production comes from offshore sources. These estimates were derived from historical data in the World Energy Outlook Special Report Offshore Energy Outlook 2018 (IEA 2018) and are supported by more recent and projected data in WEO 2022 (see IEA 2022b). We calculated cradle-to-grave emissions of these production volumes using emissions factors of 498 kg CO.e/barrel oil equivalent (boe) for oil and 223 kg CO.e/boe for gas, including both direct and indirect life-cycle emissions. A conversion factor of six was used to convert gas production (billion cubic metres, or bcm) to barrels of oil equivalents. Emissions factors were calculated as the weighted average of field-level data from the RMI Oil Climate Index plus gas (OCI+) model (RMI 2022). The data available from OCI+ cover approximately 50% of the world's oil and gas fields, with 87 offshore oil fields and 48 offshore gas fields included in the dataset (RMI 2022). For additional details on the methodology and details behind this analysis, see Geers et al. (2022) and the associated appendix. These high-level estimates could be better refined with more accurate estimates of the offshore component of oil and gas production currently and projected, such as was done in IEA (2018). However, given the significant changes in energy production and demand that have occurred since 2018, we chose to use the updated data and projections from WEO 2022 (IEA 2022b).

MARINE CARBON DIOXIDE REMOVAL AND CARBON CAPTURE AND STORAGE					
SUMMARY OF RELEVANT UN ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (UNEP) CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO	Not included in UNEP current policy scenario.				
DESCRIPTION OF REPORT BASELINE FROM BOTTOM-UP METHODOLOGY	No mCDR, no CCS under the seabed.				
KEY DRIVERS FOR LEVEL OF AMBITION	IPCC reports (SR 1.5°C and AR6) which call for gigaton-scale CDR as a requirement to stop continued warming				
KEY ASSUMPTIONS	Estimates of scalable mCDR for the various pathways provided in the 2022 US NASEM report can be achieved by 2050 4–8 percent growth rates are reasonable expectations for mCDR growth between 2030 and 2050. Current and planned CCS projects continue to grow in line with predictions (IEA 2023a).				
DESCRIPTION OF WHAT LOW AND HIGH SCENARIOS REPRESENT	Bounded estimates that try to account for the deep uncertainty in the ultimate scale of contribution from mCDR because current levels of mCDR are in the range of hundreds, or thousands, of tons per year, and these systems need to ultimately scale to billions of tons per year				
KEY UNCERTAINTIES	Large-scale scientific uncertainties remain regarding carbon sequestration efficacy, and environmental and social impacts Multi-billion dollar global support for research and development needs to be acquired and distributed Deep social, political, and governance challenges that need to be overcome in order to enable research and develop- ment, and if successful, any paths to full-scale deployment				
BACKGROUND NOTES AND CAVEATS	Mitigation potential estimates for the year 2050 for mCDR approaches were derived from a study by the US National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Medicine (2021). This report was chosen as the foundational information for these mitigation potential estimates because the values provided in the report represent the synthesis of published peer reviewed studies on these topics. When the report only listed an upper bound of greater than one gigaton of CDR annually as opposed to a definite upper bound, we chose an upper bound of three gigatons of CDR annually. This is consistent with past studies for some of the technologies, which we believe represents a feasible upper bound for the approach by the middle of the century. The peer-reviewed scientific literature regarding the mitigation potential estimates for 2030 were calculated by hindcasting mitigation potential estimates for 2050 using annual growth rates of 4–8 percent. These growth rate estimates bound the often-cited 6 percent growth rate for CDR technologies (Minx et al. 2018).				
	Note that all estimates were made independent of one another, meaning that they do not consider interactive effects of multiple mCDR activities co-located in space and/or time. Integration of mCDR approaches into integrated assessment models will continue to refine mitigation potential estimates by explicitly quantifying how one or more mCDR approaches may contribute to a portfolio of CDR activities in a model scenario.				
	Estimates for the durability of CDR provided by various mCDR approaches were derived from the US National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Medicine, with additional context for specific pathways provided by relevant studies (Renforth and Henderson 2017; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2021; Siegel et al. 2021).				
	Seaweed farming for carbon capture, storage and utilisation- passive export of unharvested production to sediments below farms				

MARINE CARBON DIOXIDE REMOVAL AND CARBON CAPTURE AND STORAGE

BACKGROUND NOTES AND CAVEATS The area of seaweed farming was projected to 2030 and 2050 based on the current growth rate in the industry (6.2 percent per year) and a doubling of this rate (12 percent) to provide a span (Duarte et al. 2022b). Quantification of the export of 'unharvested' seaweed production to the seafloor below the farm was based on a global study encompassing 20 farms worldwide (Duarte et al. 2023). For farms located over depositional seafloor, organic C burial rates in the farm sediments averaged (\pm SE) 1.87 \pm 0.73 tonnes CO₂e ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (median 0.83, range 0.10–8.99 tonnes CO₂e ha⁻¹ year⁻¹). The contribution of the seaweed farm to carbon burial was calculated by subtracting the average (\pm SE) C burial rate in reference sediments (0.90 \pm 0.27, median 0.64, range 0.10-3.00 tonnes CO₂e ha⁻¹ year⁻¹), so that the excess organic C burial attributable to the seaweed farms averaged 1.06 \pm 0.74 tonnes CO₂e ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (median 0.09, range -0.13–8.10 tonnes CO₂e ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) (Duarte et al. 2023). We then multiplied the projected farm area by the average excess burial estimates.

In addition to the passive carbon burial under farms, there are potential climate change mitigation benefits associated with the substitution of traditional products with seaweed products having a smaller CO₂ footprint (e.g. Duarte et al. 2022b, Spillias et al. 2023a). The use of seaweed as feed supplement to ruminants to reduce their methane emission also has a potentially large CO₂ emissions reduction capacity although negative effects on animal health of bromoforms produced by certain seaweed species needs consideration (Kinley et al. 2020; Roque et al. 2019). A full estimate of the CO₂ mitigation/emissions reduction potential of this use of seaweed would require a life cycle analysis of the farms including the fate of the harvested biomass and derived products, and this was not performed here.

Carbon capture and storage projects may avoid an additional gigaton of emissions annually in 2050 if the pace of current and planned projects continues to grow. 2050 projections are based on a linear extrapolation of available data from the IEA (IEA 2023a).

Wider impact dimensions

The IPCC Special Report on 1.5°C scenarios (IPCC 2018) integrated wider impacts into its assessment of mitigation options; however, the ocean received relatively little attention. The 2019 Report (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019) addressed this major knowledge gap by focusing on 4 dimensions where wider impacts may be expected: the environment, the economy, society and governance. These dimensions, their associated impact categories, and relevant UN SDGs are mapped in Table A-2.

WIDER IMPACT		LINKS WITH NEAR-TERM SUSTAINABLE			
DIMENSIONS	ASSOCIATED IMPACT CATEGORIES	DEVELOPMENT GOAL (SDG) TARGETS AND INDICATORS			
Environment	Impact on marine and terrestrial biodiversity, water quality, coastal resilience, land use, and adaptability of ecosystems and human settlements to climate change, impact on adaptive capacity and mitigation-adaptation synergies	SDG 6, 12, 13, 14, 15			
Economy	Impact on employment, household incomes, profits and/or revenues of firms, innovation, supply of low-carbon energy, and economic growth	SDG 7, 8, 9, 11, 14			
Society	Impact on human health outcomes, poverty reduction and food security targets, regional income inequality, quality of educa- tion, and gender equity	SDG 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 10, 14			
Governance	Impact on national and local institutions, participation in global governance, global partnership for sustainable development, and capacity building	SDG 14, 16, 17			

Table A-2. Wider impact dimensions explored in the report

Source: Authors.

Following the publication of the IPCC Special Report on 1.5°C there have been many assessments which have further integrated the information on wider impacts for ocean sectors, and hence we updated the analysis contained within the 2019 Report (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019) with this new information.

Evidence reviewed during the wider impact analysis (current report and 2019 Report)

Wider impacts were evaluated with a weighted scoring method and an associated assessment of confidence levels. Our method is based on a similar approach adopted in Chapter 5 of the IPCC 1.5°C Special Report (IPCC 2018), and the 2019 Report (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). A two-step procedure was followed as part of a review of the literature on wider impacts. First, the databases Scopus and Google Scholar, and the search engine Google, were used in a literature search using various combinations of keywords and short search strings such as 'Ocean energy' AND 'sustainability', 'Ocean' AND 'CCS', AND 'sustainability'. Second, the findings from the literature review were recorded and scored. Additional evidence was included based on feedback obtained through an expert review process. The types of evidence and number of studies are summarised in Table A-3.

Table A-3. Types of evidence included,	, and number of studies examined	(current report and 2019 Report)

TYPE OF LITERATURE	DESCRIPTION	NUMBER
Case study	Case studies specific to countries or region	19
Experimental	Results based on experiments	11
Project-based	Results reported based on project-level impacts	2
Quantitative analysis	Studies that have employed econometric, graphical, or statistical tools to find the im- pact of any intervention. This includes meta-analysis, scenario analysis, spatial analysis, and other modelling assessments	54
Review paper	Studies that exclusively mention 'review' in their objective or methods	22
Summary paper	This includes commentary, newspaper articles, discussion papers, policy briefs, and newsletters from international organisations	14
Website	Relevant information (such as examples of ongoing restoration programmes) provided on web pages owned and curated by international organisations	5
Report	Policy and analysis reports from international organisations, such as OECD, ETC, IRENA, FAO, IEA	36
Qualitative	Academic papers and reports that present qualitative discussion of the impact of policies and international agreements	5
Total number		168

Notes: ETC = Energy Transitions Commission; FAO = Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; IEA = International Energy Agency; IRENA = International Renewal Energy Agency; OECD = Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

Source: Authors.

Second, based on the review of existing literature and expert judgment the performance of each ocean-based mitigation option was scored within each of the wider-impact dimensions following Nilsson et al. (2016) (Table A-2). The impact was described, scored, and weighted based on the following factors:

- Direction of impact: The positive and/or negative direction of the impact of the mitigation option on the wider-impact dimensions and SDG goals was recorded. If a mitigation option was identified as having both a positive and negative impact, both were recorded. The net direction of impact was determined by the sum of the positive and negative impact scores.
- Linkage score: The strength of the relationship between the mitigation option and the indicator was scored. Scores range from +3 (indivisible) to -3 (cancelling), with a 'zero' score indicating 'consistent', but with neither a positive nor negative impact (Nilsson et al. 2016). High and low scores are shown by shades of the colour in Figure ES-4.

Appendix B.

Updated mitigation potential of five sectors included in the 2019 Report

This Appendix provides opportunity to compare the results of this updated report with the estimates developed in the 2019 Report for the five sectors included in that report. Table B-1 provides the mitigation potential estimates of the 2019 Report, whilst updated equivalent mitigation potential estimates are provided in Table B-2.

Table B-1. Original estimates of five sectors included in 2019 Report towards closing the emission gap in 2030 and 2050– ocean-based renewable energy; ocean-based transport; marine conservation and restoration; ocean-based food; and carbon capture and storage below the seabed

	ANNUAL GLOBAL EMISSIONS (GT CO ₂ E)			GAP TO PATHWAY, BASED ON UNEP CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO (GT CO2E)		TOTAL GHG MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO ₂ E)		% GAP CLOSED: 1.5°C PATHWAY		% GAP CLOSED: 2°C PATHWAY	
	Current policy	1.5°C pathway	2°C pathway	1.5°C pathway	2°C pathway	Min	Мах	Min	Мах	Min	Мах
2019	52	52	52	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2030	58	28	39	30	19	1.3	3.5	4	12	7	19
2050	65	9	18	56	47	3.1	11.8	6	21	7	25

Notes: Estimates were based on comparing multiple scenarios for annual emissions in 2020, 2030 and 2050. For those years, the authors compared '1.5°C', '2°C' and the 'current policy' scenarios from UNEP 2018 and calculated the mitigation needed to fill the 'gaps' between the 'current policy' and the '1.5°C' and '2°C', respectively. Min refers to conservative ocean-based mitigation potential, while Max represents higher (more ambitious) theoretical potential projected in the report. The total ocean-based mitigation was compared to the gap at 2030, and that at 2050, generating the percentage of the gap (in each case) mitigated by ocean-based mitigation of GHG emissions. GHG = greenhouse gas; UNEP = United Nations Environment Programme.

Source: Authors.

Table B-2. Updated contribution of five sectors included in 2019 Report towards closing the emission gap in 2030 and 2050—ocean-based renewable energy; ocean-based transport; marine conservation and restoration; ocean-based food; and carbon capture and storage below the seabed

a. Mitigation potential of ready to implement solutions, within the five sectors, identified in this report, according to Table 2

	ANNUAL GLOBAL EMISSIONS (GT CO2E)			GAP TO PATHWAY, BASED ON UNEP CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO (GT CO ₂ E)		TOTAL GHG MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO2E)		% GAP CLOSED: 1.5°C PATHWAY		% GAP CLOSED: 2°C PATHWAY	
	Current policy	1.5°C pathway	2°C pathway	1.5°C pathway	2°C pathway	Min	Мах	Min	Мах	Min	Мах
Today	58	58	58	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2030	58	33	41	25	17	1	3	4	11	7	16
2050	49	10	20	39	29	4	8	11	21	15	29

Table B-2. Updated contribution of five sectors included in 2019 Report towards closing the emission gap in 2030 and 2050—ocean-based renewable energy; ocean-based transport; marine conservation and restoration; ocean-based food; and carbon capture and storage below the seabed (Continued)

	ANNUAL GLOBAL EMISSIONS (GT CO ₂ E)			GAP TO PATHWAY, BASED ON UNEP CURRENT POLICY SCENARIO (GT CO ₂ E)		TOTAL GHG MITIGATION POTENTIAL (GT CO2E)		% GAP CLOSED: 1.5°C PATHWAY		% GAP CLOSED: 2°C PATHWAY	
	Current policy	1.5°C pathway	2°C pathway	1.5°C pathway	2°C pathway	Min	Мах	Min	Мах	Min	Мах
Today	58	58	58	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2030	58	33	41	25	17	1	3	4	11	7	16
2050	49	10	20	39	29	4	9	11	24	15	32

b. Mitigation potential of all solutions, within the five sectors, identified in this report, according to Table 2

Notes: Estimates are based on comparing multiple scenarios for annual emissions in 2023, 2030 and 2050. For those years, we compare '1.5°C', '2°C' and the 'current policy' scenarios from UNEP (2022) and calculate the mitigation needed to fill the 'gaps' between the 'current policy' and the '1.5°C' and '2°C', respectively. *Min* refers to conservative ocean-based mitigation potential, while *Max* represents higher (more ambitious) theoretical potential projected in this report. The total ocean-based mitigation was compared to the gap at 2030, and that at 2050, generating the percentage of the gap (in each case) mitigated by ocean-based mitigation of GHG emissions. GHG = greenhouse gas; UNEP = United Nations Environment Programme.

Source: Authors.

List of abbreviations

AR6	IPCC's Sixth Assessment Report
BAU	business-as-usual
CCS	carbon capture and storage
CII	carbon intensity indicator
CO ₂	carbon dioxide
CO ₂ e	carbon dioxide equivalent
COP	United Nations Climate Change Conference
DCS	Data Collection System
DFI	development finance institution
EJ	exajoule
GHG	greenhouse gas
GT	gross tonne
IEA	International Energy Agency
IMO	International Maritime Organisation
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
LNG	liquefied natural gas
mCDR	marine carbon dioxide removal
MPA	marine protected area
MRV	monitoring reporting and verification
MSP	marine spatial planning
NbS	nature-based solution
NDC	Nationally Determined Contribution
NGO	nongovernmental organisation
NZE	Net Zero Emissions
ORE	offshore renewable energy
OSW	offshore wind
OTEC	ocean thermal energy conversion
PM2.5	fine particulate matter
R&D	research and development
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SOP	Sustainable Ocean Plan
STEPS	Stated Policies Scenario
TTW	tank-to-wake
WTW	well-to-wake

References

Alexandratos, N., and J. Bruinsma. 2012. "World Agriculture: Towards 2030/2050: The 2012 Revision." Working Paper 12-03. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. https://www.fao. org/3/ap106e/ap106e.pdf.

Abroms, L.C., and E.W. Maibach. 2008. "The Effectiveness of Mass Communication to Change Public Behavior." *Annual Review of Public Health* 29 (1): 219–34. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. publhealth.29.020907.090824.

Adame, M.F., R.M. Connolly, M.P. Turschwell, C.E. Lovelock, T. Fatoyinbo, D. Lagomasino, L.A. Goldberg, et al. 2021. "Future Carbon Emissions from Global Mangrove Forest Loss." *Global Change Biology* 27 (12): 2856–66. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15571.

Adesanya, A., S. Misra, R. Maskeliunas, and R. Damasevicius. 2021. "Prospects of Ocean-Based Renewable Energy for West Africa's Sustainable Energy Future." *Smart and Sustainable Built Environment* 10 (1): 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1108/SASBE-05-2019-0066.

Agencia Estatal de España. 2021. "Ley 7/2021, de 20 de mayo, de cambio climático y transición energética." Madrid: Government of Spain.

Ahmed, N., and S. Thompson. 2019. "The Blue Dimensions of Aquaculture: A Global Synthesis." *Science of the Total Environment* 652 (February): 851–61. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.163.

Al-Douri, A., A.S. Alsuhaibani, M. Moore, R.B. Nielsen, A.A. El-Baz, and M.M. El-Halwagi. 2022. "Greenhouse Gases Emissions in Liquified Natural Gas as a Marine Fuel: Life Cycle Analysis and Reduction Potential." *Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering* 100 (6): 1178–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/cjce.24268.

Allison, E.H., B.D. Ratner, B. Åsgård, R. Willmann, R. Pomeroy, and J. Kurien. 2012. "Rights-Based Fisheries Governance: From Fishing Rights to Human Rights." *Fish and Fisheries* 13 (1): 14–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1467-2979.2011.00405.x. Ambrose, J. 2020. "Denmark to End New Oil and Gas Exploration in North Sea." *The Guardian, December 4.* https://www.theguardian.com/business/2020/ dec/04/denmark-to-end-new-oil-and-gas-exploration-in-north-sea.

Anderson, C.M., M. Mayes, and R.P. LaBelle. 2012. *Oil Spill Occurrence Rates for Offshore Spills.* Washington, DC: Bureau of Ocean Energy Management.

Arias-Ortiz, A., O. Serrano, P. Masqué, P.S. Lavery, U. Mueller, G.A. Kendrick, M. Rozaimi, et al. 2018. "A Marine Heatwave Drives Massive Losses from the World's Largest Seagrass Carbon Stocks." *Nature Climate Change* 8 (4): 338–44. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41558-018-0096-y.

Arifanti, V.B., F. Sidik, B. Mulyanto, A. Susilowati, T. Wahyuni, Subarno, Yulianti, et al. 2022. "Challenges and Strategies for Sustainable Mangrove Management in Indonesia: A Review." *Forests* 13 (5): 695. https://doi. org/10.3390/f13050695.

Assis, J., E.A. Serrão, C.M. Duarte, E. Fragkopoulou, and D. Krause-Jensen. 2022. "Major Expansion of Marine Forests in a Warmer Arctic." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 9 (March). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.850368.

Atan, R., J. Goggins, and S. Nash. 2018. "Galway Bay: The 1/4 Scale Wave Energy Test Site? A Detailed Wave Energy Resource Assessment and Investigation of Scaling Factors." *Renewable Energy* 119 (April): 217–34. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. renene.2017.11.090https://doi.org/10.1016/j. renene.2017.11.090.

Atwood, T.B., A. Witt, J. Mayorga, E. Hammill, and E. Sala. 2020. "Global Patterns in Marine Sediment Carbon Stocks." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 7 (March). https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00165.

Atwood, T.B., E. Sala, J. Mayorga, D. Bradley, R.B. Cabral, A. Auber, W. Cheung, et al. 2023. "Reply to: Quantifying the carbon Benefits of Ending Bottom Trawling." *Nature 617 (7960): E3–E5.* https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-023-06015-6. Ayasse, A.K., A.K. Thorpe, D.H. Cusworth, E.A. Kort, A.G. Negron, J. Heckler, G. Asner, and R.M. Duren. 2022. "Methane Remote Sensing and Emission Quantification of Offshore Shallow Water Oil and Gas Platforms in the Gulf of Mexico." *Environmental Research Letters* 17 (8): 084039. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac8566.

Bach, L.T., S.J. Gill, R.E.M. Rickaby, S. Gore, and P. Renforth. 2019. "CO₂ Removal with Enhanced Weathering and Ocean Alkalinity Enhancement: Potential Risks and Co-benefits for Marine Pelagic Ecosystems." Frontiers in Climate 1 (October). https://doi.org/10.3389/ fclim.2019.00007.

Barbesgaard, M. 2018. "Blue Growth: Savior or Ocean Grabbing." *Journal of Peasant Studies* 45 (1): 130–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2017.1377186.

Baresic, D., and K. Palmer. 2022. *Climate Action in Shipping: Progress towards Shipping's 2030 Breakthrough.* London: University Maritime Advisory Services. https:// www.globalmaritimeforum.org/content/2022/09/Climate-action-in-shipping-progress-towards-shippings-2030-breakthrough.pdf.

Baresic, D., I. Rojon, A. Shaw, and N. Rehmatulla. 2022. *Closing the Gap: An Overview of the Policy Options to Close the Competitiveness Gap and Enable an Equita ble Zero-Emission Fuel Transition in Shipping*. London: University Maritime Advisory Services. https://www. globalmaritimeforum.org/content/2021/12/Closingthe-Gap_Getting-to-Zero-Coalition-report.pdf.

Barner, A.K., J. Lubchenco, C. Costello, S.D. Gaines, A. Leland, B. Jenks, S. Murawski, E. Schwaab, and M. Spring. 2015. "Solutions for Recovering and Sustaining the Bounty of the Ocean. Combining Fishery Reforms, Rights-Based Fisheries Management, and Marine Reserves." *Oceanography* 28 (2): 252–63. http://www.jstor. org/stable/24861886.

Barros, B., and R. Wilk. 2021. "The Outsized Carbon Footprints of the Super-Rich." *Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy* 17 (1): 316–22. https://doi.org/10.108 0/15487733.2021.1949847. Bastardie, F., S. Hornborg, F. Ziegler, H. Gislason, and O.R. Eigaard. 2022. "Reducing the Fuel Use Intensity of Fisheries: Through Efficient Fishing Techniques and Recovered Fish Stocks." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 9 (June). https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmars.2022.817335.

Bennett, N.J. 2018. "Navigating a Just and Inclusive Path towards Sustainable Oceans." *Marine Policy* 97 (November): 139–46. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2018.06.001https:/doi. org/10.1016/j.marpol.2018.06.001.

Beyer, J., A. Goksøyr, D.Ø. Hjermann, and J. Klungsøyr. 2020. "Environmental Effects of Offshore Produced Water Discharges: A Review Focused on the Norwegian Continental Shelf." *Marine Environmental Research* 162 (December): 105155. https://doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2020.105155https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2020.105155.

Beyer, J., H.C. Trannum, T. Bakke, P.V. Hodson, and T.K. Collier. 2016. "Environmental Effects of the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill: A Review." *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 110 (1): 28–51. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2016.06.027https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.06.027.

Bianchi, M., E. Hallström, R.W.R. Parker, K. Mifflin, P. Tyedmers, and F. Ziegler. 2022. "Assessing Seafood Nutritional Diversity Together with Climate Impacts Informs More Comprehensive Dietary Advice." *Communications Earth & Environment* 3 (1): 188. https://doi. org/10.1038/s43247-022-00516-4.

BNEF (BloombergNEF). 2023. *Energy Transition Investment Trends.* https://about.bnef.com/energy-transition-investment/#toc-report.

BOEM (U.S. Bureau of Ocean Management). n.d. "National OCS Oil and Gas Leasing Program for 2023–2028." https://www.boem.gov/oil-gas-energy/ national-program/national-ocs-oil-and-gas-leasingprogram-2023-2028. Bohnes, F.A., M.Z. Hauschild, J. Schlundt, and A. Laurent. 2019. "Life Cycle Assessments of Aquaculture Systems: A Critical Review of Reported Findings with Recommendations for Policy and System Development." *Reviews in Aquaculture* 11 (4): 1061–79. https:// doi.org/10.1111/raq.12280.

Bosch, J., I. Staffell, and A.D. Hawkes. 2018. "Temporally Explicit and Spatially Resolved Global Offshore Wind Energy Potentials." *Energy* 163 (November): 766–81. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. energy.2018.08.153https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2018.08.153.

Bouckaert, S., A.F. Pales, C. McGlade, U. Remme, B. Wanner, L. Varro, D. Ambrosio, and T. Spencer. 2021. *Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector.* Paris: International Energy Agency.

Bouman, E., A., E. Lindstad, A.I. Rialland, and A.H. Stromman. 2017. "State-of-the-Art Technologies, Measures, and Potential for Reducing GHG Emissions from Shipping: A Review." *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 52 (Part A): 408–21. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.03.022.

Boyd, P.W., H. Claustre, L. Legendre, J.-P. Gattuso, and P.-Y. Le Traon. 2023. "Operational Monitoring of Open-Ocean Carbon Dioxide Removal Deployments: Detection, Attribution, and Determination of Side Effects." *Oceanography* 36 (1): 2–10. https://doi.org/10.5670/ oceanog.2023.s1.2.

BP (British Petroleum). 2021. *Statistical Review of World Energy 2021*. London: British Petroleum. https://www. bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/ corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/statistical-review/ bp-stats-review-2021-full-report.pdf.

Buelow, C.A., R.M. Connolly, M.P. Turschwell, M.F. Adame, G.N. Ahmadia, D.A. Andradi-Brown, P. Bunting, et al. 2022. "Ambitious Global Targets for Mangrove and Seagrass Recovery." *Current Biology* 32 (7): 1641–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2022.02.013.

Buhaug, Ø., J.J. Corbett, Ø. Endresen, V. Eyring, J. Faber, S. Hanayama, D.S. Lee, et al. 2009. *Second IMO Greenhouse Gas Study 2009.* London: International Maritime Organization. Campbell, I., A. Macleod, C. Sahlmann, L. Neves, J. Funderud, M. Øverland, A.D. Hughes, and M. Stanley. 2019. "The Environmental Risks Associated with the Development of Seaweed Farming: Prioritizing Key Knowledge Gaps." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 6 (March). https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmars.2019.00107.

Campbell, M., E. Eyton, G. MacLean, A. Pons, T. Scarborough, N. Vasileiadis, J. Wan, et al. 2023. *Study on the Readiness and Availability of Low- and Zero-Carbon Ship Technology and Marine Fuels. MEPC 80/INF.10. London: Marine Environmental Protection Committee*, International Maritime Organization.

Canadell, J.G., P.M.S. Monteiro, M.H. Costa, L. Cotrim da Cunha, P.M. Cox, A.V. Eliseev, S. Henson, et al. 2018. "2021: Global Carbon and Other Biogeochemical Cycles and Feedbacks." In *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, et al., 673–816. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

Carić, H., and P. Mackelworth. 2014. "Cruise Tourism Environmental Impacts: The Perspective from the Adriatic Sea." *Ocean & Coastal Management* 102 (Part A): 350–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2014.09.008.

Carnival Corporation & PLC (Public Limited Company). 2022. *Sustainable from Ship to Shore: 2022 Sustainability Report.* Southampton, UK: Carnival Corporation & PLC. https://carnival-sustainability-2023. nyc3.digitaloceanspaces.com/assets/content/pdf/ Carnival-Corporation-plc-FY2022-Sustainability-Report_2023-07-06-194247_zlee.pdf.

Cavcic, M. 2022. "Will Belize Lift Its Offshore Oil Moratorium?" Offshore Energy, November 30. https:// www.offshore-energy.biz/will-belize-lift-its-offshoreoil-moratorium/.

Chang, Y-T., S. Lee, and H. Park. 2017. "Efficiency Analysis of Major Cruise Lines." *Tourism Management* 58 (February): 78–88. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tourman.2016.10.012https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2016.10.012. Chen, Z.L., and S.Y. Lee. 2022. "Tidal Flats as a Significant Carbon Reservoir in Global Coastal Ecosystems." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 9 (May). https://doi. org/10.3389/fmars.2022.900896.

Chopin, T. 2019. "Putting Seaweeds in Your Feed Formulations." *International Aquafeed* 22 (3): 20–21.

Chopin, T. 2021. "Sinking Seaweeds to the Deep Ocean Floor for Carbon Sequestration: A Generous Idea, but We Need Some Techno-Economic Reality Check." *International Aquafeed 24 (3): 16–17.*

Chopin, T., and A.G.J. Tacon. 2021. "Importance of Seaweeds and Extractive Species in Global Aquaculture Production." *Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture* 29 (2): 139–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/2330 8249.2020.1810626

Cisneros-Montemayor, A.M., A.K. Ducros, N.J. Bennett, L.M. Fusco, M. Hessing-Lewis, G.G. Singh, and S.C. Klain. 2022. "Agreements and Benefits in Emerging Ocean Sectors: Are We Moving towards an Equitable Blue Economy." *Ocean & Coastal Management* 220 (April): 106097. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ocecoaman.2022.106097https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2022.106097.

Climate Champions. 2022. "Mangrove Breakthrough." https://climatechampions.unfccc.int/the-mangrove-breakthrough/

Collins, J.R., S.R. Cooley, and L. Suatoni. 2022. *Ocean Carbon Dioxide Removal Methods*. New York: Natural Resources Defense Council. https://oceanconservancy. org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Oceans-CDR-22-12-B_03_locked.pdf.

Conservation International, Salesforce, The Nature Conservancy, Ocean Risk and Resilience Action Alliance, Friends of Ocean Action at the World Economic Forum, and Meridian Institute. 2022. *High-Quality Blue Carbon Principles and Guidance: A Triple-Benefit Investment for People, Nature, and Climate.* Arlington County, VA: Conservation International and The Nature Conservancy; San Francisco: Salesforce; Washington, DC: Ocean Risk and Resilience Action Alliance; Geneva: Friends of Ocean Action at the World Economic Forum; Dillon, CO: Meridian Institute. https://climatechampions. unfccc.int/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/HQBC-PG_FI-NAL_11.8.2022.pdf. CBD (Convention on Biological Diversity). 2022. *Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework*. CBD/ COP/15/L.25. Montreal: CBD Secretariat, United Nations Environment Programme. https://www.cbd.int/doc/ decisions/cop-15/cop-15-dec-04-en.pdf.

Cooley, S.R., S. Klinsky, D.R. Morrow, and T. Satterfield. 2023. "Sociotechnical Considerations about Ocean Carbon Dioxide Removal." *Annual Review of Marine Science* 15 (1): 41–66. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-marine-032122-113850.

Costello, C., D. Ovando, T. Clavelle, C.K. Strauss, R. Hilborn, M.C. Melnychuk, T.A. Branch, et al. 2016. "Global Fishery Prospects under Contrasting Management Regimes." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113 (18): 5125–29. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1520420113.

Costello, C., D. Ovando, R. Hilborn, S.D. Gaines, O. Deschenes, and S.E. Lester. 2012. "Status and Solutions for the World's Unassessed Fisheries." *Science* 338 (6106): 517–20. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1223389.

Couture, V., B. Faber, Y. Gu, and L. Liu. 2018. "E-commerce Integration and Economic Development: Evidence from China." Working Paper 24383. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Creutzig, F., J. Roy, P. Devine-Wright, J. Díaz-José, F.W. Geels, A. Grubler, N. Maïzi, et al. 2022. "Demand, Services and Social Aspects of Mitigation." In *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, R. Slade, A. Al Khourdajie, R. van Diemen, D. McCollum, M. Pathak, et al. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

Crippa, M., E. Solazzo, D. Guizzardi, F. Monforti-Ferrario, F.N. Tubiello, and A. Leip. 2021. "Food Systems Are Responsible for a Third of Global Anthropogenic GHG Emissions." *Nature Food* 2 (3): 198–209. https://doi. org/10.1038/s43016-021-00225-9.

Danish Energy Agency. 2020. "Licenses for Oil and Gas." https://ens.dk/en/our-responsibilities/oil-gas/licenc-es-oil-and-gas.

De Bhowmick, G., and M. Hayes. 2023. "Potential of Seaweeds to Mitigate Production of Greenhouse Gases during Production of Ruminant Proteins." *Global Challenges* 7 (5): 2200145. https://doi.org/10.1002/ gch2.202200145.

Dencer-Brown, A.M., R. Shilland, D. Friess, D. Herr, L. Benson, N.J. Berry, M. Cifuentes-Jara, et al. 2022. "Integrating Blue: How Do We Make Nationally Determined Contributions Work for Both Blue Carbon and Local Coastal Communities." *Ambio* 51 (9): 1978–93. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s13280-022-01723-1.

Denton, F., K. Halsnæs, K. Akimoto, S. Burch, C. Diaz Morejon, F. Farias, J. Jupesta, et al. 2022. "Accelerating the Transition in the Context of Sustainable Development." In *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, R. Slade, A. Al Khourdajie, R. van Diemen, D. McCollum, M. Pathak, et al. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

Dong, J., Z. Asif, Y. Shi, Y. Zhu, and Z. Chen. 2022. "Climate Change Impacts on Coastal and Offshore Petroleum Infrastructure and the Associated Oil Spill Risk: A Review." *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering* 10 (7): 849. https://doi.org/10.3390/jmse10070849.

Dragović, B., E. Tzannatos, V. Tselentis, R. Meštrović, and M. Škurić. 2018. "Ship Emissions and Their Externalities in Cruise Ports." *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 61 (Part B): 289–300. https:// doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2015.11.007https:/ doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2015.11.007.

Duarte, C.M., S. Agusti, E. Barbier, G.L. Britten, J.C. Castilla, J.P. Gattuso, R.W. Fulweiler, et al. 2020. "Rebuilding Marine Life." *Nature* 580 (7801): 39–51.

Duarte, C.M., A. Bruhn, and D. Krause-Jensen. 2022a. "A Seaweed Aquaculture Imperative to Meet Global Sustainability Targets." *Nature Sustainability* 5 (3): 185–93. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-021-00773-9. Duarte, C.M., J.-P. Gattuso, K. Hancke, H. Gundersen, K. Filbee-Dexter, M.F. Pedersen, J.J. Middelburg, et al. 2022b. "Global Estimates of the Extent and Production of Macroalgal Forests." *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 31 (7): 1422–39. https://doi. org/https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13515https://doi. org/10.1111/geb.13515.

Duarte, C.M., A. Delgado-Huertas, E. Marti, B. Gasser, I. San Martin, A. Cousteau, F. Neumeyer, et al. 2023. "Carbon Burial in Sediments below Seaweed Farms." bioRxiv, January 7. https://www.biorxiv.org/content/ biorxiv/early/2023/01/07/2023.01.02.522332.full.pdf.

The Economist. 2023. "Britain's Offshore Wind Farms Attract Tourists." January 5. https://www.economist. com/britain/2023/01/05/britains-offshore-wind-farms-attract-tourists.

EEA. 2023. "EEA greenhouse gases — data viewer." European Environment Agency. Accessed 24 August 2023. https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/data-viewers/greenhouse-gases-viewer.

Eger, A.M., E.M. Marzinelli, H. Christie, C.W. Fagerli, D. Fujita, A.P. Gonzalez, S.W. Hong, et al. 2022. "Global Kelp Forest Restoration: Past Lessons, Present Status, and Future Directions." *Biological Reviews* 97 (4): 1449–75. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ brv.12850https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12850.

EIA (U.S. Energy Information Administration). 2016. "Offshore Oil Production in Deepwater and Ultra-deepwater Is Increasing." October 28. https://www.eia.gov/ todayinenergy/detail.php?id=28552.

EIA. 2022. "Hydropower Explained: Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion." August 9. https://www.eia.gov/ energyexplained/hydropower/ocean-thermal-energy-conversion.php.

Elvidge, C.D., D. Ziskin, K.E. Baugh, B.T. Tuttle, T. Ghosh, D.W. Pack, E.H. Erwin, and M. Zhizhin. 2009. "A Fifteen Year Record of Global Natural Gas Flaring Derived from Satellite Data." *Energies* 2 (3): 595–622. https://www. mdpi.com/1996-1073/2/3/595. Elwin, P., E. Amadi, E., Mitchell E., and P. Hunter P. 2023. "Financial Markets Roadmap for Transforming the Global Food System." London: Planet Tracker. https:// planet-tracker.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Financial-Markets-Roadmap-Executive-Summary.pdf.

Ember. n.d. "Electricity Data Explorer." https://ember-climate.org/data/data-tools/data-explorer/. Accessed July 29, 2023.

Englert, D., A. Losos, C. Raucci, and T. Smith. 2021. *The Potential of Zero-Carbon Bunker Fuels in Developing Countries*. Washington, DC: World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35435.

EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). 2023. "Greenhouse Gas Equivalencies Calculator." July. https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gas-equivalencies-calculator.

Epstein, G., and Roberts, C.M., 2022. "Identifying Priority Areas to Manage Mobile Bottom Fishing on Seabed Carbon in the UK." *PLOS Climate* 1 (9): e0000059. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pclm.0000059.

Epstein, G., J. Middelburg, J.P. Hawkins, C.R. Norris, and C.M. Roberts. 2022. "The Impact of Mobile Demersal Fishing on Carbon Storage in Seabed Sediments." *Global Change Biology* 28 (9): 2875–94. https://doi. org/10.1111/gcb.16105.

ETC (Energy Transitions Commission). 2022. "Building Energy Security through Accelerated Energy Transition." Insights Briefing. London: ETC. https://www. energy-transitions.org/publications/building-energy-security/#download-form.

European Commission. 2023. *Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: A Green Deal Industrial Plan for the Net-Zero Age*. Brussels: European Commission. https://commission.europa. eu/system/files/2023-02/COM_2023_62_2_EN_ACT_A percent20Green percent20Deal percent20Industrial percent20Plan percent20for percent20the percent-20Net-Zero percent20Age.pdf. European Maritime Spatial Planning Platform. 2023. "Capacity densities of European offshore wind farms." Accessed 23rd August 2023. https://maritime-spatial-planning.ec.europa.eu/practices/capacity-densities-european-offshore-wind-farms.

Evans, L., N. Cherrett, and D. Pemsl. 2011. "Assessing the Impact of Fisheries Co-Management Interventions in Developing Countries: A Meta-analysis." *Journal of Environmental Management* 92 (8): 1938–49. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvman.2011.03.010https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2011.03.010.

Faber, J., D. Lee, S. Becken, J.J. Corbett, N. Cumpsty, G. Fleming, T. Longva, M. Tronstad Lund, and T. Smith. 2020. "Bridging the Gap: The Role of International Shipping and Aviation." In *Emissions Gap Report 2020*, by United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and UNEP Copenhagen Climate Centre (CCC), 11. Nairobi: UNEP; Copenhagen: UNEP-CCC. https://wedocs.unep. org/xmlui/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/34431/ EGR20ch5.pdf?sequence=3.

Faber, J., S. Hanayama, S. Zhang, P. Pereda, B. Comer, E. Hauerhof, W. Schim van der Loeff, et al. 2021. *Fourth IMO Greenhouse Gas Study 2020.* London: International Maritime Organization. https://www.cdn.imo.org/localresources/en/OurWork/Environment/Documents/ Fourth percent20IMO percent20GHG percent20Study percent202020 percent20- percent20Full percent20report percent20and percent20annexes.pdf.

FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization). 2022. *The State of the World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022.* Rome: FAO.

Farmery, A., C. Gardner, B.S. Green, and S. Jennings. 2014. "Managing Fisheries for Environmental Performance: The Effects of Marine Resource Decision-Making on the Footprint of Seafood." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 64 (February): 368–76. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.10.016https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.10.016. Ferris, N. 2023. "Data Insight: The Cost of a Wind Turbine Has Increased by 38% in Two Years." Energy Monitor, April 25. https://www.energymonitor.ai/tech/ renewables/data-insight-the-cost-of-a-wind-turbinehas-increased-by-38-in-two-years/#:~:text=Data%20 insight%3A%20the%20cost%20of,by%2093%25%20 since%20January%202020.

Foulds, A., G. Allen, J.T. Shaw, P. Bateson, P.A. Barker, L. Huang, J.R. Pitt, et al. 2022. "Quantification and Assessment of Methane Emissions from Offshore Oil and Gas Facilities on the Norwegian Continental Shelf." *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics* 22 (7): 4303–22. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-22-4303-2022.

Free, C.M., T. Mangin, J.G. Molinos, E. Ojea, M. Burden, C. Costello, and S.D. Gaines. 2020. "Realistic Fisheries Management Reforms Could Mitigate the Impacts of Climate Change in Most Countries." *PLoS ONE* 15 (3): e0224347. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0224347.

Free, C.M., R.B. Cabral, H.E. Froehlich, W. Battista, E. Ojea, E. O'Reilly, J.E. Palardy, et al. 2022. "Expanding Ocean Food Production under Climate Change." *Nature* 605 (7910): 490–96. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-022-04674-5.

Fricaudet, M., J. Taylor, T. Smith, and N. Rehmatulla. 2022. *Exploring Methods for Understanding Stranded Value: Case Study on LNG-Capable Ships.* London: University College London.

Friess, D.A., T.T. Aung, M. Huxham, C. Lovelock, N. Mukherjee, and S. Sasmito. 2019a. "SDG 14: Life below Water—Impacts on Mangroves." In *Sustainable Development Goals: Their Impacts on Forests and People*, 445–81. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

Fuhrman, J., C. Bergero, M. Weber, S. Monteith, F.M. Wang, A.F. Clarens, S.C. Doney, W. Shobe, and H. McJeon. 2023. "Diverse Carbon Dioxide Removal Approaches Could Reduce Impacts on the Energy–Water– Land System." *Nature Climate Change* 13 (4): 341–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-023-01604-9. Gagern, A., J. Manley, and L. Kapsenberg. 2022. "Ocean-Based Carbon Dioxide Removal: A New Frontier in the Blue Economy." *Marine Technology Society Journal* 56 (1): 40–48. https://doi.org/10.4031/MTSJ.56.1.15.

Gaines, S.D., C. Costello, B. Owashi, T. Mangin, J. Bone, J.G. Molinos, M. Burden, et al. 2018. "Improved Fisheries Management Could Offset Many Negative Effects of Climate Change." *Science Advances* 4 (8): eaao1378. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aao1378.

Galappaththi, E.K., S.T. Ichien, A.A. Hyman, C.J. Aubrac, and J.D. Ford. 2020. "Climate Change Adaptation in Aquaculture." *Reviews in Aquaculture* 12 (4): 2160–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12427.

Gamlem, G.M. 2023. "Smart Maritime Sea Map to Green Shipping." Smart Maritime.

Geers, T., C. Huang, P. Mustain, and K. Matthews. 2022. *Beyond Expectations: Ocean Solutions to Prevent Climate Catastrophe.* Washington, DC: Oceana. https:// oceana.org/reports/beyond-expectations-ocean-solutions-to-prevent-climate-catastrophe/.

Gephart, J.A., P.J.G. Henriksson, R.W.R. Parker, A. Shepon, K.D. Gorospe, K. Bergman, G. Eshel, et al. 2021. "Environmental Performance of Blue Foods." *Nature* 597 (7876): 360–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-021-03889-2.

Gerber, P.J., H. Steinfeld, B. Henderson, A. Mottet, C. Opio, J. Dijkman, A. Falcucci, et al. 2013. *Tackling Climate Change through Livestock—a Global Assessment of Emissions and Mitigation Opportunities*. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.

Gerretsen, I. 2022. "Who Is Financing Green Shipping?" China Ocean Dialogue, November 2. https:// chinadialogueocean.net/en/climate/who-is-financing-green-shipping/#:~:text=The%20European%20 Union%20is%20leading,%2Demission%20fuels%2C%20said%20Fricaudet. GESAMP (Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection). 2007. *Estimates of Oil Entering the Marine Environment from Sea-Based Activities*. Reports and Studies 75. London: International Maritime Organization. http://www.gesamp. org/publications/estimates-of-oil-entering-the-marine-environment-from-sea-based-activities.

GESAMP. 2019. *High Level Review of a Wide Range of Proposed Marine Geoengineering Techniques*, edited by P.W. Boyd and C.M.G. Vivian. Reports and Studies 98. London: International Maritime Organization. http:// www.gesamp.org/publications/high-level-reviewof-a-wide-range-of-proposed-marine-geoengineering-techniques.

Gielen, D., G. Dolan, S. Kang, F. Boshell, A. Goeppert, S.G. Prakash, I. Landälv, and P. Durrant. 2022. *Innovation Outlook: Renewable Methanol*. Abu Dhabi: International Renewable Energy Agency; Washington, DC: Methanol Institute. https://www.irena.org/-/media/ Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2021/Jan/IRENA_Innovation_Renewable_Methanol_2021.pdf?rev=ca7ec52e824041e8b20407ab2e6c7341.

GIH (Global Infrastructure Hub). 2018. *Global Infrastructure Outlook: Infrastructure Investment Need in the Compact with Africa Countries. Sydney: GIH.* https://cdn.gihub.org/outlook/live/methodology/ Global+Infrastructure+Outlook+CWA+update+summary+-+June+2018.pdf.

GlobalData. 2021. *Global Offshore Oil and Gas Upstream Development Outlook to 2025*. London:

Global Maritime Forum. 2020. "The scale of investment needed to decarbonize international shipping." https://www.globalmaritimeforum.org/news/ the-scale-of-investment-needed-to-decarbonize-international-shipping.

Goldberg, L., D. Lagomasino, N. Thomas, and T. Fatoyinbo. 2020. "Global Declines in Human-Driven Mangrove Loss." *Global Change Biology 26 (10): 5844–55.* https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15275. González, A.D., B. Frostell, and A. Carlsson-Kanyama. 2011. "Protein Efficiency per Unit Energy and per Unit Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Potential Contribution of Diet Choices to Climate Change Mitigation." *Food Policy* 36 (5): 562–70. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodpol.2011.07.003https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2011.07.003.

Gössling, S., C. Meyer-Habighorst, and A. Humpe. 2021. "A Global Review of Marine Air Pollution Policies, Their Scope and Effectiveness." *Ocean & Coastal Management* 212 (October): 105824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ocecoaman.2021.105824.

Gössling, S., M. Balas, M. Mayer, and Y-Y. Sun. 2023. "A Review of Tourism and Climate Change Mitigation: The Scales, Scopes, Stakeholders and Strategies of Carbon Management." *Tourism Management 95 (April): 104681.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2022.104681.

Government of Ireland. 2021. *Climate Action and Low Carbon Development (Amendment) Act 2021. Dublin.*

Gunter, M.M., M.B. O'Connor, K.D. Retzer, and J.M Lincoln. 2013. "Fatal Injuries in Offshore Oil and Gas Operations—United States, 2003–2010." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 62 (16): 301–4. https://www. cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6216a2.htm.

GWEC (Global Wind Energy Council). 2023. *Global Wind Report 2023.* Brussels: GWEC. https://gwec.net/global-windreport2023/.

Graça, J., Godinho, C. A., and Truninger, M. 2019. Reducing meat consumption and following plant-based diets: Current evidence and future directions to inform integrated transitions. Trends in Food Science & Technology, 91, 380-390. https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S092422441830606X

G20 Independent Experts Group. 2023. Strengthening multilateral development banks: The triple agenda. G20 Independent Experts Group. https://www.cgdev. org/publication/strengthening-multilateral-development-banks-triple-agenda. Hagger, V., T.A. Worthington, C.E. Lovelock, M.F. Adame, T. Amano, B.M. Brown, D.A. Friess, et al. 2022. "Drivers of Global Mangrove Loss and Gain in Social-Ecological Systems." *Nature Communications 13 (1): 6373.*

Hassellöv, I.-M., D.R. Turner, A. Lauer, and J.J. Corbett. 2013. "Shipping Contributes to Ocean Acidification." *Geophysical Research Letters* 40 (11): 2731–36. https:// doi.org/10.1002/grl.50521.

Havlík, P., H. Valin, M. Herrero, M. Obersteiner, E. Schmid, M.C. Rufino, A. Mosnier, et al. 2014. "Climate Change Mitigation through Livestock System Transitions." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111 (10): 3709–14. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1308044111.

Hemery, L.G., A.E. Copping, and D.M. Overhus. 2021. "Biological Consequences of Marine Energy Development on Marine Animals." *Energies* 14 (24). https://doi. org/10.3390/en14248460.

Hiddink, J.G., S.J. van de Velde, R.A. McConnaughey, E. De Borger, J. Tiano, M.J. Kaiser, A.K. Sweetman, and M. Sciberras. 2023. "Quantifying the Carbon Benefits of Ending Bottom Trawling." *Nature* 617 (7960): E1–2. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06014-7. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06014-7.

Hill, N.K., B.K. Woodworth, S.R. Phinn, N.J. Murray, and R.A. Fuller. 2021. "Global Protected-Area Coverage and Human Pressure on Tidal Flats." *Conservation Biology* 35 (3): 933–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13638.

HM (His Majesty's) Government. 2023. "2030 Strategic Framework for International Climate and Nature Action." Policy Paper. London: HM Government. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/1148323/2030-strategic-framework-for-international-climate-and-nature-action.pdf.

Hoegh-Guldberg, O., K. Caldeira, T. Chopin, S. Gaines, P. Haugan, M. Hemer, J. Howard, et al. 2019. "The Ocean as a Solution to Climate Change: Five Opportunities for Action." Washington, DC: World Resources Institute. https://oceanpanel.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/HLP_Report_Ocean_Solution_Climate_ Change_final.pdf. Howard, J., Sutton-Grier, A. E., Smart, L. S., Lopes, C. C., Hamilton, J., Kleypas, J., Simpson, S., McGowan, J., Pessarrodona, A., Alleway, H.K., and Landis, E. 2023. Blue carbon pathways for climate mitigation: Known, emerging and unlikely. Marine Policy, 156, 105788.

HSBC. 2022. "Our Energy Policy to Support Net Zero Transition." December 14. https://www.hsbc.com/ news-and-media/hsbc-news/our-energy-policy-to-support-net-zero-transition.

Humpe, A., Y-Y. Sun, and S. Gössling. 2023. "Cruise Emissions and Economic Feasibility of Alternative Fuels." *Annals of Tourism Research*.

Hurd, C.L., C.S. Law, L.T. Bach, D. Britton, M. Hovenden, E.R. Paine, J.A. Raven, V. Tamsitt, and P.W. Boyd. 2022. "Forensic Carbon Accounting: Assessing the Role of Seaweeds for Carbon Sequestration." *Journal of Phycology* 58 (3): 347–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpy.13249.

Hurtigruten Group. 2022. *ESG Report 2022: Protecting What We Love.* Oslo: Hurtigruten Group. https://www.hurtigruten.com/group/sustainability/reports/esg/.

ICS (International Chamber of Shipping). n.d. https:// www.ics-shipping.org/. Accessed June 5, 2023.

IEA (International Energy Agency). 2018. *Offshore Energy Outlook*. Paris: IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/ offshore-energy-outlook-2018.

IEA. 2019. "Offshore Oil and Gas Production by Scenario, 2016–2040." May 4. https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/offshore-oil-and-gas-production-by-scenario-2016-2040.

IEA. 2020. Energy Technology Perspectives: Special Report on Carbon Capture Utilisation and Storage. Paris: IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/ccus-in-clean-energy-transitions.

IEA. 2021a. *Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector.* Paris: IEA.

IEA. 2021b. "Total Primary Energy Supply by Fuel, 1971 and 2019." August 6. https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/total-primary-energy-supply-by-fuel-1971-and-2019. IEA. 2022a. *Global Hydrogen Review 2022*. Paris: IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/global-hydrogen-review-2022.

IEA. 2022b. *World Energy Outlook 2022*. Paris: IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2022.

IEA. 2023a. "CCUS Projects Explorer." March 24. https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-tools/ ccus-projects-explorer.

IEA. 2023b. Emissions from Oil and Gas Operations in Net Zero Transitions: A World Energy Outlook Special Report on the Oil and Gas Industry and COP28. Paris: IEA. https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/2f65984e-73ee-40ba-a4d5-bb2e2c94cecb/EmissionsfromOiland-GasOperationinNetZeroTransitions.pdf.

IEA. 2023c. *Fossil Fuels Consumption Subsidies 2022*. Paris: IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/fossil-fuels-consumption-subsidies-2022.

IEA. n.d. "Gas Flaring." https://www.iea.org/energy-system/fossil-fuels/gas-flaring#tracking. Accessed August 7, 2023.

IEA and OES (Ocean Energy Systems). 2023. Annual Report: An Overview of Ocean Energy Activities in 2022. Paris: IEA; Lisbon: OES. https://www.ocean-energy-systems.org/publications/oes-annual-reports/document/ oes-annual-report-2022/.

IEG (Independent Experts Group). 2023. Strengthening Multilateral Development Banks: The Triple Agenda. New Delhi: IEG Secretariat. https://www.cgdev.org/ publication/strengthening-multilateral-development-banks-triple-agenda.

IFC (International Finance Corporation). 2022. Guidelines Blue Finance: Guidance for Financing the Blue Economy, Building on the Green Bond Principles and the Green Loan Principles. Washington, DC: IFC. https:// www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/mgrt/ifc-guidelinesfor-blue-finance.pdf.

IMO (International Maritime Organization). 2021. *MEPC* 76/7/12, Proposal for IMO to Establish a Universal Mandatory Greenhouse Gas Levy. Submitted by the Marshall Islands and Solomon Islands. London: IMO. IMO. 2022. *Reduction of GHG Emissions from Ships*. London: IMO.

IMO. 2023a. "Annex 1: Resolution MEPC.377(80)—Adopted on 7 July 2023, 2023 IMO Strategy on Reduction of GHG Emissions from Ships." London: IMO. https:// wwwcdn.imo.org/localresources/en/OurWork/ Environment/Documents/annex/2023%20IMO%20 Strategy%20on%20Reduction%20of%20GHG%20Emissions%20from%20Ships.pdf.

IMO. 2023b. Reduction of GHG Emissions from Ships: Report on the Study on the Readiness and Availability of Low- and Zero-Carbon Ship Technology and Marine Fuels. London: IMO.

IMO" 2023c. "Revised GHG Reduction Strategy for Global Shipping Adopted." July 7. https://www. imo.org/en/MediaCentre/PressBriefings/Pages/ Revised-GHG-reduction-strategy-for-global-shipping-adopted-.aspx.

IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). 2005. *IPCC Special Report on Carbon Dioxide Capture and Storage. Prepared by Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by B. Metz, O. Davidson, H.C. de Coninck, M. Loos, and L.A. Meyer. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

IPCC. 2013a. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Working Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, G-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex, and P.M. Midgley. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

IPCC. 2013b. 2013 Supplement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories: Wetlands Methodological Guidance on Lands with Wet and Drained Soils, and Constructed Wetlands for Wastewater Treatment, edited by T. Hiraishi, T. Krug, K. Tanabe, N. Srivastava, B. Jamsranjav, M. Fukuda, and T. Troxler. Geneva: IPCC. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/ assets/uploads/2018/03/Wetlands_Supplement_Entire_Report.pdf. IPCC. 2018. Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the Threat of Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty, edited by V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, et al. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press. https://doi. org/10.1017/9781009157940.

IPCC. 2019. *IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate*. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press. https://www.ipcc. ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/3/2019/12/SROCC_Full-Report_FINAL.pdf.

IPCC. 2023. Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by H. Lee and J. Romero. Geneva: IPCC. https://doi.org/10.59327/IPCC/ AR6-9789291691647.

Iram, N., D.T. Maher, C.E. Lovelock, T. Baker, C. Cadier, and M.F. Adame. 2022. "Climate Change Mitigation and Improvement of Water Quality from the Restoration of a Subtropical Coastal Wetland." *Ecological Applications* 32 (5): e2620. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2620.

IRENA (International Renewable Energy Agency). 2021. *Offshore Renewables: An Action Agenda for Deployment.* Abu Dhabi: IRENA. https://www.irena.org/-/media/ Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2021/Jul/IRENA_G20_ Offshore_renewables_2021.pdf?rev=9e3ad6549dd44dc9aaaaedae16b747bb.

IRENA. 2022. *Renewable Power Generation Costs in 2021*. Abu Dhabi: IRENA. https://www.irena.org/ publications/2022/Jul/Renewable-Power-Generation-Costs-in-2021. IRENA. 2023. *World Energy Transitions Outlook:* 1.5°C *Pathway.* Abu Dhabi: IRENA. https://www.irena.org/ Publications/2023/Mar/World-Energy-Transitions-Outlook-2023#:~:text=The percent20World percent20Energy percent20Transitions percent20Outlook percent-20outlines percent20a percent20vision percent20for percent20the,net percent20zero percent20by percent-20mid percent2Dcentury.

IRENA and CPI (Climate Policy Initiative). 2023. *Global Landscape of Renewable Energy Finance, 2023*. Abu Dhabi: IRENA; San Francisco: CPI. https://www.irena. org/Publications/2023/Feb/Global-landscape-of-renewable-energy-finance-2023.

IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature). 2020. *Global Standard for Nature-based Solutions. A User-Friendly Framework for the Verification, Design and Scaling Up of NbS*. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. https:// portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2020-020-En.pdf.

Jacquemont, J., R. Blasiak, C. Le Cam, M. Le Gouellec, and J. Claudet. 2022. "Ocean Conservation Boosts Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation." *One Earth* 5 (10): 1126–38. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. oneear.2022.09.002https://doi.org/10.1016/j. oneear.2022.09.002.

Janipour, Z. 2023. "The Bottlenecks Challenging Growth in the EU Offshore Wind Supply Chain." Rabobank, March 13. https://www.rabobank.com/ knowledge/d011354306-the-bottlenecks-challenginggrowth-in-the-eu-offshore-wind-sup.

Jankowska, E., R. Pelc, J. Alvarez, M. Mehra, and C.J. Frischmann. 2022. "Climate Benefits from Establishing Marine Protected Areas Targeted at Blue Carbon Solutions." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 119 (23): e2121705119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2121705119. Jaramillo, P., S. Kahn Ribeiro, P. Newman, S. Dhar, O.E. Diemuodeke, T. Kajino, D.S. Lee, et al. 2022. "Transport." In *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, R. Slade, A. Al Khourdajie, R. van Diemen, D. McCollum, M. Pathak, et al. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

Järviö, N., P.J.G. Henriksson, and J.B. Guinée. 2018. "Including GHG Emissions from Mangrove Forests LULUC in LCA: A Case Study on Shrimp Farming in the Mekong Delta, Vietnam." *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 23 (5): 1078–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11367-017-1332-9.

Jernelöv, A., 2010. "The Threats from Oil Spills: Now, Then, and in the Future." *Ambio* 39 (5–6): 353–66. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3357709/.

Johansen, D.F., and R.A. Vestvik. 2020. "The Cost of Saving Our Ocean—Estimating the Funding Gap of Sustainable Development Goal 14." *Marine Policy* 112 (February): 103783. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpol.2019.103783.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2019.103783.

Jonell, M., and P.J.G. Henriksson. 2015. "Mangrove-Shrimp Farms in Vietnam: Comparing Organic and Conventional Systems Using Life Cycle Assessment." *Aquaculture* 447 (October): 66–75. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.11.001https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.11.001.

Kapoor, A., G.S. Fraser, and A. Carter. 2021. "Marine Conservation versus Offshore Oil and Gas Extraction: Reconciling an Intensifying Dilemma in Atlantic Canada." *Extractive Industries and Society* 8 (4): 100978. https://doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1016/j.exis.2021.100978https://doi.org/10.1016/j. exis.2021.100978. Khan, M., and E. Northrop. 2022. "Analysis of Ocean-Based Climate Action in Nationally Determined Contributions." Technical Note. Washington, DC: World Resources Institute. https://doi.org/10.46830/ writn.22.00063.

Kinley, R.D., G. Martinez-Fernandez, M.K. Matthews, R. de Nys, M. Magnusson, and N.W. Tomkins. 2020. "Mitigating the Carbon Footprint and Improving Productivity of Ruminant Livestock Agriculture Using a Red Seaweed." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 259 (June): 120836. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2020.120836https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120836.

Krause-Jensen, D., and C.M. Duarte. 2016. "Substantial Role of Macroalgae in Marine Carbon Sequestration." *Nature Geoscience* 9 (10): 737–42. https://doi. org/10.1038/ngeo2790.

Krause-Jensen, D., P. Lavery, O. Serrano, N. Marbà, P. Masque, and C.M. Duarte. 2018. "Sequestration of Macroalgal Carbon: The Elephant in the Blue Carbon Room." *Biology Letters 14 (6): 20180236*. https://doi. org/10.1098/rsbl.2018.0236.

Krause-Jensen, D., P. Archambault, J. Assis, I. Bartsch, K. Bischof, K. Filbee-Dexter, K.H. Dunton, et al. 2020. "Imprint of Climate Change on Pan-Arctic Marine Vegetation." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 7 (December). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.617324.

Kris-Etherton, P.M., W.S. Harris, and L.J. Appel. 2002. "Fish Consumption, Fish Oil, Omega-3 Fatty Acids, and Cardiovascular Disease." *Circulation* 106 (21): 2747–57. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000038493.65177.94.

Krishnan, M., H. Samandari, J. Woetzel, S. Smit, D. Pacthod, D. Pinner, T. Naucler, et al. 2022. "Six Characteristics Define the Net-Zero Transition." McKinsey Sustainability, January 25. https://www.mckinsey.com/ capabilities/sustainability/our-insights/six-characteristics-define-the-net-zero-transition.

Krumhansl, K.A., D.K. Okamoto, A. Rassweiler, M. Novak, J.J. Bolton, K.C. Cavanaugh, S.D. Connell, et al. 2016. "Global Patterns of Kelp Forest Change over the Past Half-Century." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113 (48): 13785–90. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1606102113. Kuwae, T., A. Watanabe, S. Yoshihara, F. Suehiro, and Y. Sugimura. 2022. "Implementation of Blue Carbon Offset Crediting for Seagrass Meadows, Macroalgal Beds, and Macroalgae Farming in Japan." *Marine Policy* 138 (April): 104996. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2022.104996https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marpol.2022.104996.

Lathwal, P., P. Vaishnav, and M.G. Morgan. 2021. "Environmental and Health Consequences of Shore Power for Vessels Calling at Major Ports in India." *Environmental Research Letters* 16 (6): 064042. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abfd5b.

Lazard. 2022. *Lazard's Levelized Costs of Energy Analysis*. London: Lazard.

Le Blanc, D., C. Freire, and M. Vierros. 2017. "Mapping the Linkages between Oceans and Other Sustainable Development Goals: A Preliminary Exploration." Working Paper 149. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. https://sdgs.un.org/sites/ default/files/documents/12468DESA_WP149_E.pdf.

Lebling, K., E. Northrop, C. McCormick, and E. Bridgwater. 2022. *Toward Responsible and Informed Ocean-Based Carbon Dioxide Removal Research and Governance Priorities.* Washington, DC: World Resources Institute. https://www.wri.org/research/responsible-informed-ocean-based-carbon-dioxide-removal.

Lee, J., B. Kim, J. Noh, C. Lee, I. Kwon, B.O. Kwon, J. Ryu, J. Park, S. Hong, S. Lee, and S.G. Kim. 2021. "The First National Scale Evaluation of Organic Carbon Stocks and Sequestration Rates of Coastal Sediments along the West Sea, South Sea, and East Sea of South Korea." *Science of the Total Environment* 793 (November): 148568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2021.148568.

Lee, S.Y., S. Hamilton, E.B. Barbier, J. Primavera, and R.R. Lewis. 2019. "Better Restoration Policies Are Needed to Conserve Mangrove Ecosystems." *Nature Ecology & Evolution 3 (6): 870–72.* https://doi. org/10.1038/s41559-019-0861-y. Legge, O., M. Johnson, N. Hicks, T. Jickells, M. Diesing, J. Aldridge, J. Andrews, et al. 2020. "Carbon on the Northwest European Shelf: Contemporary Budget and Future Influences." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 7 (March). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00143.

Leiva-Dueñas, C., A.E.L. Graversen, G.T. Banta, M. Holmer, P. Masque, P.A.U. Stæhr, and D. Krause-Jensen. 2023. "Capturing of Organic Carbon and Nitrogen in Eelgrass Sediments of Southern Scandinavia." *Limnology and Oceanography* 68 (3): 631–48. https://doi. org/10.1002/lno.12299.

Lester, S.E., G. McDonald, M. Clemence, D. Dougherty, and C.S. Szuwalski. 2017. "Impacts of TURFs and Marine Reserves on Fisheries and Conservation Goals: Theory, Empirical Evidence, and Modeling." *Bulletin of Marine Science* 93: 173–98. https://doi. org/10.5343/bms.2015.1083.

Lindstad, E., T.Ø. Ask, P. Cariou, G.S. Eskeland, and A. Rialland. 2023. "Wise Use of Renewable Energy in Transport." *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 119 (June): 103713. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2023.103713https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trd.2023.103713.

Lindstad, E., B. Lagemann, A. Rialland, G.M. Gamlem, and A. Valland. 2021. "Reduction of Maritime GHG Emissions and the Potential Role of E-Fuels." *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* 101 (December): 103075. https://doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trd.2021.103075https://doi.org/10.1016/j. trd.2021.103075.

Lindstad, E., T. Stokke, A. Alteskjær, H. Borgen, and I. Sandaas. 2022. "Ship of the Future: A Slender Dry-Bulker with Wind Assisted Propulsion." *Maritime Transport Research* 3: 100055. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.martra.2022.100055https://doi. org/10.1016/j.martra.2022.100055.

Lindstad, H., R.M. Bright, and A.H. Strømman. 2016. "Economic Savings Linked to Future Arctic Shipping Trade Are at Odds with Climate Change Mitigation." *Transport Policy* 45 (January): 24–30. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2015.09.002https:/doi. org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2015.09.002.
Loomis, R., S.R. Cooley, J.R. Collins, S. Engler, and L. Suatoni. 2022. "A Code of Conduct Is Imperative for Ocean Carbon Dioxide Removal Research." *Frontiers in Marine Science* 9 (May): 872800. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmars.2022.872800

Lovejoy, T.E., and L.J. Hannah, eds. 2019. *Biodiversity and Climate Change: Transforming the Biosphere*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

Lovelock, C.E., D.R. Cahoon, D.A. Friess, G.R. Guntenspergen, K.W. Krauss, R. Reef, K. Rogers, et al. 2015. "The Vulnerability of Indo-Pacific Mangrove Forests to Sea-Level Rise." *Nature* 526 (October): 559–63. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature15538.

Lovelock, C.E., M.F. Adame, D.W. Butler, J.J. Kelleway, S. Dittmann, B. Fest, K.J. King, P.I. Macreadie, K. Mitchell, M. Newnham, A. Ola, C.J. Owers, and N. Welti. 2022. "Modeled approaches to estimating blue carbon accumulation with mangrove restoration to support a blue carbon accounting method for Australia." *Limnology and Oceanography* 67 (S2): S50-S60. https:// doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.12014. https://doi. org/10.1002/lno.12014.

Lubchenco, J., E.B. Cerny-Chipman, J.N. Reimer, and S.A. Levin. 2016. "The Right Incentives Enable Ocean Sustainability Successes and Provide Hope for the Future." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113 (51): 14507–14. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1604982113.

Luo, M., W. Zhu, J. Huang, Y. Liu, X. Duan, J. Wu, and C. Tong. 2019. "Anaerobic Organic Carbon Mineralization in Tidal Wetlands along a Low-Level Salinity Gradient of a Subtropical Estuary: Rates, Pathways, and Controls." *Geoderma* 337 (March): 1245–57. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2018.07.030.

Luisetti, T., S. Ferrini, G. Grilli, T.D. Jickells, H. Kennedy, S. Kröger, I. Lorenzoni, B. Milligan, J. van der Molen, R. Parker, T. Pryce, R. K. Turner, and E. Tyllianakis. 2020. "Climate action requires new accounting guidance and governance frameworks to manage carbon in shelf seas." *Nature Communications* 11 (1): 4599. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18242-w. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-020-18242-w. Mace, M.J., C.L. Fyson, M. Schaeffer, and W.L. Hare. 2021. "Large-Scale Carbon Dioxide Removal to Meet the 1.5°C Limit: Key Governance Gaps, Challenges and Priority Responses." *Global Policy* 12 (S1): 67–81. https:// doi.org/10.1111/1758-5899.12921.

MacLeod, M.J., M.R. Hasan, D.H.F. Robb, and M. Mamun-Ur-Rashid. 2020. "Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Global Aquaculture." *Scientific Reports* 10 (July): 11679. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-020-68231-8.

MacNeill, T., and D. Wozniak. 2018. "The Economic, Social, and Environmental Impacts of Cruise Tourism." *Tourism Management* 66 (June): 387–404.

Macreadie, P.I., A.I. Robertson, B. Spinks, M.P. Adams, J.M. Atchison, J. Bell-James, B.A. Bryan, L. Chu, K. Filbee-Dexter, and L. Drake. 2022. "Operationalizing marketable blue carbon." *One Earth 5 (5): 485-492.*

Malhi, Y., T. Lander, E. le Roux, N. Stevens, M. Macias-Fauria, L. Wedding, C. Girardin, et al. 2022. "The Role of Large Wild Animals in Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation." *Current Biology 32 (4): R181–96.*

Mariani, G., W.W.L. Cheung, A. Lyet, E. Sala, J. Mayorga, L. Velez, S.D. Gaines, T. Dejean, M. Troussellier, and D. Mouillot. 2020. "Let More Big Fish Sink: Fisheries Prevent Blue Carbon Sequestration—Half in Unprofitable Areas." *Science Advances* 6 (44): eabb4848. https://doi. org/10.1126/sciadv.abb4848.

McGrath, K.P., N.L. Pelletier, and P.H. Tyedmers. 2015. "Life Cycle Assessment of a Novel Closed-Containment Salmon Aquaculture Technology." *Environmental Science & Technology* 49 (9): 5628–36. https://doi. org/10.1021/es5051138.

McKenzie, L.J., L.M. Nordlund, B.L. Jones, L.C. Cullen-Unsworth, C, Roelfsema, and R.K. Unsworth. 2020. "The Global Distribution of Seagrass Meadows." *Environmental Research Letters* 15 (July): 074041.

Meynecke, J.O., S. Samanta, J. de Bie, E. Seyboth, S. Prakash Dey, G. Fearon, M. Vichi, K. Findlay, A. Roychoudhury, and B. Mackey. 2023. "Do Whales Really Increase the Oceanic Removal of Atmospheric Carbon?" *Frontiers in Marine Science* 10 (June). https://doi. org/10.3389/fmars.2023.1117409. Minx, J.C., W.F. Lamb, M.W. Callaghan, S. Fuss, J. Hilaire, F. Creutzig, T. Amann, et al. 2018. "Negative Emissions— Part 1: Research Landscape and Synthesis." *Environmental Research Letters* 13 (6): 063001. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabf9b.

Moniz, E.J., J.S. Hezir, M. Knotek, T. Bushman, S. Savitz, A. Breckel, A. Kizer, et al. 2020. *Uncharted Waters: Expanding the Options for Carbon Dioxide Removal in Coastal and Ocean Environments.* Washington, DC: Energy Futures Initiative. https://efifoundation.org/ wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2022/03/UnchartedWaters_Report_Dec2020.pdf.

Morgan Stanley. 2023. "4 Ways to Invest in a Sustainable 'Blue Economy.'" April 11. https://www.morganstanley. com/ideas/blue-economy-investing-ocean-priorities.

Murray, N.J., S.R. Phinn, M. DeWitt, R. Ferrari, R. Johnston, M.B. Lyons, N. Clinton, D. Thau, and R.A. Fuller. 2019. "The Global Distribution and Trajectory of Tidal Flats." *Nature* 565 (January): 222–25. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-018-0805-8.

Murray, N.J., P. Bunting, R.F. Canto, L. Hilarides, E.V. Kennedy, R.M. Lucas, M.B. Lyons, et al. 2022. "coastTrain: A Global Reference Library for Coastal Ecosystems." *Remote Sensing* 14 (22). https://doi. org/10.3390/rs14225766.

Najoui, Z., N. Amoussou, S. Riazanoff, G. Aurel, and F. Frappart. 2022. "Oil Slicks in the Gulf of Guinea: 10 Years of Envisat Advanced Synthetic Aperture Radar Observations." *Earth System Science Data* 14 (10): 4569–88. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-14-4569-2022.

Nara, H., H. Tanimoto, Y. Tohjima, H. Mukai, Y. Nojiri, and T. Machida. 2014. "Emissions of Methane from Offshore Oil and Gas Platforms in Southeast Asia." *Scientific Reports* 4 (September): 6503. https://doi. org/10.1038/srep06503.

National Academies of Sciences ,Engineering, and Medicine. 2021. *A Research Strategy for Ocean-Based Carbon Dioxide Removal and Sequestration*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press. Nawaz, S., G. Peterson St-Laurent, and T. Satterfield. 2023. "Public Evaluations of Four Approaches to Ocean-Based Carbon Dioxide Removal." *Climate Policy* 23 (3): 379–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/146930 62.2023.2179589.

Naylor, R.L., R.J. Goldburg, J.H. Primavera, N. Kautsky, M.C.M. Beveridge, J. Clay, C. Folke, J. Lubchenco, H. Mooney, and M. Troell. 2000. "Effect of Aquaculture on World Fish Supplies." *Nature* 405 (June): 1017–24. https://doi.org/10.1038/35016500.

Naylor, R.L., R.W. Hardy, D.P. Bureau, A. Chiu, M. Elliott, A.P. Farrell, I. Forster, et al. 2009. "Feeding Aquaculture in an Era of Finite Resources." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106 (36): 15103–10. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0905235106.

NCLH (Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd). 2022. Sail & Sustain: 2022 ESG Report. Miami: NCLH. https:// dlio3yog0oux5.cloudfront.net/_aaf509243c0b2c-3fa4fc74dba3c082dc/nclhltd/db/1204/11424/file/NCL-H+2022+ESG+Report.pdf.

Neff, J., K. Lee, and E.M. DeBlois. 2011. "Produced Water: Overview of Composition, Fates, and Effects." In *Produced Water: Environmental Risks and Advances in Mitigation Technologies*, edited by K. Lee and J. Neff, 3–54. New York: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-0046-2_1.

Negron, A.M.G., E.A. Kort, Y. Chen, A.R. Brandt, M.L. Smith, G. Plant, A.K. Ayasse, et al. 2023. "Excess Methane Emissions from Shallow Water Platforms Elevate the Carbon Intensity of US Gulf of Mexico Oil and Gas Production." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 120* (15): e2215275120. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2215275120

New Zealand Parliament. 2018. Crown Minerals (Petroleum) Amendment Act 2018. Wellington: Government of New Zealand.

Nielsen, M.O., C.F. Børsting, M.R. Weisberg, and P. Lund. 2022. "Metan emission fra drøvtykkere: En klimaudfordring, der kræver løsninger." *Tidsskrift for Landøkonomi* 2: 81–93. Nilsson, M., D. Griggs, and M. Visbeck. 2016. "Policy: Map the interactions between Sustainable Development Goals." *Nature* 534 (June): 320–22. https://doi. org/10.1038/534320a.

Norouzi, N. 2021. "Post-COVID-19 and Globalization of Oil and Natural Gas Trade: Challenges, Opportunities, Lessons, Regulations, and Strategies." *International Journal of Energy Research 45 (10): 14338–56.* https:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/er.6762.

Nørskov, N.P., A. Bruhn, A. Cole, and M.O. Nielsen. 2021. "Targeted and Untargeted Metabolic Profiling to Discover Bioactive Compounds in Seaweeds and Hemp Using Gas and Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry." *Metabolites* 11 (5). https://doi.org/10.3390/ metabo11050259.

Northrop, E., M. Khan, I.B. Billecocq, M. Lecerf, L. Picourt, T. Thiele, C. Hemmerly, and S.S. Yadav. 2022. *Blue Ambition Loop: Achieving Ambitious 2030 Ocean-Climate Action—Non-state Actor Ambition towards Net Zero and a Resilient Ocean Economy*. Washington DC: World Resources Institute; Paris: Ocean and Climate Platform; Fredericia, Denmark: Orsted; New York: UN global Compact. https://climatechampions.unfccc.int/ wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Ocean-Climate-Tracker-Report-WRI-_-HLCs.pdf.

Ocean Panel (High Level Panel for a Sustainable Ocean Economy). 2021. *100% Sustainable Ocean Management: An Introduction to Sustainable Ocean Plans.* Washington, DC: Ocean Panel. https://oceanpanel.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/21_REP_Ocean-SOP_v10.pdf.

Ocean Visions. N.d. "Ocean-Based Carbon Dioxide Removal: Road Maps." https://oceanvisions.org/roadmaps/.

Ocean Visions and MBARI (Monterey Bay Aquarium Research Institute). 2022. *Answering Critical Questions about Sinking Macroalgae for Carbon Dioxide Removal: A Research Framework to Investigate Sequestration Efficacy and Environmental Impacts*. Leesburg, VA: Ocean Visions; Moss Landing, CA: MBARI. https://oceanvisions. org/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Ocean-Visions-Sinking-Seaweed-Report_FINAL.pdf. Odenweller, A., F. Ueckerdt, G.F. Nemet, M. Jensterle, and G. Luderer. 2022. "Probabilistic Feasibility Space of Scaling up Green Hydrogen Supply." *Nature Energy* 7 (September): 854–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41560-022-01097-4.

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). 2016. *The Ocean Economy in 2030. Paris: OECD*. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264251724-en.

OECD. 2022. "Support for Fossil Fuels Almost Doubled in 2021, Slowing Progress toward International Climate Goals, According to New Analysis from OECD and IEA." August 29. https://www.oecd.org/newsroom/supportfor-fossil-fuels-almost-doubled-in-2021-slowing-progress-toward-international-climate-goals-accordingto-new-analysis-from-oecd-and-iea.htm#:~:text=New percent200ECD percent20and percent20IEA percent-20data,rebound percent20of percent20the percent-20global percent20economy.

Omukuti, J. 2020. "Challenging the Obsession with Local Level Institutions in Country Ownership of Climate Change Adaptation." *Land Use Policy* 94 (May): 104525. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.104525https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.104525.

Parker, R. 2018. "Implications of High Animal By-Product Feed Inputs in Life Cycle Assessments of Farmed Atlantic Salmon." *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 23 (May): 982–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11367-017-1340-9.

Parker, R.W.R., C. Gardner, B.S. Green, K. Hartmann, and R.A. Watson. 2017. "Drivers of Fuel Use in Rock Lobster Fisheries." *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 74 (6): 1681–89. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsx024.

Parker, R.W.R., J.L. Blanchard, C. Gardner, B.S. Green, K. Hartmann, P.H. Tyedmers, and R.A. Watson. 2018. "Fuel Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions of World Fisheries." *Nature Climate Change* 8 (April): 333–37. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41558-018-0117-x. Pascoe, S., and J.P. Innes. 2018. "Economic Impacts of the Development of an Offshore Oil and Gas Industry on Fishing Industries: A Review of Experiences and Assessment Methods." *Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture* 26 (3): 350–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/233 08249.2018.1436521.

Pascoe, S., L. Coglan, A.E. Punt, and C.M. Dichmont. 2012. "Impacts of Vessel Capacity Reduction Programmes on Efficiency in Fisheries: The Case of Australia's Multispecies Northern Prawn Fishery." *Journal of Agricultural Economics* 63 (2): 425–43. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1477-9552.2011.00333.x.

Pearson, H.C., M.S. Savoca, D.P. Costa, M.W. Lomas, R. Molina, A.J. Pershing, C.R. Smith, J.C. Villaseñor-Derbez, S.R. Wing, and J. Roman. 2023. "Whales in the Carbon Cycle: Can Recovery Remove Carbon Dioxide." *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 38 (3): 238–49. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tree.2022.10.012.

Pelletier, N., P. Tyedmers, U. Sonesson, A. Scholz, F. Ziegler, A. Flysjo, S. Kruse, B. Cancino, and H. Silverman. 2009. "Not All Salmon Are Created Equal: Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of Global Salmon Farming Systems." *Environmental Science & Technology* 43 (23): 8730–36. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9010114.

Pessarrodona, A., Franco-Santos, R. M., Wright, L. S., Vanderklift, M. A., Howard, J., Pidgeon, E., Wernberg, T., and Filbee-Dexter, K. 2023. Carbon sequestration and climate change mitigation using macroalgae: a state of knowledge review. Biological Reviews. https://doi. org/10.1111/brv.12990

Peura, P., T. Liesch, U. Riese, B. Millot, M. Léveillée, A. Matthews, C. Park, et al. 2023. "Position on the Oil and Gas Sector." Geneva: Net-Zero Asset Owners Alliance, United Nations Environment Programme. https://www. unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/ NZAOA-Position-on-the-Oil-and-Gas-Sector.pdf.

Pitcher, C.R., J.G. Hiddink, S. Jennings, J. Collie, A.M. Parma, R. Amoroso, T. Mazor, et al. 2022. "Trawl Impacts on the Relative Status of Biotic Communities of Seabed Sedimentary Habitats in 24 Regions Worldwide." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 119 (2): e2109449119.* https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2109449119. Poore, J., and T. Nemecek. 2018. "Reducing Food's Environmental Impacts through Producers and Consumers." *Science* 360 (6392): 987–92. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aaq0216.

Prakash, A., K. McGlade, M.K. Roxy, J. Roy, S. Some, and N. Rao. 2022. "Climate Adaptation Interventions in Coastal Areas: A Rapid Review of Social and Gender Dimensions." *Frontiers in Climate* 4 (April). https://doi. org/10.3389/fclim.2022.785212.

Présidence de la République. 2023. Summit for a New Global Financing Pact: Chair's Summary of Discussions at the Summit on a New Global Financing Pact. Paris : Présidence de la République. https://nouveaupactefinancier.org/pdf/chairs-summary-of-discussions.pdf.

Rana, K.J., S. Siriwardena, and M.R. Hasan. 2009. "Impact of Rising Feed Ingredient Prices on Aquafeeds and Aquaculture Production." Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. https://www.fao.org/3/ i1143e/i1143e00.htm.

Rehmatulla, N., and T.W.P. Smith. 2020. "The Impact of Split Incentives on Energy Efficiency Technology Investments in Maritime Transport." *Energy Policy* 147 (December): 111721.

Renforth, P., and G. Henderson. 2017. "Assessing Ocean Alkalinity for Carbon Sequestration." *Reviews of Geophysics* 55 (3): 636–74. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1002/2016RG000533https:/doi. org/10.1002/2016RG000533.

Ricart, A.M., D. Krause-Jensen, K. Hancke, N.N. Price, P. Masqué, and C.M. Duarte. 2022. "Sinking Seaweed in the Deep Ocean for Carbon Neutrality Is Ahead of Science and beyond the Ethics." *Environmental Research Letters* 17 (8): 081003. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac82ff.

Richards, D.R., and D.A. Friess. 2016. "Rates and Drivers of Mangrove Deforestation in Southeast Asia, 2000– 2012." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113 (2): 344–49. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1510272113. Ritchie, H., M. Roser, and P. Rosado. 2020. "CO₂ and Greenhouse Gas Emissions." Our World in Data. https://ourworldindata.org/co2-and-greenhouse-gas-emissions.

Robinson, J.P.W., A. Garrett, J.C. Paredes Esclapez, E. Maire, R.W.R. Parker, and N.A.J. Graham. 2022. "Navigating Sustainability and Health Trade-Offs in Global Seafood Systems." *Environmental Research Letters* 17 (12): 124042. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aca490.

Rogers, K., J.J. Kelleway, N. Saintilan, J.P. Megonigal, J.B. Adams, J.R. Holmquist, M. Lu, et al. 2019. "Wetland Carbon Storage Controlled by Millennial-Scale Variation in Relative Sea-Level Rise." *Nature* 567 (March): 91–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-0951-7.

Roque, B.M., J.K. Salwen, R. Kinley, and E. Kebreab. 2019. "Inclusion of *Asparagopsis armata* in Lactating Dairy Cows' Diet Reduces Enteric Methane Emission by over 50 percent." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 234 (October): 132–38. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.06.193https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.06.193.

Rosentreter, J.A., G.G. Laruelle, H.W. Bange, T.S. Bianchi, J.J.M. Busecke, W-J. Cai, B.D. Eyre, I. Forbrich, E.Y. Kwon, T. Maavara, N. Moosdorf, R.G. Najjar, V.V.S.S. Sarma, B. Van Dam, and P. Regnier, "Coastal vegetation and estuaries are collectively a greenhouse gas sink." *Nature Climate Change* 13 (6): 579-587. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41558-023-01682-9. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41558-023-01682-9.

Ross, F.W.R., P.W. Boyd, K. Filbee-Dexter, K. Watanabe, A. Ortega, D. Krause-Jensen, C. Lovelock, et al. 2023. "Potential Role of Seaweeds in Climate Change Mitigation." *Science of the Total Environment* 885 (August): 163699. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2023.163699https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.163699. Rouwenhorst, K., G. Castellanos, F. Boshell, R. Roesch, Gielen D., and T. Brown. 2022. *Innovation Outlook: Renewable Ammonia*. Abu Dhabi: International Renewable Energy Agency; Brooklyn, NY: Ammonia Energy Association. https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/ IRENA/Agency/Publication/2022/May/IRENA_Innovation_Outlook_Ammonia_2022.pdf?rev=50e91f792d-3442279fca0d4ee24757ea.

Roy, J., A. Prakash, S. Some, C. Singh, R. Bezner Kerr, M.A. Caretta, C. Conde, et al. 2022. "Synergies and Trade-Offs between Climate Change Adaptation Options and Gender Equality: A Review of the Global Literature." *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications* 9 (August): 251. https://doi.org/10.1057/ s41599-022-01266-6.

Royal Caribbean Group. 2021. Seastainability: 2021 Environmental, Social and Governance Report. Miami, FL: Royal Caribbean Group. https://www.royalcaribbeangroup.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/RCG-ESG-Report-2021_05.pdf.

Rusu, L., and E. Rusu. 2021. "Evaluation of the Worldwide Wave Energy Distribution Based on ERA5 Data and Altimeter Measurements." *Energies 14 (2)*. https://doi. org/10.3390/en14020394.

Rystad Energy. 2023. "Offshore Is Back: More than \$200 Billion of Greenfield Investments Expected by 2025." Press Release, March 7. https://www.rystadenergy. com/news/offshore-is-back-more-than-200-billion-ofgreenfield-investments-expected-by-2025.

Sala, E., J. Mayorga, D. Bradley, R.B. Cabral, T.B. Atwood, A. Auber, W. Cheung, et al. 2021. "Protecting the Global Ocean for Biodiversity, Food and Climate." *Nature* 592 (April): 397–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-021-03371-z.

Sarker, P.K., A.R. Kapuscinski, A.Y. Bae, E. Donaldson, A.J. Sitek, D.S. Fitzgerald, and O.F. Edelson. 2018. "Towards Sustainable Aquafeeds: Evaluating Substitution of Fishmeal with Lipid-Extracted Microalgal Co-product (*Nannochloropsis oculata*) in Diets of Juvenile Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*)." *PLOS ONE* 13 (7): e0201315. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201315. Sasmito, S.D., M. Sillanpää, M.A. Hayes, S. Bachri, M.F. Saragi-Sasmito, F. Sidik, B.B. Hanggara, et al. 2020. "Mangrove Blue Carbon Stocks and Dynamics Are Controlled by Hydrogeomorphic Settings and Land-Use Change." *Global Change Biology* 26 (5): 3028–39. https:// doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15056.

Sasmito, S.D., M. Basyuni, A. Kridalaksana, M.F. Saragi-Sasmito, C.E. Lovelock, and D. Murdiyarso. 2023. "Challenges and Opportunities for Achieving Sustainable Development Goals through Restoration of Indonesia's Mangroves." *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 7 (January): 62–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41559-022-01926-5.

Saunders, M.I., J. Leon, S.R. Phinn, D.P. Callaghan, K.R. O'Brien, C.M. Roelfsema, C.E. Lovelock, M.B. Lyons, and P.J. Mumby. 2013. "Coastal Retreat and Improved Water Quality Mitigate Losses of Seagrass from Sea Level Rise." *Global Change Biology* 19 (8): 2569–83. https:// doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12218.

Schindler Murray, L., B. Milligan, O.S. Ashford, E. Bonotto, M. Cifuentes-Jara, L. Glass, J. Howard, et al. 2023. *The Blue Carbon Handbook: Blue Carbon as a Nature-Based Solution for Climate Action and Sustainable Development.* Washington, DC: High Level Panel for a Sustainable Ocean Economy. https://oceanpanel.org/ publication/blue-carbon/.

Schuerch, M., T. Spencer, S. Temmerman, M.L. Kirwan, C. Wolff, D. Lincke, C.J. McOwen, et al. 2019. "Author Correction: Future Response of Global Coastal Wetlands to Sea-Level Rise." *Nature* 569 (May): E8. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1205-4.

Schuller, O., S. Kupferschmid, J. Hengstler, and S. Whitehouse. 2019. *Addendum: Life Cycle GHG Emission Study on the Use of LNG as Marine Fuel*. Chicago: Sphera. https://sustainableworldports.org/wp-content/ uploads/thinkstep_2019_Addendum-life-cycle-GHGemission-study-report.pdf.

Scott, D., B. Amelung, S. Becken, J-P. Ceron, G. Dubois, S. Gössling, P. Peeters, and M. Simpson. 2008. *Climate Change and Tourism: Responding to Global Challenges.* Madrid: World Tourism Organization. https://webunwto.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/imported_images/30875/climate2008.pdf. Scott, J. 2023. "Rishi Sunak Stands by Oil Drilling Expansion as Critics Warn of Climate Consequences." Sky News, August 1. https://news.sky.com/story/rishisunak-heads-to-scotland-for-net-zero-energy-policy-push-12930459.

Searchinger, T., R. Waite, C. Hanson, J. Ranganathan, P. Dumas, E. Matthews, and C. Klirs. 2019. *Creating a Sustainable Food Future: A Menu of Solutions to Feed Nearly 10 Billion People by 2050.* Washington, DC: World Resources Institute.

Shahriar, T., M.A. Habib, M. Hasanuzzaman, and M. Shahrear-Bin-Zaman. 2019. "Modelling and optimization of Searaser Wave Energy Converter Based Hydroelectric Power Generation for Saint Martin's Island in Bangladesh." *Ocean Engineering* 192 (November): 106289. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. oceaneng.2019.106289.

Shumway, N., J. Bell-James, J.A. Fitzsimons, R. Foster, C. Gillies, and C.E. Lovelock. 2021. "Policy Solutions to Facilitate Restoration in Coastal Marine Environments." *Marine Policy* 134 (December): 104789. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104789. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104789.

Siegel, D.A., T. DeVries, S.C. Doney, and T. Bell. 2021. "Assessing the Sequestration Time Scales of Some Ocean-Based Carbon Dioxide Reduction Strategies." *Environmental Research Letters* 16 (10): 104003. https:// doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac0be0.

Singh, G.G., A.M. Cisneros-Montemayor, W. Swartz, W. Cheung, J.A. Guy, T-A. Kenny, C.J. McOwen, et al. 2018. "A Rapid Assessment of Co-benefits and Trade-Offs among Sustainable Development Goals." *Marine Policy* 93 (July): 223–31. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.05.030. Smith, P., M. Bustamante, H. Ahammad, H. Clark, H. Dong, E.A. Elsiddig, H. Haberl, et al. 2014. "Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU)." In *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, et al., 811–922. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

Smith, T., D. Baresic, J. Fahnestock, C. Galbraith, C. Velandia Perico, I. Rojon, and A. Shaw. 2021. *A Strategy for the Transition to Zero-Emission Shipping*. London: University Maritime Advisory Services, Getting to Zero Coalition. https://www.u-mas.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Transition-Strategy-Report.pdf.

Smith, T.W.P., J.P. Jalkanen, B.A. Anderson, J.J. Corbett, J. Faber, S. Hanayama, E. O'Keeffe, et al. 2015. *Third IMO Greenhouse Gas Study 2014*. London: International Maritime Organization. https://greenvoyage2050. imo.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/third-imo-ghgstudy-2014-executive-summary-and-final-report.pdf.

Smith, T.W.P., J.-M. Bonello, and A. Kapur. 2023. *How Can International Shipping Align with 1.5°C: Focus on 1.5 Alignment in 2030. London:* University Maritime Advisory Services.

Snyder, L.B., M.A. Hamilton, E.W. Mitchell, J. Kiwanuka-Tondo, F. Fleming-Milici, and D. Proctor. 2004. "A Meta-analysis of the Effect of Mediated Health Communication Campaigns on Behavior Change in the United States." *Journal of Health Communication* 9 (sup1): 71–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730490271548.

Soukissian, T., A.M. O'Hagan, A. Azzellino, F. Boero, A. Brito e Melo, P. Comiskey, Z. Gao, et al. 2023. "European Offshore Renewable Energy: Towards a Sustainable Future." Future Science Brief 9, edited by J.J. Heymans, P. Kellett, B. Alexander, Á. Muñiz Piniella, A. Rodriguez Perez, and J. Van Elslander. Ostend, Belgium: European Marine Board. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7561906. Spalding, M.D., K. Longley-Wood, V.P. McNulty, S. Constantine, M. Acosta-Morel, V. Anthony, A.D. Cole, et al. 2023. "Nature Dependent Tourism: Combining Big Data and Local Knowledge." *Journal of Environmental Management* 337 (July): 117696. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2023.117696. ttps://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2023.117696.

Spijkerboer, R.C., C. Zuidema, T. Busscher, and J. Arts. 2020. "The Performance of Marine Spatial Planning in Coordinating Offshore Wind Energy with Other Sea-Uses: The Case of the Dutch North Sea." *Marine Policy* 115 (May): 103860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2020.103860.

Spillias, S., R. Kelly, R.S. Cottrell, K.R. O'Brien, R.Y. Im, J.Y. Kim, C. Lei, et al. 2023a. "The Empirical Evidence for the Social-Ecological Impacts of Seaweed Farming." *PLOS Sustainability and Transformation* 2 (2): e0000042. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pstr.0000042.

Spillias, S., H. Valin, M. Batka, F. Sperling, P. Havlík, D. Leclère, R.S. Cottrell, K.R. O'Brien, and E. McDonald-Madden. 2023b. "Reducing Global Land-Use Pressures with Seaweed Farming." *Nature Sustainability* 6 (4): 380–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41893-022-01043-y.

Springmann, M., M. Clark, D. Mason-D'Croz, K. Wiebe, B.L. Bodirsky, L. Lassaletta, W. de Vries, et al. 2018. "Options for Keeping the Food System Within Environmental Limits." *Nature* 562 (October): 519–25. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0594-0.

Sultana, F., M.A. Wahab, M. Nahiduzzaman, M. Mohiuddin, M.Z. Iqbal, A. Shakil, A-A. Mamun, M.S.R. Khan, L. Wong, and M. Asaduzzaman. 2023. "Seaweed Farming for Food and Nutritional Security, Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation, and Women Empowerment: A Review." *Aquaculture and Fisheries* 8 (5): 463–80. https://doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aaf.2022.09.001https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aaf.2022.09.001.

Sumaila, U.R., W. Cheung, A. Dyck, K. Gueye, L. Huang, V. Lam, D. Pauly, et al. 2012. "Benefits of Rebuilding Global Marine Fisheries Outweigh Costs." *PLOS ONE* 7 (7): e40542. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0040542. Sumaila, U.R., M. Walsh, K. Hoareau, A. Cox, L. Teh, P. Abdallah, W. Akpalu, et al. 2021. "Financing a Sustainable Ocean Economy." *Nature Communications* 12 (1): 3259. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-23168-y.

Systemiq. 2023. *The Breakthrough Effect: How to Trigger a Cascade of Tipping Points to Accelerate the Net Zero Transition*. London: Systemiq. https://www.systemiq. earth/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/The-Break-through-Effect.pdf.

Tacon, A.G.J., and M. Metian. 2008. "Global Overview on the Use of Fish Meal and Fish Oil in Industrially Compounded Aquafeeds: Trends and Future Prospects." *Aquaculture* 285 (1–4): 146–58. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.08.015https:/doi. org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.08.015.

Tagliabue, A., B.S. Twining, N. Barrier, O. Maury, M. Berger, and L. Bopp. 2023. "Ocean Iron Fertilization May Amplify Climate Change Pressures on Marine Animal Biomass for Limited Climate Benefit." *Global Change Biology* 29 (18): 5250–60. https://doi. org/10.1111/gcb.16854.

Tilman, D., and M. Clark. 2014. "Global Diets Link Environmental Sustainability and Human Health." *Nature* 515 (November): 518–22. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature13959.

Tilman, D., J. Fargione, B. Wolff, C. D'Antonio, A. Dobson, R. Howarth, D. Schindler, W.H. Schlesinger, D. Simberloff, and D. Swackhamer. 2001. "Forecasting Agriculturally Driven Global Environmental Change." *Science* 292 (5515): 281–84. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1057544.

Tilman, D., C. Balzer, J. Hill, and B.L. Befort. 2011. "Global Food Demand and the Sustainable Intensification of Agriculture." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108 (50): 20260–64. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1116437108.

Tong, D., R. Ioualalen, and K. Trout. 2022. "Investing in Disaster: Recent and Anticipated Final Investment Decisions for the New Oil and Gas Production beyond the 1.5°C Limit." Briefing. Washington, DC: Oil Change International. https://priceofoil.org/content/uploads/2022/11/Investing_In_Disaster.pdf. Trick, C.G., B.D. Bill, W.P. Cochlan, M.L. Wells, V.L. Trainer, and L.D. Pickell. 2010. "Iron Enrichment Stimulates Toxic Diatom Production in High-Nitrate, Low-Chlorophyll Areas." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107 (13): 5887–92. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0910579107.

Troell, M., P.J.G. Henriksson, A.H. Buschmann, T. Chopin, and S. Quahe. 2023. "Farming the Ocean: Seaweeds as a Quick Fix for the Climate?" *Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture* 31 (3): 285–95.

Tubiello, F.N., M. Salvatore, S. Rossi, A. Ferrara, N. Fitton, and P. Smith. 2013. "The FAOSTAT Database of Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Agriculture." *Environmental Research Letters* 8 (February): 015009. https:// dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/015009.

UNCTAD. 2023. Preliminary Expert Review of the Technical and Economic Elements, and Their Possible Combinations, of the Proposals for Candidate Mid-term GHG Reduction Measures Submitted to ISWG-GHG and MEPC. Final Report 4. Submitted to IMO as IMO MEPC 80/INF.39/ Add.1. Geneva: UNCTAD.

UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme). 2018. Emissions Gap Report 2018. Nairobi: UNEP. https://www. unep.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2018.

UNEP. 2021. State of Finance for Nature: Tripling Investment in Nature-Based Solutions by 2030. Nairobi: UNEP. https://www.unep.org/resources/state-finance-nature-2021.

UNEP. 2021. State of Finance for Nature 2021. (Nairobi, Kenya. https://www.unep.org/resources/state-finance-nature-2021

UNEP. 2022. Emissions Gap Report 2022: The Closing Window–-Climate Crisis Calls for Rapid Transformation of Societies. Nairobi: UNEP. https://www.unep.org/emissions-gap-report-2022.

United Nations. 2015. *Paris Agreement*. Bonn, Germany: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change Secretariat. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/ files/english_paris_agreement.pdf. United Nations. 2023. "Secretary-General Calls on States to Tackle Climate Change 'Time Bomb' through New Solidarity Pact, Acceleration Agenda, at Launch of Intergovernmental Panel Report." Press Release, March 20. https://press.un.org/en/2023/sgsm21730.doc.htm.

Unsworth, R.K.F., L.J. McKenzie, C.J. Collier, L.C. Cullen-Unsworth, C.M. Duarte, J.S. Eklöf, J.C. Jarvis, B.L. Jones, and L.M. Nordlund. 2019. "Global Challenges for Seagrass Conservation." *Ambio* 48 (August): 801–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-018-1115-y.

van Aalst, P., M. Adams, G. Paterson-Jones, M. Poulsen, J. Pucher, P. Jeffrey, D. Belicka, et al. 2018. *Study to Support Investment for the Sustainable Development of the Blue Economy.* Brussels: European Commission. https:// maritime-forum.ec.europa.eu/en/system/files/d13_investmentplatformrecommendation_24092018.pdf.

Vestas. 2022. Annual Report 2022. Aarhus Nord, Denmark: Vestas. https://mb.cision.com/ Main/18886/3710817/1833553.pdf.

Viana, M., V. Rizza, A. Tobías, E. Carr, J. Corbett, M. Sofiev, A. Karanasiou, G. Buonanno, and N. Fann. 2020. "Estimated Health Impacts from Maritime Transport in the Mediterranean Region and Benefits from the Use of Cleaner Fuels." *Environment International* 138 (May): 105670. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2020.105670.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105670.

Waite, N. 2022. Chinese Offshore Wind Goes Global. Lakewood, OH: Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis. https://ieefa.org/resources/chinese-offshore-wind-goes-global.

Wang, S., W. Li, and L. Xing. 2022. "A Review on Marine Economics and Management: How to Exploit the Ocean Well." *Water* 14 (17). https://doi.org/10.3390/w14172626.

Wang, S.I., and C. Chambers. 2022. "Environmental Compliance and Practices of Cruise Ships in Ísafjörður, Iceland." *Tourism in Marine Environments* 17 (4): 231–48. Webb, R.M., K. Silverman-Roati, and M.B. Gerrard. 2021. "Removing Carbon Dioxide through Ocean Alkalinity Enhancement and Seaweed Cultivation: Legal Challenges and Opportunities." Columbia Public Law Research Paper. New York: Sabin Center for Climate Change Law, Columbia Law School. https://scholarship. law.columbia.edu/faculty_scholarship/2739.

Wernberg, T., K. Krumhansl, K. Filbee-Dexter, and M.F. Pedersen. 2019. "Chapter 3: Status and Trends for the World's Kelp Forests." In *World Seas: An Environmental Evaluation*, edited by C. Sheppard, 57–78. Cambridge, MA: Academic.

Willett, W., J. Rockström, B. Loken, M. Springmann, T. Lang, S. Vermeulen, T. Garnett, et al. 2019. "Food in the Anthropocene: The EAT-Lancet Commission on Healthy Diets from Sustainable Food Systems." *The Lancet* 393 (10170): 447–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4.

Williamson, P., and J.-P. Gattuso. 2022. "Carbon Removal Using Coastal Blue Carbon Ecosystems Is Uncertain and Unreliable, with Questionable Climatic Cost-Effectiveness." *Frontiers in Climate* 4 (July). https://www. frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fclim.2022.853666.

Wind Europe. 2023. "Europe Invested €17bn in New Wind in 2022, the Lowest since 2009." Press Release, March 29. https://windeurope.org/newsroom/ press-releases/europe-invested-e17bn-in-new-windin-2022-the-lowest-since-2009/#:~:text=Europe%20 invested%20just%20%E2%82%AC17bn,warning%20 to%20Governments%20and%20policymakers.

Wirsenius, S., C. Azar, and G. Berndes. 2010. "How Much Land Is Needed for Global Food Production under Scenarios of Dietary Changes and Livestock Productivity Increases in 2030." *Agricultural Systems* 103 (9): 621–38. https://doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1016/j.agsy.2010.07.005https://doi.org/10.1016/j. agsy.2010.07.005.

Wolvovsky, E., and W. Anderson. 2016. OCS Oil and Natural Gas: Potential Lifecycle Greenhouse Gas. Emissions and Social Cost of Carbon. Washington, DC: U.S. Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. World Bank. 2017. *The Sunken Billions Revisited: Progress and Challenges in Marine Fisheries*. Washington, DC: World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/24056.

World Bank. 2023. "IMO ISWG-GHG 14/3/3, Carbon Revenues from International Shipping: Considerations for a Possible Distribution Framework." Washington, DC: World Bank.

Worm, B. 2016. "Averting a global fisheries disaster." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(18), 4895-4897.

World Bank and FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization). 2009. *The Sunken Billions: The Economic Justification for Fisheries Reform.* Washington, DC: World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/2596.

Worthington, T., and M. Spalding. 2018. *Mangrove Restoration Potential: A Global Map Highlighting a Critical Opportunity.* Cambridge: Apollo, University of Cambridge Repository. https://doi.org/10.17863/CAM.39153.

Ziegler, F., and S. Hornborg. 2014. "Stock Size Matters More than Vessel Size: The Fuel Efficiency of Swedish Demersal Trawl Fisheries 2002–2010." *Marine Policy* 44 (February): 72–81. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.06.015https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.06.015.

Ziegler, F., and S. Hornborg. 2023. *Decarbonising the Fishing Sector: Energy Efficiency Measures and Alternative Energy Solutions for Fishing Vessels*. Brussel: European Parliamentary Research Service. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2023/740225/ EPRS_STU(2023)740225_EN.pdf. Ziegler, F., S. Hornborg, B.S. Green, O.R. Eigaard, A.K. Farmery, L. Hammar, K. Hartmann, et al. 2016. "Expanding the Concept of Sustainable Seafood Using Life Cycle Assessment." *Fish and Fisheries* 17 (4): 1073–93. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12159.

Zou, Z., J. Zhao, C. Zhang, Y. Zhang, X. Yang, J. Chen, J. Xu, R. Xue, and B. Zhou. 2020. "Effects of Cleaner Ship Fuels on Air Quality and Implications for Future Policy: A Case Study of Chongming Ecological Island in China." *Journal of Cleaner Production* 267 (September): 122088. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2020.122088https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.122088.

Endnotes

- 1 On behalf of the Lead Experts, J. Kildow served as report arbiter, overseeing the independent peer review and approval of the final report, while P. Haugan was co-author and contributor.
- 2 Based on combined annual emissions of 3.47 Gt CO₂e for 27 EU member states (EEA 2023).
- 3 Based on average annual emissions of 4.49 t CO₂ per gasoline-powered car (EPA 2023).
- 4 Forecast amounts provided in this report are referenced. Numbers provided by the authors are in current 2023 US\$.
- 5 Forecast amounts provided in this report are referenced. Numbers provided by the authors are in current 2023 US\$.
- 6 See the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, www.unctad.org, and International Chamber of Shipping, https://www.ics-shipping.org/.
- 7 See the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, www.unctad.org, and International Chamber of Shipping, https://www.ics-shipping.org/.
- 8 Scope 1 emissions are direct emissions such as, from operating ships. Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions created, for example, in the process of fuel production for ship operations. Scope 3 emissions are the indirect emissions associated with the inputs and outputs of an organisation, for example in the supply chain or the use of the products it makes (see the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, https://ghgprotocol.org).
- 9 Offshore oil and gas production from existing wells will continue over the course of the NZE transition, with measured year-over-year declines. The NZE scenario requires this managed phasedown, where production volumes fall but not as quickly as they would naturally, through continued maintenance investment in existing production assets. If offshore production is phased out too quickly, new sources of conventional onshore oil and gas would need to come online in the near term to replace that fuel, diverting investment away from renewables and other low-carbon technologies.
- 10 Belize confirms intentions for seismic testing (Cavcic 2022); Rishi Sunak supports oil drilling expansion (Scott 2023).
- 11 Forecast amounts provided in this report are referenced. Numbers provided by the authors are in current 2023 US\$.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the following experts for their valuable contributions and reviews, which have improved this report (listed in alphabetical order by the expert's affiliated organisation, then surname): Mark Michelin (CEA Consulting), Anna Pirani (Euro-Mediterranean Center on Climate Change), Hrvoje Carić (Institute for Tourism Croatia), Kirsten Isensee (IOC-UNESCO), Loreley Picourt (Ocean & Climate Platform), Lisa Schindler Murray (Rare), Tracy Rouleau (TBD Economics), Ignace Beguin Billecocq (Climate Champions Team), Teresa Ish (Walton Foundation), Carlo Aall (Western Norway Research Institute; note - primarily reviewed the ocean-based tourism content of the report), Nicola Frost (World Resources Institute), Micheline Khan (World Resources Institute), Katie Lebling (World Resources Institute), Stephanie Ockenden (World Resources Institute) and Alex Perera (World Resources Institute).

We are grateful for input from the Ocean Panel Expert Group Lead Experts Judith Kildow (Director Emeritus of the National Ocean Economics Program) and Jacqueline Uku (Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute), who reviewed a draft of this report.

We would like to thank Kathleen Schalch, Lauri Scherer, Amy Swift, Romain Warnault, Julie Moretti, Shannon Collins and Juan Garcia Valencia for providing editorial and design support.

We are also grateful to Mette Olaf Nielsen, Aarhus University, Denmark, who provided direction and feedback on the mitigation potential of using macroalgae in animal feed.

Dorte Krause-Jensen was supported by OBAMA-NEXT (grant agreement no. 101081642) and FutureMARES (grant agreement no. 869300), funded by the European Union under the Horizon Europe and H2020 program, respectively.

We thank Gunnar Malm Gamlem (SINTEF Ocean) who provided valuable direction and contributions to an earlier version of this report, with a particular focus on ocean-based transport and ocean-based tourism sectors.

Photo Credits:

Pg. 2 Curioso Photography/Unsplash; Pg. 28 Alexandros Giannakakis/Unsplash; Pg. 32 Thomas/Pixabay; Pg 34 Jimmy Ramírez/ Pexels; Pg. 38 Nicholas Doherty/Unslpash; Pg. 42 Colin Czerwinski/Unsplash; Pg. 52 Tom Fisk/Pexels; Pg. 59 Venti Views/ Unsplash; Pg. 64 Elias/Unsplash; Pg.73 Brandon Nelson/Unsplash; Pg. 83 Mike Potenza/Pixabay; Pg. 90 Mogens Maagaard/ unsplash; Pg. 98 Jack Drafahl/Pixabay; Pg. 100 Alexander Bobrov/Pixabay; Pg. 108 Mohmed Nazeeh/Unsplash; Pg. 111 kmarius/Pixabay.

About the Authors

Convening Lead Author

Ove Hoegh-Guldberg

FAA is the Professor of Marine Studies in the School of the Environment at the Faculty of Science, University of Queensland

Contact: oveh@uq.edu.au

Eliza Northrop

Director, Sustainable Development Reform Hub at the University of New South Wales

Contact: e.northrop@unsw.edu.au

Expert Authors

Oliver S. Ashford is a Program Associate, Ocean Program, at World Resources Institute, and Member of the Ocean Panel Secretariat

Contact: oliver.ashford@wri.org

Jessica Cross is a Research Oceanographer at the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration

Contact: jessica.cross@noaa.gov

Steve Gaines is Dean and Distinguished Professor, Bren School of Environmental Science and Management, University California, Santa Barbara

Contact: gaines@ucsb.edu

Stefan Gössling is Professor of Tourism, Western Norway Research Institute

Contact: stefan@solbergagard.se

Mark Hemer is Principal Research Scientist, Ocean and Atmosphere Climate Science Centre Contact: Mark. Hemer@csiro.au **Claire Huang** *is Climate & Oceans Fellow, Oceana (former)* Contact: claire.huang95@gmail.com

Gabriella Kitch is International Policy Fellow at the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration

Contact: gabby.kitch@noaa.gov

Dorte Krause-Jensen is Professor, Department of Ecoscience, Aarhus University, Denmark

Contact: dkj@ecos.au.dk

Kathryn Matthews is Chief Scientist, Oceana

Contact: kmatthews@oceana.org

Finn Gunnar Nielsen is Professor, Head Bergen Offshore Wind Centre (BOW)

Contact: Finn.Nielsen@uib.no

Joyashree Roy is Director, South and South-east Asia Multidisciplinary Applied Research Network on Transforming Societies of Global South, School of Environment, Resources and Development, Asian Institute of Technology, Thailand; and Honorary Professor, CDMR-IIT Guwahati, India Founder Advisor, Global Change Programme & SYLFF-JU , Jadavpur University, India

Contact: joyashree@ait.asia; joyashreeju@gmail.com

Shreya Some is Postdoctoral Researcher, South and South-east Asia Multidisciplinary Applied Research Network on Transforming Societies of Global South, School of Environment, Resources and Development, Asian Institute of Technology, Thailand

Contact: ayerhs7891@gmail.com

Torsten Thiele *is Founder of the Global Ocean Trust* Contact: torsten@globaloceantrust.com

Dorte Krause-Jensen is Professor, Department of Ecoscience, Aarhus University, Denmark Contact: dkj@ecos.au.dk

Kathryn Matthews is Chief Scientist, Oceana Contact: kmatthews@oceana.org

Finn Gunnar Nielsen is Professor, Head Bergen Offshore Wind Centre (BOW)

Contact: Finn.Nielsen@uib.no

Thierry Chopin is Professor of Marine Biology, Seaweed and Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture Laboratory, Department of Biological Sciences, University of New Brunswick, New Brunswick, Canada

Contact: tchopin@unb.ca

Carlos Duarte is Distinguished Professor, Marine Science; Tarek Ahmed Juffali Research Chair in Red Sea Ecology, King Abdullah University of Science and Technology

Contact: carlos.duarte@kaust.edu.sa

Tess Geers is Research Director, Oceana Contact: tgeers@oceana.org

Peter Haugan is Programme Director, Institute of Marine Research Contact: Peter.Haugan@uib.no

Jennifer Howard is Marine Climate Change Director, Conservation International Contact: jhoward@conservation.org

Andreas Humpe is Professor at Munich University of Applied Science Contact: andreas.humpe@hm.edu

David Koweek is Chief Scientist, Ocean Visions Contact: david@oceanvisions.org

Catherine E. Lovelock is Professor, School of Biological Sciences, The University of Queensland

Contact: c.lovelock@uq.edu.au

Patrick Mustain is Creative Director, Oceana Contact: pmustain@oceana.org

Robert Parker is Senior Coordinator---GHG Emissions, Aquaculture Stewardship Council

Contact: Robert.parker@asc-aqua.org

Patrick Mustain is Creative Director, Oceana Contact: pmustain@oceana.org

Tristan Smith *is Reader in Energy and Shipping, Bartlett School Environment, Energy & Resources, Faculty of the Built Environment, UCL Energy Institute*

Contact: tristan.smith@ucl.ac.uk

Ya-Yen Sun is Associate Professor, School of Business, University of Queensland

Contact: y.sun@business.uq.edu.au

Peter Tyedmers *is Professor, School for Resource and Environmental Studies, Dalhousie University* Contact: Peter.Tyedmers@dal.ca



HIGH LEVEL PANEL for A SUSTAINABLE OCEAN ECONOMY

10 G Street NE Suite 800 Washington, DC 20002, USA +1 (202) 729-7600 oceanpanel.org